Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday 20 November 2014 at 2.00 pm
Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Mrs. R. Palmer (Tel: 0116 305 6098)
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. E. F. White CC (Chairman)
Gillian Adams
John Adler
Cllr. J. Boyce
Dr Dave Briggs
Mick Connell
Lesley Hagger
Ch. Supt. Sally Healy
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Dr Andy Ker

Dr Satheesh Kumar
Dr Mayur Lakhani
Rick Moore
Mr. I. D. Ould CC
Cllr. P. Posnett
Professor Aly Rashid
Toby Sanders
Mike Sandys

AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 16 September
2014.

2.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

4.

Position Statement by the Chairman.

5.

A Book of Me (Dementia Resource for Newly
Diagnosed Patients).

(Pages 5 - 12)

Hinckley and
Bosworth Borough
Council

(Pages 13 - 16)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy

Strategy
6.

Summary of the Five Year Strategic Plan,
Strategic Outline Case and Programme
Initiation Document.

Better Care
Together

(Pages 17 - 66)

7.

Emotional Health and Wellbeing of Children
and Young People

Joint
Commissioner for
Child and
Adolescent Mental
Health Services

(Pages 67 - 74)

8.

Co-commissioning of Primary Care

West
Leicestershire
Clinical
Commissioning
Group

(Pages 75 100)

9.

Primary Care Operating Framework and CoCommissioning Timescales and Process.

East Leicestershire (Pages 101 and Rutland
164)
Clinical
Commissioning
Group

10.

Draft Primary Care Medical Plan.

West
Leicestershire
Clinical
Commissioning
Group

(Pages 165 224)

11.

Update on Transformation Challenge Award
Funding Bids.

Director of Health
and Care
Integration

(Pages 225 228)

12.

Leicestershire Cancer Audit

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 229 286)

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 287 298)

Consultations
13.

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.
Performance

14.

Performance Update at End of Quarter 2
2013/14

Chief Executive
and Greater East
Midlands
Commissioning
Support Unit

(Pages 299 318)

15.

Children's Rights Service Annual Report.

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 319 372)

Governance
16.

Care Act 2014 Implementation.

17.

Review of the Effectiveness and Working
Arrangements of the Integration Executive.

(Pages 373 378)
Director of Health
and Care
Integration

(Pages 379 382)

This page is intentionally left blank

5

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on
Tuesday, 16 September 2014.
PRESENT
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. E. F. White CC (In the Chair)
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Mr. I. D. Ould CC

Mick Connell
Lesley Hagger
Mike Sandys

Clinical Commissioning Groups
Professor Mayur Lakhani
Healthwatch Leicestershire
Gillian Adams
Rick Moore
Leicestershire District/Borough Councils
Cllr John Boyce
Cllr Pam Posnett
NHS England
Professor Aly Rashid
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
Dr Satheesh Kumar
In attendance
Tim Sacks, East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
Kate Shields, University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust
Det Insp Sian Walls, Leicestershire Constabulary
122. Minutes.
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 July 2014 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.
123. Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.

6
124. Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No such declarations were made.
125. Position Statement by the Chairman.
The Chairman presented a position statement on the following matters:•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Key findings and policy implications of the Barker Commission;
Better Care Fund;
Integrated Personal Commissioning;
Public Health Funding Settlement;
Cancer Research UK: Latest Findings on Mortality Rates in the UK;
NHS Confederation 2015 Challenge Manifesto;
NHS England Five Year Forward View;
New Congenital Heart Disease Review: Launch of consultation on draft standards
and service specifications.

A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes.
126. 12 Hours in A&E.
The Board considered a report and presentation from Healthwatch Leicestershire which
summarised the experience of 88 patients which Healthwatch representatives spoke to
between 8.30am and 8.30pm on Friday 27 June 2014. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 5’ and the slides forming the presentation is filed with these minutes.
The report was welcomed as a valuable piece of evidence based work. It was felt to
provide useful information for commissioners in helping identify where effort should be
focussed. The Board was also pleased to note that patient experience of using Accident
and Emergency Services was generally positive, however the data showed that a number
of the attendees would have preferred to use community alternatives such as GP
services.
It was noted that Healthwatch Leicestershire only considered health and social care
issues within Leicestershire, due to the finite amount of resource at its disposal. Out of
county health services would come under the remit of the relevant neighbouring
Healthwatch organisation.
RESOLVED:
That the recommendations made by Healthwatch be referred to the Urgent Care Working
Group for consideration.
127. Better Care Fund Plan Resubmission.
The Board considered a joint report of Leicestershire County Council, West
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and East Leicestershire and Rutland
Clinical Commissioning Group which presented the final draft of the Better Care Fund
Submission for Leicestershire and supporting papers for approval prior to submission to

7
NHs England on 19th September. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 6’ and the
supplementary agenda pack incorporating the appendices to the report is filed with these
minutes.
An updated version of the Better Care Fund Plan on a Page was tabled at the meeting,
along with a log summarising changes that had been made to the Plan since the papers
for the meeting were circulated. A copy of both documents is also filed with these
minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i)

It was felt that the revisions to the Plan had strengthened it. The balance in the plan
between prevention, social care and health was welcomed.

(ii)

It was noted that there was a decrease in investment in the autism pathway in future
years due to two whole time equivalent fixed term contracts ending. Arrangements
to make the service more cost effective would be included in the next autism selfassessment to be considered by the Board, along with assurance that the expertise
from the two additional posts had been translated into the service.

(iii)

It was felt that a tighter definition of safe discharge was needed across the health
and care system. It had to be recognised that the discharge of frail elderly patients
should happen in the context of their underlying health conditions and that the aim
should still be to return them safely to the residence from which they were admitted
to hospital, with appropriate community based support.

RESOLVED:
(a)

That the BCF Plan be approved and that the Chief Executive of Leicestershire
County Council be authorised to make any final amendments agreed by the Board
for onward submission to NHS England on 19 September;

(b)

That the participation of the Health and Wellbeing Board in the National Assurance
Process for BCF Plans, commencing on 22nd September, and the requirement for
members of the Board and BCF Team to participate in a telephone conference call
with the national assurance team be noted;

(c)

That it be noted that arrangements for the Integration Executive to have day to day
oversight of the delivery of the BCF Plan were approved in March 2014;

(d)

That the Integration Programme Team and officers in partner organisations be
thanked for their hard work to produce the Plan.

128. Better Care Together Strategy Update.
The Board considered a report of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Better Care
Together Programme which provided an update on progress since the Board received
the draft Better Care Together Five Year Strategic Plan. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with these minutes.
It was expected that the strategies for primary care and adult social care would be
completed by the end of September to enable them to be incorporated into the Five Year
Strategic Plan.

8
RESOLVED:
That the progress made over the past 12 weeks and the key next steps set out in
paragraphs 24 – 27 of the report be noted.
129. Annual Report of the Director of Public Health.
The Board considered the Annual Report of the Director of Public Health which focused
on the broader determinants of health and the role that the whole of local government
had in helping people to be healthy through, for example, good housing, a good
education, a fulfilling job and good personal relationships. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.
It was noted that the Department of Health and the Department for Education had
different interpretations of the statistics for educational attainment at GCSE level. This
was sufficient to produce a statistical difference; the Department for Education did not
consider that Leicestershire was significantly below the national average for this measure
although the Department of Health did. Members of the Board were reminded that all
partners should be working together to raise educational attainment to ensure that young
people got the best possible outcomes.
RESOLVED:
(a)

That the Annual Report of the Director of Public Health be received;

(b)

That the recommendations in the Annual Report of the Director of Public Health be
supported.

130. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health which presented the draft
findings of Leicestershire’s Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment and sought approval to
undertake a formal 60 day consultation period of the findings of this report. A copy of the
report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes.
The Board discussed the important link between the Primary Care Strategy and the
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment. It was also suggested that District Council Planning
Officers should be included in the consultation process.
Concern was expressed that the areas of the county with the highest rates of teenage
pregnancy did not have local provision for contraceptive services. It was recommended
that young people be involved in the consultation about the Pharmaceutical Needs
Assessment.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment be approved for consultation, subject
to the Director of Public Health being authorised to make minor drafting
amendments to ensure that it is ready for consultation;
(b) That the Director of Children and Family Services support the Pharmaceutical
Needs Assessment team in consulting with young people.

9

131. Annual Report of the Local Safeguarding Children Board and Safeguarding Adults Board.
The Board considered a report of the Independent Chair of the Leicestershire and
Rutland Safeguarding Boards which presented the draft Annual Report 2013/14 for the
Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board and Safeguarding Adults Board
for consultation and comment. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with
these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i)

The Board welcomed the report, in particular the attention to Board development
and leadership.

(ii)

It was noted that the Independent Chair had been involved in a meeting of the
Quality Surveillance Group where the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
were considered. This was now a significant area of work for the children’s
workstream of the Better Care Together Programme, including addressing issues
around access and the criteria for the services.

(iii)

Concern was expressed that some GPs had reported the same safeguarding
concerns relating to care home providers on a number of occasions. In addition it
was noted that GPs were no longer required to carry out checks on new patients
who transferred into the area and automatic links were not made between GPs and
Health Visitors which could help strengthen local intelligence. It was suggested that
the Safeguarding Boards should consider the vigilance of primary care and GP
engagement with safeguarding as a future area of work.

(iv) It was noted that the quality of residential care in Leicestershire had recently been
described as amongst the worst in England by an independent body using data
from the Care Quality Commission. However, the Care Quality Commission had
since confirmed that they had no evidence that Leicestershire was an outlier. It was
felt that positive joint work had begun to improve the quality of care in residential
care homes but that a more integrated approach with Clinical Commissioning
Groups and the Care Quality Commission was needed.
RESOLVED:
(a)

That the Annual Report of the Local Safeguarding Children Board/Safeguarding
Adult Board be noted;

(b)

That the comments now made be referred to the Local Safeguarding Children
Board/Safeguarding Adult Board for consideration.

132. Performance Report at end of Quarter 1 2014/15.
The Board considered a report of the County Council Chief Executive and Greater East
Midlands Commissioning Support Performance Service which provided an update on
performance against current performance priorities set out in the Health and Wellbeing
Board and Commissioner Performance Frameworks, based on data available at the end
of quarter 1 2014/15. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these
minutes.

10
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i)

Concern was expressed that the currently high number of cancer referrals was
having a negative impact on the waiting times for treatment. In part this was due to
an increase in referrals for screening; work was needed to be undertaken with
primary care to ensure that referrals for screening were appropriate. It was noted
that high profile media stories regarding cancer also had an impact on referral rates
which was difficult to predict and prepare for.

(ii)

There was pressure across the whole NHS to achieve the 18 week referral to
treatment target. This had resulted in some organisations refusing to take patients
from outside their area. Concern was expressed that the local healthcare system
did not have the capacity to achieve this target. The remedial plans to address this
were being led by the Clinical Commissioning Groups.

RESOLVED:
That the performance summary, issues identified this quarter and actions planned in
response to improve performance be noted.
133. Supporting Leicestershire Families.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which
provided an overview and update on the work of the Supporting Leicestershire Families
Services and broader Troubled Families Programme. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes.
The work on analysis the cost benefits of the programme would be important to
encourage organisations to continue to invest in the service beyond 2015/16. However, it
was felt that the programme was achieving excellent results in terms of transforming
people’s lives and that there should be a balance between financial and non-financial
success factors for this service.
It was noted that the Supporting Leicestershire Families Programme would form part of
the children’s workstream for the Better Care Together Programme.
RESOLVED:
That the need for ongoing partner support and financial resource to enable the
Supporting Leicestershire Families Services to continue beyond March 2016 be noted.
134. Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Child Health Strategy Review Group.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which
advised of the development of a Child Health Strategy Group for Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Child Health Strategy be accountable to
the Health and Wellbeing Board.

11
135. Dates of future meetings.
It was noted that the next meeting would be held on Thursday 20 November at 2.00pm
and that meeting during 2015 would be held at 2.00pm on the following dates:Thursday 22 January
Thursday 12 March
Thursday 14 May
Thursday 16 July
Thursday 17 September
Thursday 19 November

2.00 - 4.20 pm
16 September 2014

CHAIRMAN

12

This page is intentionally left blank

13

Agenda Item 5

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20TH NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BC
A BOOK OF ME – DEMENTIA RESOURCE
Purpose of Report
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of A
Book of Me, which is a dementia care resource developed in collaboration
between the Hinckley and Bosworth Health and Wellbeing Partnership and
Beauty and Utility Arts, a social enterprise located in Hinckley.
Background
2. With the projected doubling of the number of people across Leicestershire
developing a form of Dementia in the period 2011 – 2030 (8,000 – 16,000),
across Hinckley and Bosworth numbers will be, over the same period, rising to
2,600.
3. To support this, health care services will need to expand in order to give
sufficient capacity of care. This in itself will result in more carers and care
settings and greater patient throughput. With Dementia being the illness it is it
will become increasingly difficult for those with Dementia, their carers,
particularly those in health care settings, to retain the sense of the individual
resulting in a lack of “individual care” and dignity for those with this illness.
4. The idea for A Book of Me was proposed to the Health and Wellbeing
Partnership by Beauty and Utility Arts and it was agreed that the Partnership
would support the development of this person centred resource from its
annual Staying Healthy Community Grant allocation from Public Health.
5. After wide ranging consultation with members of the public, those living with
Dementia, carers and agencies working in this area of health, A Book of Me
was developed.
6. A Book of Me provides a means of recording all those elements that make a
person the individual they are such as things they enjoy eating and equally
don’t, places they like to go, hobbies and past-times and people they like to
see, contact details of local organisations, family members or other carers and
much more. Sadly much of this person centred information can be lost as the
illness progresses.
7. A record such as this takes on greater importance if the individual does not
have family members as carers or goes into respite or longer term care
settings where they may not have the same carer at all times. A Book of Me
will allow carers in these situations to get to know their client more quickly and

14
in greater detail which in turn will facilitate the individual’s level and nature of
care.
8. As part of the promotion of A Book of Me that has taken place to date a
presentation was given at the East Midlands Think Local Act Personal group
and at a recent Dementia learning event held by Leicestershire County
Council.
9. Both of these have led to a number of enquiries of interest both from within
Leicestershire and elsewhere. Additionally at the local launch event on July
30th interest was received from community matrons and discussions are
ongoing with West Leicestershire CCG regarding taking this further. It was at
this event that Cllr. Ernie White requested that a report be submitted to the
Health and Wellbeing Board.
10. It is the intention that the resource be made available to other organisations
that work in the area of dementia care and this will not be restricted to
Hinckley and Bosworth BC or Leicestershire. Further promotion will take
place at the Dementia Alliance Annual Conference being held in London on
2nd December.
Consultation and Public Involvement
11. The Members of the working group who regularly met throughout the
development of A Book of Me – Hinckley and Bosworth are as follows:
a. Katherine Brown – Director, Beauty and Utility Arts
b. Lindsay Orton – Locality Mental Health Co-ordinator, Hinckley and
Bosworth Borough Council
c. Howard Wilkins – Carer
d. Alzheimer’s Society
e. Jane Simpson – Community Support Worker, Leicestershire County
Council
f. Martin Hall – Strategic Planning, Adults and Communities,
Leicestershire County Council
g. Emma Hopkins – Development Co-ordinator, Age UK LSR
12. The community consultation that took place in October 2013 was attended by
15 local service users and carers with direct personal experience of Dementia
together with health and social care organisations
13. To “dry run” the resource 20 individuals were asked to use A Book of Me for
up to 8 weeks – all of whom were living with Dementia and/or had direct
professional/personal links to somebody living with Dementia. This short pilot
went well and met with positive comments and suggested amendments were
made to the final version.
14. Additional support has also been received from Dr. Darren Jackson who
represents the Clinical Commissioning Group on the Hinckley and Bosworth
Health and Wellbeing Partnership.

15
Resource Implications
15. The initial agreement for the development of the resource was to produce 100
copies which would be distributed through Age UK and the Alzheimer’s
Society to those newly or recently diagnosed with dementia across Hinckley &
Bosworth.
16. This first phase has now been completed and following the necessary
induction training taking place the implementation of A Book of Me will begin
over the next few months. Beauty and Utility Arts has commissioned an
independent professional to evaluate this first phase over the first half of 2015
and will submit this report to the Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council
Health and Wellbeing Partnership and utilise its findings in promotion moving
forward.
17. Responsibility for the onward development of A Book of Me now sits with
Beauty and Utility Arts and we look forward to other teams and organisations
within Leicestershire and beyond developing the resource through them.
18. Currently Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council is working together with
Beauty and Utility Arts on an agreement that will see any income received
from the onward sale of A Book of Me split proportionately between Beauty
and Utility Arts and Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council and re-invested in
local mental health provision.
Conclusion
19. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the development and
implementation of A Book of Me and to receive a further report following the
implementation and evaluation of phase one of its use.
Officers to Contact
Katherine Brown
Director
Beauty and Utility Arts
Council
07908 750187
Beautyandutilityarts@hotmail.co.uk
bosworth.gov.uk

Andrew Head
Health Improvement Officer
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough
01455 255913
Andrew.head@hinckley-

Partnership Working and associated issues
20. The process which has seen the development of A Book of Me over the last
18 months clearly demonstrates how local partnerships can work together in
bringing about new and innovative health interventions. Beauty and Utility
Arts is a local social enterprise and has been involved previously in a number
of schemes and is currently involved in developing an Arts on Prescription
project in collaboration with North West Leicestershire District Council Staying
Healthy Partnership.

16

This page is intentionally left blank

17

Agenda Item 6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20 NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF BETTER CARE TOGETHER PROGRAMME
Summary of the Five Year Strategic Plan,
Strategic Outline Case and Programme Initiation Document
November 2014
Background
The purpose of this document is to provide a summary of the work done across the Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) health and social care economy, through the Better Care
Together (BCT) programme, to develop plans to transform local services in order to assure their
long-term clinical, operational and financial viability. The document does this by summarising three
important draft “base” documents that underpin the BCT programme:
x

x
x

The BCT five year strategic plan, updated in September 2014, which describes our plans to
reform health and social care services across LLR;
The strategic outline case (SOC), to be published in November 2014, which sets out the
case for the BCT programme as being the preferred way forward to deliver the plans set
out in the five year strategic plan. The SOC is designed to be a “wrapper” for all the future
transformation business cases which will be required for the system to realise its vision;
The programme initiation document (PID), to be published in November 2014, which
defines the BCT programme and that sets out the basis on which the programme is to be
initiated, governed and delivered.

It is hoped this summary will help the engagement and consultation on which the success of the
programme will depend. The LLR partnership will expect to adapt the baseline of analysis and
planning, summarised here, to meet the requirements of our patients and our circumstances,
including the resources we have, as they evolve over the life of the programme.
The summary provides a brief reminder on the case for change, but focusses on our
implementation plans (i.e. what we will actually do), the anticipated results of these plans and how
the programme will be managed. It also recognises the need for planning, where appropriate, a
wider formal public consultation programme.
Further work will be required to prepare the organisational business cases needed to secure
investment required to take forward our plans. These business cases will need plans to be worked
through in detail, and the plans will need to be predominantly taken forward under the joint
governance established under the BCT programme. The joint approach will help with assessing
the likely impact of healthcare plans on local social care services, and conversely of the impact on
health services of the significant efficiency savings required from local government.
Recommendations
x
x

To note the development of a draft strategic outline case (SOC) and programme initiation
document (PID) to support the LLR five year strategic plan.
To agree how the Board wish to provide comment on the draft SOC and PID prior to their
approval.

18

07/11/2014
Version 1.3

19

Better Care Together
Summary of the Five
Year Strategic Plan, Strategic
Outline Case and PID
November 2014

Contents
Page

Cross reference

1.
2.
3.

2
4
8

Five Year Strategy section 3, SOC sections 2.2-2.4
Five Year Strategy sections, 4-6, SOC sections 2.5-2.7

14
25
28
33
39
41

SOC section 2.8
Five Year Strategy section 7, SOC sections 2.9-2.11
SOC section 3
SOC section 5
Five Year Strategy sections 8.4-8.7, SOC section 6.3
Five Year Strategy section 8, SOC section 6, PID

Introduction
The case for change
Our response to the case for
change
4. The impact on our providers
5. Enabling change
6. Delivery options
7. Financial impact
8. Engagement
9. Governing and delivering the
programme
10. Next steps

46

20

Section

1

Introduction

21

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

Introduction
Better Care Together vision
‘…to maximise value for the citizens of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) by improving the
health and wellbeing outcomes that matter to them, their families and carers in a way that enhances the
quality of care at the same time as reducing cost across the public sector to within allocated resources
by restructuring the provision of safe, high quality services into the most efficient and effective settings’.
What have we produced so far

3

22

(1) The BCT five year strategic plan, updated in September 2014, which describes our plans to reform
health and social care services across LLR;
(2) The strategic outline case (SOC), published in October 2014, which sets out the case for the BCT
programme as being the preferred way forward to deliver the plans set out in the five year
strategic plan. The SOC is designed to be a “wrapper” for all the future transformation business
cases which will be required for the system to realise its vision;
(3) The programme initiation document (PID), from November 2014, which defines the BCT
programme and sets out the basis on which the programme is to be initiated, governed and
delivered.

2

The case for change

23

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

Case for change across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
The case for change was set out in the 5 year strategic plan

24
5

Case for change across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
NHS savings continue to be under significant financial pressure
In 2011 the “Nicholson Challenge” set out the need to make £20bn of savings against a budget of
£110bn. The NHS is on track to deliver against the challenge by March 2015 but is now faced with the
need to make further savings.
In NHS England's recently released Five Year Forward View , it is stated that "a combination of a)
growing demand, b) no further annual efficiencies, and c) flat terms real terms funding could, by
2020/21, produce a mismatch between resources and patient needs of nearly £30bn a year".

25

This requires organisations to find different ways of working to address these growing pressures and
sets out a call for action on demand, efficiency and funding.
Cuts to local government budgets are affecting adult social care
The government’s deficit reduction plan involves significant cuts in public spending. The 2010
Government Spending Review set out plans to reduce government funding for councils by 26% by
2014/15, whilst the 2013 Spending Round resulted in council resources being cut by a further 10% in
2015/16. Adult social care accounts for a significant proportion (33-45%) of local authority spending,
meaning that the pressure to reduce costs will inevitably impact on social care.

6

These financial pressures translate into significant funding gaps
The local NHS faces a shortfall of £398m by 2018/19

26
Local authorities will require even more significant savings and the details of these are still
being worked through. A collective savings requirement across the three local authorities of
£177m is predicted.

7

3

Our response to the
case for change

27

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

Better Care Together
The Better Care Together Programme sets out plans for eight clinical workstreams, and within
four different care settings
Left shift of care across all settings
Social care

Community

Primary care

Acute care

Urgent care

Mental health
Frail older people
Long term conditions
Maternity and neonates
Children, young people and families

28

Clinical workstreams

Planned care

Learning disabilities

Workforce
IM&T

Enablers

Estates

9

Clinical pathway workstreams
Each of eight clinical pathway workstreams has worked to the same format of describing our
existing service, the interventions we intend to make and the resulting outcomes.
Urgent care example…

29
10

The ten components of care
The urgent care, frail older people and long-term conditions workstreams used the Kings
Funds’ Ten Components of Care to frame service transformation
Urgent care example…

FOP
LTC

FOP
LTC

6 Good
discharge
planning and
post
discharge
support

FOP

7 Effective
rehabilitation
and
reablement

FOP
LTC

3 Support for
complex comorbidities /
frailty

FOP

4
Accessible,
effective
support in
crisis

FOP
LTC
UC

5 High
quality,
person
centred
acute care

UC

8 Person
centred,
dignified,
long term
care

9 Support,
control and
choice at
end of life

10 Integrated
services to
provide
person centre
care

FOP

FOP
LTC

FOP
LTC
UC

11

30

1 Age well
and stay well

2 Live well
with one or
more long
term
conditions

Clinical workstreams
The clinical workstreams have drawn on existing plans and newly developed interventions to
set out a strategic direction
Urgent care

Long term conditions

Frail older people

• Review team to
benchmark and analyse
the cost and content of
high cost packages of
care
• Reconfiguration of short
break services for LD
patients / service users
• Implementation of an
Outreach Team that will
work between the
community and the
Agnes Unit for
challenging individuals
LLR approach to enable
carers to be involved in
service development
and planning
• Flexible LLR wide
provision of short term
intensive crisis support
• Pooled personal
budgets and personal
health budgets

• New emergency floor at
LRI to ensure there is
sufficient space to
support the flow of
“majors” and to offer
dignified care and
create a positive
working environment.
• Improving system
navigation by boosting
NHS111, out of hours
medical cover and local
single point of access
• Increasing the
availability of
ambulatory care options
• Boosting the urgent out
of hospital options for at
risk patients;
• A “Choose Well” public
campaign to help
people to make the right
urgent care choices.

• Based around principles
of “Education”,
“Prediction”, “Care
planning”, “Ambulatory
pathways”, “Innovation”,
”Services available
when required”, and
“Choices and plans at
the end of life”
• Specific interventions
include: integrated
COPD team cover
primary, community and
acute care avoiding
hospital admissions,
including ambulatory
care wherever possible.
• Exercise medicine to
improving levels of
activity, giving people
access to integrated
reablement services
• Workplace wellness
proof of concept in UHL

• Primarily based on
existing BCF plans
• Age well and Stay well:
Introduce Unified
Prevention Offer
• Risk stratification, Early
diagnosis and referral,
and the increase in the
number of quality care
plans
• Care Navigators, Local
Area co-ordinators and
the development of
integrated pathways for
Dementia.
• Clinical Response team,
the Falls service,
Integrated Crisis
response
• Assistive technology.
• Good discharge
planning and post
discharge support
12

Note: End of life will be taken forward by a new workstream from November 2014

31

Learning disabilities

Clinical workstreams
The clinical workstreams have drawn on existing plans and newly developed interventions to
set out a strategic direction
Mental health

Maternity and
neonates

Children and young
people

• Implementation of
PRISM system to
improve referral quality
• 40% left shift of acute
activity into community
• 10% of outpatient
activity attendances will
be decommissioned
• 50% of out of county
OP/DC repatriated to
LLR (excluding City
CCG).
• Reviewing pathways for
18 specialties
• Introduce non-face to
face where appropriate
• Full compliance with
BADS
• UHL OP and daycase
elective care hub

• Strengthen prevention
and self-help services to
improve resilience
• Implement Crisis
House, step down beds,
discharge team and
changes to inpatient
pathway to reduce out
of county placements
• Increased access to
alternative services, for
example through IAPT;
• Reduce alternative
health placements by
40%,
• Providing more stepdown support postdischarge, for example
step down beds and
crisis house facilities.

• Development of single
obstetric unit at UHL
• Maximise the uptake of
midwifery led care
options by promoting
home births and
midwife-led provision –
the key system
intervention is
redesigning how
community based
midwife led services are
delivered to ensure that
there is a sustainable
model for community
based midwife care
• Continue with the multiagency programme to
improve perinatal
outcomes in Leicester.
• Develop an integrated
maternal mental health
pathway

• Merger of Children’s ED
and CAU to become a
single Ambulatory care
unit and deliver
Children’s acute care
provision from a single
site
• Increasing the provision
of counselling and
emotional health and
wellbeing services to
reduce the number of
children escalating to
tier 3 CAMHS
• Reduce out of area
placements
• Redesigning the
hepatitis B pathway to
shift 100% of activity
from to primary care
• Develop options to
deliver integrated
provision

13

32

Planned care

4

The impact on our
providers

33

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

The beds programme and left shift
Acuity reviews carried out by UHL and LPT have identified a significant number of patients who do not
require treatment in an inpatient setting, and the workstreams are developing further interventions to
provide better quality care in a community setting including home.
Beds bridge

34
15

UHL plans
Vision
“Overall Leicester’s hospitals will become smaller and more specialised and more able
to support the drive to deliver non-urgent care in the community. As a result of
centralising and specialising services we will improve quality and safety… this will be
done in partnership with other local health organisations and social care though the
Better Care Together programme. We will save money by no longer supporting an old
expensive and under used estate and we will become more productive.”
Major service changes over the five years
New emergency floor
Obstetric hub at the LRI
OP/DC hub created
Shift 40% of OP/DC to a non-acute setting

35

•
•
•
•

Beds programme
•
•

The shift of activity to community settings involves the health economy taking actions that will
reduce the need for 571 beds at UHL
Once the additional growth expected in the system is taken into account this will require a physical
reduction of beds at UHL of 427 beds

16

UHL plans – capital programme
UHL’s financial recovery plan requires moving from 3 to 2 acute sites by 2019. The key business cases
planned for UHL are laid out below:
Site

2014

2015

Leicester Royal
Infirmary
(net increase of 17
beds)

Emergency Floor

03/15

Entrance

Outpatients
Maternity

Total cost (Capital
Report) - £192m

2016

2018/19

09/17
03/17

03/16

Multi-storey car park
ITU
Inpatients

03/17
03/16

Theatres

03/15

Glenfield
(net reduction of
45 beds)

Vascular

06/15 6

Total cost (Capital
Report) - £115m

Imaging 03/15[

OPDC Hub

Children’s
Cardiac

06/16

02/16

OBC approved
FBC approved

01/15

Internal approval

Pathology
Inpatients

36

Children’s IP/OP

LGH
Total cost (Capital
Report) - £15m

2017

03/17

06/15

Relocation of LGH services

03/16
17

LPT plans
Vision
“To improve the health and wellbeing of the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland by providing high quality, integrated physical and mental health care
pathways”.
Three major service programmes over 5 years
•

37

•
•

Co-ordinated community health services - creating effective, more integrated pathways for frail
older people and adults suffering from chronic conditions;
Creating effective, more integrated pathways for children and young people; and
Creating effective, more integrated pathways for adults with acute and enduring mental health
conditions and those with complex learning disabilities.

Beds programme
•

UHL and LPT have agreed that 250 beds worth of patients can be cared for outside of an acute
setting. The 250 beds are broken down as follows:
• 170 where patients can be treated by expanded community teams
• 80 “sub-acute” beds, where patients need to be treated in an existing community hospital
bed, with enhanced home care support.

18

LPT beds reconfiguration
The beds reconfiguration will take place over three phases
LPT have identified three separate phases:
The left shift will entail shifts as follows:
Phase 1:
24 Beds shift from LPT beds to LPT
community;
36 Beds shift from UHL to LPT
community
24 Beds shift from UHL to LPT Hospitals

Phase 3:
34 Beds shift from LPT beds to LPT
community;
96 Beds shift from UHL to LPT
community
34 Beds shift from UHL to LPT
Hospitals

16/17- Phase 2

15/16- Phase 1

38

14/15- Pre
implementation

Phase 2:
24 Beds shift from LPT beds to
LPT community;
36 Beds shift from UHL to LPT
community
24 Beds shift from UHL to LPT
Hospitals

17/18- Phase 3

Pre-recruitment
(Double running)

Training

M1-M9

Pre-recruitment
(Double running)
Training

M1-M9
Pre-recruitment
(Double running)
Training

M1-M9

19

Primary care plans
Key themes emerging for strategies across LLR
•
•

•

Each CCG has developed a primary care strategy following wide engagement with
GPs across LLR
While each CCG is different – i.e. different geography, different populations, and
different history – there is a common theme of collaboration across primary care to
overcome workload pressures, offer accessible local alternatives to acute care, and to
prevent illness or exacerbation.
The core role of primary care will remain but there will be a range of additional
services available to patients with the most complex needs

39

How the primary care model could change
•
•
•
•
•
•

Any new model will require a broader range of clinical skills both within general
practice and in the ancillary services.
There will need to be more highly trained nurses and GPs with broader skills for both
planned and complex care
A significantly greater number of patients could be empowered to self-care
Changes to the model of care will enable simplification and scale, reducing
duplication and the need for as many non-clinical staff.
This will create an opportunity for re-investment into new or differently skilled clinical
staff to support the practices /hubs
It may be possible to stop up to 10% of GP contacts by organising better and
improving access to other health professionals, allowing GPs to focus their time on
those patients who need them the most
20

Primary care plans
Transformation plan
•

The transformation plans set out for all three CCGs will require significant planning in
order to significantly increase capacity. The below timeline sets out the expectations
for how this development will be phased over the next 4 years:

Provisional timeline

40

External funding requirements
•
•

CCGs have requested up to £46m for new capital projects to support the
development of estate to make it fit for purpose in the future
In addition to this it is expected that the development of new capacity will require a
transition period where £15m of non-recurrent revenue funding will be required
21

Social care plans
Development of a social care strategy
Social Care is a critical element to the successful delivery of the Better Care Together
programme. Working together, health and social care partners across LLR aim to provide
integrated, high quality services, delivered in local community settings where appropriate,
whilst improving emergency and acute care.
A social care strategy has been produced setting out a broad direction of travel, but
highlights significant financial risk associated with delivery
Financial pressure

41

The current economic situation continues to be extremely challenging, resulting in
significant and on-going reductions in Government funding. With an increasing demand
for services, further duties under the Care Act 2014, reduced funding and a need to
achieve efficiency targets, social care faces difficult decisions in order to deliver its
savings commitments.
The Better Care Fund
Adult social care is contributing to the reduction in need for care through a clear integration
agenda, and this is primarily being driven by the Better Care Fund. BCF services supporting
this work are varied across the authorities and include:
• Enhanced crisis services to avoid hospital admissions
• Support for assistive technology and equipment to reduce and delay need
• Proactive care management in aligned planned care teams
• Carer Support
• Care Navigators to focus on over 75s
• Early support for those diagnosed with dementia

22

Social care plans – interdependencies between health and social care
Financial impact of changes to health and social care services
There is significant uncertainty related to the delivery of the BCT plan in respect of its
impact on adult social care, particularly given the current funding environment.

•

Over the next 5 years both health and social care organisations are facing significant
financial pressures which will mean services need to be provided in different ways.

•

Any changes made across health and social care will inevitably have an impact on
each others' ability to provide corresponding services safely and in a sustainable way.

•

Work has begun to make estimates to quantify this impact, and this has begun by
reviewing the current beds programme. Provisional work has suggested that the
financial cost to social care of treating these patients in the community could be
around £5m, based on a weighted average of the current cost of care packages. This
will only be one element of the joint impact of the changes taking place however this
highlights the need for careful planning and coordination between the different
services.

•

Given the large amount of uncertainty surrounding the impact of the cuts to both
services a joint programme of work is required to collectively ensure that potential
disruption and risk is minimised.

42

•

23

Critical path for programme
Care setting

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

UHL

Emergency Floor
1773
Beds

UHL
moves to
2 acute
sites

Construction

OPDC hub

Construction
Maternity

Construction
1346
Beds

571 beds reduction through left shift, LOS reductions, BADS, DTOCs and admission avoidance
250 beds left shifted
LPT

24
beds

Contracting
agreement with
commissioners

Staff

Phase 3

Phase 2

Step 1

Estates development

Step 2

Step 3

Step 5

Step 4

New estates

43

Phase 1

Step 6

CAMHS & Mill Lodge
36

LPT community

34
beds

24
Shift
beds

36

96

Activity related to 168 beds
treated in community settings

New model of care in the community: Care packages, training,
infrastructure for care at home
Primary Care

Primary care estate and model

Development of primary care hubs

Pump priming, training, IM&T

Primary care development (eg. health
neighbourhoods / hubs)

Social care

Additional social care impact through left shift

24

5

Enabling change

44

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

Enablers – our plans for workforce and the estate
Workforce – ensuring LLR:
•
•
•

•

45

•
•
•

Employs the right workforce with the right skills, in the right place, at the right time and
with the right numbers;
Employs a workforce with the appropriate values and behaviours;
Collaborates to reduce vacancies and agency usage to deliver high quality, safe and
patient focussed outcomes with appropriately skilled workforce;
Develops an appropriate primary and community workforce to support the "left shift";
Maintains and develops the acute and sub-acute workforce;
Supports and develops appropriate education, training and workforce development to
support social care (e.g. support local authority policies around carers, offering
appropriate support, development and valuing the contribution).
Is supported around improving Organisational Development – an additional £200k
has been set aside in the funding requirements for the LHSCE

The estate – delivering:
• A smaller but more specialised acute estate, with consolidation of services onto two
sites;
• An adapted community bed base reflecting the transfer of “sub-acute” patients from
UHL to LPT;
• A hub and spoke model for the community estate;
• An adapted primary care estate which may include the development of hubs as well
as the refurbishment of existing premises;
• A more efficient and better utilised estate;
• A smaller health care estate footprint.
26

Enablers – our plans for IM&T
IM&T – using technology to transform health and social care delivery:
•
•

•

46

•

Transforming how care is delivered – IM&T is a powerful tool for automation and
standardisation of processes;
Transforming where care is delivered – IM&T can be used to reduce reliance on
physical healthcare locations and minimise unproductive travel time for patients and
practitioners;
Transforming who delivers care – IM&T allows specialists to be present in multiple
locations either directly through remote consultation facilities, or indirectly through
protocol driven logic designed by experts or analytics-driven clinical decision support
systems using the latest best practice guidance and research to give real-time advice;
Transforming when care is delivered - e-mail and social network-type sites allow
asynchronous communication removing the need for both parties to be available at
the same time.

27

6

Delivery options

47

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

Delivery options appraisal
The economic appraisal
The economic appraisal conducts a qualitative and quantitative appraisal of the options to deliver the
required transformation.
After discussion with stakeholders across LLR three initial listed options were developed:
1. Delivery through the BCT strategy
2. Delivery of financial balance through organisational efficiency alone (Do Minimum option)
3. Ceasing delivery of non-agreed services to regain financial balance
Each option was appraised against six investment objects and six critical success factors
Critical success factors

Quality of Care out of Acute Hospitals

Business Needs

Reduction in Inequalities

Strategic fit

Improved Patient Experience

Affordability

Efficient delivery of Care

Achievability

Financial Sustainability

Impact on clinical quality

Developed workforce

Impact on access

48

Investment objectives

29

Qualitative Appraisal of three Delivery options - results
Option 1 – Better
Care Together

Ref

Criteria

IO1

Quality of Care out of
Acute Hospitals

IO2

Reduction
Inequalities

in

IO3

Improved
Experience

Patient

IO4

Efficient
Care

IO5

Financial
Sustainability

IO6

Developed workforce

CSF1

Business Needs

CSF2

Strategic Fit

CSF3

Affordability

CSF4

Achievability

CSF5

Impact
quality

CSF6

Impact on access

delivery

Option
2
organisational
efficiency alone

–

Option 2 – ceasing
delivery
of
nonessential services

of

49

on

clinical

Assessment

30

Delivery options appraisal continued
The BCT option was deemed to be the only viable way to achieve financial balance based on a
qualitative discussion:
• Delivery of financial balance through organisational efficiency alone without working as part of
system would require internal organisational savings programmes well above the level deemed
sustainable
• In addition this would pose significant risks to the integrated working which has underpinned the
programme so far
• Ceasing delivery of non-agreed services was also considered, however the impact on patient safety
and the risks posed by an uncertain legal process were considered to be too great for the health
and social care economy to take on.

50
31

Economic assessment on shortlisted options
Given this qualitative discussion the BCT programme was economically assessed against the “do
minimum” option.

•

The do minimum option assumed that organisations attempted to make savings until such point as
they were deemed to be unsustainable, at which point it was probable that an external party would
place one or both local providers into an administration process

•

This process adding further cost and delay to the decision to find a sustainable solution. The
anticipated impact of this delay and additional uncertainty has been calculated in the economic
case and the net present cost was compared against the BCT option, as below:

51

•

The economic case therefore concluded that the BCT programme had a lower net present cost
than the next best alternative option and that this should be the preferred way forward for the
health and social care economy. This remained the case after applying sensitivities.

32

7

Financial impact

52

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

The BCT Programme will address a £398m funding shortfall for LLR
Whole health economy modelling work undertaken alongside the 5 year strategy demonstrated
the total gap between LLR income and expenditure in 2018/19 is £398m before any CIP/QIPP/
BCT interventions are modelled.
The gap cannot be closed by ‘general’ organisational savings of 3-4% p.a. alone.

The programme requires
transitional capital, revenue and
cash support to deliver all required
benefits

34

53

If BCT cross system initiatives,
aligned and linked to organisation
savings initiatives, deliver according
to the initial plans, then the
economy as a whole would deliver a
£1.9m surplus in year five before
the UHL reconfiguration benefits of
£30.8m in year 6.

How the £398m gap will be delivered by 2018/19
The following table sets out savings information provided by LLR organisations combined with the BCT workstream savings.
Together these components describe 94% of the total 5 year opportunities. The balance is bridged by (a) additional
workstream opportunities, identified but not yet developed into detailed initiatives; (b) CCG allocation growth believed to be
higher than that modelled based upon NHS England’s Five Year Forward View.
Further work is required to ensure that robust pan-health economy plans are developed to ensure all interdependencies and
risks are mapped through and testing as to whether some of the proposals could be accelerated.

CIP Not Mapped
QIPP Not Mapped
Disclosure Adjustment relating to model
Total

30,101
7,273
0
37,374

47,795
14,052
0
61,847

61,525
17,240
0
78,765

76,951
20,480
0
97,430

88,151
23,617
13,637
125,405

(Cumlative) Grand Total

89,658

171,115

238,181

301,693

371,377

This financial analysis set out above is shown separately as a pie chart overleaf.

35

54

LD Pathways
MH Pathways
LTC Pathways
FOP Pathways
Urgent Care Pathways
Planned Care Pathways
Maternity Pathways
Children's Pathways
End of Life Pathways
Workstream Total
UHL-LPT Bed Reconfiguration
Estates
Workforce
Workstream Enablers Total
Clinical Income(Non-LLR)
Clinical Income (Non-NHS)
Other Income
Income Schemes Total
Procurement
Pharmacy
Procurement & Pharmacy Total
Total

Reported Savings @ Oct 14 (Cumlative)
14/15 (£'000) 15/16 (£'000) 16/17 (£'000) 17/18 (£'000) 18/19 (£'000)
0
316
1,225
1,609
1,859
2,625
8,605
12,383
15,562
18,201
1,293
3,183
5,084
6,980
8,574
6,023
12,784
12,784
12,784
12,784
1,852
2,407
5,014
6,512
7,362
3,105
6,443
8,571
10,700
11,731
0
0
378
378
378
300
355
600
600
600
892
1,338
1,338
1,338
1,338
16,090
35,431
47,377
56,463
62,828
1,102
9,840
17,423
25,441
29,114
6,929
8,904
10,962
12,565
19,476
12,886
24,358
36,386
46,158
54,317
20,917
43,103
64,771
84,164
102,907
250
650
729
807
884
0
250
417
582
745
2,178
4,738
7,298
9,858
12,418
2,428
5,638
8,444
11,247
14,047
4,904
10,222
15,836
21,432
27,019
7,946
14,874
22,988
30,957
39,171
12,850
25,096
38,824
52,389
66,190
52,284
109,268
159,417
204,263
245,972

Analysis of £371m reported savings

55
36

The programme requires transitional capital, revenue and cash support to
deliver all of the required benefits
Capital Requirements: In addition to existing capital funds available, an extra £430.3m of capital
investment is required to support existing and new capital developments.
The table below shows each organisation’s projected capital spend and the external funding
required where this is in excess of existing Capital Resource limits (CRLs)
The capital spend will predominantly drive the following major service changes in the system:
•
UHL’s complex capital programme to move from three acute sites to two
•
LPT’s Community Hospital Strategy to develop modern fit for purpose community hubs to support the changing model
of care
•
Primary Care development of existing and new estate in support of the transformation
•
These estimates will require further testing
Org

14/15
(£'000)
46,530
34,507
12,023
12,023
14,636
14,636
61,166
49,143
12,023
12,023

15/16
('000)
120,221
33,300
86,921
86,921
14,652
10,908
3,744
3,744
4,625
200
4,825
139,698
44,208
95,490
95,490

16/17
('000)
125,672
33,300
92,372
92,372
23,000
12,608
10,392
10,392
13,875
250
2,070
16,195
164,867
45,908
118,959
118,959

17/18
('000)
117,834
33,300
84,534
84,534
48,944
10,108
38,836
38,836
13,875
13,875
180,653
43,408
137,245
137,245

18/19
Total
('000)
(£'000)
72,121 482,378
33,300 167,707
38,821 314,671
28,350
28,350
10,471 286,321
52,332 153,564
10,108
58,368
42,224
95,196
42,224
95,196
13,875
46,250
250
2,070
200
13,875
48,770
138,328 684,712
43,408 226,075
94,920 458,637
28,350
28,350
37
66,570 430,287

56

Project
Total Requirement
Use of capital resource limit
External Capital Requirement (Gross)
UHL
Receipts
External Capital Requirement (Net)
Total Requirement
Use of capital resource limit
External Capital Requirement (Gross)
LPT
Receipts
External Capital Requirement (Net)
Total Requirement
Primary Care
Total Requirement
Planned Care
Urgent Care
Total Requirement
Long Term Conditions Total Requirement
External Capital Requirement (Net)
Total Requirement
Use of capital resource limit
External Capital Requirement (Gross)
OVERALL
Receipts
External Capital Requirement (Net)

The programme requires transitional capital, revenue and cash support to
deliver all of the required benefits (continued)
Revenue/ Cash Requirements: In addition to existing revenue funds available, an extra £202.9m of
non recurrent cash/ revenue investment is required to support the transition period during which
services are changing.
Support Type

15/16
(£'000)
36,100
3,102
11,295
5,045
997
200
4,500
254
61,493

16/17
(£'000)
34,300
3,598
12,939
2,176
997
200
6,000
224
60,434

17/18
(£'000)
33,300
2,700
8,859
438
997
100
3,000
224
49,618

18/19
(£'000)
30,800
1,925
6,265
272
997
100
1,500
224
42,083

Total
(£'000)
175,200
11,407
40,558
8,307
5,527
600
15,000
1,292
257,891

0

3,280

3,484

3,684

3,885

14,333

57

UHL Deficit funding
LPT revenue support
UHL revenue support
Work streams
Central PMO
Consultation Costs
Primary Care
Enablers
TOTAL REVENUE/(CASH) REQUIREMENT

14/15
(£'000)
40,700
82
1,200
376
1,539
0
0
366
44,263

Funded by
Uncommitted CCG Transformation funds
Independent Trust Financing Facility (deficit support already applied for by
UHL in 14/15)
Remaining External Funding Requirment

40,700

40,700
3,563
44,263

58,213
61,493

56,950
60,434

45,934
49,618

38,198
42,083

202,858
257,891

The overall requirement of £202.9m shown above is net of £14.3m of local CCG transformation funds.
The revenue funding required by the programme will be used to support;
•
UHL’s existing deficit (£175.2m) which would be required anyway
•
Support for bed/site reconfiguration within LPT and UHL (£52m)
•
Primary Care development (£15m)
•
Workstream requirements (£8.3m)
38
(Work is currently underway to assess any transitional costs impact associated with capital charges. The outcome of that
review will be reflected in the full version of the SOC).

8

Engagement

58

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

Continuous engagement to ensure we meet needs and expectations
Our approach to engagement
Our stakeholders are well defined:
• patients, service users, carers and the Voluntary and Community Sector
• staff, practitioners and clinicians
• the public and communities
• political representatives, local government and regional administration
• LLR partner organisations

59

We have established formal links with the key stakeholder groups:
• Health and Wellbeing Boards
• Healthwatch
• the Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) Reference Group
• the Clinical Reference Group (CRG)
• Voluntary Sector
Equality and Diversity (including Equality, Inclusion and Human Rights)
This is built in to our plans for delivery and will be ongoing.
Formal consultation is being planned for commencement post-May 2015.

40

9

Governing and
delivering the
programme

60

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

Approach to managing the programme
Our approach is based on:
•
•
•

The Five Year Strategic Plan
Direction from the LLR Partnership Board
The Office of Government Commerce (OGC)’s guidance on best practice

The Five Year Strategic Plan has led to the SOC and the PID.

61

Ultimate accountability for the success of the Programme lies with the LLR Partnership Board. The
Partnership Board will meet in public from January 2015.
The BCT Delivery Board, under the joint SROs, will oversee delivery of the Programme on behalf of the
Partnership Board.
The Programme Director will manage the Programme, day-to-day, on behalf of the joint SROs.
The Programme will be coordinated and synchronised by the Programme Director, supported by a LLR
Programme Management Office (PMO).

42

Programme governance structure

62
43

Overall approval timeline
August – October
2014

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
e
r
s

P
r
o
v
i
d
e
r
s

1. Programme
Strategic Outline
Case (SOC)
Sets out the:
• Clinical / Strategic case
• Financial case
• Management case
• Economic case
• Commercial case

Jan – June 2015

2. Agreement in
principle
High level funding
agreed:
• Acute provider
• Community provider
• Primary care

July-Oct 2015

Nov-Dec 2015

Jan-June 2016

2016-20

4. Public
Consultation

3. Development of
pre-consultation
business case
(PCBC)

Consultation for
Better Care
Together initiatives–
multi-organisational,
covering all acute
and out of hospital
proposed changes

Outline the options
associated with each
area of proposed service
change, with a preferred
option indicated by the
LHE

63

P
r
o
g
r
a
m
m
e

Nov – Dec 2014

5. Decision
making
business case
(DMBC)
Pulls together
outcomes of
consultation
process

Sets out the case for
individual
investments:
• CCGs / UHL /
Plans put into
LPT
place
• LAT

6. OBC / FBC development
7. OBC/ FBC
Implementation
6. OBC / FBC development

44

10

Next Steps

64

CONFIDENTIAL, DRAFT FOR DISCUSSION

Next steps
•

Agreement of PID and SOC at each local Governing Body

•

Submission of SOC to NHSE/TDA

•

Workstreams to be fully mobilised and commence implementation

•

Joint Programme SROs to:

– establish timescales and approval requirements for external support and
evaluate the consequences of not securing this support

65

–
–
–
–
–
–

clarify decision making authority and a scheme of delegation
ensure the further development of clinical leadership and engagement
review workforce plans to mitigate risks and prioritise actions
consider current contractual arrangements
determine the scope and strategy for consultation
review the risk management process work and ensure it is embedded into day to
day programme activity

46

66

This page is intentionally left blank

67

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20 NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF THE JOINT COMMISSIONER FOR CHILD AND
ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG
PEOPLE

Purpose of Report
1. This report addresses work across Leicester City, Leicestershire
County and Rutland County to produce a joint multi-agency strategic
approach to improving the emotional and mental health of children and
young people. This strategy is based on four strands:
•
•
•
•

Promotion of good emotional health through universal services
Co-ordinated and integrated early and targeted support services
Clear care pathways to and from specialist clinical services for
children with mental health or developmental disorders
Joint strategic direction and leadership to ensure strong coordination and joint working across organisations

2. The report also provides an update on the review of the Child and

Adolescent Outpatient Mental Health Services provided by
Leicestershire Partnership Trust and the national review of CAMHS
Tier 4 services, commissioned by NHS England.
BACKGROUND
“By promoting good mental health and intervening early, particularly in the
crucial childhood and teenage years, we can help to prevent mental illness
from developing and mitigate its effects when it does.”
No Health Without Mental Health: A cross-government strategy (2011)

3. Effective and high quality health, social care and educational services
can protect children and their families from the impact of mental illness
and emotional distress. Such services are also a valuable mid to long
term investment in promoting resilience and preventing more extensive
mental health care needs in later life.
4. The importance of ensuring positive mental health for children and
young people is supported by a raft of evidence and national policy.
The National Service Framework for Children, Young people and
Maternity Services (DH, DfES 2004) states:
“The importance of psychological well-being in children and young
people, for their healthy emotional, social, physical, cognitive and
educational development, is well-recognised. There is now increasing
evidence of the effectiveness of interventions to improve children's and

68

young people's resilience, promote mental health and treat mental
health problems and disorders, including children and young people
with severe disorders who may need admission.”
5. Mental health problems in children are associated with educational
failure, family disruption, disability, offending and antisocial behaviour,
placing demands on social services, schools and the youth justice
system. Untreated mental health problems create distress not only in
the children and young people, but also for their families and carers,
continuing into adult life and affecting the next generation.
6. The Better Care Together Programme is an ambitious programme to
develop a five-year plan to transform services to deliver stronger coordination, improved quality and financial benefits. The emotional
health and wellbeing of children and young people is part of the
Children’s Strand of the Better Care Together Programme. A multiagency reference group has met regularly to develop an outline
strategy and priorities for action for this work. There has been strong
Leicestershire County Council involvement in this work. The strategic
priorities are set out below:
EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Promotional of good emotional health
Emotional Health and Well-being campaigns within schools and colleges
7. All children at school and college in LLR will be encouraged and
enabled to maintain good emotional health and well-being. This will be
though pastoral teaching support, strategies to tackle issues such as
bullying and anxiety and access to school nursing and counselling
services.
Jointly commission training for staff in universal settings on emotional
health and wellbeing.
8. All front-line staff in organisations working with children and young
people in LLR will have access to training and development
opportunities to learn about emotional health issues. This will provide
practical skills in supporting children and knowing when and how to
refer for specialist intervention and support. Over 150 County Council
staff have benefited from this training per year. A multi-agency group
has been established to take forward the strategy for future
commissioning of this training and workforce development.
Early and targeted support
Map current services
9. The current range of services needs to be mapped and understood
with a view to identify duplications and gaps. Identify all services

69

presently provided by statutory and voluntary sectors. Understand the
types of interventions offered, targeted client groups, duration, costs
and outcomes. The Public Health Team at the County Council have
led on this work.
Joint commissioning of comprehensive Tier 2 services
10. Jointly commission a comprehensive Tier 2 service which provides
early and targeted support for those with mild to moderate difficulties
An LLR wide multi-agency Tier two service which will receive referrals
from front-line practitioners, conduct assessments, and offer a range of
short time low intensity interventions for children, young people and
their families. These could include peer support, counselling, group
work, parental training, short-term therapies. This would also be the
gateway to more specialist assessments and longer- term
interventions. There is potential for Department for Education and NHS
England grant funding to accelerate this work.
Improving Service Pathways
Review present pathways to specialist services
11. Map the present specialist services (Tier 3 and Tier4) to confirm
function, capacity, and pathways to and from services. Understand all
specialist services, and how they work together to provide holistic care
and support for children and young people with severe or complex
needs.
Transform the way the Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services
(CAMHS) service works to improve access and joint working with partner
organisations
12. Review the CAMHS service and produce an improvement plan based
on enhancing access to assessment and interventions, and improving
communication and engagement with partner organisations and with
service users.
Improve experience of transition from child to adult services.
Clarify the age of transition and how child and adult services work
together to support the young person through the change of services.
Leadership and Management of Resources
13. Establish structural framework for leadership of implementation of the
strategy. This will include:
a. Joint Leadership Board – to give vision, direction and make
decisions

70

b. Stakeholder reference group – to shape and influence the
strategy
c. Project task and finish groups – to deliver the agreed priority
projects
14. Consider options for joint management of resources and
commissioning Identify current commissioning arrangements and
funding levels for all services. Agree model for future joint
commissioning and financing.
15. Set success criteria and systems of measurement. Agree the overall
outcomes that should be achieved through this strategy and how they
will be measured.
Engaging with Schools
16. It is vital to engage schools and colleges in this work. They are in
contact and support almost all children and ca also be significant
commissioners of services in their own right. Two focus groups have
so far been held with schools in South Leicestershire and North West
Leicestershire. These meeting have highlighted the value of schools
having access to expert advice and support when required and for
specialists service to engage with local behavioural partnerships and
neighbourhood community forums.
17. We are keen to continue this process of focus group meetings with
other schools.
TRANSFORMATION OF THE CAMHS TIER 3 SERVICE
Background
18. The CAMHS Tier 3 service is a specialist service which supports
children with severe or significant mental health or neurodevelopmental
conditions. It is commissioned by the Clinical Commissioning Groups
for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and delivered by
Leicestershire Partnership Trust, Families, Young People and
Children’s Division.
19. In June 2014 the CCGs commissioned an independent review of
CAMHS Tier 3. The broad aim was to develop and implement an
improvement plan: a key element of which will be to address
contractual waiting time requirements. The review was requested
because of increasing concerns over a number of issues:
•

variable practice across the three CAMHS community teams (City,
County West and County East) and between clinicians

•

35% of referrals are returned to the referring agency as
inappropriate

71

•

limited communication with service users / carers and referring
agencies whilst a case is being assessed by CAMHS

•

reported reluctance to share patient data across agencies despite
agreed protocols

20. A multi-agency project group, chaired by the CAMHS Commissioner
steered the review. Tim Jones, an independent consultant, was
appointed to conduct the review. He held a number of interviews with
staff within the CAMHS service and external stakeholders. This
included representatives from the County Council and voluntary groups
operating within Leicestershire. He has also collated and analysed data
about the service and the views of service users.
21. It was important for the staff within CAMHS to have an early
opportunity to hear the outcomes from the review, validate or challenge
the findings, and then take ownership for the recommendations and
action plan. Therefore a special event for the whole CAMHS service
was arranged for 22nd September. A briefing seminar for external
stakeholders was held in the evening.
Key Findings
i.

The waiting time from referral to assessment and treatment is very
long for “routine” referrals, with a large proportion breeching the 13
week contractual target for an initial assessment to be completed.
The trend is upwards and the waiting times vary between the three
community teams, City, West and East. (More breaches in the West
team). However all “urgent” referrals are seen within 4 weeks.

ii.

All assessments are presently undertaken by a multi-disciplinary
team of two or more practitioners including a consultant. This
approach may not be an efficient or effective use of clinical time and
should be revisited.

iii.

There are different referral patterns from GPs and geographical
areas. Referrals fluctuate by month to month. There is an upward
trend of about 10% a year increase in referrals over the past two
years. Referring agencies, such as GPs, School Nurses,
Paediatricians, may not understand the referral criteria for CAMHS.
Need for clarity about “the CAMHS offer” and what a specialist
CAMHS service provides and does not provide.

iv.

There isn’t consistency in the ways in which the three teams work.
Perception from external stakeholders that cases are assessed
differently according to the team or clinicians involved. Little
flexibility to move resources between the teams.

v.

Referral rates from the County are higher than would be expected.
Referrals rates from the City are lower than expected. There may

72

be a variety of reasons for this including prevalence rates, hidden
unmet needs, and availability of alternative services to CAMHS.
vi.

Arrangements and criteria for discharge or step down from the
CAMHS service are not clear. The discharge rate is substantially
below the average for CAMHS across England. CAMHS may be
holding on to cases which could be safely discharged to lower tier
services.

vii.

Clear clinical care pathways are required to guide clinicians,
referrers and service users through the assessment, diagnostic and
intervention services. These include the pathways from primary
care, between tiers of CAMHS service and to adult mental health
services.

viii.

Families who are waiting for an assessment or for an intervention to
start are not always kept informed or offered resources and advice
whilst they wait. This can be very distressing for the family.

ix.

Significant variation in the number of patients seen by senior
clinicians. Some clinicians not using the standard administrative
systems for booking appointments and contacting patients.
Administrative functions can be used more effectively to free up
clinical time.

x.

Clinical and patient outcome measures are not used to inform and
improve clinical or organisational practice. Data is gathered but is
not analysed or shared with clinicians.

xi.

Other findings related to accommodation pressures, a requirement
for better electronic clinical record systems, improving engagement
with stakeholders and strengthening clinical leadership.

22. The final report will be considered by the Clinical Commissioning
Groups Contract Performance Meeting which commissioned the
review. It will then be available for distribution to all stakeholders.
CAMHS Response
23. The CAMHS Service has accepted the findings of the report and is now
establishing task groups to look at implementing the recommendations.
These task groups will look at improving access, systems and
processes, the model of care, and workforce capacity. Some of the
ideas that will be considered include:
•

Establishing a team that would focus on new referrals and
assessments, thereby ensuring consistency in accepting referrals,
and freeing other clinical staff to focus on their caseloads.

•

Sharing good practice on arrangements on managing safe
discharge from the service

73

•

Ensuring that the results of outcome measurement are shared with
clinicians to inform and improve clinical practice.

•

Improve communication with families who are waiting for their child
to be assessed.

•

Understanding reasons for variations in clinical workload, and
tackling this accordingly.

•

County teams may be able to learn from the City team where
referral rates are lower; there is greater workforce flexibility to
response to fluctuating demand, and experience of effective joint
working with the local authority.

Commissioner Response
24. There are also challenges to develop more robust commissioning of
the CAMHS service. The CCGs will look to make the following
improvements.
25. Revise the specification for the CAMHS community service to
•

Ensure that the waiting time targets apply to all referrals and
measures both times from referral to assessment and from
assessment to commencement of intervention.

•

Ensure that outcome measures and used and reported on.

•

Specify that a key function of the service will be to provide advice,
support, guidance and training for other agencies on child mental
health issues.

26. Commission, together with local authorities, alternative services to
CAMHS, or services which can be accessed by those on the CAMHS
waiting list. This would include counselling services, group work and
parental support.
National Review of Tier 4 Services.
27. Tier 4 hospital services are commissioned on a regional basis by NHS
England. There are units in Leicestershire, Northamptonshire,
Lincolnshire and Nottinghamshire and young people from
Leicestershire who require an in-patient admission may be placed in
any of these units. It is also sometimes necessary to place young
people “out of area” if there are no regional beds available or the young
person required specialist intervention (e.g. clinical treatment for
Anorexia). Currently LPT provides an eight-bedded unit in Thurmaston
(Oakham House). This will be relocating to Coalville Hospital on a
temporary basis from April 2015. NHS England and LPT are working to
identify a permanent site for Tier 4 unit within LLR.
28. A national review of the CAMHS Tier 4 service has identified a national
shortage of beds and the Government has announced funding for 50

74

more beds nationwide. Some of this will benefit the East Midlands.
There is also the potential to develop greater co-commissioning of Tier
3 and Tier 4 services between CCGs, local authorities and NHS
England.
29. The CCGs are also giving serious consideration to investing in the
establishment of a specialist community eating disorders team. There
is an increasing prevalence of eating disorders amongst young people
in Leicestershire. This is the mental health disorder with the highest
mortality rate. The increasing referral rate is placing pressure on the
generic CAMHS service and many young people are being placed in
hospital settings outside of the East Midlands region for extensive time
periods.
CONCLUSION
30. This report has set out the strategic work that is being undertaken to
develop and co-ordinate services for children and young people with
emotional health and mental health difficulties. This is part of the
Children’s Strand of the Better Care Together Programme. The report
has also providing an update on the current review of the CAMHS Tier
3 service and regional development of Tier 4 services. The
transformation of these services will be a key element of the overall
strategy.

RECOMMENDATION
To note the report.

Officer to contact
Leon Charikar
Joint CAMHS Commissioner for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
01509 567729 leon,charikar@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk
November 2014

75

Agenda Item 8

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20th NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING
GROUP
PRIMARY CARE CO-COMMISSIONING
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to present the slide set from NHS England setting out
the proposed next steps towards primary care co-commissioning.

Background
2.

In May 2014, Simon Stevens invited CCGs to come forward to take on an increased
role in the commissioning of primary care services. The intention was to empower
and enable CCGs to improve primary care services.

3.

A joint CCG and NHS England Group – the primary care co-commissioning
programme oversight group – has been set up to work in partnership to design and
agree with CCG leaders the practical next steps towards co-commissioning. This
group is developing a ‘Next Steps Towards Primary Care Co-commissioning’
document which aims to provide clarity and transparency around co-commissioning
options and will be published in November 2014.

4.

The appended presentation sets out the scope of co-commissioning and provides
details of the approvals process and implementation timetable.

Recommendation
5.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to note and comment on the
proposed steps towards primary care co-commissioning.

Officer to Contact
Toby Sanders
Managing Director, West Leicestershire CCG
Toby.sanders@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk

76

This page is intentionally left blank

NHS England
November 2014
www.england.nhs.uk

77

Proposed next
steps towards
primary care
co-commissioning:
an overview

Background and context
In May 2014, Simon Stevens invited CCGs to come forward to take on an
increased role in the commissioning of primary care services. The intention
was to empower and enable CCGs to improve primary care services locally.

•

There has been enormous enthusiasm and energy from CCGs across the
country to adopt a greater role in primary care co-commissioning. We want to
harness this energy along with the frustrations CCGs have expressed in the
current primary care commissioning arrangements, to more effectively shape
local services.

•

A joint CCG and NHS England group—the primary care co-commissioning
programme oversight group—has been set up to work in partnership to design
and agree with CCG leaders the practical next steps towards cocommissioning. This group is co-chaired by Dr Amanda Doyle (Chief Clinical
Officer, NHS Blackpool CCG) and Ian Dodge (National Director:
Commissioning Strategy, NHS England). Membership of this group is set
out in annex A.

www.england.nhs.uk

78

•

2

Aims of co-commissioning
•

•

www.england.nhs.uk

79

•

The overall aim of primary care co-commissioning is to harness the energy of CCGs
to create a joined up, clinically-led commissioning system which delivers seamless,
integrated out-of-hospital services based around the needs of local populations.
From CCGs’ early expressions of interest, we have gleaned some of the possible
benefits of co-commissioning:
• Improved provision of out-of hospital services for the benefit of patients and
local populations;
• A more integrated healthcare system that is affordable, high quality and which
better meets local needs;
• More optimal decisions to be made about how primary care resources are
deployed;
• Greater consistency between outcome measures and incentives used in
primary care services and wider out-of-hospital services; and
• A more collaborative approach to designing local solutions for workforce,
premises and IM&T challenges.
Co-commissioning is the beginning of a longer journey towards place-based
commissioning.
3

CCG expressions of interest
There has been a tremendous response from CCGs to the invitation for
expressions of interest in primary care co-commissioning. Seeing the range of
expressions of interest submitted has allowed us to further understand the level
of aspiration and ambition across the country. However, we have also learned
that not all CCGs agree with how their expressions of interest were categorised
during the initial analysis. Therefore we are proposing that all CCGs get a fresh
opportunity to decide upon their preferred approach to primary care
commissioning.

•

Furthermore, many CCGs have requested more information on the choices open
to them, including greater clarity on the different co-commissioning models, their
scope and parameters.

•

On that basis, the joint CCG and NHS England primary care co-commissioning
programme oversight group is developing a Next steps towards primary care cocommissioning document. The Next steps document aims to provide the clarity
and transparency around co-commissioning options that CCGs have
called for and will be published in November 2014.

www.england.nhs.uk

80

•

Next steps towards primary care
co-commissioning document
•

www.england.nhs.uk

81

The aim of the Next Steps document is to:
• Provide practical solutions to the key issues and challenges of cocommissioning;
• Set out a legally robust model for joint governance arrangements;
• Set out a co-designed, standardised, solid model for delegated
arrangements;
• Set out a proposal for the handling of conflicts of interest (to be consulted
upon and published as statutory guidance in December 2014);
• Confirm financial arrangements including running costs;
• Clarify how CCGs can access administrative resources associated with joint
and delegated arrangements;
• Clarify the timeline and approvals process for implementing cocommissioning arrangements; and
• Give CCGs an opportunity to choose afresh what co-commissioning
model they wish to assume through a simple application proforma.

5

Scope of co-commissioning
Through the analysis of expressions of interest, it has become apparent that there
are three models of primary care commissioning CCGs would like to take forward:

•

In 2015/16 co-commissioning will encompass general practice services only as the
commissioning of dental, community pharmacy and eye health services is more
complex than general practice and has a different legal framework. However, we
recognise the ambition in some CCGs to take on a greater level of responsibility in
these areas and we will be looking into this for 2016/17 with full and proper
engagement of the relevant professional groups.

82

•

www.england.nhs.uk

6

Model 1: Greater involvement
CCGs collaborate closely with their area teams around primary care
commissioning decisions, particularly with regard to CCGs’ duty to improve
the quality of primary care.

•

No new governance arrangements would be required for this model and the
approach to closer working could be agreed between the CCG and its area
team at any time.

•

There is no formal approvals process for any CCG who wishes to have
greater involvement in primary care decision making. Many CCGs are
already working closely with their area teams to influence and shape
primary care decision making.

•

CCGs will not have any responsibility for financial decision making under
this model but can expect area teams to share with them the most up-todate primary care commissioning plans.

www.england.nhs.uk

83

•

7

Model 2: Joint commissioning
This form of co-commissioning gives CCGs the opportunity to assume joint commissioning
responsibilities with their area team either through a joint committee or “committee in
common”.

•

In this model, NHS England and individual CCGs would remain accountable for meeting their
own statutory duties for instance in relation to quality, financial resources and public
participation.

•

CCGs and NHS England must ensure that any governance arrangement they put in place
does not compromise their ability to fulfil their duties, and ensures they are able to
meaningfully engage patients and the public in decision making.

•

Joint commissioning proposals will be agreed by regional offices, if they are assured that
arrangements comply with the governance framework, for instance through the creation of a
joint committee or “committee in common”. The governance framework has been developed
in collaboration with CCGs and key stakeholders and includes model terms of reference and
scheme of delegation. Where a joint commissioning arrangement involves a pooled fund, the
arrangement would also need to comply with financial instructions.

www.england.nhs.uk

84

•

8

Model 3: Delegated arrangements
Delegated commissioning offers an opportunity for CCGs to assume full responsibility
for commissioning primary care services. However, for legal reasons, the liability for
primary care commissioning remains with NHS England. Therefore NHS England will
require robust assurance that its statutory duties are being discharged effectively.

•

In discussions with CCGs it has been agreed that a standardised model of delegation
would make most sense for practical reasons. The following primary care functions
will be offered through delegated arrangements:

85

•

• Contractual arrangements;
• Enhanced services (“Local Enhanced Services” and “Directed Enhanced
Services”);
• Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF); and
• Complaints.
•

During the approvals process regional offices will review how CCGs propose to handle
and mitigate conflicts of interest. The proposed new NHS England Commissioning
Committee will provide final sign off for delegated proposals.

•

Once delegated arrangements have been established, their overall
effectiveness will be monitored as part of the CCG assurance process.

www.england.nhs.uk

9

Sign-off and approvals
•

The approvals process for co-commissioning arrangements will be as
simple and straightforward as possible. The process will be governed by
the following principles:

•

86

• it will be conducted openly and transparently and contain no
surprises;
• it will minimise the administrative demands placed on CCGs and
area teams;
• on-going assurance of co-commissioning arrangements will form
part of the CCG assurance process.
Unless a CCG has serious governance issues or is in a state akin to
“special measures,” NHS England will support CCGs to move towards
implementing co-commissioning arrangements.

www.england.nhs.uk

10

Conflicts of interest
CCGs are already handling conflicts of interests as part of their day to day work.
This includes:
• having robust arrangements for declaring interests;
• maintaining a register of interests;
• excluding individuals from decision-making where a conflict arises; and
• engaging with a range of potential providers on service design.

•

However, co-commissioning of primary care significantly increases the frequency
and range of potential COIs because of the scale of services and size of the
budget, especially in delegated arrangements, and a tough national framework
with clear minimum expectations is therefore essential.

•

NHS England is working with NHS Clinical Commissioners, RCGP and GPC to
develop models of management of COI that can be adapted for local use and
which reflect the additional responsibilities arising from co-commissioning. These
will be published in December 2014.

•

We will also consult with HealthWatch, Monitor and the National Audit Office on a
suggested approach and issue statutory guidance in accordance with
section 14Z8 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social
Care Act 2012).

www.england.nhs.uk

87

•

11

Key issues within existing guidance
NHS England guidance and code of conduct:
Being proactive, anticipating likely situations and making appropriate
arrangements to manage them, including in appointments to governing bodies
and committees.

•

Being balanced and proportionate. Rules should be clear and robust but not
overtly prescriptive or restrictive

•

Regularly updated register of interest

•

Openness, transparency, clear processes and record keeping

•

Consideration of whether to exclude individual from meeting due to a COI, or to
allow them to participate in discussion but not decision-making, should be made
on an issue by issue basis.

•

CCGs should have arrangements in place for where more than 50% of their
governing body or a committee are prevented from taking a decision due to COI.

•

Template to address key issues when CCGs are commissioning services
for which GPs may be potential providers.

•



88

•

www.england.nhs.uk
12

Current position - key issues within
existing guidance

89

BMA guidance
• Doctors in commissioning roles should be open about any financial
interests they have in organisations they are commissioning services
from and follow guidance about how to manage these interests.
• To manage COIs, a CCG could establish an external scrutiny committee
or seek advice from the Health and Wellbeing Board.
GPC guidance
• Doctors in commissioning roles should declare all interests, even if
unsure whether they represent a COI, be familiar with guidance and
seek advice as necessary.
RCGP/NHS Confederation guidance
• Sets out practical scenarios for management of COI issues.
Monitor guidance
• Guidance on the Procurement, Patient Choice and Competition
Regulations (see ‘legal position’ slide).

www.england.nhs.uk
13

Legal position
There is a legal requirement for CCGs to have arrangements in place for managing conflicts
of interest. Section 14O NHS Act 2006 (as amended) sets out minimum requirements
including:
NHS England must:
•
Publish guidance to CCGs on the discharge of their duties.

90

CCGs must:
•
Maintain appropriate registers of interests;
•
Publish or make arrangements for the public to access those registers;
•
Make arrangements requiring the prompt declaration of interests by the persons specified
(members and employees) and ensure that these interests are entered into the relevant
register;
•
Make arrangements for managing conflicts of interest and potential conflicts of interest
(e.g. developing appropriate policies and procedures); and
•
Have regard to guidance published by NHS England in relation to conflicts of interest.
NHS (Procurement, Patient Choice and Competition) (No.2) Regulations 2013
•

A relevant body (includes a CCG) must not award a contract for NHS health care
services where conflicts, or potential conflicts of interest affect, or appear to
affect, the integrity of the award.

www.england.nhs.uk

14

Potential ways forward (1)
It has been proposed that statutory guidance should be issued.
(CCGs required under 14Z8 of NHS Act 2006 to have regard to
statutory guidance. The effect is that CCGs are expected to comply with
the guidance unless they have a strong reason for not doing so.)

•

Important that approaches to manage co-commissioning COIs build on
existing guidance. Where appropriate, the above should incorporate
elements of the existing guidance and place them on a statutory
guidance basis.

•

As Monitor’s guidance is also statutory, particular need to ensure that
guidance clearly inter-relates with this.

•

Should take into account approaches proposed by NHS CC/RCGP/GPC

•

A key aim should be to seek to continue to facilitate clinically-led
decision-making as far as possible within the important constraint of the
effective management of COIs.

91

•

www.england.nhs.uk
15

Potential ways forward (2)

92

• Investment decisions could be made by a committee to the CCG
governing body made up of lay- and executive members only, to
be chaired by a lay member
• Consideration being given to the mandatory inclusion of nonvoting HealthWatch and Health and Wellbeing Board
representatives.
• Greater specific requirements in the duty for CCGs to keep a
public register of every decision made where a COI has been in
play, to include clarity on the nature of the conflict and details of
the conflicted parties and the register to form an obligatory part
of the annual accounts to be signed off by external auditors.
• Stronger transparency and audit requirements. It is recognised
that this may increase the running costs of CCGs: this would
need to be taken into account by CCGs opting for full delegation.
• Governance training for all CCG lay members to be offered by
NHS England

www.england.nhs.uk
16

Potential ways forward (3)

93

• The existing expectations on placing details of
procurement decisions on the CCG’s website could
be strengthened, including in terms of speed of
publication.
• Where a senior member of CCG staff has a possible
COI, the CCG should consider alternative
arrangements for who makes senior management
decisions on the issue in the question.
• CCGs should review their whistleblowing procedures
to ensure that they are fit for purpose for cocommissioning

www.england.nhs.uk
17

Implementation timetable
Co-commissioning
form

Nov
2014

Dec
2014

Greater involvement

Take forward arrangements locally

30 Jan: CCGs are invited to submit
proposals to england.cocommissioning@nhs.net

Joint commissioning

CCGs work with their
membership and area
team to consider and
agree the preferred
co-commissioning
arrangement for
2015/16.

Please note that constitution
amendments which relate solely to
joint commissioning arrangements
will also be accepted at this point.

6 Jan: CCGs are invited to submit
proposals to england.cocommissioning@nhs.net
During January, NHS England will
work with CCGs to ensure that
proposals are ready for sign off.

www.england.nhs.uk

Please note that constitution
amendments which relate solely to
delegated commissioning
arrangements will also be accepted
at this point.

Feb
2015

Mar
2015

NHS England
works with CCGs
to review and
approve their
submissions.

Local
Implementation
by CCGs with
their area team

Apr
2015

94

Delegated
commissioning

Jan
2015

Mid Feb:
Proposals are
signed off by an
NHS England
Committee (likely
to be the proposed
new
Commissioning
Committee)

Local
Implementation
by CCGs and
their area team

1 April:
Arrangements
implemented
and go-live

18

Implementation roadshows
Four roadshows will be held across the country with the aim of offering practical
and useful support to CCGs and NHS England teams, as well as other wider
stakeholders, in further developing and implementing their co-commissioning
proposals. Dates are:
• 19 November-Leeds
• 20 November-Birmingham
• 25 November-Bristol
•
2 December-London

•

The roadshows are an opportunity for CCGs and NHS England teams to:
• understand the policy context and future vision for primary care cocommissioning, including how this fits with the Five Year Forward View;
• receive legal and technical advice to take forward their proposals;
• raise questions about co-commissioning with the policy team, legal team,
finance team and NHS England central support team;
• collaborate to further develop their co-commissioning proposals; and to
• share ideas and learning in a peer environment.

www.england.nhs.uk

95

•

19

Arrangements for 2015/16
•

It is possible that over time CCGs may wish to change the form of cocommissioning they have adopted. All CCGs will be able to do so throughout
2015/16 and beyond, for example:
•
•

•

It is important that any CCG requests to change their co-commissioning model
are in line with “business as usual.” CCGs are advised to discuss their plans with
their relevant NHS England team and new proposals are expected to be
discussed and planned as part of the CCG assurance framework.

•

Proposals for taking up delegated commissioning arrangements in 2016/17
need to be submitted to NHS England by 1 June 2015 for implementation on 1
April 2016. This is because delegated budgets will form part of CCG
allocations from 2016/17 and the timescale for approval has to fit with the
allocations process.

www.england.nhs.uk

96

CCGs who have no co-commissioning arrangements in place, could opt to
assume a form of co-commissioning (greater involvement, joint or delegated
arrangements); or
CCGs who have either greater involvement or joint commissioning
arrangements in place, could request to progress to a joint or delegated cocommissioning arrangement, respectively.

20

On-going assurance
The on-going assurance of primary care co-commissioning arrangements will be
managed as part of the wider CCG assurance process.

•

NHS England intends to work with CCGs to co-develop a revised approach to the
current CCG assurance framework. The new assurance framework will be published in
2015.

•

Three key principles of the new assurance process are:
• It will be simplified to reduce unnecessary bureaucracy for both CCGs and NHS
England;
• It will be based on a supportive conversation and the process will reflect the
flexibility of NHS England to intervene differently in different circumstances;
• There will be clear interventions for failing CCGs.

•

In particular for co-commissioning the new assurance process will:
• test that core governance arrangements are working successfully, with specific
attention to the effective local management of conflicts of interest;
• be specific about the achievement of local outcomes, with a particular focus on
service delivery across the local health economy; and it will
• be co-designed and developed in strong partnership with CCGs and other
key stakeholders prior to publication.

www.england.nhs.uk

97

•

21

Any questions?

www.england.nhs.uk

98

• Queries can also be emailed to
england.co-commissioning@nhs.net

Annex A: Primary care co-commissioning
programme oversight group membership
Membership of the primary care co-commissioning programme oversight group
Co-chairs
Dr Amanda Doyle
Chief Clinical Officer, NHS Blackpool CCG

CCG members

National Director: Commissioning Strategy, NHS England

Dr Mary Backhouse

Chief Clinical Officer, NHS North Somerset CCG

Dr Tim Cotton

Clinical Director, NHS West Hampshire CCG

Dr Sam Everington

Alan Kennedy
Dr Andrew Withers

Chair, NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
Clinical Leader and Chair of the Governing Body, NHS Aylesbury Vale
CCG
Lay Chair, NHS Crawley CCG
Clinical Chair; NHS Bradford Districts CCG

Richard Barker
Dr Raj Patel

North Regional Director
Medical Director, Greater Manchester Area Team

Paul Roche

Programme Director for Primary Care Transformation for London, NHS
England

Wendy Saviour

Director, Birmingham, Solihull and the Black Country Area Team

Matthew Tait

Area Director, Thames Valley Area Team, NHS England

Dame Barbara Hakin

National Director: Commissioning Operations

Rosamond Roughton

Director of Commissioning Policy and Primary Care

Ivan Ellul

Director of Partnerships

Dr Julia Simon

Primary Care Co-commissioning Programme Director

Keziah Halliday
Sam Higginson
Dr Robert Varnam
Ged Curran
Merran McCrae

Head of Planning and Assurance
Director of Strategic Finance
Head of Practice Development
Chief Executive, Merton Council
Chief Executive, Calderdale Council

Dr Graham Jackson

NHS England regional
and area team members

NHS England national
support centre

LGA
www.england.nhs.uk

99

Ian Dodge

23

100

This page is intentionally left blank

101

Agenda Item 9

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20th NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CLINICAL
COMMISSIONING GROUP
PRIMARY CARE OPERATING FRAMEWORK AND
CO-COMMISSIONING TIMESCALES AND PROCESS
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Leicestershire County Council Health and
Wellbeing Board on the direction of travel for Primary Medical Services in East
Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group

Background
2.

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group have been working
for a number of months on a proposed operating framework that will see a reshaping of how primary medical services are developed and delivered for patients.
In line with the Better Care Together programme and as a potential response to the
issues and pressures facing both services for patients in an out of hospital setting
and the need for change in General Practice and Community Services to manage
this.
The Co-commissioning process is one that all CCGs are following in line with NHS
England’s proposals that CCGs take on a level of responsibility for the design and
management of Primary Medical services. The presentation / framework submitted
by West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group details the national process
over the coming months that every Clinical Commissioning Group in the country will
be expected to bid to NHS England for the right to take on one of three levels of
responsibility; from joint working to full delegated running of all elements of primary
medical services.

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
3.

A working group was set up in August which included patient representatives, Health
watch members of both Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils and
stakeholders from a range of health organisations.
Significant to this work was the engagement with our member practices that involved
interviewing a GP from each surgery, a detailed survey and five heavily attended
events to run through the proposals.

102

The outcome of this work was an operating framework (see attached document)
which details the proposed outcomes for patients and general practice and the
journey that will take us there.
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG are now in the process of completing the
implementation plan that will help to support the eight work streams of the Better
Care Together programme and will support the delivery of an improved out of
hospital service.
Resource Implications
4.

A detailed financial analysis of the potential cost of this process was submitted as
part of the Better Care Together, Strategic Outline Case, this will involve in the short
term, some transitional funding, but key is the longer term use of existing
commissioning budgets to support out of hospital care.

Timetable for Decisions
5.

The primary care operating framework is a five year programme, but the first
implementation plan will be completed by the end of December 2014.
Co-commissioning bids will be submitted in January with a formal decision being
made by NHS England for an April 2015 start.

Conclusions/Recommendations
6.

This paper is to note, but East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning
Group would welcome continued support and involvement of the Leicestershire
County Council Health and Wellbeing Board.

2

103
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
This affects the East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group area.
Officer to Contact
Name and Job Title: Mr Tim Sacks, Chief Operating Officer,
Telephone: 0116 2955115
Email:
tim.sacks@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk
List of Appendices
2014 Primary Care Operating Framework
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
7.

Equality impact Assessment completed.

Partnership Working and associated issues
8.

Steering group had members from all relevant local organisations.

3

104

This page is intentionally left blank

105

Primary Care Operating
Framework: October 2014

1

106

Contents
1.

Introduction – The Future ............................................................................................................... 3

2.

Foreword ......................................................................................................................................... 5

3. Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................. 6
4. The Case for Change ........................................................................................................................... 8
Position Statement ............................................................................................................................. 8
National Picture .................................................................................................................................. 8
Where we are now locally .................................................................................................................. 9
Summary of the Case for Change ..................................................................................................... 13
5. Interventions and Timelines ............................................................................................................. 14
Aims and Objectives.......................................................................................................................... 14
Options .............................................................................................................................................. 17
The Approach .................................................................................................................................... 18
The Offer ........................................................................................................................................... 20
Timelines ........................................................................................................................................... 28
6. Benefits and Outcomes ..................................................................................................................... 30
Risks .................................................................................................................................................. 33
7. Enabling Strategies............................................................................................................................ 35
Investment Required ........................................................................................................................ 37
Resource Shifts.................................................................................................................................. 37
8. Appendices ........................................................................................................................................ 37
Rising Need and Demand .................................................................................................................. 38
Views and information provided by local general practices............................................................. 40
Better Care Together Aims: Primary Care......................................................................................... 45
National guidance and research: ...................................................................................................... 46
Summary Conclusions of the Case for Change Option Appraisal ..................................................... 48
Adopting the approach recommended by WHO .............................................................................. 49
Option appraisal template for general practices .............................................................................. 50
Support to reach milestones ............................................................................................................. 58
Models of Care Structures ................................................................................................................ 59
References ........................................................................................................................................ 60

2

107

1. Introduction – The Future
Patient voices:
I’m 87 with four chronic health problems and
apparently I’m in a special “stream” of patients
which means I have all my care co-ordinated

by a very experienced GP. Usually I see the
specialist heart or diabetic nurses at the
Integrated Care Centre where my surgery is but
there’s a social care co-ordinator in the team too
who is very helpful at sorting things out for me at
home.
I often feel the invisible hand of my GP conducting
my orchestra of care - the nurse or team
pharmacist will tell me my GP has asked them to
do something for me because she’s seen my latest
blood results and wants something changed.

Last year I was diagnosed with
diabetes. I’ve been to the
DAPHNE classes at my local health
centre so I understand better
what’s happening and how
important it is for me to stay
healthy. My local pharmacist and
the diabetes nurse specialist keep
an eye on me too.
Between them they’ve given me

the ability to monitor and
manage my condition now I can
check levels of glucose in my
blood and ketones in my urine.

Usually I just email my practice when I’m worried about the children because it’s easier and they reply
with good advice really quickly. Sometimes they ask me to bring my asthmatic child in and then we
usually see the nurse. I don’t really mind who we see as long as we get the right help quickly,
I just need to know that something isn’t serious and what to do. My dad is with the same practice
and he always sees the same doctor. When I asked why, he told me his GP is a special one who deals
with complex care whereas the doctors I see are trained to look after people who are mostly fit and
well and have occasional health problems.

I had my other hip replaced a few months ago and
my GP made sure I had my usual physiotherapist
from the local integrated care team to help me
get back on my feet. She saw me in the hospital
and the community and even visited me at home.
My therapist knows all about me - what I can
and can’t do - so I know I won’t be able to get
away with not following the exercises she gives
me…

Since my GP moved into the
Integrated Care Centre I don’t have

to go to the hospital for my
respiratory clinics anymore. I’ve
even seen the consultant and my GP
at the same time when they started
off my treatment in the Centre.
And I really like the Breathe Easy
classes they run there now.
3

108

GP voices:
I joined the practice just after completing
my training and I was amazed at how
structured the GP career path is here with
so much more choice for GPs to follow

their interests and better ability to
manage their workload with less
stress. Newly qualified GPs work in a
team with practice nurses looking after
the less complex stream of patients. We
look after all the children and young
families, all the sexual and reproductive
health and helping patients return to
baseline health after episodes of ill health
or trauma.

We have a stream of patients, generally
older, who are at risk of becoming
complex and frail. I spend half my week
working as a GP in the team looking after
these “intermediate needs” patients.
I’ve also been specialising in

I’ve worked in this practice for five years now and
am developing an interest in diabetic care.
During my first years I got a good grounding in all
aspects of general practice because young people
sometimes have chronic conditions and through
clinical team meetings and development days.

I’m studying for a Masters in Public Health and

being trained to lead change as well as
working as a GP in the team in our locality. I’m
leading a project to help reduce obesity and
diabetes in school children locally. Most of the leg
work is done by school nurses, health visitors,
teachers, pupils and parents but I provide the
leadership. I’ve agreed targets and an evidenced
based plan with our practice group leadership team
and the local public health team. I’m monitoring
that plan and making sure the project gets the
support and resources it needs and I’m evaluating
the approaches to see what works best locally.
We’re doing a lot to improve diet and activity levels
across the communities.
We’re particularly aiming for marginalised groups
where obesity and diabetes prevalence is higher.

gynaecology for ten years now so I, and
another GP colleague, work very closely
with the local hospital gynaecology
consultants.
We run joint sessions in the Integrated
Care Centre which is a “hub” in our
locality and the more we learn the more
we provide locally. We also encourage
and help the consultants to manage
patients differently, for example we have
hysteroscopy and colposcopy clinics at
the Centre, all meeting national standards
but with shorter waiting times and a
better environment for patients.

Our practice moved into the local community
hospital last year when space was freed up as part of
the plan to support more patients in their own
homes. I work as part of the team looking after
patients with “high need”. We are extremely

proactive and work as a closely integrated
team in a “hub” of practices with specialist nurses,
social care workers and the voluntary sector. We
closely monitor all our patients and intervene swiftly
to prevent deterioration. Hospital admission and
readmission rates have very significantly reduced.
4

109

2. Foreword
A challenged health economy
The health economy across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland faces serious financial
and service challenges. Funding available cannot support the existing configuration of
health services with a projected £398m deficit by 2019 if nothing were to change. This is
detailed in the Better Care Together Five Year Strategic Plan published in June 2014.
General medical practice is facing a national crisis with escalating pressures from an ageing
population living with multiple long term conditions and a national shortage of GPs and
practice nurses. This is repeatedly described in national publications.

Major structural change is urgently needed
East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group believe only major
transformational structural changes will deliver the Better Care Together strategic plan and
financial and service stability for all areas of health services, including primary care.
The Better Care Fund will help transform social and community health services and the draft
Integrated Community Services Strategic Framework underpins this transformation.
The CCG offers this primary care operating framework as the means support to general
practices through the major structural change needed and to respond to the strategic plans.

This will not be easy
GPs know national experts advise them to work together “at scale” and to be leaders and
coordinators of care. They know the system needs them to act proactively to assess and
manage risk, to lead the process of integration and influence development of other services.
GPs know they are central to the system, have a unique overview and yet a deep
understanding of the needs of their patients and communities which need to be harnessed to
promote public health and reduce inequalities.
The CCG has invested time in listening to our member practices. We have held
engagement events, carried out surveys and telephone interviews. We have analysed the
data, identified the common themes and noted the issues and ideas. The views we have
heard from our member practices shape this primary care operating framework.
We know our member practices are struggling to meet current demands. To leave the
comfort zones of their practices, to move from being in control of a practice to being an
influencer within a group presents risks and requires much time and effort. The CCG and its
membership must present a convincing case for change, provide extensive support for
practices to come together and offer sufficient certainty and resource to give GPs the time
and motive to reshape their world. If the health system fails to deliver this support then
general practice will fail to deliver their part of the Better Care Together programme.
Without support general practices will find other ways to protect themselves from the
pressures: closing their lists to new patients; limiting appointment slots; referring and
admitting patients to hospital at an earlier stage; and reducing the element of their
consultations directed to emotional wellbeing, health promotion and disease prevention.

5

110

Can we afford to invest in primary care?
Evidence shows that investing in primary care generates cost effective returns. Investing in
more GPs directly reduces mortality in the local population. Integrated teams built around
general practices that offer enduring relationships; continuity of care; a person-centred
approach; a regular entry point and comprehensive cover are proven to deliver:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Better health outcomes and lower all-cause mortality
Fewer patients admitted for preventable complications of chronic conditions
Lower hospitalisation rate
Less use of specialists and emergency services
More efficient use of resources
Improved treatment intensity and quality of life
And many other benefits to patients, health staff and the wider health system

Failure to support and enable general practice through this transformation will lead to failure
to realise these benefits. To the question “Can we afford to invest in primary care?” the
answer is:
Can we afford not to?

3. Executive Summary
This primary care framework provides a compelling case for changing primary care
in East Leicestershire and Rutland. It sets out clear objectives for new models of
care supported by different ways of working to achieve real benefits for patients,
general practices and the wider system and sets out the path to deliver them.

The Case for Change
The local health economy faces serious financial challenges and strategic work has
identified the need to shift care into more cost effective settings in the community. Rapidly
rising pressure on general practice services is set to continue and escalate as the ageing
population lives longer with more complex needs.
The current model of general practice is no longer sustainable. National evidence and
research on alternative models recommends practices coming together to work “at scale” to
realise the benefits of economies of scale, improve opportunities for career structures and
professional support and deliver a wider range of services.
The CCG has listened to member practices and appraised the options available and
concludes that based on the evidence available the route most likely to achieve maximum
benefit to patients is to support general practices to come together to expand their services
through a new contract over and above their core contracts.

Interventions and Timelines
The strategic objectives are to expand and develop primary care to 1) deliver the Better
Care Together strategy through 2) people centred primary care with 3) continual quality
improvement offering 4) integrated, consistent, wrap-around care, whilst 5) actively shifting
care closer to home with 6) primary care professionals equipped to meet the challenges.
6

111

This framework proposes an offer from between the CCG and its member practices. This
offer will help them to work together at greater “scale” and deliver an expanded range of
integrated services able to keep patients, particularly those with complex needs, at home
for longer.
The offer is help to implement models of care that are fully aligned to those being
developed through the Integrated Community Services Strategic Framework, the Better
Care Fund, the Better Care Together five year plan and advised by NHS England.
All these strategies ask GPs working in conjunction with their MDTs to lead and coordinate
care for patients with more complex needs through an integrated approach with other local
services including specialists. Time may be released to do this if they develop a team
approach to less complex patients, using nurses, pharmacists and therapists to provide
more of the walk in and planned care for this group. This new approach represents
transformational change for general practice.
The offer includes extensive support to reach a state of readiness to agree a contract with
the CCG to provide Community Based Services to a population of 25,000 – 45,000.
Practices are invited to carry out their own option appraisal (a draft template is provided) as
a first step to help them plan their future.
The offer is for a flexible approach to implementation with individual practices setting the
pace of change. The rest of the health system will also need to adapt to support and
facilitate the success of these new models of care. It is estimated that achievement of
transformed primary care models sits within a 4-5 year time frame if the system provides
the necessary support to practices.

Benefits and Outcomes
One of the major aims of this framework is to secure the future of general practice. The
priority is to build a robust and sustainable foundation of primary care from which integrated
care can be provided to an increasingly complex mix of patients. Only then will a greater
proportion of clinical activity be able to take place in community settings and the objectives
of the Better Care Together programme to shift care closer to home be realised.
Significant benefits to patients, GPs and the wider health economy are described with
possible measures suggested to monitor improvement.
Benefits range from: improved health outcomes and reduced inequalities in health for
patients; through to reduced workload and opportunities for professional development for
GPs; to lower hospitalisation rates and reduced pressure on emergency services.

Enabling Strategies
A wide range of work programmes will be required to ensure delivery. There are links to
other local strategies such as the draft Integrated Community Services Framework and the
Better Care Fund that should create greater momentum for change. Communications with
all stakeholders and particularly member practices, patients and the public will be vital. A
high level risk assessment is included.
The investment required is estimated to be £6.3m of transitional funding over the next 3-5
years to deliver this transformation plus up to £10m recurring commitment to fund primary
care expansion and £20-50m capital costs for premises development.

7

112

4. The Case for Change
Position Statement
Evidence demonstrates primary care is very cost effective at improving and maintaining the
health of individuals and communities.
Primary care provision locally is very good. Excellent professionals work extremely hard and
provide high standards of care, but they are operating under high and rising pressure. Local
practices are unable to fill approximately fourteen GP vacancies and with a national shortage
of GPs this recruitment and retention problem is set to escalate.
GPs are working in a model of general practice that has not fundamentally changed since
1948. This model, of every practice offering every service (rather like a District General
Hospital) is struggling to respond to rising patient need. The income of many practices has
started to drop as contract changes require more work for less payment.
The CCG undertook an extensive listening and engagement exercise with local member
general practices and used their views to shape this document. With resources and support
many practices are open to working together and integrating services as promoted by the
Better Care Together Five Year Plan, the Integrated Community Services Strategic
Framework, the Better Care Fund and the Local Area Team Primary Care Framework.
This primary care operating framework aims to show how the CCG, with support, will
support and help drive general practice and give it the capacity to keep people at
home for longer.
National Picture
Nationally demands on general practices have increased rapidly including a 40% rise in
consultation rates and an increase in the average length of a GP consultation by 50%.
Further detail is available in the Appendices here.
General practice is experiencing a GP workforce crisis and cannot keep up with rising
patient needs. The model of general practice needs to urgently change and develop to meet
these present and future challenges, as NHS England has made clear:
“The situation is not sustainable because currently services are not integrated, no new money is
available, and the General Practice workforce is already overloaded. Further, our premises are of
variable quality and are not used to their full capacity, quality of interventions is variable and we
are sometimes failing the most vulnerable. All this is set against a background of a rising
population with increased long term conditions.”
“Transforming Primary Care in Leicestershire and Lincolnshire”, Leicestershire and Lincolnshire Area
Team, NHS England 2014

The increasingly out dated model of general practice is reinforced by the current complexity
of contractual requirements and funding streams to general practice which do not support
8

113

new ways of working together at a greater “scale” to provide a greater range of services and
better outcomes for patients.
Where we are now locally
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG is a membership organisation, which comprises 34
medical (GP) practices in three localities:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Melton Mowbray, Rutland and Market Harborough
Oadby and Wigston
Blaby District, Lutterworth and surrounding areas

The CCG has a registered population of approximately 320,000 patients.
Health issues:
The health of our local population is generally better than the overall population of England.
However, there are a significant number of people affected by ill health, including GP
diagnosed:
·
·
·

Coronary heart disease (10,837 people)
Hypertension (46,917 people)
Diabetes (16,145 people)

73% of all deaths in East Leicestershire and Rutland are from three major diseases:

9

114

Respiratory disease
(12%)

Other (28%)

Cardiovascular
disease (29%)
Cancer (31%)
Prevalence of long term disease in East Leicestershire and Rutland is increasing rapidly,
particularly amongst the older age groups.
The graphs below show the predictive prevalence of just three long term conditions in over
65 years olds across the CCG. The trend is similar for other conditions such as stroke,
obesity, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and myocardial infarction. Further
information is available in the Appendices here.

Depression

Dementia

Diabetes (over 75s)

These trends present a
significant challenge to the
effective identification,
treatment and ongoing
management of patients with
long term conditions, many of
whom have multiple comorbidities.

10

115

Other demographic pressure:
The population of East Leicestershire and Rutland is estimated to increase to 350,000 by
2025 with:
· An increase of 66.6% in the 85+ age group
· An increase of 28.6% in the 65-84 age group
The impact on local general practices:
The CCG has surveyed its member practices, held engagement events and used telephone
interviews to the views of practices over recent weeks to find out more about how they are
experiencing the rising pressures, what they are doing about them and their views on the
future of general practice. The high level feedback shows that many practices are looking to
the CCG to provide a steer on what to do next.
As a Practice where do you see yourselves in relation
to adapting to any future changes?
Not even thought about
it

6%
10%

31%

Don't know where to
start
Have considered but
awaiting organisational
steer
53%

Considered and making
plans

Problems with recruitment and retention and premises constraints were highlighted by some
practices but funding was the top priority concern across the board. Practices express
concern that resource is dropping but costs and workload are rising.
Practices were very supportive of developing urgent care hubs allied to community and
primary care services and the full integration of health and social care support and they gave
significant support to adapting clinical models, CCG co-commissioning of primary care and
the development of federated alliances of practices.
GP age profiles across ELR CCG as reported by the practices shows over half are in the last
decade or so of their working life in general practice.
An overview of the results is included in the Appendices here.
Changes needed across the wider health system locally:
Analysis of current trends shows that the local health economy of Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland is facing a financial gap of £398million by 2019 if the system does not change.
11

116

The “Better Care Together” strategic plan has been developed to understand this financial
gap and to set out at a high level what needs to be done to close the gap whilst retaining the
quality of care for patients and continuing to address their health needs.
The strategy highlights:

“We need to strengthen primary, community and voluntary sector care, optimising the use of
physical assets such as estates, ensuring care is provided in appropriate cost effective settings,
reducing duplication and eliminating waste.”
“Better Care Together: The Five Year Strategic Plan”, A partnership of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Health and Social Care, June 2014

The strategy sets out plans for each setting of care and describes “transformed primary
care” across the area, embracing the national direction of “wider primary care services
provided at scale”. More detailed information showing the aims of each Better Care
Together of particular relevance to primary care is included in the Appendices here.
The importance of primary care in all the strategic policies is summarised in the diagram
below:

This is supported by clear evidence that the capacity and capability of primary care directly
impacts on other services, for example:

“A recent paper reviewing the relationship between GP access and A&E attendance concludes that
moving practices from the lowest quartile access score to the highest quartile access scores could
reduce A&E attendances by 111,739 in England.”
12

“Securing the Future GP Workforce – Delivering the Mandate on GP Expansion”, GP Taskforce Final Report,
March 2014. (The GP Taskforce was established by Medical Education England and Department of Health).

117

The whole system of primary care
Our member practices have told us in recent feedback they are affected by the provision of
wider primary care services such as pharmacy, optometry, dental and community nursing
services. Developing an integrated approach across this network is vital to deliver the best
patient outcomes most efficiently. This primary care operating framework links to the CCG’s
Integrated Community Services Strategic Framework with plans for integrated teams
working at “hub” level to wrap care around patients with complex needs, initiatives
developed through the Better Care Fund to provide faster and more responsive care to
patients with complex needs and NHS England’s vision for general practices working at
greater “scale” and integrating with the wider primary care team .
GPs may bring community pharmacists into their integrated teams to help support medicines
reconciliation after patients are discharged from hospital and support GPs with
polypharmacy work and chronic disease management. NHS England has established a
local professional network for community pharmacists which is developing suggestions on
how they can reduce the workload burden on GPs and improve patient care.
Optometrists may also become integrated into the team to help streamline eye care
pathways. They may be able to forge links with specialist ophthalmology departments and
provide space for routine assessment and treatment in local settings.
Co-commissioning opportunity
The CCG has applied for full delegated authority to co-commissioning general medical
services. Further guidance and clarification on this initiative are awaited, but assuming the
CCG is in a position to progress, there may be an opportunity to be more flexible about the
contracting mechanisms offered to practices to help implement this framework more quickly.
Summary of the Case for Change
An ageing population with increasingly complex needs is generating high pressure on all
health services. General practice is experiencing a workforce crisis which is compounding
the pressure. The local health and social care system is facing huge financial challenge
alongside the increased need and demand.
National and local plans, backed up by national research and evidence, encourage general
practices to come together to provide services at greater scale and integrate more fully with
other local community, primary and social care services. GPs are encouraged to offer
services differently to patients depending on the complexity of their needs.
Local member practices recognise change needs to happen and are looking to the CCG for
guidance and support. Practices are concerned about falling income, recruitment difficulties
and premises constraints and are open to working differently.
Radical and urgent action is needed to save the most effective features of general practice
and build resilience and capacity to meet patients’ needs and keep people at home for
longer.

The full Case for Change is available from the CCG and here:
ELR CCG Primary
Care Case for Change v5 22 09 14.pptx

13

118

5. Interventions and Timelines
Aims and Objectives
The Case for Change in primary care – six key objectives:
The Case for Change (available from the CCG) reflects global research evidence, expert
guidance, national and local strategies (more detail on the national guidance is available in
the Appendices here). It sets out the following six objectives underpinned by strengthened
abilities of primary care:

1. People centred
primary care

2. Continual quality
improvement

• Responds to specific and
diverse needs of patients and
families including inequalities
in health
• Offers continuity of care
• Implements predictive models
for proactive, effective, health
risk management and
reduction systems

• Systematically reviews, learns
and implements change to
deliver high quality clinical
care and organisational
systems safely
• Promotes and supports
innovative ways of improving
care

4. Primary care
professionals equipped
to meet the challenges
• Has the skills, motivation and
capacity to lead and deliver
the strategic objectives
• Works through a
multidisciplinary team
approach with other local
services to make best use of
scarce skills

5. Deliver the Better
Care Together strategy
• Responds to rising and
changing health needs
• Aligns financial resource to
enable change

3. Integrated,
consistent, wraparound care
• Leads/co-ordinates care
delivery at scale and across
organisational boundaries
including other primary,
community, social and acute
services

6. Actively shift care
closer to home
• Delivers a greater share of care
pathways where clinically
appropriate and financially
viable
• Supports patient self-care
including through better use of
technology

7

These objectives and therefore this framework are aligned to other key frameworks,
guidance and strategies nationally, at NHS England Area Team level and locally:

14

119

NHS
Outcomes Framework
NHSE Planning Guidance and
Primary Care Framework
LLR Better Care
Together strategy

ELR Community
Services Strategic
Framework

LLR Better
Care Funds

ELR Primary
Care
Operating
Framework

ELR CCG’s Draft Integrated Community Services Strategic Framework
The objectives for primary care are aligned to the vision for community services, with
examples shown in the table below:

Integrated Community
Services Strategic Framework
vision

Primary Care Operating Framework
objectives

“a fully integrated, coordinated
model of service provision for
health and social care”
“Services will be delivered to the
citizens of Leicestershire in a
coordinated way that recognises
that people often need support
from more than one service”

“integrated, consistent, wraparound care”
Primary care which “Leads/co-ordinates care delivery
at scale and across organisational boundaries
including other primary, community, social and acute
services”

“puts people at the centre of
delivery of health and social care
services”

“people-centred primary care” which
“Implements predictive models for proactive,
effective, health risk management and reduction
systems”

“The aim is to meet the needs of
an increasingly elderly
population, particularly the frail
elderly and those with long term
conditions”
“increased emphasis on early
intervention”

Primary care which
“Responds to specific and diverse needs of patients
and families including inequalities in health
Offers continuity of care
Implements predictive models for proactive, effective,
health risk management and reduction systems”
“Responds to rising and changing health needs”
15

120

Integrated Community
Services Strategic Framework
vision

Primary Care Operating Framework
objectives

“Delivers a greater share of care pathways where
clinically appropriate and financially viable”

The framework also describes a “platform” for delivery of services across ELR CCG: an
Integrated, Coordinated Health Care (ICHC) service representing the first stage of
development towards a fully integrated, coordinated model of service provision for health
and social care across ELR, delivering seven day services.
The service will recognise that people often need support from more than one service,
particularly the frail elderly and those with long term conditions, mental ill health or disability.
The service brings together community nursing and therapy services and will be aligned with
the GP practices grouping to form a “hub” – which this primary care operating framework will
help to deliver by providing GPs with a route to establish these “hub” entities to integrate and
co-ordinate care in the manner described above.
The document also references a six week engagement exercise which took place in spring
of 2012. Most respondents ranked local GP practice as the most preferred location for
diagnostic, day case and out-patient services, something this framework seeks to enable
through working at “scale”.
Better Care Fund and Social Care Development
The Better Care Fund is investing in initiatives which directly align with the models and
approach set out in this Primary Care Operating Framework, for example:
Clinical Nurse Leads (CNLs) will be appointed to provide clinical leadership across each of
the primary care ‘hubs’. These are experienced senior nurses who co-ordinate care,
promote optimum health, self-management and effective liaison between agencies, manage
complex, high risk patients with long term conditions and exercise independent clinical
judgement. They will provide direct patient care when necessary and support multidisciplinary team arrangements with primary care to deliver safe, effective care co-ordination
and supporting people to live at home. By preventing deterioration they will avoid the need
for acute services.
The Integrated Crisis Response initiatives being developed by both Leicestershire County
and Rutland County Councils will provide effective short term support at a point of crisis,
helping to maintain people in their own homes including coordinating wider support such as
assistive technology, meals and intermediate health care.
The Health and Social Care Frail Elderly Service proposed by Leicestershire County Council
is a multiagency initiative including geriatricians and “up-skilled” GPs or Advanced Nurse
Practitioners to provide a rapid assessment and treatment service for frail/complex older
people in the community.

16

121

The Intensive Community Support service which was established in December 2013,
accessed via the Leicestershire Partnership Trust Single Point of Access, acts as a
comparable alternative to a community hospital bed admission.
GPs working together at greater scale will provide an expanded range of services that will
integrate with the initiatives being developed by the Better Care Fund. This is set out in more
detail later in this document.
Invariably the services being established will experience difficulties and pressures as they
develop, GPs working at scale will be better placed to influence their operational model and
their priorities and will be better able to respond to their pressures.
NHS England Planning Guidance 2014 - 2019
NHS England states that any high quality, sustainable health and care system in England
will have a number of characteristics in five years’ time. Those of particular relevance to the
development of primary care are:
·
·
·
·

A completely new approach to ensuring that citizens are fully included in all aspects
of service design and change and that patients are fully empowered in their own care
Wider primary care, provided at scale
A modern model of integrated care
Access to the highest quality urgent and emergency care

The guidance highlights the need for “Wider scope primary care at scale” and “Integrated
care” with “People in control” as three top priority objectives.
This Primary Care Operating Framework is completely aligned to these ambitions and the
models being offered in this document, along with the anticipated benefits to patients,
general practices and the wider system fully reflects those characteristics.

Options
The scale of change required in primary care is such that the CCG needed to carry out an
option appraisal as part of its Case for Change (available from the CCG).
The options considered were:
1. “No change” – continue to commission services at general practice level
2. “Commission a new model at scale by service specification” - Commission a
new primary care landscape by specifying a model for services at scale (covering a
population of approximately 25-45,000) and inviting providers to apply for a new
contract* (see note below) to provide services on this basis
3. “Commission by strategic objectives at scale with minimal support” Commission a new primary care landscape by offering a new contract* at scale on
the basis of the agreed strategic objectives and offer minimal market development
support during development and implementation of proposals

17

122

4. “Commission by strategic objectives at scale with extensive support” Commission a new primary care landscape by offering a new contract* at scale on
the basis of the agreed strategic objectives and offer extensive market development
support during development and implementation of proposals
*Note: The new contract does not include core GMS/PMS/APMS contracts which will remain
unchanged within each GP practice unless practices themselves propose changes to their
core contracts. Any new contract offered would be a standard NHS Contract for community
based services (non-core GMS/PMS/APMS) or an Alternative Provider Medical Services
contract, whichever is assessed as most appropriate.
The outcome of the option appraisal was that the option judged to be most effective at
achieving the strategic objectives of the CCG is Option 4. This option supports the
development of primary care at scale by providing extensive support to enable general
practices to come together to deliver the agreed strategic objectives.
A summary of the conclusions of the Case for Change is included in the Appendices here.

The Approach
The CCG proposes a supportive approach aligned to that of NHS England:

“The GP workforce must be supported through the period of transformation, as
increasing pressures and rising expectations have left many without appetite for further
change.”
“Transforming Primary Care in Leicestershire and Lincolnshire”, Leicestershire and Lincolnshire Area Team,
NHS England 2014

The options appraisal included in the Case for Change reinforces this point.
Building on general practice as the foundation stone of primary care:
Primary care spans many professions, including pharmacy, optometry, dentistry and nursing
with general medical practice sitting at the centre.
General practice provides a level and type of service unparalleled elsewhere in the NHS.
Three key features stand out:
1. A registered list of patients entitled to receive general medical services from the
provider
2. A contractual requirement to provide care to all temporary patients who request it
3. In most cases, a permanent contract to provide services
These features mean that general practices provide care to all patients in the CCG area and
have a stake in the ongoing health and wellbeing of those patients. This makes general
practice a foundation stone embedded in the communities and as such the CCG’s approach
builds on this bedrock.
18

123

The CCG has used research and evidence to identify the benefits to patients of offering new
contracts to our existing general practice providers to extend their services rather than
running a competitive process such as procuring new services through the open market.
The World Health Organisation which has researched the subject thoroughly summarises:
“It is at the entry point of the system, where people first present their problems, that the need
for a comprehensive and integrated offer of care is most critical. Comprehensiveness makes
managerial and operational sense and adds value….it maximizes opportunities for preventive care
and health promotion while reducing unnecessary reliance on specialized or hospital care”
“Primary Health Care – Now More Than Ever. The World Health Report 2008”, The World Health
Organisation.

The benefits to patients of offering new contracts to existing general practice
providers rather than running a competitive process:
The CCG has been guided by the extensive research of the World Health Organisation and
the credible evidence it presents of the benefits to patients of using existing general practice
as the foundation stone to develop integrated care locally. The unique features of general
practice mean that integrated care will be much more effective at generating the benefits and
strategic objectives.
The evidence of these benefits to patients is summarised in the table below:

Features of
general practice

Evidence cited by the World Health Organisation of the
benefits to patients of these features

Comprehensive
cover

Better health outcomes
Increased uptake of disease-focused preventive care
Fewer patients admitted for preventable complications of chronic
conditions

Regular entry
point

Increased satisfaction with services
Better compliance and lower hospitalisation rate
Less use of specialists and emergency services
Fewer consultations with specialists
More efficient use of resources
Better understanding of the psychological aspects of a patient’s problem
Better uptake of preventive care by adolescents
Protection against over-treatment

Continuity of care
and enduring
relationships

Lower all-cause mortality
Better access to care
Less re-hospitalisation
Fewer consultations with specialists
Less use of emergency services
Better detection of adverse effects of medical interventions

19

124

Personcentredness

Improved treatment intensity and quality of life
Better understanding of the psychological aspects of a patient’s problem
Improved satisfaction with communication
Improved patient confidence regarding sensitive problems
Increased trust and treatment compliance
Better integration of preventive and promotive care
(From “Primary Health Care – Now More Than Ever. The World Health Report 2008”.)

The advantages to patients offered by building on the current model of general practice
services as set out above would be lost by bringing new providers into the area on contracts
of perhaps 3-5 years:
“A direct and enduring relationship between the provider and the people in the community served
is essential to be able to take into account the personal and social context of patients and their
families, ensuring continuity of care over time as well as across services.”
“Building enduring relationships requires time. Studies indicate that it takes two to five years before
its full potential is achieved but…it drastically changes the way care is being provided.”
“Comprehensiveness, continuity and person-centredness are critical to better health outcomes.
They all depend on a stable, long-term, personal relationship (a feature also called ‘longitudinality’)
between the population and the professionals who are their entry point to the health system...”
“Primary Health Care – Now More Than Ever. The World Health Report 2008”.

The CCG sees no benefit in running a competitive exercise for the expansion of primary care
services where introducing new providers would lead to greater fragmentation rather than
comprehensiveness, less continuity, higher risk of duplication, lack of and undermining of
existing enduring relationships as well as increased entry points when a single entry point is
demonstrably a critical success factor.
Instead, the CCG supports the approach recommended by the World Health Organisation as
further detailed in the Appendices here.
The Offer
The Goal: A new Community Based Services Contract offered to all local general
practices
The Case for Change justifies offering a new contract to local general practices to deliver the
key strategic objectives. It will be for providers to generate solutions most appropriate for
the local communities.
The scope of the new contract will focus on the six strategic objectives in the table on page
14 and the performance measures will reflect the aims of Better Care Together in the table in
the Appendices. The new contract will be aligned with other relevant plans. It will maximise
opportunities for services to be delivered in a way that: patients experience as integrated
20

125

and empowering of self-care; helps equip practices to better meet rising needs; and
facilitates continual development and improvement.
The new contract will be offered “at scale” so only practices able to demonstrate that they
are ready to work together at scale will be eligible to deliver the new contract. It is expected
to be a standard NHS Community Based Services contract but if a better contract route is
identified then this will be used. If the CCG needs to work with NHS England to develop one
or more contracts to achieve the desired outcomes (for example through a mix of Local
Enhanced Services contracts and NHS standard contracts) then this will be done.
Some practices may wish to merge, with a single GMS or PMS contract and a new
partnership agreement. Others may choose to come together as a federation or an alliance
with distinct and autonomous practice identities working with clear responsibilities and
accountabilities to achieve shared goals. More information on these options is included in
the Appendix on Models of Care Structure here.
Working at scale enables key specialist nursing and medical staff to be brought to this level
to work with the GPs. It enables a more integrated way of working with the community
services hubs already structured in this way. It enables the development of broad career
opportunities which will make ELR much more attractive to GPs and others, increasing our
ability to recruit and retain a high quality primary care workforce.
Pioneering general practices already working at scale (see case studies highlighted in the
References Appendix here or in the Case for Change available from the CCG) have
demonstrated economies of scale, improved efficiency and quality of care. These practices
offer a more varied career structure to GPs and a wider range of services to their patients.
The new contract will link into the plans for Integrated Community and Social Care Services
(including Better Care Fund initiatives) and will support their delivery. It will help practices
develop new models of care, address workforce issues and build capacity and resilience to
keep more patients at home.
Encouraging general practices to take this opportunity:
This initiative starts with individual practices looking differently at how they provide care.
Each practice will be in different starting position and some will have already started
progressing down this route.
It is suggested each practice considers all the options and makes a decision as to which one
to pursue. A draft template which could be modified and used by practices is included in the
Appendices here.
The CCG will not be prescriptive to practices about the structures they would develop but the
recurring theme throughout all the national and local guidance and strategies is the
increasing need for practices to work together to provide services “at scale”. The CCG has
defined “at scale” as at a population level of approximately 25,000 – 45,000.
Developing the form of whatever organisational structures are chosen is not the first step. In
“A Toolkit to support the development of primary care federations” The Kings Fund,
Hempsons and the Nuffield Trust quote:
21

126

“Don’t start with structures, instead look at what the organisation is trying to do, who should
be involved and how it would look from someone else’s perspective – particularly GP
colleagues and patients” Dr Wilson of the pioneering BADGER organisation in Birmingham
This voice of experience echoes the widely used management mantra of “form follows
function”. Another GP quoted in the document states:
“What really matters is developing a culture of collaboration”
Dr Liston, Washington GP Practices, Tyne and Wear

Dr Liston also stresses the importance of developing a shared vision and mission as a
fundamental first step.
The CCG has developed a path which reflects these lessons.

The practice journey:
An overview of the path practices will be able to take is set out below:

Key milestones for practices on the path to delivering the new services “at scale”
State of
readiness

Development stage with CCG support

3b. Be
an early
ad
adopter 3a. Be a
pi
pioneer

Practice
level:
Each
practice
discusses
its options
and
decides its
preferred
option

3. Work together
formally at scale to
develop economies
(federate or
merge in
a “hub”)
(se
(see option
ap
appraisal template
in Appendices for
more detail)
mo
Maybe
later…

1. Do
o
nothing
for now
Maybe
later…

2. Work together informally
to develop economies
(see option appraisal
template in Appendices for
more detail)

Development
Plan

“Hub” of practices
with minimum 25,000
patients agrees:
Values
Objectives
Priorities
Governance and
structure
Models of patient
nageme
management

CCG Resource pack
provided with
extensive support

New Contract for Community
Based Services with CCG

Contract
Outcomes
Contract
Standards
and Critical
Success
Factors
(The how)

The CCG
specifies
minimum
requirements
EG continuity
of care for
complex or
frail older
people

(The what)

The CCG
specifies
these at
“hub” level
EG The
benefits set
out in this
document

22

127

These considerations need time and space. See the Appendices here for further guidance
from research on the more detailed steps to follow.
Extensive support provided by the CCG:
This new contract will represent a considerable challenge to most general practices in the
area – the scope will be very stretching. Practices will need significant development work
before they are ready to sign up to and deliver such a contract.
One size does not fit all and the options appraisal highlighted the importance of enabling
local general practices to find the best solutions for their circumstances, this includes timing.
When practices have considered their options and are ready to progress the CCG will
provide extensive support to enable them to move forward. This support will include change
management support, access to legal advice, transitional funding and opportunities to
access other funding, for example for premises developments and information management
and technology. Support to model activity levels and flows will also be provided. Additional
funding streams are expected to become available as part of the Better Care Together
strategic programme to transform the local health and social care economy.
The CCG will act as a co-ordinator of support to the general practices as they develop along
the path and will provide specific aspects of support at each milestone. See the Appendices
here for more detail on CCG support on the route to expanding general practice.
Some practices will be more than ready to start this journey whereas others will wish to see
the frontrunners demonstrating benefits before they invest their time and effort in entering a
process of change.
Mutual commitment with those practices keen to develop early:
Good change management practice recognises the value of frontrunners, or “pioneers” and
acknowledges that they take risks and invest more time and effort in “inventing the wheel”.
More intensive support will be offered to practices coming forward as pioneers to help match
this extra commitment practices will either have already given or are about to give.
The CCG also recognises the value of “early adopters”, those practices that quickly learn the
lessons generated by the pioneers and put them into practice. These practices help
mainstream new approaches and create the “tipping point” needed to ensure widespread
success. Additional support will be offered to “early adopters”.
Following feedback from practices it is clear some practices are keen to expand their
responsibilities and services but are constrained by their premises. This group of practices
will also be offered extra support to overcome this significant barrier to change.
The diagram below uses the curve of “normal distribution” to demonstrate where these
practices are on the process of change. This graph is sometimes used to show the range of
the pace of change in a population of individuals or group.

23

128

Recognising the value, input and commitment of general practices that are pioneers and
early adopters in the change process

The “Normal Curve”

Practices not in these three groups will also be supported, but the level of support is
unlikely to be as high or intense because the pioneers and early adopters will have built
governance structures and adopted policies and plans that will be available to the other
practices to tailor to their own circumstances.
The CCG encourages all practices to define themselves as pioneers or early adopters and
the speed of progress will be determined by the practices, not the CCG because they will be
responsible for implementing the changes.
Geographical coherence:
The ideal end point is for local general practices to come together to form an entity with
which the CCG can contract for extended primary care services through an NHS Community
Based Services contract. Ideally this will include all the patients registered with the practices
within that geographical area so there will be comprehensive cover of a locality, without
gaps.
The journey to reach this end point may begin with a number of practices in the area keen to
progress whilst some other practices in their area are more reticent.
Enthusiastic practices should not be held back by a requirement for comprehensive cover of
a locality from the start, but there needs to be enough geographical coherence (the practices
working together are all in one area, not scattered) and a critical mass of patient numbers
(25 - 45,000) to merit the resource input contributed by the CCG.
Where there is geographical coherence but not comprehensiveness, it is expected that the
practices working together agree to “keep the door open” to the reticent practices and enable
them to join when they are ready. The enthusiastic practices may agree entry criteria such
as agreement to participate in peer review and require the more reticent practices to meet
24

129

the entry criteria when they seek to join, as long as the existing members of the group have
already met those entry criteria and that the criteria are reasonable (ie most GPs would
agree them to be so).

Role of the Development Plan:
The proposed Development Plan introduced in the diagram on page 22 is a tool to help the
CCG and practices assess the readiness of the general practice groups to take responsibility
for the new Community Based Services Contract.
The Development Plan will need to show that certain organisational development milestones
have been reached by the practices, such as:

EXAMPLE: Areas which could be included in phase one of the development plan
(pending consultation with local practices and other stakeholders)

Peer review and
shared functions
agreed between
practices
Develop and
agree a plan for
empowering
patient self-care
Describe and start to
establish a complex
care team – multidisciplinary spanning
community services
and social care*

Develop and
agree a plan for
shared patient
information
across the group
and MDT

Develop and start
implementing a
shared risk
stratification and
management tool

Develop and agree
a structured and
supportive career
path for GPs
Agree and test a
plan for
“streaming”
patients

*In line with the agreed plans for
community and social care locally

As part of the Development Plan practices will need to consider new models of providing
primary care such as the examples set out below:

25

130

Possible model for streaming of practice patients with support services
Stream patients according to need and level of proactivity required
Patient streams that could be delivered “at scale”

Urgent
Non
Complex:
GP Continuity
not needed
Walk in
nurse-led
with duty
doctor
support

Routine
and
planned:
GP Continuity
not needed
EG sexual
health, minor
surgery, long
term
condition
group work

Visits:
By practice or
group all day
(not just
lunch time)
and more
immediate,
especially for
complex
patients

Urgent
Complex:

Seven day
service
(weekends)

Complex:

Proactive case managed with
multidisciplinary team
GP continuity necessary, a list of
approximately 400 patients per
GP
Complex: eg frail older people,
end of life, multiple long term
conditions

External CRISIS
intervention

Day to day
model

ANCILLIARY SUPPORT SERVICES – Could be employed by practices individually or as a group
EG Physiotherapist, pharmacist, community matron, district nurse team

SUPPORT SERVICES “AT SCALE” – Commissioned to support complex exacerbations
A single pathway through health and social care
EG Virtual beds, 72 hour crisis response, intermediate care, specialist nurse/doctor (eg geriatrician)

Possible service model for providing seven day (Saturday and
Sunday) primary care services to patients with complex needs
Patient calls
NHS 111

Non -Complex

Diagnostic uncertainty

• Triage
• Urgent Care Centre
• Out of Hours
Service

• Urgent Care Centre
• Out of Hours
Service
• Accident &
Emergency
Department

COMPLEX on a caseload
with a Plan (approx 10%)
• GP (Group of practices)
AM: Appointments for NHS
111 to book in patients

PM: GP on call / on phone

26

131

System wide support for general practices:
Action by general practices alone will not enable system wide change. All the local
organisations will need to work more closely and more responsively to one another to
change care pathways as required to deliver Better Care Together and to meet the
challenges of the future.
This scale of change for established institutions is not easy and there will inevitably be times
when GPs, working on the frontline of complex risk and care management, experience
difficulties. When a GP cannot get hold of, for example, a social care worker to organise an
adaptation in a patient’s home to prevent a Friday evening hospital admission, it reduces
their confidence in the ability of the system to support them to manage more patients at
home. Recent feedback from local practices strongly reinforces this point.
Experienced GPs working “at scale” will need to articulate in their plans how community and
social care services need to also develop to keep patients well and independent at home for
longer and they need influence to ensure these changes are made and services respond.
The CCG and other local organisations will have to make changes to the way they work:

EXAMPLE: Areas which the CCG and other local organisations may need to develop as
part of phase one of the development plan (pending consultation with local practices and
other stakeholders)
ELR CCG:

ELR CCG/NHSE:
Provide ongoing
support with
communications,
IM&T, premises
etc

UHL:
Demonstrate an
ability to change
working practices
of specialist
nurses and senior
doctors

Agree a process
for agreeing
where contracts
with other bodies
need changing

ALL:
Proactively adapt to
enable establishment
of complex care
teams – multidisciplinary spanning
community services
and social care

Social Services:
Demonstrate an
ability to change
working practices
of social care
staff

LLR NHS Alliance:
Demonstrate an
effective change
process linked to
practices
operating at scale

LPT:
Demonstrate an
ability to change
working practices
of community
staff

The Better Care Together five year strategic plan requires primary care to keep more
patients at home and prevent the need for admission to hospital. General practice will only
be able to achieve this if local organisations can achieve the changes set out in the above
diagram.
27

132

Timelines
An outline implementation plan is set out below for discussion and development. This plan
estimates some milestones in practice readiness to develop into working “at scale” and
realising the benefits of doing so.

Action

Timeline

Primary care operating framework is developed, consulted
upon, reviewed and agreed. Implications identified and worked
through including the development of a CCG Resource Pack
including case studies, design principles and templates.

September –
December 2014

Public and patient engagement plan and due regard work to
ensure the framework meets all requirements

September –
December 2014

The Better Care Together programme seeks and secures
agreement to the Strategic Outline Case and Project Initiation
Document. High level modelling work undertaken.

October – November
2014

Extensive support offer proposed by CCG

November December 2014
January – March
2015
January – April 2015

Pioneering practices start to take up the offer
Governance arrangements including patient and public
involvement developing in pioneers
Specialist expertise such as legal advice being utilised

January – April 2015

CCG develops the new Community based services contract in
discussion with stakeholders

January – September
2015

Early adopter practices start to take up the offer

April 2015

Possible start date for co-commissioning

April 2015

Governance arrangements including patient and public
involvement developing in early adopters

April – September
2015

Practice mergers, federations or other models start to take
shape and agree plans

May – November
2015

Practice Groups start to become ready to deliver the
Community based services contract – possible pilot phase

September 2015 –
March 2016

Later waves of practices start to take up the offer of CCG
support

February September 2016

First wave of practice groups sign up to delivering the new
contract

March 2016

28

133

Action

Timeline

Alternative possible start date for co-commissioning

April 2016

Benefits start to be realised for perhaps 10% of the area

September 2016 –
March 2017
October 2016

Further waves of practice groups sign up to delivering the new
contract
Benefits start to be realised for perhaps a further 25% of the
area

March – September
2017

Benefit realisation of a “tipping point” of critical mass of
perhaps 65% of the area

From April 2018

Immediate next steps:
A local debate about this primary care operating framework will further shape: this
document; the offer of support from the CCG; and the ideas around the contract to be
offered to enable delivery of the new models of care.
The Better Care Together programme will use this document, along with the equivalent
documents from West Leicestershire and Leicester City CCGs to shape the Strategic Outline
Case and the subsequent modelling work. Common themes will be identified across the
CCGs to enable support at strategic level to overcome barriers to change.
An assessment will be made of which services may be decommissioned or commissioned
differently to enable the new model to become established. There may be a temporary
“double running” period whilst old service models are gradually phased out and new models
become established. This will require careful planning and full consultation with the local
communities with due regard to the impact on all patient groups to reduce inequalities.
There will also be work to better understand the current financial flows and any scope to use
these differently, for example using the Directed Enhanced Services or other funding
currently with NHS England. Also exploring opportunities to pool budgets with local
authorities to secure maximum return on investment and facilitate integration.
All these work programmes will need to be supported by risk management plans to address
concerns (including those expressed by patient representatives) and minimise risk.
There will need to be agreement at strategic level before resources can be released. At that
point the CCG will be in a position to start implementation.

29

134

6. Benefits and Outcomes
The purpose of this Operating Framework is to enable benefits to be delivered for patients,
for general practices and for the wider health and social care system. One of the most
important benefits is to enable the survival of general practice during the next ten
years.
The key priority is to build a solid and sustainable foundation of primary care from which
integrated care can be provided to an increasingly complex mix of patients. Only then will a
greater proportion of clinical activity be able to take place in community settings and the
objectives of the Better Care Together programme to sustainably shift care closer to home
be realised.
The performance measures in the new contract being offered to general practices will need
to focus on the delivery of that solid and sustainable foundation, this is the area GPs are
best able to deliver and control. The CCG will encourage practices to develop a well-staffed
and integrated model to “stream” patients and therefore deliver patient outcomes which
result in less need for people to be admitted to hospital.
There can be no significant transfer of routine patients into the community unless and until
this solid and sustainable foundation is in place.
Some examples of areas in which possible performance measures could be developed are
included in the tables below. These would need extensive discussion with local GPs and
other key stakeholders and considerable further development before being offered in a
contractual form.

Benefits to patients

Possible Outcome Measures

Based on a model of care which streams patients and ensures those with complex needs
have continuity of care by a named GP, are proactively supported to self-care, proactively
risk managed and provided with wrap around integrated care including specialist
doctors/nurses
Patients continue to feel
“owned” and receive
continuity of care where
this is important to them

Proportion of patients with complex needs (including frail older
people) who are under the care of a named GP

Patients’ care is
coordinated as necessary

Named GPs for complex patients are demonstrably those best
qualified/experienced/accredited for the work.

Practice systems in place to demonstrate patient “streaming” is
implemented from first contact through to follow up and ongoing
management

GPs coordinating care report that other local organisations are
responding by organising services in a way which patients
experience as integrated
More proactive care for
patients with complex

Risk stratification and management system in place and used
with emerging evidence of benefits
30

135

Benefits to patients

Possible Outcome Measures

needs
Appointment slots are
tailored to their particular
needs
More care provided
locally, without needing a
visit to an acute hospital

Practice systems demonstrate longer appointments for certain
patient “streams”

Increased patient
confidence in self care

A summary description of the initiatives by practices to empower
patients and numbers of patients participating in the initiatives

Patients find it easier to
access appropriate and
convenient care from a
local general practice

Patient survey results

Able to influence the
expansion of primary care
services in their local area

A Patient Advisory Group established to meet at least four times
a year to be consulted on plans and to comment on the quality
of services in the local area

Benefits to General
Practices

Increasing numbers of patients seeing a specialist doctor and/or
nurse in a community setting for consultation, assessment and
where appropriate, treatment

Practice systems with patient “streaming” and sharing functions
across practices and arrangements for seven day working

Possible Outcome Measures

Based on a way of working at greater scale as determined by the practices, with a structure
which enables economies of scale and a wider variation of ways of working including a more
integrated approach with other primary, community and social care services
Workload

A defined GP career structure in place with clarity about how
priorities will be changed including “streaming” patients, team
working with appropriately qualified and experienced nurses,
therapists and pharmacists to share the work
Feedback from younger GPs that stress levels have reduced
which should translate into better recruitment and retention of
GPs

Appropriate resource
allocation

Resources in place to enable greater proportion of work to
take place in an out of hospital setting

Sharing the challenge of
seven day working

Initiatives developed by practices

Career development
opportunities and improved
job satisfaction

Defined GP and MDT / Nurse career structure builds in
opportunities for portfolio working, developing and delivering
a specialist interest whilst retaining and improving generalist
31

136

Benefits to General
Practices

Possible Outcome Measures

skills in a sufficiently supportive environment
Defined career progression structure for other clinicians,
management and administrative staff working in practices
Wider primary, community
and social care services
more accessible and aligned
locally

Feedback from GPs that services are integrating around
patients and enabling them to conduct the “orchestra of care”

Peer support and skill
sharing

Initiatives in practice to enable peer review and support and
skill sharing

Improvement in practice
efficiency such as merged
practice functions/ closer
working

GPs and/or practice managers leading on aspects of change
and system improvement across a number of practices rather
than every practice “reinventing the wheel”

Leadership and change
management skill
development

GPs and Nurses playing a greater leadership role and
managing more change across a wider system including
public health measures

Emerging evidence that a greater proportion of complex
patients are being managed in the community

Performance measures for benefits to the wider health and social care system are
particularly difficult to develop and monitor and the areas in the table below are included to
stimulate broader discussion and debate.
Only a few of these would be appropriate to include in a contract offered to GPs but all could
be considered in monitoring the success of the new contract over the longer term.

Benefits to the wider
health and social care
system

Possible areas for the development of Outcome
Measures
(need to be specific and directly linked to action)

Based on a model of working in which general practices form the bedrock and work together
at greater scale, offering continuity of care where it counts, comprehensive integrated and
person centred provision with a regular entry point.
Improved health outcomes for
patients

Long term morbidity and mortality
Hospitalisation rate (lower)

Improved recruitment and
retention of staff

GP, Nurse and Practice Manager vacancies
Brief feedback from practices on recruitment issues
32

137

Benefits to the wider
health and social care
system

Possible areas for the development of Outcome
Measures

Faster achievement of the
relevant Better Care Together
aims (see page 46)

Measures linked to those aims

Mobilisation of community
resources to improve health
and wellbeing

Initiatives led by GPs working with public health and other
local organisations to target health improvement such as
reducing prevalence of obesity and diabetes in school
children

Reduced inequalities in health
(eg in marginalised groups)

Long term morbidity and mortality across the different
communities

Improved system efficiency

Proportion of care delivered in cost effective settings

(need to be specific and directly linked to action)

Strategic objectives achieved

Reduced pressure on Accident A&E attendances
and Emergency services
Proportion of “inappropriate” A&E attendances

Risks
The following high level risks and barriers have been identified with proposed mitigation:

Risk identified
Contractual and
organisational
restrictions

Level of
risk
High

Mitigation
High level and explicit commitment needed from all local
organisations to the Primary Care Operating Framework
Commitment of all organisations to support primary care
development through the Primary Care Operating
Framework to be formalised through agreements
specifying their contribution to enable delivery
Systems to be agreed to enable GPs to be assured that
they will be supported on the ground when taking on
additional responsibilities
Regular monitoring by the CCG during implementation
with rapid escalation of problem areas to a senior team
to enable speedy resolution

Lack of sufficient
resources to provide
the support needed to
deliver the strategy

High

High level and explicit commitment needed from all local
organisations to the Primary Care Operating Framework
Clarity on the implications or risks of not delivering this
33

138

Risk identified

Level of
risk

Mitigation
framework and the subsequent costs to ensure
continued support

Reluctance of
practices to embrace
change

High

The Operating Framework must make it easy for
practices to start the developmental journey
Practices to have extensive and practical support during
the developmental journey, particularly those breaking
new ground or overcoming particularly difficult obstacles

Patient demands and
patients perception of
not being ‘owned’

High

Engagement of patient and public groups from the
beginning
A clear and consistent message of how patients will
benefit including how continuity of care will be
maintained where it matters to patients
Support for GPs to take time out from the pressures of
meeting patient demand to redesign their working
environment

Defining Out Of
Hours Services, who
is responsible and the
effect of seven day
services

High

Definition and clarity to be sought.
Modelling work on the implication of seven day services
Close monitoring of the impact of seven day services on
general practices
Support through the Primary Care Operating Framework
for practices to work together to provide cover for seven
day services

Workforce

High

Media response to
general practice as
change develops

Inadequate numbers of clinical and managerial staff to
support the change in care setting or manage increased
demand
Clear and consistent communications, including the
benefits to patients and evidence from elsewhere
Strong patient and public involvement

Challenge by
providers outside the
local primary care
provision who see
large scale change
and resource shift for
which they have no
ability to bid

Medium

Leadership instability
or indecision/inability
to follow through

Low

Evidence based rationale for offering current general
practice providers the new contract rather than carrying
out a competitive process
Discussion and decision by the CCG Board with a
written record of the increased expected benefits to
patients of choosing this route, as required by Monitor

Commitment of all organisations to support primary care
development through the Primary Care Operating
Framework to be formalised through agreements
34

139

Risk identified

Level of
risk

leads to a lack of
momentum or
credibility
Failure of
commissioners to
follow due process,
for example by
providing equally
accessible support to
providers through a
clear, justifiable and
transparent
framework

Mitigation
specifying their contribution to enabling delivery

Low

Transparent and rational support framework equally
accessible to all practices.

Further discussion and development of the risks, including scoring them and developing a
risk management plan, will follow.

7. Next Steps and Investment
This Primary Care Operating Framework is not only a response to the Better Care Together
strategic plan, but a plan to support our members through a process to support them and
patients to a new and improved primary care service
The CCG and partner organisations need to work together to put in place a number of
enabling strategies to deliver this Framework. Some of these, such as the Better Care Fund
initiatives and the Community Services Strategic Framework, are already developing.
Once this Framework has been discussed and agreed further work will take place to develop
the following:
Enabling strategy

Examples for inclusion:

Models of care:

Development of a ‘Complex Integrated Care Team’ where this patient
group would be dealt with separately within practice delivery
considering skill/expertise

Integration with
other local services
including
community,
specialist and social
care
ELR CCG’s Draft
Integrated
Community Services
Strategic
Framework

Enable proactive care planning eg six monthly reviews and plan
patient care through an extended consultation not react to immediate
need
A wider multidisciplinary team to include pharmacist, discharge coordinator, social worker and community nursing as part of practices
working at scale
Patient education – self management needs expanding to follow the
diabetes model
35

140

Enabling strategy

Examples for inclusion:

Better Care Fund

Opportunity for closer working on seven day services

NHS England
Primary Care
Framework

Federation or mergers of practices to form an entity with which the
CCG can contract for extended primary care services through an
NHS Community Based Services contract

Premises

Potential for premises conversions and section 106 monies
Development of integrated care centres to co-locate members of the
multidisciplinary team and enable patients to experience care which
is better integrated

Multi-agency sign
up

Commitment from all relevant local organisations to the Primary Care
Operating Framework with specific plans from each as to how they
will support its delivery and how they will monitor how effective their
support is

IM&T

Appropriate sharing of patient information across the multidisciplinary
team
Enabling patients to use technology to access clinical advice and
support more quickly where appropriate
Wider use of telehealth and telecare to support self-care

Workforce

The role of the GP could be one of ‘Supervising, monitoring and coordinating care’ – being a good generalist
Inform undergraduate GP Training programme to dispel myths of
primary care
Develop and support formal training and development of nursing and
other clinical staff to improve recruitment and retention
Communicate the flexibility of primary care as a career choice
Make ELR a more attractive location by developing the career
structure of GPs, nurses and others locally to enable portfolio
working, supporting the development of special interests and leading
public health initiatives with an aim of reducing inequalities in health
Develop roles and clarify the potential for the wider primary care
team, eg pharmacists, to help reduce the workload on GPs

Communications
plan

Consistent and clear messages to patients and the public
Clarity on the benefits to patients
Engaging patients and the public in developing and implementing
plans. For example, mobilising sixth formers to do project work to
support consultation on proposed changes or on public health
36

141

Investment
Primary care needs transitional funding to align and expand as described in this document.
The following areas of expenditure have been identified with sums estimated:

Investment
type

Needed

Purpose

Estimated
amount
needed

Transitional
(already in
place)

2014 (part
year)
2015
2016

Transitional funding for general practices as part
of the “journey” to being ready to sign up to and
deliver a new contract for Community Based
Services. This includes the £1.50 per registered
patient currently paid for “Joint Working and
Collaboration” in the “Support and Investment
Plan for General Practice”.

£480,000

Transitional
(new)

2014 (part
year)
2015
2016

Additional expertise, including change
management, legal and communications support
to enable practices to complete the “journey” to
readiness to deliver the new contract. More
intensive and costly support to practices that are
pioneers and early adopters so “front loaded”

£300,000

Transitional
(new)

2014
2015
2016

Funding for planning, application and legal costs
of capital development (including IM&T and
premises) to enable integration

£1m
£1m
£1m

Revenue

2015
onwards

A new Community Based Service with practices
operating at scale (population 25-45,000).
Matched by £10m community services current
funding
Other existing income to be added in where
possible (eg LES, QOF)

£10m

Capital
costs

2015
onwards

New and expanded premises: Development of
Integrated Care Centres – estimated to need 3-4
new large centres plus development of some
existing estate

£50m

£960,000
£960,000

£300,000
£300,000

Resource Shifts
In some areas of the above table it will be more appropriate to shift resources from another
area of expenditure than look for additional funding. This will be worked through with
expertise from the financial team.

37

142

8. Appendices
Rising Need and Demand
Nationally:

The national picture
1993 – 2013 saw the average GP consultation lengthen by 50% (from 8 to 12 minutes)
2005-2008 saw a 40% increase in GP consultation rates
The average patient now sees their GP six times a year (100% up on 10 years ago)
Average annual consultations among the over 75s have increased by over 50% from 7.9 in
2000 to 12.4 in 2008
In 2010 people with LTCs (29% of the population) accounted for over 50% of all GP
appointments

RETURN to this section in the main document
Locally:
Predictive prevalence in over 65 years olds across the CCG:
Stroke

Obesity

38

143

Myocardial infarction (over 65s)

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
Disease (over 75s)

The latest population projections (from the 2011 Census) also clearly show that East
Leicestershire and Rutland has an ageing population and, with the focus nationally on
proactive care of the elderly, our strategy and investment needs to help manage this.
Demographic led housing plans indicate housing stock will increase in all areas of ELR:

Borough/District

Household projection increases over next 12-22 years

Blaby

336

Harborough

396

Melton

194

Oadby and Wigston

75

Oakham

1035

Uppingham

240

RETURN to this section in the main document

39

144

Views and information provided by local general practices
All practices were invited to complete a survey, thirty two responded and the results are
summarised in the charts below:

What are your current challenges as a practice for
delivering high quality primary care average ranking
Funding
System demand (NHSE/CCG)
Patient Demand
Premises
Workforce/Skill Mix
Internal Practice System/ Processes
Systems/IT
Access
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Average ranking

The biggest reported challenges for practices at present are the demands of patients and the
level of funding to provide services.
Patient access and the demands of the system are also ranked highly. Analysis of individual
practice results shows that some practices ranked premises and workforce/skill mix as their
top priority but as these were not issues for quite large numbers of practices they did not
feature highly overall.
The top priorities for change reflect fairly closely the answers describing the biggest
challenges.

If you were only able to change one of the
above what would it be?

No of Practices

15
premises
10

funding
patient demand

5

system demand
0
1
Option Selected

workforce/skill mix

demand

Funding has again been identified as the biggest issue, with patient and system demands on
practices also selected by many practices.
40

145

When asked about the most popular solutions to improve patient outcomes:

If primary care were to be delivered differently which of
these potential solutions do you see as being the most
important to improve patient outcomes? average
CCG Co-commissioning

Urgent care hubs allied to community and…
Fully integrated health and social care support
Federated alliances of practices
Potential for contract mergers
Adapted Clinical models
7 day services
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Average ranking

Generally practices ranked developing urgent care hubs allied to community and primary
care and the full integration of health and social care support most highly and gave
significant support to adapting clinical models, CCG co-commissioning of primary care and
the development of federated alliances of practices.
All practices were also contacted for a telephone interview with an agreed practice
representative to go through a series of set questions. Common themes are shown in the
table below:

Practices made a number of helpful suggestions such as:
More specialist nursing
services including
diabetes and
respiratory

More alignment of community services and nurses to each GP
practice to facilitate the best use of resources…flexibility between
teams to allow scope to develop skills and enhance motivation
Oakham Medical Practice and Market Overton & Somerby Surgeries

The County Practice
41

146

Large hubs with GPs and other
services would be efficient, benefit
from economy of scale

Increase the numbers of generic district nurses,
intermediate care teams, step down beds, Macmillan
nurses….

South Wigston Health Centre

Increase the number of health care assistants trained
in more straightforward district nurse tasks
The Uppingham Surgery

A secondary care point of contact ie Helpline to
sort out what isn’t done that patient can access
and who will sort out very quickly and easily their
problems with secondary care. Currently these
come to practices to resolve and take a huge
amount of time….this would be a quick win.

Staff recruitment: New GPs and medical
students are in the decline and University
Hospitals Leicester is not attractive. This
needs to be addressed and Leicester made
more enticing.
Glenfield Medical Practice

The Wycliffe Medical Practice

Share ideas for new initiatives/good practice
quickly. Not reinventing the wheel. Better
communication between practices.

Who manages/owns the integrated team
is important: would be interested in the
community matron role integrated within
the GP team

Oakham Medical Practice and Market Overton &
Somerby Surgeries

Long Clawson Medical Practice

Combined chronic disease management
clinics (to reduce unnecessary contacts)

Could consider doing some services across
practices eg family planning, minor surgery
and chronic disease management.

Jubilee Medical Centre
Empingham Surgery

Look at federation model
to help long term
recruitment

More generalist
physicians to provide
care in the community

Kingsway Surgery

The County Practice

Integrated health records
where other organisations can
see GP inputs and vice versa.
The Masharani Practice

42

147

Falls services more localised and at
home service (people with falls
problems don’t travel well).

Need to rearrange how surgery works and stream
patients’ appointments better. Ten minute
appointment doesn’t work for complex patients

The Masharani Practice

Hazelmere Medical Centre

We need to find a way to
regenerate everyone’s
enthusiasm.

Commission advice from secondary care – virtual clinics
Oakham Medical Practice and Market Overton & Somerby
Surgeries

Kingsway Surgery

Pharmacy links need to improve eg pharmacy
minor ailments service. Also pharmacy could act
as a “second check” for drug interactions for
patients on multiple medications

Use GPs to triage more actively rather
than patients going to A&E. Use GPs
at Walk in Centres to triage out minor
conditions

The County Practice

The Practice, Oadby

Local practices also provided detailed information about their current workforce.
Information on GP ages across ELR CCG shows over half are in the last decade or so of
their working life in general practice:

43

148

This local picture of increasing pressure on general practice is echoed by national research:
“Our analysis of the available evidence on the demand for GP services points to a workforce under
considerable strain. The existing GP workforce has insufficient capacity to meet current and
expected patient needs.”
Centre for Workforce Intelligence, 2013
“Evidence is also emerging from the NHS Information Centre that the GP workforce is now shrinking
rather than growing… 54% of GPs over the age of 50 are intending to quit direct patient care within
five years…65% of GPs currently in training are women – and 40% of women who leave practice
each year are under the age of 40”
“Securing the Future GP Workforce – Delivering the Mandate on GP Expansion”, GP Taskforce Final Report,
March 2014. (The GP Taskforce was established by Medical Education England and the Department of
Health).

The information provided by practices highlighted apparent wide inequalities from one
practice to another in terms of the numbers of doctors and nurses available to patients.
That variation does not appear to have any relationship to the level of core funding available
to practices.
There appears to be a very wide variation in core funding between practices just as there are
very significant differences in income drawn by, or paid to, GPs. There is no clear
relationship between them. It is difficult to draw any conclusions from the information, partly
because definitions of, for example Whole Time Equivalent, vary from practice to practice
with full time GPs in some practices working different numbers of sessions.
The CCG also looked at some of the results from the last patient survey and cross
referenced at a high level to look for a relationship with core funding or clinical staffing levels.
There was no clear relationship apparent between these factors. It is clear this is a complex
area with many factors involved.
General practice contractual issues:
Feedback from practices expressed frustration at the number of different income streams
and contractual complexity they are managing on a daily basis which diverts so much of their
time from delivering patient care.
The increasingly out dated model of general practice is reinforced by the contractual
mechanisms used to try to maximise the efficiency and outputs of providers. The contract
mechanism is essentially a core contract supplemented by various other elements and
contracts. These include the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) which has provided a
significant investment in general practice since it was introduced in 2004 but which requires
a high level of organisation, effort and monitoring on the part of practices to maximise their
income.
Other sources of income include Directed and Local Enhanced Services contracts, the Prime
Minister’s growth fund and the CCG’s own GP Support and Investment Plan. Practices
consistently report that the bureaucracy and monitoring is seriously eroding patient contact
44

149

time. The myriad of funding streams and reporting, all of which is at the level of the practice,
neither supports new ways of working at scale or provides the best outcomes for patients.
RETURN to this section in the main document
Better Care Together Aims: Primary Care
Work programmes within the strategy include the following aims which are very relevant to
local primary care services:

Better Care Together Aims (particularly relevant to primary care)
Targeting support to those who need it through case management
Urgent care
Develop more services to support people at home or in the community
Support A&E to be as consistent as possible
Help people to choose right and look after themselves where appropriate
Develop programmes to support people to participate in society – healthy
Frail and
and active for longer
older people Develop care plans together to improve health outcomes to be the best they
can be
Support people to leave hospital as soon they are medically fit
Intervene appropriately and in a timely manner when older people are unwell

Long term
conditions

Intervene in line with care plans in a timely manner in the setting people
have chosen when they are unwell
Build systems to predict those most at risk of urgent care so they can be
supported beforehand
Develop telehealth, coaching and telecare services
Increase self-care and screening for long term conditions
Work with primary care and patients to increase education
Be clear when people move into the palliative phase of their disease and
care plan for that circumstance

Planned
care

Improve patient and clinicians’ knowledge to support timely referrals

Maternity
and
neonates

Increase take-up in the first 12 weeks of antenatal services by hard to reach
groups

Children,
younger

Develop options to facilitate greater integrated working between all sectors
(to improve the health of children, young people and families)
Develop a strategy around optimising children’s life chances through public
45

150

Better Care Together Aims (particularly relevant to primary care)
people and
families
Mental
health
Learning
disabilities

health interventions
Develop case management capability in all sectors to maintain relationships
for people at times of (mental health) crisis
Develop locality based (mental health) teams to manage care closer to home
Better support for universal and primary care services (for people with
learning disabilities)
Develop more integrated pathways and short breaks provision (for people
with learning disabilities)

This highlights the range of areas in which primary care is seen as a key part of the solution
in meeting the challenges faced by the local health system.
RETURN to this section in the main document
National guidance and research:

National guidance and research describes how general practice could develop.
“Patients with long term and complex needs should be jointly managed through an
integrated team in line with a single care plan led by the most appropriate named clinician.
This would require a much greater alignment of incentives and funding streams between
general practices and hospital and community service providers.” “Developing General
Practice today” the BMA
“Practices within federations will offer more community services to the population registered
within their respective practices – for example, dietetic services, podiatry, and outreach
services dependent on GP skills (eg minor surgery and complex contraceptive services).
Some practices will form large federations, incorporating hospital, third-sector, private and
community providers”. “The 2022 GP” the RCGP
“Proactive case management with GPs leading the coordination of care, within a
multidisciplinary and multiagency approach. Whilst GPs should lead this process, day-today coordination and delivery of care would often be by other members of the extended
practice-based team.” “Developing General Practice today” the BMA
“The GP of the future will need to be skilled in using a suite of new and flexible tools for
communicating with patients…the 2022 patient will expect to access their GP or primary
care nurse remotely, attend virtual clinics involving primary and specialist practitioners, and
communicate with their healthcare team via text message or social media-type tools” “The
2022 GP” the RCGP
“The models of care share a desire to improve and extend primary care services, develop
management and leadership capacity, and assume a more significant role in the health
system.” “Securing the future of general practice” the Kings Fund
46

151

“Small multidisciplinary units including GP, nurse, healthcare assistant, social care worker
and patient advocate, attached to practices and providing continuity to an identified group of
patients. Micro-teams could also include practitioners from other specialties, such as mental
health, paediatrics and medicine. These ‘micro-teams’ will provide extended clinical reviews
and support, enabling greater shared decision-making with patients and carers, as well as
improved continuity of care.” “The 2022 GP” the RCGP

Kings Fund – “Community Services: How they can transform care” (February 2014)
The Kings Fund recognised that the Transforming Community Services policy of 2008 had,
out of necessity, focused mainly on the structural changes required at the time. They
therefore convened a working group of community services providers to consider the next
stage – what is required to develop community services in a way that will deliver the
transformation element of the policy. The main steps identified are:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Reduce complexity of services
Wrap services around primary care
Build multi-disciplinary teams for people with complex needs, including social care,
mental health and other services
Support these teams with specialist medical input and redesigned approaches to
consultant services – particularly for older people and those with chronic conditions
Create services that offer an alternative to hospital stay
Build an infrastructure to support the model based on these components including
much better ways to measure and pay for services
Develop the capability to harness the power of the wider community

The report goes on to say that this approach requires locality-based teams that are grouped
around primary care and natural geographies and with a multi-disciplinary team, offering
24/7 services as standard, and complemented by highly flexible and responsive community
and social services. These teams need to work in new ways with specialist services (both
community and hospital based) to offer patients a much more complete and less fragmented
service. The new services need to be capable of a very rapid response and to work with
hospitals to speed up discharge.
Case studies provide real life examples of emerging models:
Case studies describing groups of general practices coming together to provide services at
scale and in the ways described in the national papers above are plentiful and available in
the references here and in the Case for Change available from the CCG.
RETURN to this section in the main document

47

152

Summary Conclusions of the Case for Change Option Appraisal
The option appraisal within the Case for Change came to the following conclusions:
1.

No change
This will result in a failure to meet the rising pressures with the developments at scale
which have been assessed* as necessary. Practices will suffer escalating pressure and
patients will experience deterioration in the quality of services and poorer health than
they might have, had the opportunities been seized.
The CCG’s investment will generate increasingly poorer value for money as the system
receives patients in a state of poorer health requiring more intensive interventions. A
lack of integration with community, social and acute services will persist.

2.

Commissioning a new model at scale by a service specification
This would enable significant improvements by specifying how services should be
delivered at scale including delivering the Better Care Together strategy and a level of
integration with other services.
But it would be less likely to generate the level of ownership by providers and the more
locally appropriate response which other options would, both of which are considered
important factors for success.

3. Commissioning for strategic objectives at scale with minimum support
This would enable significant improvements to be realised through provider-led
proposals to achieve the strategic objectives. This option would generate better
ownership and a more locally tailored response from providers.
However, with only minimal support by commissioners providers may struggle to develop
and implement proposals which reflect the level of ambition required to deliver the
strategic objectives, particularly in the more complex change areas such as integration
with other services.
4.

Commissioning for strategic objectives at scale with extensive support
This would enable the CCG to demonstrate system leadership and a high level of
ambition for strategic change whilst also providing the market development support
necessary to enable the ambition to be realised including support for more technical and
complex areas such as IM&T and premises development and driving forward integration
with other services. This option recognises that the commissioner’s market intelligence
has informed its plans to provide more extensive support.

RETURN to this section in the main document

48

153

Adopting the approach recommended by WHO
Three broad and evidence based overarching approaches recommended by the WHO:
Instead of carrying out a competitive process, the CCG plans to support and implement
three broad and evidence based approaches which the World Health Organisation, based on
extensive research and evidence, advocate and describes as:
“…critical for the transformation of conventional care – ambulatory and institutional-based,
generalist and specialist – into local networks of primary-care centres”
These three approaches are (to directly quote from the WHO):
1. Bringing care closer to people
…in close proximity and direct relationship with the community, relocating entry point to
the health system from hospitals and specialists to close-to-client generalist primary-care
centres
2. Giving primary-care providers the responsibility for the health of a defined
population in its entirety
…the sick and the healthy, those who choose to consult the services and those who
choose not to do so
3. Strengthening primary-care providers' role as coordinators of the inputs of other
levels of care
…by giving them administrative authority and purchasing power

Some elements of these three approaches already feature in our general practices. For
example, the combination of a registered patient list and the Quality and Outcomes
Framework already encourage practices to take responsibility for the health of a defined
population in its entirety.
GPs have also been coordinating the care of their patients since the inception of general
practice but with the rapid increase of people living with multiple long term conditions this
coordination role needs to form a greater part of the working life of a GP, particularly one
with experience in complex care.
The CCG plans to build on this experience in our general practices and empower them, as
recommended in the third approach above, to expand their responsibilities and their services
as the best route to deliver the increased capacity and capability to meet the challenges of
today and tomorrow.
This approach fits with the national direction of travel and the other local frameworks and
strategies in many ways, including:
·
·
·
·
·

Demonstrating an evidence base centred on benefits to patients
Building on continuity of care as an important feature for patients with complex needs
Enabling the integration of care, wrapped around the patient who is at the centre
Supporting general practices to work together at a greater “scale”
Facilitating seven day service provision and improved access to care

RETURN to this section in the document
49

154

Option appraisal template for general practices
When you are faced with difficult choices it often makes sense to do an option appraisal. It
doesn’t need to take long. This template offers three steps and a GP can do each step in
about 10 minutes if they know their practice well and don’t want to go into detail. But if you
give it a bit more time it will be more robust. If you have a willing and able volunteer they
can do much of the leg work for people to add to or amend. It will take longer the more
people you involve.
A good reason to do the option appraisal and agree the outcome as a practice is that if you
later hit problems or people start backtracking you can go back to the options appraisal to
remind yourself why you chose that route – it provides justification for your decisions. You
can always review and change it at any time if circumstances change or new
information/knowledge from experience becomes available.
This template is offered to general practices to modify/use to consider their options. It can
be used in the form of short questionnaires given to all those participating in the exercise.

Step One involves finding out whether you need to make changes. If so, it finds out what
the problem areas are, how important they are relative to each other and what all the
possible solutions are.
Step Two involves developing a shared understanding of the possible solutions.
Step Three involves working out which solution is the best one to achieve your objectives
and why.

STEP ONE
Draft a questionnaire like the one offered below. Decide as a practice how you want to get
the questionnaire completed to everyone’s satisfaction. It depends on how much time you
want to give to this collectively rather than individually. You can:
1. Find a willing and able volunteer to complete it and circulate it to everyone to add to and
amend and then the volunteer pulls it together for complete/sign off at a practice meeting
2. Circulate to the practice team to complete individually with someone then pulling it
together and/or share answers as a group to agree finished result
3. Discuss and complete it as a group
Although you can do Step One quickly, ideally people need to be given time to discuss and
consider the answers to the questions in this step.

50

155

A PARTLY WORKED EXAMPLE (you only need to complete the third column):
Primary
Question

Questions to help answer
this:

Your Answers:

Question 1

Are there difficulties coping
with our workload?

Example: Yes, although
we are just about coping
now when Dr X retires in
March we expect to
struggle to recruit and the
loss of an experienced
partner is likely to make a
big impact on our workload

Do we need
to make
changes?

[Consider as fully as time
allows/you are able and think
about now and a couple of
years ahead]

Are we unhappy with our
income?
Do we have premises
issues?
Are the needs of our patients
are not being met as well as
we want?
Could we organise things
better?
Do we believe there are
opportunities we may miss by
not changing?

Example: Yes, other
practices in our locality are
talking about working
together and if we don’t
join them we may miss the
chance to shape the way
things are organised and
have our say

Do we see any looming
threats for which we need to
prepare?
Does anyone have serious
concerns about the way we
are working/planning our
future?
Are we professionally
dissatisfied are unsatisfied?

Next step/
Comment

If your
answers are
all No then
there is no
need to
progress
further at this
stage Recommend
repeating the
exercise in a
year or earlier
if people
consider
circumstances
have changed
If you have
any answers
that are Yes it
may be worth
continuing
with the
option
appraisal.
The more Yes
answers the
more time you
need to take
and the more
detailed you
need to be.

Any other reasons we may
need to make changes?

Question 2
If we were to
change
something

Workload issues – what are
they?

Example: Overcoming the
problem of difficulty
recruiting new GPs so we
don’t collapse under the
workload

Your answers
should
provide your
objectives.
51

156

Primary
Question

Questions to help answer
this:

Your Answers:

what issue
would we be
trying to
tackle and
why?

Finance issues – what are
they?

Example: We want to
develop a new income
stream to offset reductions
we expect in the future so
our pay does not go down

[Consider as fully as time
allows/you are able and think
about now and a couple of
years ahead]

Premises issues – what are
they?
Organisational issues – what
are they?
Seizing which opportunities?
What new things might we
want to achieve?

Example: Using the
opportunity to work with
others and have influence
over the future set up so
any new entity reflects our
values and priorities

Next step/
Comment

Try to also
include the
WHY: what
you want to
achieve. The
word “so” can
be helpful to
prompt this.
This makes
sure you have
identified
what is really
important to
you.

Protecting against which
threats?
Serious concerns – what are
they?
What is preventing
professional satisfaction?
Any other problems?

Question 3
What is
important to
preserve?

What aspects of our practice
or ways of working do we
need to make sure we
preserve?

Example: Our values – so
we are comfortable with
decisions being made
Example: We like having a
certain degree of
autonomy over our
decisions – so we feel in
control (because we trust
our judgement)

As per the
box
immediately
above
.

Anything else important to
note?

Question 4
What is most
important for
us to tackle?

Which of the issues identified
in our answers to questions 2
and 3 are most important
and/or urgent?

Example: Preserving
income levels may be
seen as three times as
important as the others
and the recruitment
difficulty may be seen as

Ideally you
will have a list
of your
objectives
with a
weighting for
52

157

Primary
Question

Question 5
What
solutions
can best
tackle these
problems?
[Think of as
many
solutions as
possible, be
creative and
describe as
much as
possible what
they mean]

Questions to help answer
this:

Your Answers:
[Consider as fully as time
allows/you are able and think
about now and a couple of
years ahead]

Next step/
Comment

twice as important as the
others:
Preserving income: x3
Recruitment: x2
Work with others: x1
Preserve our values: x1
Retain autonomy: x1

each so you
know their
relative
importance.

What ideas do we all have
about how to tackle these
problems?

Example: perhaps we
could start working
together informally on a
small scale so we can see
if it works

What have others done (or
are doing now) elsewhere to
tackle these problems and
how applicable to us are
these solutions?

Example: merging to
create bigger practices
so the GPs can have a
more structured and varied
career progression with
development opportunities
– this helps recruitment

You should
have a list of
solutions
(options) and
people may
have at least
partly
described
these.

What do experts advise
should be done to tackle
these problems and how
applicable to us are these
solutions?

Example: experts advise
practices to “federate”,
to work together to share
staff to enable similar
benefits to the box above

Everyone now
needs to
understand
better what
these actually
mean.

At the end of Step One you should have, for your practice, agreed objectives weighted to
reflect their importance and a range of suggested solutions. Next you need to make sure
everyone has a shared understanding of the suggested solutions.

Step Two
Put all the ideas for solutions (the options) into a table such as the one offered below. Use
any descriptions people have already made when suggesting solutions and ask people to
put their views forward on each one. They can add to the description and they can suggest
benefits and costs/risks. Some people will be better able than others to give their views.
Give people space to make further comment at the end as they may have ideas about how
to make something work well or have example case studies to provide. Again you can do
this using a willing and able volunteer, individually, as a group, or both whichever works best
for your practice.

53

158

If two or more people have put forward the same solution but described it quite differently
these are probably best appraised as different solutions. You could label them A and B for
the same solution name.

UNDERSTANDING THE SOLUTIONS - A PARTLY WORKED EXAMPLE (you need
to complete all the columns):
Options

Description

Benefits

Costs/risks

Do nothing

As now

No need to invest any
time or effort

Doesn’t tackle our
problems
Other practices develop
around us and we
become less attractive as
a practice to patients,
GPs and staff leading to
other problems
May lose the ability to
provide certain enhanced
services as they may be
offered only to practices
delivering services “at
scale”

Do minimal

Work informally to
share:

Suits the cautious
approach of some
members of the practice

Unlikely to be sufficient to
tackle our recruitment
problem…

Less work for stressed
and busy practice
manager and partners…

Unlikely to preserve our
income

Training of VTS
Skills of nurses
Joint learning of
systems and
processes

Other practices develop
around us and we
become less attractive as
a practice to patients,
GPs and staff leading to
other problems

Care home cover
(one practice one
home)

May lose the ability to
provide certain enhanced
services as they may be
offered only to practices
delivering services “at
scale”

Templates
Joint PLT/learning
events…

Federate
with other
local
practices

Discuss with
practices X, Y and Z
in our locality
creating a new entity
to enable us to:
Share back office

Qualifies us to deliver
new contract being
offered by CCG – a new
income stream

Short term we would
need to put time and
effort into making this
work.

Long term sustainability
should be improved and

Will need to move quickly
to ensure we can
54

159

Options

Description

Benefits

Costs/risks

functions

help tackle our problems

Share some planned
services (eg minor
surgery, sexual
health)

Our patients will have
access to a wider range
of services

influence the federation
with our values and
priorities

Employ wider
support team (eg
pharmacist)
Hold joint clinics
and/or education
sessions for patients
with long term
conditions
Create joint visiting
service
Create joint walk-in
clinics…

Merge with
other local
practices –
separately
located

Merge with
other local
practices
and relocate
together

As per box
immediately above
but rather than
creating a new entity
alongside our
practices, merge
practices to have a
single GMS/PMS
contract delivered
through all our
practice premises…

As per box
immediately above
but also co-locate
into one shared
building…

Keeps our autonomy and
control

Some members of the
practice are reluctant to
see change and will resist
[how do we
overcome?]…

More interesting work for
GPs
Chance to be at the
forefront of change –
suits some members of
the practice
Secures transitional
support and resources
from CCG
Can still merge later if
decide to do so…
Qualifies us to deliver
new contract being
offered by CCG – a new
income stream

Short term we would
need to put time and
effort into making this
work

Long term sustainability
should be improved and
help tackle our problems

Will need to move quickly
to ensure we can
influence the merged
organisation with our
values and priorities

Our patients will have
access to a wider range
of services
Secures transitional
support and resources
from CCG

May be difficult to
harmonise so much with
different cultures – do we
share the same values
and objectives?

Can keep a degree of
autonomy and smaller,
friendly team ethos in our
individual buildings but
share everything else…

Some members of the
practice are reluctant to
see change and will resist
[how do we
overcome?]…

Qualifies us to deliver
new contract being
offered by CCG – a new
income stream

As per the box
immediately above and
we’ll have to deal with the
hassle of premises
planning and relocation
55

160

Options

Description

Benefits
Long term sustainability
should be improved and
help tackle our problems
Our patients will have
access to a wider range
of services
Secures transitional
support and resources
from CCG
Solves our premises
problems
More room to expand
services…

Costs/risks
Patients may not like the
practice moving
premises, we would need
to assess the impact on
them, engage them in the
decisions and carry out
consultation
Risk of premises cost
increase, needs further
work to determine
Some members of the
practice are reluctant to
see change and will resist
[how do we
overcome?]…

Step Three
Now everyone better understands the options and what they mean. The final step is to
judge how well they may help you achieve your objectives.
Another table needs to be pulled together by someone, listing the options suggested and the
agreed objectives. Then everyone needs to score the options: individually, as a group or
both. Or the willing volunteer has a go and circulates. Ultimately you will need a group
discussion to agree the final scoring as this is an important step to bring conclusion.
It is normal to look at the outcome of the first option appraisal and see whether it feels right.
If it does not feel right then it is normal (and not cheating) to go back over your objectives
and your weighting and scoring of them and adjust these until the outcome does feel right.

SCORING THE OPTIONS A PARTLY WORKED EXAMPLE:
Our example objectives are:
1. Preserve our income (weight x 3)
2. Enable recruitment of GPs (weight x 2)
3. Work with others (weight x 1)
4. Preserve our values (weight x 1)
5. Retain our autonomy (weight x 1)

56

161

Objectives 1
---------˃ Income

2 GP
Recruitmt

3 Work
with others

4
Values

5
Autonomy

SCORE
[out of 5]

Do nothing

1x3=3

1x2=2

1

5

5

16

Do minimal

1x3=3

3x2=6

2

5

4

20

3x3=9

4x2=8

3

3

3

26

Federate
with other
local
practices

THIS IS JUST AN EXAMPLE AND DOES NOT REPRESENT ANYONE’S VIEWS
The outcome depends on what your objectives are and how important they are to you
(the weighting you give them)
Merge with
other local
practices –
separate
premises
Merge with
other local
practices
and colocate

4 x 3 = 12

5 x 2 = 10

4

2

2

30

5 x 3 = 15

5 x 2 = 10

4

2

1

32

RETURN to this section in the main document

Suggested steps for practices from research
The CCG’s Draft Integrated Community Services Strategic Framework references “Lessons
from Experience – Making Integrated Care happen at Scale and Pace” setting out the
following key steps:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Find common cause with partners and be prepared to share sovereignty
Develop a shared narrative to explain why integrated care matters
Develop a persuasive vision to describe what integrated care will achieve
Establish shared leadership
Create time and space to develop understanding and new ways of working
Identify services and user groups where potential benefits from integrated care are
greatest
Build integrated care from the bottom up as well as top down
Pool resources to enable commissioners and integrated teams to use resources
flexibly
Innovate in the use of commissioning, contracting and payment mechanism and use
of the independent sector
Recognise that there is no ‘best way’ of integrating care
Support and empower users to take more control over their health and wellbeing

57

162

·
·

Share information about users with the support of appropriate information
governance
Use the workforce effectively and be open to innovation in skill mix and staff

These steps offer a checklist to practices when considering how they wish to progress.
RETURN to this section in the main document

Support to reach milestones
The CCG has identified a number of trigger points for practices to reach on the development
journey towards taking on the new contract and expanding their responsibilities. These
trigger points reflect the advice from pioneers elsewhere in the country, to develop the
culture of collaboration and to establish shared values and objectives before establishing
the organisational structure best able to help people live the values and deliver the
objectives.
The diagram below represents the mutual responsibilities involved in this path:

The route to expansion of general practice: EXAMPLE
CCG offers
(or coordinates provision of):

General practices demonstrate:

9. Implementation of phase
one of the plan complete

7. Agreed governance
structure in place

5. Agreed development
plan

Triggers

Triggers

8. Management support and
funding to implement phase
one of the development plan

Triggers

6. Legal advice to put in
place agreed governance
structure

Triggers

4. Management support and
funding* to draft and agree a
development plan

Triggers

2. Management support to
agree values etc

3. Agreed values, priorities,
aims and objectives
1. GPs covering a
population of at least
25,000 agreeing to work
together

10. A new Community based
services contract

*Funding will be broadly similar to that currently available through the “Support and Investment plan for General
Practice 2014/16” for “Joint Working and Collaboration”.
This model demonstrates a phased approach which allows support from the CCG and others
to be triggered when practices are ready to make best use of it.

58

163

Models of Care Structures
This section replicates the “models of care” described in the CCG’s application to NHS
England to co-commission general medical practice:
Ensuring a sustainable model of health care across primary, community and social care
services will require a change in the model of commissioning and provider set up to enable
integration. The models that will be explored to enable this are:
Horizontal: This can be defined as a strategy linking similar levels of care such as
hospitals providing similar services, or a formal merger of two or more organisations
producing similar goods to expand market share. The aim is to strengthen the financial
position of an organisation, whilst expanding the delivery network.
Vertical: Through vertical integration the CCG would integrate all or parts of the
production process as a measure of rationalising its operation and increasing cost
control over it. In managing new processes, this could mean that providers purchase or
form consortia / alliances with other organisations to gain maximum referral base with
the aim of improved coordination between trading partners (Burns & Pauly, 20022) and a
hierarchical form of governance created to formalise transactions. This means that a
single hierarchy of authority and unity of purpose could be created with integrated
delivery systems, which incorporates primary care, specialty panels and hospitals
(Gaynor, 20053; Robinson & Casalino, 19964). It also provides opportunities to better
align with broader services, e.g. community pharmacy.
Virtual: This is an organic form of organisation, which is more flexible than hierarchical
or bureaucratic models (Lindstrom, 20005). There is a lesser degree of formalisation at
the structural, functional and clinical levels resulting in integration between
commissioners and deliverers of health care based on links which do not alter the
integral structure of the participating organisations. This has been described as the
network approach, where these networks seem to exist alongside and complement
hierarchies to accomplish various corporate or institutional tasks. They have often
achieved a greater advantage to patients than a series of separate services, which if
taken to their conclusion can shift health care responsibility to that of integrated services.
The resulting virtual healthcare organisations encompass a multiplicity of relationships
between commissioners and providers, supporting cooperation and improving network
performance. This is achieved with the flexibility of contracting rather than employing or
owning and a transfer of risk away from the organisation to the provider, therefore
reducing duplication.
Key to this system is the right estate, which provides outpatient clinics, diagnostic facilities
and primary care teams. There are key positives to integrating the NHS system, but there
are large risks to introducing integration and creating large geographical and functionally
diverse health care provider networks. This is a very difficult mindset for both the public and
providers to overcome. It is imperative that these networks are not forced by compulsion,
control and centralised design also known as “Controlled Collegiality”
(Hargreaves, 19946), but are spontaneous, discretionary and involve voluntary engagement,
which allows creativity. Based on this principle, healthcare in England could be reframed as
a system that puts emphasis on the relationships over the component parts. This could be
achieved by decoupling services, teams and individual professionals from buildings and
institutions and ensure that services are available in the most appropriate setting.
RETURN to this section in the main document
59

164

References
“The Effectiveness of Primary Health Care”, Starfield, B.
“Primary Health Care – Now More Than Ever: The World Health Report 2008” The
World Health Organisation, 2008 (see Chapter 3 in particular)
“Transforming Primary Care in Leicestershire and Lincolnshire”, Leicestershire and
Lincolnshire Area Team, NHS England 2014
“The 2022 GP. A Vision for General Practice in the future NHS” The Royal College of
GPs, 2013
“Developing General Practice Today. Providing healthcare solutions for the future.”
The British Medical Association, 2013
“Securing the future of general practice. New models of primary care.” The King’s
Fund and Nuffield Trust, 2013
“Primary care for the 21st century.” Nuffield Trust, 2012
The Triple Aim: http://www.ihi.org/Engage/Initiatives/TripleAim/pages/default.aspx
”New models of primary care: practical lessons from early implementers”
Nuffield Trust, 2013 (PROVIDES CASE STUDIES)
“Toolkit to support the development of primary care federations” The King’s Fund,
Hempsons and The Nuffield Trust (PROVIDES CASE STUDIES)
“The primary care paradox. New designs and models” KPMG and Nuffield Trust, 2014
(PROVIDES CASE STUDIES)
“Providing integrated care for older people with complex needs. Lessons from seven
international case studies” The King’s Fund, The Commonwealth Fund and HSPRN, 2014
Population projections for ELR CCG, by Warran Wignadasan and Louise Lester, Public
Health, 2014

References from the Models of Care Structures Section
2

BURNS, L, R. & PAULY, M, V. (2002) Integrated Delivery Networks: A Detour On The
Road to Integrated Health Care. Health Affairs Volume 21, Number 4 pp128-143
3

GAYNOR, M. (2005) Is Vertical Integration Anticompetitive? Definitely Maybe (But that
is Not Final) Carnegie Mellon University, National Bureau of Economic Research
4

ROBINSON, J, C. & CASALINO, L, P. (1996) Vertical Integration and Organizational
Networks in Healthcare. Health Affairs Volume 15, Number 1 pp7-22
5

LINDSTROM, R, R. (2000) Towards the Virtual Hospital: An Ecological Approach to
Network Development in Health Services. Hospital Quaterly: Spring 2000: Volume 3
Number 3. p18-25
6

HARGREAVES, D. (1994) The Mosaic of Learning London: Demos

RETURN to the main document
60

165

Agenda Item 10

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20 NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING
GROUP (WLCCG)
DRAFT PRIMARY CARE MEDICAL PLAN
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the process to develop the
Draft Primary Medical Care Plan (PMCP) and seek comments of the Health and
Wellbeing Board.

2.

The PMCP has been developed in response to the Better Care Together (BCT) 5
Year Strategic Plan which represents ongoing collaborative working across health
and social care in LLR.

3.

Due to pre-determined timescales set by BCT, the schedule to develop the PMCP
has been extremely tight, with work commencing in July 2014 and the draft plan
being presented to the CCG Board in October 2014.

4.

The CCG Board held during October included a detailed discussion on the
development and content of the draft PMCP and supported further engagement on
the draft plan with patients, practices and partners prior to final sign off by the Board
in January 2015.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
5.

The BCT Five Year Strategic Plan sets out what will be required for the whole
health economy to be sustainable over the next five years, in the face of an
increasing funding/expenditure gap and rising patient demand. A key component of
the 5 year strategic plan is the requirement for greatly enhanced out of hospital care
which will have direct impact on how primary medical care is both configured and
delivered.

6.

Our PMCP seeks to respond to these challenges by considering the local context of
West Leicestershire CCG and how our member practices, supported by the wider
health and social care community teams, can be set up to deliver enhanced care for
our population, closer to home whilst improving patient outcomes.

7.

The CCG is currently seeking full delegated responsibility of the General Practice
contract, currently the responsibility of Area Teams. Identified as a key enabler in
the plan, this would give the CCG a more direct role in the commissioning and

166
contractual arrangements for practices supporting a joined up, clinically led system
which delivers seamless, integrated out of hospital services based around the
needs of the local population.

Background
8.

The PMCP continues the work the CCG started three years ago and has been
informed and influenced by the people of West Leicestershire, our clinical leaders,
our member practices, as well as by national and local priorities. This ensures that it
is driven by the needs of our population, and is owned locally. Aligned to our
Operational Plan, it gives us a strong foundation from which to proceed.

Proposals/Options
9.

The primary medical care plan sets out the system change required to transform out
of hospital care and the pivotal role of general practice.

10. Over the next 5 years our new model for general practice will be realised - the
practice and the primary healthcare team will remain the basic unit of care. However,
whilst a large proportion of care will remain within a patient’s own practice, an
increasingly significant proportion will be provided by practices coming together to
collaborate in federated localities, using their expertise, sharing premises, staff and
resources to deliver care for and behalf of each other.
11. The federated model enables practices to form, in the first instance, small-scale
flexible alliances that can adapt as the needs of patients change over time. It retains
individual practice autonomy whilst capitalising on the benefits of working in a
federated way. In this way, it will be possible to improve access and prove and
extended range of services to our patients at scale.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
12. In developing the PMCP, we have worked hard to ensure that the input of our
member practices, patients and stakeholders has informed its content.
13. The project has been led by the CCG Deputy Chair Dr C Trzcinski and the Chief
Operating Officer Mrs A Bright and a Steering Group established to drive forward the
project.
14. The Steering Group is comprised of clinical representatives from our 4 localities (4
GP Board Members and 4 Locality GPs), public health, the Local Medical Committee,
NHS England and CCG Managers and has met regularly. The group has
coordinated:
• Two large engagement events (August and September) attracting over
250 representatives from GPs, practice managers, admin staff practice
nurses, PPG members. The events were also well attended by our
partners including; EMAS, Leicestershire County Council, Healthwatch,
Leicestershire Partnership Trust and NHS England.

2

167
• Discussion at our locality meetings in August and September, which have
been used to share the outcomes of the events and further shape and
develop the plan.

• A workforce survey of our member practices
• A practice survey testing outcomes from the first event.
• A Board Development session to further refine actions identified as part
of the engagement process.
15.

The draft PMCP will be distributed to our partners and key stakeholders for further
consultation.

Resource Implications
16.

Section 7 of the PMCP identifies the resources required to take forward the plan.

Timetable for Decisions
17.

Outlined below is the timetable for the approval of the PMCP
• Health and Wellbeing Board (20th November)
• Locality meetings week commencing 24th November
• Update to WLCCG Board in December
• Approval at WLCCG Board in January 2015

Conclusions/Recommendations
18.

The PMCP builds on the work undertaken by the CCG and sets out how the system
change required by BCT will be achieved, in the context of the work already taking
place in the CCG.

19.

The development of the plan has been driven by a clinically led steering group
which has coordinated and been informed by a series of engagement events.

20.

In setting out our plan for primary medical care in West Leicestershire the CCG’s
promise to the patients is consistently high quality care which is responsive and
accessible, integrated, sustainable and preventative.

Recommendation
The Health and Wellbeing Board to receive our draft PMCP and provide
feedback on content and progress made to date.
Background papers
NHS Five Year Forward View
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
Better Care Together Plan 2014
3

168
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/information-library/better-care-together-plan2014/
NHS England Improving General Practice a Call to Action
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/calltoaction/igp-cta/

Officer to Contact
Angela Bright
Telephone
Email
Ian Potter
Telephone
Email

Chief Operating Officer, West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning
Group
01509 567733
Angela.bright@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk
Head of Delivery, West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
01509 567735
Ian.potter@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk

List of Appendices
Appendix 1: Draft Primary Medical Care Plan

4

169
West Leicestershire
Clinical Commissioning Group

Primary Medical Care Plan
West Leicestershire

2.0

Patients, practices and partners working together to create the best
value healthcare for the population of West Leicestershire

Patients, Practices, Partners

170
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2

Table of Contents
Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2
Executive Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3
1. Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7
Map . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .12
2. Case for Change . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .13
The Local Environment
The External Environment
Primary Care Perspective
3. Our Ambition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .21
Our commitment to the patient
What Primary Medical Care will look like five years from now
4. Model . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .27
5. Enablers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .31
Federated Localities – making general practice thrive
Better Collaboration and Reducing Bureaucracy
Helping Practices Be Attractive Places to Work
Investment in Practices
Exploiting Technology
Listening to and increasing the participation of patients
Improving Quality and Patient Outcomes by Integrated
Working
6. Plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .41
7. Resources . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .45
8. Governance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .51
Risks
9. Conclusion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .55
Issued by West Leicestershire CCG.

Issue date: 12 November 2014 version 2.0 — Release version

171
3 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Executive Summary
1. Introduction
This document is a system-change plan which responds to the
challenge set out by Better Care Together of a ‘left-shift’ from acute
care to out-of-hospital care, and responds to the key principles
established by an extensive engagement process with clinicians,
stakeholders and patient representatives. The CCG builds on a strong
base of achievement, but recognises that it must pay special attention
to governance, systems for managing conflict of interest, funding,
workforce issues and effectively managing the ‘left-shift’ so that it
sees a genuine movement of resources and activity.
2. Case for Change
West Leicestershire CCG covers about half the area and population of
Leicestershire County. From a primary care perspective, key issues are
an ageing population, rising demand, increased prevalence of long
term conditions, and clinical quality concerns in specific areas.
Additionally, an ageing GP and practice workforce will lose 1/3 of its
numbers to retirement in the next fifteen years. There are substantial
issues with premises which must be addressed. The health economy
as a whole faces a 21% funding gap within five years. However,
working through the Better Care Together partnership and with other
partners and stakeholders, the CCG is actively participating in a
programme to manage these issues, in which this plan plays a key
role.
3. Our Ambition
The CCG’s promise to the patient is Consistently High Quality
which is Responsive and Accessible, Integrated, Sustainable and
Preventative. Currently we have not fully realised the potential of
general practice and too often patients receive care in hospital that
could be safely provided in the community, coordinated through their
general practice, supported by the wider health and social care teams.
We have a clear vision for the future of primary care in our CCG in
which general practice is the foundation of a strong, vibrant and
joined up health and social care system.
We believe that the vast majority of health problems in the
population — including mental health — could be dealt with by
primary and community care. To achieve this, the changes we envision
will mean that primary medical care will in five years’ time be more
integrated and federated, with patients co-designing services and
taking increased responsibility for their own health. This new system is
patient centred, and provides accessible high-quality, safe, needsbased care. This is achieved through expanded — but integrated —
primary and community health care teams, offering a wider range of
services in the community with increased access to rapid diagnostic
assessment and co-located specialists. This will require a shift of

172
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 4

resources from the acute sector, investment in facilities, and a greater
role for nurses, pharmacists and healthcare assistants.
4. Model
Over the next five years our new model for general practice will be
realised - the practice and the primary healthcare team will remain the
basic unit of care, with the individual practice patient list retained as
the foundation of that care. However, whilst a large proportion of
care will remain within a patient’s own practice, an increasingly
significant proportion will be provided by practices coming together
to collaborate in federations, using their expertise, sharing premises,
staff and resources to deliver care for and on behalf of each other. In
this way, it will be possible to improve access and provide an extended
range of services to our patients at scale.
The benefits of this model have been carefully analysed in terms of
the challenge laid down by Better Care Together and the principles set
down through the engagement process.
5. Enablers
A number of enabling strategies are necessary for us to achieve this
system change. These include the development of Federations which
will support practices to thrive and in time take a greater role in codelivering services. Opportunities offered by Co Commissioning
enhance our ability to co-ordinate and integrate care and improve
current administrative processes. The level of system changes required
to implement the plan will require funding. This will require using
existing resources to work differently and more efficiently supported
by one off sources of funding to support transition.
6. Plan
A high level set of actions with time scales, measures and who is
responsible to complete them has been developed which will take the
CCG from its current model of care to the new model of care by
2018.
7. Resources
We have established the base-line of overall resource needs to achieve
system change, along with the benefits accruing. These resources are
financial, material, staffing and equipment.
8. Governance
West Leicestershire CCG has established robust mechanisms of
governance, and is supporting the federations to develop equivalent
mechanisms. A programme of monitoring, evaluation and
improvements will be put in place, and the whole will be supported
by effective communications. A number of risks to the plan have been
identified, and mechanisms developed to manage them.

173
5 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

9. Conclusion
The primary medical care plan sets out the system change required to
transform out of hospital care and the pivotal role of general practice
in this context. Care will be commissioned for the individual which is
right for their needs, good value to the public purse, and which
contributes to the ongoing renewal of the services. Supplemented
with the enabling strategies, this will allow the CCG to support a
thriving and resurgent General Practice which is attractive to new
entrants to the profession, and attractive to colleagues in other parts
of the country considering relocation. The result will be the reestablishment of the Practice at the heart of the community, and a
strengthening of GP-patient confidence. We will provide a better
service which reflects the changing needs and aspirations of West
Leicestershire people.

174
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 6

175
7 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

1. Introduction
Our journey so far

Purpose of this document

This plan continues the work that we started three years ago
with our mission ‘Patients, practices and partners working
together to create the best value healthcare for the population
of West Leicestershire’.

The Primary Medical Care Plan is a
system-change plan which sits between
the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Better Care Together 5 Year
Strategic Plan, and the CCG’s own
Operational Plan.

Our commissioning intentions and planning process have been
informed and influenced by the people of West Leicestershire and our
clinical leaders, as well as by national and local priorities. This ensures
that it is driven by the needs of our local population, and is owned
locally. Aligned with our Operational Plan, it gives us a solid
foundation on which to proceed.
Running through our Operational Plan is a commitment to five areas:
• First, we are determined to support our hard-working 50 GP
member practices so that they continue to respond to patients’
needs by further improving the quality of primary medical care
services.
•

Second, we want to transform the management of long term
conditions such as diabetes and chronic obstructive pulmonary
diseases (COPD) as well as the proactive management of frail
older patients with multiple morbidity who frequently experience
a medical crisis. To this end we will develop a range of
intermediate care services such as ‘step up’ to ensure rapid
assessment of ill patients in the community without the need to
go to hospital.

Better Care Together sets out what
will be required for the whole health
economy to be sustainable over the
next five years, in the face of an
increasing funding/expenditure gap.
This includes requirements for primary
care to take on work currently
conducted in acute hospitals.
The Operational Plan sets out the
programme by which the CCG’s own
vision and mission are being
accomplished.
This Primary Medical Care Plan sets
out how the system change required by
Better Care Together will be achieved,
in the context of the work already
taking place in the CCG, of which the
critical component, as set out in the
Operational Plan, is working in
federations.

Better Care Together
LLR 5 Year Strategic Plan

•

•

•

Third, we want to take public and patient involvement to the next
level to ensure that we understand and capture the current and
desired experiences of patients, carers and healthcare
professionals, and what matters most to them, particularly in the
planning of federations and within the CCG planning of health
and social care.
Fourth, we want to ensure that our patients receive the best
possible care wherever they are treated in CCG-commissioned
services — be that in hospital, community services, or out of
hours (OOH). This means exercising our influence and leadership
to manage provider performance, and forging strong partnerships
with our local authority colleagues at Leicestershire County
Council.
Finally, to do all this, we need to develop our CCG as an
organisation so that we can continue to innovate to deliver real
improvements for the people of West Leicestershire.

Primary Care Plan
System Change CCG level

Operational Plan
CCG Operation & Management

Above:
The Primary Medical Care Plan meets
the needs established in the LLR 5 Year
Strategic Plan by introducing system
change based on the Federation
approach to CCGs developed in the
Operational Plan.

176
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 8

Below:
The Practice Survey, showing strongly
agree, largely agree, neutral, largely
disagree, strongly disagree, sets out key
areas of concern for our GPs.
We need to explore ways to help
practices function and thrive and reduce
the overall workload to maintain and
improve quality.

General Practice is at full capacity in its
present form.

We need to support investment in
practice premises and invest where it is
most needed.
We recognise that meeting and also
controlling patient demand is an
important factor in the success of our
vision. We will work to create and agree
realistic expectations of General Practice
by our patients.

Our Primary Medical Care Plan builds on our commitments in these
five areas and sets out how — working with patients, practices and
partners — we will move forward.
Local progress
Over the last three years we have made solid progress working with
our member practices to get the basics right in primary and
community care in order to create the platform for more significant
transformational change.
Our focus was on:
• Enhancing the resources in the community, such as virtual wards,
to support primary medical care in order to improve the
management of long-term conditions and move activity in those
areas from urgent episodes to planned interventions: this we
termed ‘Proactive Care’.
•

Supporting people who were not known to local health services
through the use of a risk stratification tool with services that were
also based in the community. Those services would be designed to
avoid unnecessary emergency admissions to hospital, and to allow
people to return home as soon as they were medically fit to do so.

•

Expanding community urgent care response services to reduce
pressure on emergency services.

•

Integrating discharge and reablement support to maximise
recovery and independence.

We need to work together to make West
Leicestershire CCG GP practices attractive
to work, increasing the number and
calibre of people applying for positions.

We need to reduce the bureaucratic
burden via shared back office functions,
simplified payments systems and
appropriate QoF and QIPP outcomes.

We need to greater utilise the skills of our
wider community teams and the
voluntary sector.

These challenges are too great for
individual practices to respond to
effectively.

We need to have effective IT
communication and move to one GP
system.

We need to share our skills across
practices to benefit our patients,
capitalising on specialist knowledge and
skills.

General Practice needs to respond to the
challenges affecting the wider health and
social economy.

We understand that the local health
economy is heading for a £400 million
deficit over the next five years, if we do
not radically rethink how care is delivered.

We need to explore how the recently
formed Federations can contribute to
help General Practice thrive.

A potential solution is collective
co-operative working between practices.

Strong and effective primary medical care is a critical aspect of an
effective and high performing health care system. The challenges of
increasing demand from elderly and frail patients living with multiple
and complex chronic diseases are placing an increasing strain on
practices. How our practices respond over the next two years will be
crucial to the delivery of our future plans.

177
9 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

How we have gone about producing this plan
In developing the Primary Medical Care Plan, we have worked hard to
ensure that the views of our member practices, patients and
stakeholders have informed it.
This process has been driven by a Steering Group, made up of clinical
representation from our four localities (GP Board members and 4
locality GPs), public health, Local Medical Committee, Public Health
NHS England and CCG managers. The group has co-ordinated:
•

Two large engagement events, attracting over 250 representatives
from among GPs, practice managers, admin staff, practice nurses,
PPG members and our local partners.

•

Harnessing of our monthly locality meetings in August and
September to shape and develop the plan.

•

Sharing of progress and refining actions at a Board Development
session.

Findings of the Engagement Process
Additionally, through the engagement process, clinicians, partners
and public put forward a coherent set of requirements as to how the
CCG should go about meeting the challenges. These have been
grouped under the following headings:
•

Federations making general practice thrive

•

Better collaboration and reducing bureaucracy

•

Helping practices to be attractive places to work

•

Investment in practice premises

•

Exploiting technology

•

Listening to, engaging and increasing participation of patients

•

Improving quality and patient outcomes by integrated
working

At the conclusion of the section outlining our model of care, we will
analyse what it achieves in terms of these ‘how’ criteria, before going
on to consider the enabling strategies which are required by the
model, and those which must be introduced in order to fully meet
these requirements.

Improving
Quality
Engaging
patients

Making
General
Practice
Thrive

Reducing
bureaucracy

Exploiting
technology

Investment
in premises

Practices
attractive
to work

Above:
Principal issues identified by the
engagement process.

178
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 10

Key considerations
In meeting the challenges laid down by Better Care Together and by
the findings of the engagement process, there are five areas which
we see as requiring special attention.
Governance
The governance arrangements for Federations must be completed
and tested in order for them to effectively function as required by the
plan. Furthermore, in seeking co-commissioning powers, the CCG will
need to demonstrate enhanced governance which is sufficiently
robust for a Legislative Order to hand over co-commissioning and
delegation powers from NHS England so that the CCG can work at
the pace necessary and with appropriate alignment to manage, for
example, investment in premises development necessary for
implementation.
Conflict of Interest
GPs and practices are currently involved in a range of commissioning
and provision activities, the fruit of the changing arrangements over
the last fifteen years of primary care. To proceed, it is essential that we
put in place robust arrangements for the management of conflict of
interest, to give freedom for CCG members on the one hand to make
appropriate and ambitious decisions, and on the other to exclude
themselves from particular discussions when necessary.
Funding
The NHS in Leicestershire is facing a 21% funding gap within five
years. This plan, responding to the overarching Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland strategy of Better Care Together, creates
mechanisms by which this can be substantially alleviated. However,
this system change itself requires funding, both for the changes
themselves and also for the inevitable double-running costs while
community based services are ramped up and acute services tapered.
Workforce
In common with the rest of the NHS, West Leicestershire has a
significant proportion — one third — of GPs due to retire in the next
fifteen years, with similar trajectories among other practice staffgroups. However, in order to achieve the changes put forward in this
plan, West Leicestershire must go significantly beyond this in
attracting staff who can work in integrated services to be organised
by Federations.
Out-of-hospital Care
There is a widespread acceptance across the NHS that a ‘left-shift’
from acute care to non-acute is necessary both from the point of view
of clinical benefit and from the perspective of managing care within
the funding available. However, a number of trial and pilot projects

179
11 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

across the NHS over the last ten years have demonstrated that the
benefits of left-shift are only realised when the programme operates
at a population scale, and when it involves the decommissioning of
work in the acute sector, with the corollary of reduction in staffing
numbers and repurposing, transfer or withdrawal of premises.
Engagement
Insights from patients, carers and health professionals have informed
us this far in defining what primary medical care will look like in five
years time. However, the insights have been limited by the fact that
participants to date have been self-selecting and may not be
representative of the whole community. West Leicestershire needs to
implement a methodology that reaches out to a broader range of
patients, carers and stakeholders ensuring that services are codesigned based on insights which are demographically representative
of the whole population including seldom heard groups.
Mental Health

contacts the CRISIS team but they are
busy and cannot offer to see the patient
Current Situation
A 30 year old lady comes to the GP with within 24 hours and advise sending her
to casualty. This is difficult for the
a combination of relationship
patient as she has no transport, but
breakdown problems and financial
eventually a friend is found that can
difficulties leading to depression. After
an assessment the GP offers a referral to take her. Once there she is assessed by
the liaison psychiatrist who decides she
the IAPT ( Improving Access to
is not an immediate risk and arranges
Psychological Therapies) service and
for review by the CRISIS team the next
prescribes antidepressants. He advises
day. The CRISIS team support the patient
the patient to make an appointment
with the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) in for a few weeks and she is then taken
over by the outpatient team to whom
the local town. The earliest IAPT
she was originally referred.
appointment is in six weeks time. The
patient’s condition deteriorates and 1
month later the GP feels he needs to
refer her to the local psychiatrist, but
there is at least a month’s wait for an
appointment. The patient deteriorates
further and appears suicidal. The GP

The New Way
In the future, the Local GP Federation
has secured the presence of the CAB in
local surgeries so that financial advice is
available and the patient can book an
appointment there and then when first
seen. The IAPT service is also working
more closely with the local GP
federation to ensure waiting times are
not affected by absent workers or
referral differences between practices,
so the patient can be seen more
promptly. If there is a deterioration, the
Federation has access to a Specialised
Community Psychiatric nurse who can
assess patients in need of referral and
triage them both to the correct service
and in a timely manner, so that more
urgent cases are seen before they reach
a crisis.

180
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 12

Map

Castle Donington

GP Practice

Kegworth

Branch Surgery

Isley Walton

Wilson

Diseworth
Long Whatton

Wymeswold

Breedon on the Hill
Hoton

Hathern
Belton

Worthington
Lount

LOUGHBOROUGH

SHEPSHED

Osgathorpe

Prestwold
Burton on the Wolds
Walton on the Wolds

Newbold

Blackfordby
Norris Hill

Cotes

Thorpe Acre

Coleorton

Thringstone

ASHBY-DE-LA-ZOUCH

Woodthorpe

Nanpantan

Swannington

Barrow upon Soar

Quorn (Quorndon)

Moira
Woodhouse
Packington
Oakthorpe

COALVILLE

Normanton le Heath

Rothley

Ellistown

Cropston

Heather
Appleby Magna
Snarestone
Newton Burgoland
Appleby Parva

Stanton under Bardon

Congerstone

Twycross

Wanlip
Birstall

Anstey

Thurmaston

Bagworth
Thornton

Nailstone

Shackerstone

Thurcaston
Newtown Linford

Field Head

Odstone
Norton-Juxta-Twycross

Cossington

Swithland

Bardon

Chilcote

Rearsby
East Goscote

Mountsorrel

Ravenstone

Stretton en le Field

Thrussington
Sileby

Woodhouse Eaves

Donisthorpe

Seagrave

Groby
Ratby

Barlestone

Carlton

Osbaston

Orton-on-the-Hill

Market Bosworth

Botcheston
Newtown Unthank
Newbold Verdon
Desford

The four localities of West
Leicestershire:

Wellsborough
Sheepy Parva
Sheepy Magna Sibson

Sutton Cheney

Shenton
Ratcliffe Culey

North West Leicestershire
North Charnwood
South Charnwood
Hinckley and Bosworth

Kirkby Mallory

Upton
Thurlaston

Stapleton
Witherley
Fenny Drayton

Dadlington
Stoke Golding

Earl Shilton

Huncote

Barwell
Croft

Higham on the Hill

Stoney Stanton

HINCKLEY
Burbage

Sapcote
Aston Flamville

Primethorpe
Broughton Astley

Sharnford

Footnote:
The precise geographical centre of
England is located between Fenny
Drayton and Higham on the Hill

Area:

Population:

North West Leicestershire: 326 km2
North Charnwood:
76 km2
South Charnwood:
197 km2
Hinckley and Bosworth:
374 km2

North West Leicestershire:
North Charnwood:
South Charnwood:
Hinckley and Bosworth:

99,611
76,991
75,792
121,783

ONS Mid-year estimates 2012, LSOAs

181
13 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

2. Case for Change
General Practice is at full capacity in its current form, and the
local health economy is facing a £400 million deficit over the
next five years if we do not radically rethink how care is
delivered. The challenges are too great for individual practices
to meet, with rising patient demand, an increasing population
and a predicted 19% growth in the 60-84s over the next eight
years. If there are no changes to the model of care or to
funding, the NHS across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
will face an income-expenditure gap of £398 million by
2018/19, which is an additional 21% on its income.

Above:
The CCG covers about half of the
Leicestershire County Council area.

The Local Environment

Below:

West Leicestershire CCG is made up of four localities: North West
Leicestershire, North Charnwood, South Charnwood, and Hinckley
and Bosworth. North West Leicestershire covers an area approximately
the same as North West Leicestershire District Council, with the
addition of the area around Stanton under Barton and Field Head.
North Charnwood covers Shepshed, Loughborough, Nanpantan and
Hathern, while South Charnwood covers most of the rest of the
Charnwood District Council area, excluding the areas of Syston,
Barkby, Beeby, Quenisborough and South Croxton. Hinckley and
Bosworth covers the entire area of Hinckley and Bosworth District
Council, excluding the Stanton under Bardon and Field Head elements
which are in North West Leicestershire, and takes in Primethorpe and
Broughton Astley which come under Harborough District Council, as
well as Elmesthorpe and the surrounding villages as far north as
Thurlaston which come under Blaby District Council. All localities fall
under Leicestershire County Council.
The CCG area is generally prosperous, but with pockets of high
deprivation around Coalville and Loughborough. Loughborough is a
university town.
West Leicestershire 2011 mid-year
Males: 183,838

by Age and Sex
Sex Ratio (m/f): 0.986

The CCG covers the districts of North
West Leicestershire, Charnwood, and
Hinckley & Bosworth, and overlaps
some areas of Blaby and Harborough.

North West Charnwood
Leicestershire
Hinckley
& Bosworth

Blaby
Harborough

Below:
Left: population pyramid 2011 midyear
Middle: over sixty fives by quartile, per
LSOA (ONS)
Right: Indices of multiple deprivation by
quintile.

Females: 186,406

0.20%

90+

0.56%

0.53%

85-89

0.97%

1.03%

80-84

1.43%

1.47%

75-79

1.71%

1.96%

70-74

2.02%

2.67%

65-69

2.75%

3.40%

60-64

3.40%

3.12%

55-59

3.10%

3.35%

50-54

3.37%

3.80%

45-49

3.80%

3.73%

40-44

3.84%

3.15%

35-39

3.20%

30-34

2.81%

22.4% or more

16
1
MD 16.9+
IMD

2.75%

25-29

2.87%

19.2%-22.4%

11.8--16.9

2.74%
3.78%

20-24

3.36%

15.4%-19.2%

3.43%

15-19

3.08%

2.91%

10-14

2.73%

2.76%

5-9

2.60%

2.86%

0-4

2.74%

7.1
10.7
Scale (x 1,000)

14.2

3.6

0

0

3.6

7.1

10.7

Total Population: 370,244
ONS mid 2011 by CCG

14.2

SHEPSHED

LOUGHBOROUGH

ASHBY-DE-LA-ZOUCH

D
ED
SHED
H SHE
HE
SH
SHEPS

COALVILLE

V
LVILLE
VI
OALV
OA
COA
C
CO

11.8
1.8-1
8.6
5.9-8

Below 15.4%
HINCKLEY

UG
O GHBOROUGH
LLOUGH
LO

H
O CH
ZOUCH
LA
AZ
E-LAE
-DE
BY-DE-LA-Z
HB
ASHB
A
AS

EY
CKLE
IN
NCK
HIN

o below
5.9 or

182
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 14

CCG Comparator Group

Ageing in detail

The Office of National
Statistics has placed West
Leicestershire in the
‘Prospering’ group, with ten
other comparator CCGs.

In 2010 there were approximately
85,500 people aged over 60 in West
Leicestershire CCG, and 16,400 aged
over 80. The CCG’s over 60 population
is estimated to increase by around
60% by 2030.
In 2007-09 life expectancy for men at
age 65 in West Leicestershire is 18.4
years. However, the 2001 Census
estimated that healthy life
expectancy at 65 was 12.9 years. This
was higher than the England average
(12.5 years).

NHS VALE OF YORK CCG

NHS LINCOLNSHIRE WEST CCG

NHS SOUTH CHESHIRE CCG
NHS NORTH STAFFORDSHIRE CCG
NHS SOUTHERN DERBYSHIRE CCG
NHS WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CCG
NHS EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CCG
NHS NORTH EAST ESSEX CCG
NHS MID ESSEX CCG

In 2007-09 life expectancy for
women at age 65 in West
Leicestershire is 21 years. However, the
Census 2001 estimated that healthy
life expectancy at age 65 was 14.8
years. This was higher than the
England average (14.5 years).

NHS SOUTH WORCESTERSHIRE CCG

NHS GUILDFORD AND WAVERLEY CCG

Around 14,300 people aged over 75 in
West Leicestershire lived alone in 2010,
and this number is predicted to rise to
26,400 by 2030 (85% increase).
In 2010 there were around 28,740
people in West Leicestershire over the
age of 65 with a limiting long term
illness. By 2030 this is estimated to rise
to around 48,330, an increase of
68.2%.

Compared to England as a whole, the area sees higher rates of
hypertension, asthma, heart failure, atrial fibrillation and chronic
kidney disease, and substantially higher rates of depression. Overall,
the CCG is in the Prospering UK cluster, with substantially fewer
potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes amenable to healthcare.
However, proportionately fewer people report that they are supported
to manage their own conditions.

Leicestershire County and Rutland
ONS 2008 based Sub-National Population Projections

Ageing
The population is projected to grow by 10% over the next eight
years, with 60-84s growing by 19% and the over 85s growing by
42%. This will bring associated increases in complex and multiple
long-term conditions (LTCs) such as dementia, cardiovascular disease
and Alzheimer’s, often compounded by frailty.

90+
85-89
80-84
75-79
70-74
65-69
60-64
55-59
50-54
45-49
40-44
35-39
30-34
25-29
20-24
15-19
10-14
5-9
0-4
4%

3%

2%

1%

0

2030 Male
2010 Male

0

1%

2%

3%

2030 Female
2010 Female

Above:
Sub-national projections for
Leicestershire County and Rutland,
2010 and 2030.
Ageing data: JSNA

4%

Care homes
The characteristics of care home residents have been changing for
some time, with many older people making the decision – or having it
made for them – to move into care homes later in life, frequently with
more complex health needs. At a national level this has led to an
increase in the number of nursing home places provided by private
and voluntary sector organisations which has risen from 20,300 in
1970 to not far short of 200,000 in 2010 (Laing & Buisson).
In West Leicestershire there are currently 22 nursing homes; 77
residential homes; 2 combined nursing /residential homes and 3

183
15 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

learning disability homes. Together they provide care to over 1500
people. With multiple co-morbidities and multiple medication use,
patients in care homes are often the most complex group of patients
in the community. Improving care for these complex patients places
an increased demand on general practices. Practices have moved to a
“one practice, one home” model and the CCG has commissioned a
range of services to support patients in care homes including specialist
nursing support services, medicines management optimisation and
reviews and a Community Based Service and Specification for Care
Homes for general practice.
Housing developments
The Leicester and Leicestershire Housing Developments Study 2011
estimates 3,500-4,500 new homes per annum for 2006-2031. Based
on previous allocations, this would be expected to be 790 in
Charnwood, 450 in Hinckley & Bosworth, and 510 in North West
Leicestershire, mainly in Coalville, or something in the region of 1750
new dwellings per annum over the 25 year period, of which
approximately half would need to be affordable housing. The need
for housing is driven partly by ageing and fertility, and partly by net
migration, which for Charnwood, Hinckley & Bosworth and North
West Leicestershire averages 1800 per annum (1999-2009). Housing
developments clearly place pressure on General Practice, but they also
unlock S106 monies, discussed below (Section, Enablers).

“The trend based projection, after a
reduction in projected international
migration, gives rise to a higher level of
household growth than any other part
of the region. Although local economic
development strategies propose the
creation of more jobs than trend based
economic forecasts suggest, levels of
net in-migration are expected to be
consistent with labour requirements at
the level of housing provision
proposed.”
Regional Spatial Strategy RSS8,
Appendix 8, Regional Housing
Provision, Leicestershire

Increasing demand
The CCG has lower than typical admissions and prescribing rates, but
is nonetheless facing pressures of rising demand and increasing cost.
•

The CCG has a lower than average non-elective admissions rate,
with has a historic growth (2007-2011) of 1.4% annually, above
the national average of 1.2% but below the comparator group’s
median of 1.8%.

•

The CCG has an exceptionally low rate of outpatient attendances
following a GP referral, with 122 per 1,000 population compared
to 179 comparator group median and 188 national average.
Furthermore, this rate fell at an annual rate of 0.6% from 2007 to
2011, compared to a comparator rise of 4.1% and an England
average rise of 4.6%.

•

Elective admission rates are low at 109 per 1,000 population in
2011, but rising at a rate of 3.7%. Although this is still lower than
the comparator median of 4.8% and the England average of
4.4%, it is, in absolute terms, a cumulative increase of 44% if this
trend continues over a ten year period.

<15.1
15.1-17.1
17.1-19
19-20.9
20.9-23

•

The CCG’s prescribing spend rate was £73 per person compared
to a comparator median of £78 and an England average of £79.
This was falling by an annual 0.5% from 2007 to 2011.

23.25.2
25.2-27.6
27.6-30.7

Above:

30.7-35.3
>35.3

Modelled smoking prevalence 2003-05
(ONS) by decile.

184
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 16

Long-term conditions
We have a high number of people who are smokers, are subject to
alcohol-related harm or to obesity. These contribute to our higher
rates of cancer, heart failure and atrial fibrillation, cardio-respiratory
conditions, stroke and cardio-vascular disease. Despite being in the
overall ‘prospering CCGs’ ONS cluster, we have pockets of deprivation
in Greenhill and Agar Nook, Coalville, and Hastings and Shelthorpe,
Loughborough, as well as invisible inequalities among ethnic
minorities, travellers and those in rural poverty.
ti``d=içåÖ=qÉêã=`çåÇáíáçå=mêÉî~äÉåÅÉ==
SKMM=

RKMM=

QKMM=

OMNNLNO=
PKMM=

OMNOLNP=
OMNPLNQ=

OKMM=

NKMM=

MKMM=
^c==

End of life care
Current situation
A 65 year old man is diagnosed with
metastatic lung cancer. He is also a
poorly controlled diabetic on insulin. He
lives with his wife who is the main care
giver. He is called back to hospital on a
fairly regular basis for follow up and
different regimes of therapy which do
not appear to be helping. He requires
transport for these appointments and
they end up taking the whole day and
making him exhausted. He is becoming
increasingly depressed and anxious. His
wife is finding it increasingly difficult to
cope. He is becoming frailer and now
requests GP visits on most days of the
week to deal with symptoms of
breathlessness and cough. He accesses
the out of hours service on a regular
basis with the same symptoms. On
several occasions he has been sent to
A&E as the wait to see the out of hours
doctor was too long. He has an end of
life care plan in place agreed with his GP
and wishes to die at home but
unfortunately following a further
deterioration in his condition he is again
admitted and dies in hospital.

`~åÅÉê=

`lma=

aÉãÉåíá~=

The New Way
The man is diagnosed with metastatic
lung cancer at the local hospital. His
own family doctor, a single handed GP,
receives an electronic clinic letter the
same day and flags his records to discuss
his ongoing care with the local
intermediate care team. This team is
headed by a local GP in the Federation
with a special interest and dedicated
time. After a telephone discussion, and
consent from the patient to access his
medical records, this doctor arranges to
see him at home. He visits within the
week and undertakes a comprehensive
assessment of both the man’s and his
wife’s concerns and needs, and starts to
put in place an end of life care plan. In
view of the multiple health problems
and the strain on his wife, the GP
organises a community MultiDisciplinary Team meeting at the
Federation office. He brings in members
of the community team and, via
teleconference, the oncology consultant.
A treatment plan is agreed and his care
plan is updated to reflect what has been
agreed.
The man continues to deteriorate and

aá~ÄÉíÉë=

ec=

bli=

his breathlessness becomes his most
worrying symptom. He becomes bedbound and has an increased package of
care. He is still determined to stay at
home and is well supported by the
community teams. As his night-time
symptoms increase the Federation GP
accesses the night sitting service which
is made up of volunteers and trained
nursing staff.
One night the man dies peacefully in his
sleep with the night sitter and his wife
at his side.

185
17 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

The External Environment

Partners in Better Care
Together

Partners

Better Care Together is the principal
commissioning partnership for the
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
health economy.

The CCG recognises that it operates as a part of the wider
health and social care system of Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland, and all parts of that system must achieve financial
stability, in a time of financial constraint.
West Leicestershire CCG works closely with its district councils and
the county council, particularly through the Health and Wellbeing
Board, and across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland with other NHS
commissioners through Better Care Together. Its other key local
commissioning partner is NHS England, supported by Public Health
England.
UHL and Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust are its key acute and
community health providers, respectively. Subsidiary providers are
George Eliot, Burton and Derby acute hospitals, and East Midlands
Ambulance Service. Non-NHS providers include DHU, CNCS, Arriva
and a variety of voluntary sector providers.

DHU

e
ic
Le

er
st

e
re H
sh i

alth and Wellb
ei

County
Council

District
Councils

ng

Bo

The partners in Better Care Together
are as follows:
•

NHS Leicester City Clinical
Commissioning Group (LCCCG)

•

Leicester City Council

•

NHS West Leicestershire Clinical
Commissioning Group (WLCCG)

•

Leicestershire County Council

•

NHS East Leicestershire and
Rutland Clinical Commissioning
Group (ELRCCG)

•

Rutland County Council

•

University Hospitals of Leicester
NHS Trust (UHL)

•

Leicestershire Partnership Trust
NHS Trust (LPT)

•

Leicester City Health and
Wellbeing Board

•

Leicestershire Health and
Wellbeing Board

•

Rutland Health and Wellbeing
Board

•

Healthwatch (across LLR)

•

NHS England Local Area Team.

ar
d

CNCS
Arriva
Better care together

Voluntary
Sector

George Eliot

Right:

England

Burton

Public
Health
England

Derby
EMAS
UHL

Leicestershire
Partnership
NHS Trust

Non-NHS Commissioners in green.
NHS Commissioning partners in blue.
NHS providers in pink.
Non-NHS providers in yellow.

186
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 18
2500

£millions

Financial situation and local performance
2000

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) faces a 21% funding gap
between income and expenditure by 2018/19 if the current model of
care continues and there are no radical changes to allocation. This is
in keeping with a wider NHS funding gap of £30 billion by 2020/21,
or 22% of projected costs.

1500

1000

500

0
14/15

15/16

16/17

17/18

18/19

Above:
For the entire health economy, the
predicted gap between expenditure
(red) and funding (blue) will be £398
million by 2018/19, 21% more than
the total available budget.

The Health Economy
Perspective
The case for change – value for
money
“All health and social care
organisations in LLR need to achieve
financial sustainability, in a time of
financial constraint.
Commissioners will need to make
phased savings to deliver investments
in the models of care that will provide
the highest quality and best outcomes
for patients and citizens.
The scale of the financial challenge
facing LLR can only be addressed
through a fundamental redesign of
services coupled with provider cost
improvement programmes.
Strengthen primary, community and
voluntary sector care, to deliver
integrated care, maximising the use of
physical assets, supporting self-care,
exploiting IM&T, ensuring care is
provided in appropriate cost effective
settings, reducing duplication and
eliminating waste in the system.”
From the Better Care Together strategy,
p 34.

This health economy is one of eleven “financially challenged”
economies identified by NHS England. Financial pressures manifest
themselves particularly clearly in a deficit at University Hospitals of
Leicester NHS Trust (UHL). The health economy also faces challenges
in key operational measures such as referral to treatment times and
the 4 hour wait in A&E which do not meet national standards.
Local authorities in the LLR system face significant financial pressures
resulting from the continued reduction in funding allocations. By
2018/19 Leicestershire County Council faces a savings requirement of
£110m.
The CCG as commissioner will need to make phased savings to deliver
investments in the model of care described in this plan. The scale of
the financial challenge facing LLR can only be addressed through a
fundamental redesign of services coupled with provider cost
improvement programmes.
Better Care Together has identified a basket of programmes to bring
the health economy into balance. However, this work relies on the
ability of primary care to accept a ‘left-shift’ of activity from the acute
sector, and relies on the ability of commissioners to effectively
manage the decommissioning of those same services in secondary
and tertiary care.
It is therefore essential to strengthen primary medical care, together
with community and voluntary sector providers to deliver integrated
care, maximise the use of physical assets, support self-care and ensure
care is provided in appropriate, cost-effective settings.

187
19 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Primary Care Perspective
Quality of Primary Medical Care in
West Leicestershire
General Practice in West Leicestershire has a strong history of
delivering high quality care to its patients and a track record of
working collaboratively at locality level. Our practices have access to
comparative real time data through our Individual Practice profiles and
national sources to enable them to benchmark the quality of care
their patients receive.
External to the organisation the Primary Care Web Tool which is
monitored by NHS England currently demonstrates that none of the
practices within West Leicestershire CCG are outliers in six or more of
the indicators and therefore do not require a contractual visit.
Helping Recovery

Long Term
Conditions

Rate of avoidable
emergency admissions for
acute conditions

Emergency admission rate
for children with lower
respiratory tract infections

In the best 25% of CCGs
(874.2 admissions per
100,000 people)

In the best 25% of CCGs
(260.6 admissions per
100,000 people)

Unplanned hospitalisation
for chronic ambulatory
care sensitive conditions

Unplanned hospitalisation
for asthma, diabetes and
epilepsy in under 19s

In the best 25% of CCGs
(587.6 admissions per
100,000 people)

In the best 25% of CCGs
(168.7 admissions per
100,000 people)

Left and Below:
Strong and effective primary medical
care is acknowledged to be a critical
aspect of an effective and high
performing health care system. The
CCG is accountable for continually
improving the quality of our primary
medical care services, and this is a
responsibility that the CCG takes very
seriously. Our practice appraisal process
demonstrates year-on-year the high
calibre of the vast majority of our
practices, but within that, there
remains variation in clinical thresholds
and patient experience. As a practice
membership organisation, our
approach is to support the capacity and
capability of our practices to enable
consistency in the care given.
NHS England has a systematic approach
to quality improvement and publishes a
wide range of data both for patients
and commissioning organizations. The
following data is taken from the
Clinical Commissioning Group
Outcomes Indicator Set (CCG OIS) and
provides an overview of the CCG’s
performance in a range of national
outcome areas.

Preventing Early Death
Potential years of
life lost to
treatable diseases
(Females)

Potential years of
life lost to
treatable diseases
(Males)

Under 75
mortality rates
from
cardiovascular
disease

Under 75
mortality rates
from respiratory
disease

Under 75
Emergency
mortality rates
admission rate
from liver disease alcohol related
liver disease

Under 75
mortality rates
from cancer

In the best 25%
of CCGs (1466.3
potential years of
life lost per
100,000 females)

In the middle
range (2113.4
potential years of
life lost per
100,000 males)

In the middle
range (66.19
deaths per
100,000 people)

In the middle
range (21.43
deaths per
100,000 people)

In the best 25%
of CCGs (11.88
deaths per
100,000 people)

In the middle
range (111.31
deaths per
100,000 people)

In the middle
range (18
admissions per
100,000 people)

188
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 20

6.5 or higher
6.0-6.5

Workforce
GP Workforce
The GP census lists 262 GPs Full Time Equivalent (FTE), including
salaried, part time and long term locums, in the CCG area, at an
average list size per practice of 7,400. Calculated on a like-for-like
basis (figures, HSISC), the CCG is in the band of 6.0-6.5 GPs per
10,000 head of population. This is a better than average number of
GPs than for England as a whole. The median for our comparator
group is the 5.5-6.0 band. However, 18% of our GPs are 55 or over,
and 32% are over 50.

5.5-6.0
5.0-5.5

Practice Workforce
Of a total practice workforce of 970, 250 (26%) are aged 55 or over.
Above:
The CCG is above the median GPs per
10,000 patients for its comparator
group.

Below:
18% of our GPs are 55 or over; 32%
are over 50.

Premises
In Leicestershire as in many areas of the country there has been
limited investment in primary care premises since 2004. Work by the
BMA, ‘The Future of GP Practices’, identified the following issues
across England:
•

Three in five practices say their doctors have to share consulting
rooms, and of these, half say this restricts treatment.

•

More than two thirds believe their premises limit the GP services
and community services they can provide.

•

More than half of respondents have not seen significant
refurbishment to their premises since 2004.

Bottom:
26% of all practice staff are over 55.
15
12
9

In Leicestershire the last strategic premises review was completed in
2009 and prioritised projects according to need. Subsequently a
number of the projects identified have been completed although a
significant number remain incomplete.

6
3
0
50

55

60

65

The case for change — conclusion
350
GP Partners
300
Salaried GPs
250
Nurses
200
HCAs / Phlebotomist
150
Practice Management
100
Clerical Staff
50
Receptionists
0

20-30

31-45

46-54

55+

Primary medical care in West Leicestershire is performing strongly,
both by comparison with the national average and within its own
comparator group. However, with an ageing workforce, underinvestment in premises, and very significant challenges ahead
resulting from demographic change, rising costs of healthcare and
increasing demand, it is clear that the situation is not sustainable over
the next five years. In the long term, it is absolutely clear that a
substantial change of model is required, rather than merely an
efficiency drive. Furthermore, as the case studies scattered through
this document show, patient experience of their care pathway is often
poor, and there are opportunities for improvement. In the next section
we will articulate our ambition for a 21st Century health system in
West Leicestershire, and, subsequently, our means to achieve it.

189
21 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

3. Our Ambition
Primary care is the foundation of a high performing healthcare
system. Our ambition is for a health system in West
Leicestershire that everyone can be confident of — public,
patients, clinicians, NHS leaders, stakeholders and partners —
where primary care plays a strengthened role responding to
the health needs of the population, particularly the ageing
population and those with long term conditions.
Historically general practice, primary and community health teams
have developed piecemeal. Funding streams and national initiatives
have been introduced at various times and this has resulted in services
that sometimes overlap, sometimes leave gaps, but rarely work
together in a co-ordinated manner.
Currently too many people use emergency acute services because
primary care is perceived as inaccessible where and when they need it.
60 to 70% of emergency admissions are of people with long term
conditions or frailty. These patients are known to the system and
particularly to general practice. Active care planning ought to prevent
unnecessary admissions, and expedite discharge whenever a hospital
stay cannot be avoided.
Our ambition is to correct this situation and apply measures and
pathways that make primary care the first choice for people.
We do not believe that the status quo will enable GPs to deliver
everything that our patients need in the 21st Century. A new model
of health and social care is required that builds on the needs of
patients and the strengths and values of general practice.
We believe that the vast majority of health problems — including
mental health issues — could be dealt with by primary and
community care. We have not yet fully realised the potential of
general practice, so too often patients receive care in hospital that
could be safely provided in the community, coordinated through their
general practice, and supported by the wider health and social care
teams.
We will redress this imbalance and make out-of-hospital care a
much larger part of what the NHS in West Leicestershire provides. Our
overarching philosophy is that admission to secondary care should
only take place when it is clinically unavoidable, and that discharge
home from acute care should be achieved as quickly and efficiently as
possible. In our model we will increase the proportion of care patients
receive close to home through effective, timely interventions. This will
require increasing access to seven day — and, where appropriate, 24
hour — care management, developing flexible models that enable
care to be provided in both a scheduled and unscheduled manner to
meet the clinical needs of patients.

190
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 22

Right:
Our ambition is to shift the care system
so that the bulk of work is done
through scheduled care, as opposed to
the current situation where it is in
urgent care.

Planned
care

Urgent
care

Scheduled
care
Unscheduled
care

The role of the acute hospital is for short term referral for more
serious clinical problems, specialist interventions, care and procedures.
We have a clear vision for the future of primary care in our CCG in
which general practice is the foundation of a strong, vibrant, joined
up health and social care system. This new system is patient centred,
engaging local people who use services as equal partners in planning
and commissioning, which results in the provision of accessible highquality, safe, needs-based care. This is achieved through expanded —
but integrated — primary and community health care teams, offering
a wider range of services in the community with increased access to
rapid diagnostic assessment and, crucially, patients taking increased
responsibility for their own health and well-being.
Over the next five years our new model for general practice will be
realised. The practice and the primary healthcare team will remain the
basic unit of care, with the individual practice patient list retained as
the foundation of that care. However, whilst a large proportion of
care will remain within a patient’s own practice thereby recognising
the importance of the therapeutic doctor-patient relationship, an
increasingly significant proportion will be provided by practices
coming together to collaborate in federations, using their expertise,
sharing premises, staff and resources to deliver care for and on behalf
of each other. In this way, it will be possible to improve access and
provide an extended range of services to our patients at scale.
Our model is based on the GP as expert clinical generalist working in
the community, with general practice being the locus of control,
ensuring the effective co-ordination of care. The GP has a pivotal role
in tackling co-morbidity and health inequalities but increasingly they
will work with specialists co-located in primary and community
settings, supported by community providers and social care to create
integrated out of hospital care. For general practice to be optimised
there is an increasing need for non-admssion pathways with
immediate access to diagnosis and specialist opinion, and ambulatory
emergency care with immediate access to diagnosis and interventions.
Our ambition recognizes that our emerging federations provide the
opportunity for general practice to be delivered at population scale
providing many of the tests, investigations, minor injuries and minor
surgery currently only provided within the hospital setting.

191
23 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

The federations, though in their infancy, have the ambition to
•

shift a significant amount of outpatient consultations and
ambulatory care to out of hospital settings

•

employ secondary care specialist on a sessional basis to support
the expansion of clinic based care

•

lead community hospitals jointly with the teams that currently run
them

•

coordinate locally out of hours provision particularly for patients
with long-term conditions and those at end of life

•

further develop models of in reach care to our 22 care homes and
77 residential homes building on our practice/one home approach

•

exploit technology to enable the safe sharing of patient care
plans.

In order to achieve our ambition, we need to shift investment from
acute sector to primary and community care, as we will discuss later
in the Resources section of our plan. It is recognised nationally that
primary care services have been under-resourced compared to
hospitals and funding needs to be stabilised to enable primary care to
grow.
Left: Federations
North Charnwood GP Community
Network Ltd
Hinckley and Bosworth Medical
Alliance
North West Leicestershire GP Ltd
South Charnwood GP Network Ltd
Population by locality:
North West Leicestershire:
North Charnwood:
South Charnwood:
Hinckley and Bosworth:

99,611
76,991
75,792
121,783

While practices work with list sizes of
6,000 to 15,000, Federations work
with practice-based populations of
75,000 to 122,000 co-terminus with
their localities. Federations, which will
deliver services as Multi-Specialty
Community Providers, are
commissioned by the CCG.

192
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 24

Our commitment to the patient
Consistently High Quality
•

Wherever you live in West Leicestershire, you can expect to have
easy access, on-line or in person, to information, advice and
support. This will be through national programmes such as 111
and local services.

•

You will be confident that the advice and care provided by your
primary care professional is consistent with best practice.

•

Variation in the delivery of primary care will be identified through
national data, and the commissioners will work together to
support practices to provide core standards of care.

•

You will be seen and treated by highly trained healthcare
professionals who are committed to delivering the best quality
care to the patient.

•

You will be treated as an individual by professionals and respected
at all times.

•

This will link with all other services when you need continued,
consistent care to keep you at home.

Responsive and Accessible
•

The way you are able to access information and be directed to
appropriate services will be transformed through the use of new
technology and social media.

•

You will be able to access primary care services at weekends in
access points not currently available. This may not necessarily
mean seeing a GP or nurse in the traditional way.

•

You will be able to have access to a primary care professional
within 24 hours whenever you feel your primary care need is
urgent.

•

You will not have to wait more than five days for a routine
appointment with a GP.

•

You will have access to high level quality indicators for General
Practice, so that you can make an informed choice of GP practice.
You will be able to change practice easily if you wish.

193
25 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Integrated
•

You will find that services are working seamlessly together with
you to co-ordinate your care and deliver the support you need to
manage your condition. Holistic care will be delivered that
addresses people’s physical, mental health and social care needs
together and not separately. There will be no duplication.

•

The voluntary sector, pharmacists, nurses and social care will be
more involved in providing your care.

•

The way health services and local authorities work will change
radically. Services will align more closely, which will mean that
primary care and social care deliver a seamless service.

•

We expect to see a range of initiatives that unite health and social
care such as respite prescriptions for carers.

Sustainable
•

You will be confident that Primary Medical Care in Leicestershire is
financially well-run, and that the system has been designed to
deliver the right care in a way which is affordable to the NHS and
the tax-payer for the foreseeable future.

•

You can be confident that decisions made about the way care is
provided will be made because they benefit patients the most,
within available resources.

Preventative
•

Primary Care Professionals will act as community leaders who
provide your health care.

•

You will be actively involved in the management of your own
health and care.

•

You will receive more information on maintaining your health and
we need you to use this information to prevent ill-health that can
be avoided.

•

Underpinning this is the need for services to be innovative and
continuously evolve and learn.

Care Homes
Current Situation
Mrs S is a frail 86 year old lady in a Care
Home. She has a Do Not Attempt
Resuscitation (DNAR) in place and has
expressed the view she would like to die
at the home. She is demented but the
staff have noticed that her urine has an
offensive smell and she is febrile and is
more agitated than usual. She was
admitted with a UTI 6 months ago and
they feel she has a recurrence. They ring

the Out of Hours Service (OOH) as they
want a GP to visit — it is 2pm on a
Saturday — and provide antibiotics.
Unfortunately the OOH does not have a
GP available to visit immediately and
advises a visit may not be possible for six
hours. The relatives rightly think this is
unacceptable. The home rings the 999
ambulance service, and the patient is
admitted to hospital.

The New Way
Through the ‘one practice one home
scheme’, the local general practice has
documented a care plan for Mrs S, and
all the care home staff are aware of it.
Through the Acute Visiting Service, the
care home refers directly to a localitybased emergency care practitioner
whom they know. They visit, and
through their extended scope, prescribe
antibiotics and follow up the patient the
next day to check on progress.

194
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 26

What Primary Medical Care will look
like five years from now
If this plan is fully implemented, we envisage General Practice in West
Leicestershire looking like this:
•

Practices will work collaboratively, and there will be full
integration with community and social care services, and with
acute services.

•

Community nurses and other health and social care professionals
employed by Federations working at practice, virtual ward level
and in locality/federation level initiatives.

•

Stronger Federations will have improved efficiency in member
practices through more effective use of existing resources, e.g.
centralised Human Resources, Payroll.

•

Local healthcare professionals and specialists will provide locality
based services to meet the needs of patients.

•

We will listen to patients and help them access appropriate care,
taking greater responsibility for their own health and well-being.

•

Greater numbers of nurses will support ward and locality services.

Implications of this approach:
•

Primary care providers will work at a larger scale building on our
current model, including federations and virtual wards.

•

Further integration of services with a wider range of partners
including social care.

•

Services will be provided, where appropriate, seven days a week,
with local primary care solutions to support care in the out-ofhours period.

•

Federations, localities and patients will play a greater role shaping
how primary care is provided to patients.

•

Based on patient needs, primary care will be provided in different
ways to patients. This will initially focus on changing how care is
provided to patients with long-term conditions and, in time,
extend to other areas such as mental health.

•

To support this there will be a shift of resources and work from
acute hospital settings to primary care.

•

We will seek to improve primary care facilities and the utilisation
of community-based facilities in localities.

•

The primary care workforce will change with a greater role for
nurses, pharmacists and healthcare assistants. Where practical this
will be driven at a locality level.

195
27 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

4. Model
The challenge of Better Care Together is that we create a
system which can accept movement of care from the acute
sector to primary care at a population level, while retaining
primary care’s efficiencies. Furthermore, commissioners must
have effective tools allowing them to commission care in the
setting most appropriate to complexity and condition. To
achieve this, our model constructs a new layer of communitydelivered care, with integrated services organised, managed
and contract-funded by the CCG’s established Federations.

Safety, Effectiveness, Patient
Experience
The safety of patients is always our
highest priority. Within that, we want
our care for them to be effective in
bringing about the health outcomes
that matter to them most. When there
are choices between different ways of
offering safe, effective care, the
patient’s experience is the deciding
factor.

The model outlines the central role of the GP as part of a wider
community response, identifying where the GP can add most clinical
value and how the wider practice and community teams actively
support the delivery of care.
Our model places the patient and their General Practice at the centre
of care provision. We have a strong sense of locality within the CCG
and promote the concept of neighbourhood commissioning. Through
this we are shaping services with our practices, patients and
communities that are coordinated and integrated at a locality level to
meet their needs.
Our four localities are the geographical unit at which care is
commissioned, coordinated and provided. Through our established
proactive care approach, our community teams are aligned with each
locality, then subdivided into virtual wards which support each
practice within a locality. We are now working with our social care

366,000
Patients

50
Practices

10
Virtual
Wards
footprints

‘Left shift’ from acute and
secondary care
4
Federations
Delivering
Services

196
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 28

Right:
The commissioning decision is at each
point to treat the patient in a setting
which matches their risk and
complexity.

Self-care

Core
Primary
Care

Enhanced
Primary
Care

Integrated
primary and
community
specialised care

Emergency
and/or
specialised
Greater
risk and complexity

What is integrated care?
Integrated care combines a range of
disciplines across the NHS, social
services and voluntary organisations to
create person-centred care, rather than
condition-centred or patient-centred
care.
•

Condition-centred care, the
original model in the 1948 NHS,
treated individual conditions, but
took no account of complex comorbidities. Nonetheless, it was a
significant advance on what was
previously available.

•

Patient-centred care, originating in
the 1990s, was a move to treat
the whole patient, taking account
of the impact of multiple
conditions.

•

Person-centred care recognises
that an individual is best placed to
make decisions about their own
life-style, and the level and
location of treatment they are
prepared to undertake. Personcentred care was first pioneered in
palliative care, for example
through the Gold Standards
Framework.

Integrated care involves a significant
range of NHS, local authority, private
sector and voluntary sector inputs,
including acute care. However, where it
is successful, integrated, personcentred care will tend to keep a person
in their own home for as long as
possible, and focus on proactive
prevention strongly led by the person’s
desires and wishes, with a broad
spectrum of choice.
Virtual Wards and Federation-delivered
services are both examples of
integrated care, but, properly speaking,
it is our entire suite from self-care to
acute care which is integrated.

Patient
Practice

Locality
(Multispecialty
Community
Provider)

Acute

partners to align social care provision across the same geographical
footprint. This will enable the full integration of our practices with our
community and social care teams to support out of hospital care.
Fully implementing our model will require a joint focus on the delivery
of care that meets the needs of the local population, with teams
which share priorities and goals. Federated General Practice will
provide leadership for integrated population-level health including the
optimal organisation of urgent care services — both in- and out-ofhours, and long-term condition management. This is central to the
development of multi-specialty community providers.
We will build on current structures to achieve this and establish
forums led by our federations where community and social care
providers regularly come together to review and enhance local service
provision. Over the past two years we have developed a range of new
services within the community but as yet they are not fully utilised or
sufficiently coordinated.

Delivery of Model and Levels of Care
In our model, our 366,000 patients are empowered to greater levels
of self-care, aided by informational and educational programmes and
community pharmacies. Our fifty primary medical practices remain
their first point of contact with the NHS. For those requiring ongoing
care, either diagnosed through the surgery or by pro-active screening,
our ten virtual wards enable the patient to remain at home while receiving integrated care to manage long-term conditions and prevent
escalation. For more complex co-morbidities, the four federations will
provide more specialist care, integrating a wider range of clinicians, allied health professionals and social care workers.
Acute and other secondary and tertiary care is therefore freed to
focus on emergency and specialised care, as well as routine surgery
such as hip operations.

197
29 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Left: ideal model
In the ideal model, need, setting of care
and intervention are matched in a four
tiered approach.
Level 3:
Specialist
Intervention

At Level 3, complex, high-risk or unsafe
conditions are managed through
specialist interventions in specially
equipped units.

Level 2:
Case Management

At Level 2, patients benefit from longer
term case management of their
condition.

Level 1:
Point of Access:
Disease Management

At Level 1, patients access primary care
as their key initial point for disease
management.
At Level 0, population-wide prevention
and self-care is self-organised by
members of the public.

Level 0:
Population-wide Prevention and Self-Care

Below left: today’s situation

Below right: our new model

The situation in real life is more complicated. Care is provided
as planned care and as urgent care, and, in urgent care, there
is often a mismatch between need, setting and provision of
service. People are admitted inappropriately to A&E, or
admitted for a condition which need not have deteriorated to
the point of needing emergency care if it had been proactively
managed earlier. For this reason, a greater than necessary
proportion of activity and cost is in urgent care, with much of
the provision at Level 4 being for conditions which might
better have been treated elsewhere.

In our new model, strengthening of the lower tiers and
greater attention to proactive care management mean that we
can invest to a much greater extent in scheduled care, with a
substantial reduction in inappropriate or unnecessary
emergency attendance and/or admission. Resources expand
for the lower tiers, along with capacity created by our MultiSpecialty Community Providers (Federations), which create a
virtuous spiral, since the cost of interventions is lower and so
more patients can be supported at the most appropriate level.

Urgent Care

Scheduled
Care
Unscheduled
Care

Planned
Care
Elective
Admission
LTC management
Admit
for
surgery
or LTC
management

Exercise

Federated localities
Enhanced primary care
inter practice
referrals / scale

Admit

Case
MDT
Management management
Routine GP
contacts

Emergency
Admission

Emergency
Attendance/
Admission

Self management

Prevention

Crisis support

Urgent GP contacts

Immunisation

Routine
primary care contacts
(skill mixed)

Exercise

GPled
crisis
management
Self-management
with telehealth

Prevention

MDT
Rapid
Access
Risk based
primary care
contact

Immunisation

198
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 30

Benefits of this approach
The key to this approach is that care should be commissioned for the
setting which matches the risk and complexity of the patient’s need.
By creating two settings of care between the primary medical practice
and acute, we now have a range of options for commissioning
appropriate care which are more likely to help a patient maintain or
improve their health without the disruption of a spell in hospital, or
the need to attend the emergency department.
The benefits:

Planned Care
Current Situation
A 49-year-old woman presents with
recurrent bouts of abdominal pain in the
right upper quadrant. The GP suspects
gallstones and requests an abdominal
ultrasound, which is done after nine
weeks. This confirms gallstones and the
patient is referred to general surgery.
After a wait of 13 weeks the patient is
put on a waiting list for laparoscopic
cholecystectomy. In the interim she has
presented on two further occasions with
similar pain to the accident & emergency
unit of the local hospital where she has
brief admissions. She has the operation
six months later. She is discharged,
develops a fever and presents to her GP.
The practice has not received a
discharge summary. Later in the out of
hours period, the patient is admitted
once again to hospital with sepsis.

•

less disruption for the patient

•

care closer to home

•

long term care for long term conditions

•

acute is freed to focus on complex and specialist cases

•

overall cost reduction to the NHS

•

monies are released for further development of services, creating
a virtuous spiral of increasing capacity and decreasing cost.

The New Way
A 49-year-old woman presents with
recurrent bouts of abdominal pain in the
right upper quadrant. She sees her
named GP in her practice and has onsite, same-day liver function tests and an
ultrasound is arranged for the same
week at a local practice that has the
facilities in the federation. This confirms
the diagnosis of gallstones and an email
is sent to her named GP. The patient can
access the results on-line and schedules
a virtual Skype consultation. Her GP
discussed information about providers
and surgeons, the patient elects to
choose her hospital and is directly
booked under a care pathway
arrangement for a laparoscopic
cholecystectomy.
A patient adviser gives support and
information of what to expect and

consent is obtained using shared
decision making. On discharge, a
summary is delivered electronically
within 6 hours copied to the patient. An
after care discharge matron working for
the federated locality arranges a
proactive review. 5 days later the patient
develops a fever and is expertly assessed
at an 8-8 primary care centre run by
local GPs who have full access to all the
records. A simple post-operative UTI is
diagnosed and the patient is easily
managed with a successful outcome.
She automatically receives a text based
questionnaire to determine her
satisfaction and outcomes which is
collected directly by the commissioning
organisation.

199
31 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

5. Enablers
Federated Localities – making general
practice thrive
Our four localities in West Leicestershire have a strong and positive
history of collaborative working. The practices recognised the
opportunity to exploit this, and in 2014 each locality has formed a
legally constituted federation, established as companies limited by
guarantee.
Our practices recognised the local and national challenges facing
them and the impact on the long-term sustainability and viability of
general practice in its current form, particularly with regard to the
pressure to deliver more services despite decreases in funding and the
impact of an ageing population on consulting times and demand.
The federated model enables practices to form, in the first instance,
small-scale flexible alliances that can adapt as the needs of patients
change over time. It retains individual practice autonomy whilst
capitalising on the benefits of working in a federated way:
•

By increasing the opportunity to develop a wider range of
community services whilst making more effective use of resources,
including staff and premises

•

By using their collective strength to enable practices to offer
Commissioners services that cater for larger patient cohorts over a
wider geographical area.

As the federations develop they aspire to progress from being the
coordinator of community services for their given population, to
coordinating and co-delivering services through a contract funding
and employment mechanism. This is currently being tested through
our 7 day services pilots where our federated localities are in effect
employing GPs on a sessional basis to deliver targeted support to
identified patients at weekends across the locality. Ultimately this may
lead to federations becoming a focal point for a wider range of care
needed by their registered population, fully delivering integrated
services as a multi-specialty community provider (MSCP), taking on
the employment and direct management of other services.
The CCG wants federated localities to thrive, and will commit both
managerial and financial resources to support their development.

200
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 32

Better Collaboration and Reducing
Bureaucracy
There is widespread agreement amongst GPs, practice managers and
the CCG that the level of bureaucracy at practice level needs to be
drastically reduced freeing up valuable clinical time in the process.
There is a sense that reducing bureaucracy should be a principle in
everything that is done, “cutting out” administrative tasks that add
little or no value to patient care. There are a number of ways this can
be achieved:
•

Back-office functions could be moved to the federated locality
level in order to reduce the burden on individual practices,
increase efficiency and make practice-work more attractive. This
could include centralisation of administrative processes, HR and
payroll services for member practices, and procurement of primary
care support services such as telephony

•

Streamlining the reporting and audit requirements of local
schemes and payment processes. Currently practices have three
pay masters: the CCG, the NHS England area team, and Local
Authority, all with differing reporting and audit requirements
which need to be rationalised and streamlined.

Key actions (see Section 6 Plan) for this year include scoping of which
functions would generate the greatest benefit if conducted at the
federation level.

Co-commissioning of Primary Medical Care
In the light of newly announced flexibilities, the CCG is seeking to
take onfull delegated responsibility for the General Practice contract
from April 2015. This is currently the responsibility of the Area Teams.
This will give the CCG a more direct role in the commissioning and
contractual arrangements for practices, helping create a joined=up,
clinically-led system that delivers seamless, integrated out-of-hospital
services based around the needs of the local people. Our governing
body considers this an exciting opportunity to improve outcomes for
our patients by providing the system leadership to transform primary
care at scale and at pace. This will enable us to:
•

Improve services and outcomes for our patients

•

Enhance our ability to coordinate and integrate care

•

Give greater opportunity to commission new, more integrated
models of out of hospital care to support “left shift” and improve
patient outcomes

•

Build upon our work to date with our member practices to
support capacity and capability at practice level and thereby

201
33 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

improve quality and reduce unwarranted variation
•

Improve efficiency of current administrative processes, thereby
releasing capacity at practice level

•

Provide greater influence on system enablers (e.g. estates and
workforce development)

•

Provide the potential to deliver better value for money from
existing spend.

Helping Practices Be Attractive Places
to Work
Our workforce
General Practice will not be sustainable or fit for purpose for the next
decade without change and crucially without support to grow its
workforce. A competent and skilled workforce is a key enabler in
implementing the plan to support out of hospital care to the scale
required. We cannot address the current GP shortage in isolation:
increasing the capacity and capability of practice nurses, practice
managers and other health care professionals is crucial if we are to
address the increased demand on primary care.
Workforce planning and modelling assumptions in primary care need
to incorporate new, emerging and more sustainable models of
primary care. We need to develop a primary care workforce which is
fit for purpose now and in the future rather than merely increasing
numbers.
The development of our local workforce will be based on an
assessment of local need, taking into account our new model of
delivery – practices working in federated localities, integrated with
wider primary and community teams.

Primary Care

mixed picture of tendon injury with
some impingement and capsulitis. The
Current Situation
A 56 year old gardener presents with a patient is sent an outpatient
appointment for a further four weeks,
fairly acute onset of pain in his right
when the shoulder is injected. The
shoulder which has started to interfere
patient is then referred to physiotherapy
with his work. Examination of the
shoulder is clearly abnormal but shows a which starts six weeks later. The
shoulder slowly settles and the patient
fairly complex series of findings.
returns to work after a total of six
months absence but the family are
The patient is referred to Orthopaedic
out-patients where he is seen after eight unable to have a holiday that year.
weeks, during which time he is unable
The New Way
to work and the shoulder becomes
The GP rings a local Federation GP with
rather stiffer. The consultant arranges
a special interest (GPWsi) who decides
an ultrasound scan which takes place
he can manage the problem. The
three weeks later. The scan shows a

patient sees the GPWsi who works from
a local practice (not his own) where
there is ultrasound scanning on site.
The scan is done on the same day and
the GPWsi receives the scan report a
couple of days later. He is satisfied that
the shoulder can be injected and the
patient makes an appointment with one
of the four local GPs trained to inject
shoulders. Physiotherapy is carried out in
one of the local practices with provision
in the surgery. The patient loses three
weeks from work and there is relatively
little economic impact on the family.

202
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 34

Developing primary care services that span different professional
perspectives and work across the traditional primary care/secondary
care interface is vital. The findings of our engagement programme to
date indicate that we must:
•

Target the existing primary care workforce to improve recruitment
and retention but equally important to identify new capabilities,
competencies, skills and behaviours required to make an
enhanced primary care offer.

•

Identify new roles/capabilities in new staff groups — There is an
urgent need to focus on alternative professional roles that support
integration, increase capacity and reduce admissions by freeing up
GPs time to manage increasing complexity. Such roles include
primary care physicians’ assistants.

•

Identify roles and competencies currently that sit outside of
primary care that will be required to support the left shift. Such
roles include primary care paramedical staff, community
pharmacists, emergency care practitioners, and specialists roles
such as geriatricians.

•

Actively support undergraduate medical training and GP training
at a federated level to promote our practices as positive places to
work to aid recruitment and retention.

To this end we will work with our federated localities, our
neighbouring CCGs, local universities and Health Education East
Midlands (HEEM) to undertake a workforce survey to identify current
skills and extended skills that could benefit more patients and gaps.

The working environment
The environment in which GPs, practice staff and wider community
teams work needs to change. Currently, many of our surgeries require
investment and expansion and are not designed in a positive or
ergonomic way that encourages wellness to visitors or is attractive
and practical for staff. Furthermore, many primary care premises are
not physically capable of offering the range of services that will need
to be developed to support out of hospital care (see Investment in
Practices, below).

Investment in Practices
It is anticipated that significant additional funding will be required,
both recurrently and non-recurrently, to enable the transformation in
primary care which is planned. The non-recurrent elements of this are
being worked through in further detail but are likely to be broken
down into:

203
35 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Short to medium-term non-recurrent funding
During the period where capacity is increasing in primary care,
additional non-recurrent funding will be required as new services
develop and new staff are trained. This funding will cover the
following categories:
•

Clinical time to deliver new models of care for a ‘double running
period’ whilst other services are stepped down

•

Education and training

•

IM&T improvements and alignment to support development of
hubs

•

Management costs, including legal expertise

•

New equipment.

Broad estimates have been made on the overall level of non-recurrent
funding required to support this shift, on the assumption that the left
shift will require a similar level of support for primary care as in other
care settings.

Practice Infrastructure
Data and information are at the heart of any drive to improve quality
and patient outcomes. Across West Leicestershire there is a need to
align GP systems. Having all practices, community services and urgent
care centres on the same system would enable clear information
sharing and ability to manage patients appropriately first time without
any delay. West Leicestershire CCG estimates that it will cost £500k to
move all practices to one IT system.

Estates
Investment in primary care premises is crucial to the successful
implementation of this plan. Investment is needed both in terms of
bringing existing primary medical facilities up to date, addressing the
growth in the number of new homes and associated population, and
in ensuring there are appropriate facilities to support the wider health
economy transformation. In order to make this a reality where
possible we will explore with our partners options for utilising existing
facilities more effectively. However there is still a clear need for capital
investment in primary medical estate to support primary medical care
to work at a greater scale as outlined in the Better Care Together 5
Year Strategy.
In West Leicestershire it is estimated that £8.5m is required to support
the redevelopment and expansion of practices previously identified in
the 2009 premises audit as requiring improvement. The CCG is
committed to carrying out a review of all practice premises to gain an

204
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 36

up to date understanding which will support the federated localities
in the development of their local improvement plans.
IMPORTANT: The source of funding required is not confirmed. This
will be subject to the acceptance of the Better Care Together Strategic
Outline Case (SOC) and national decisions regarding available funds.
However, the CCG is committed to supporting out of hospital care
and the central role of primary care, and would therefore need to
identify local resource if external funds were unavailable. While this
would impact on the achievable scale of transformation, the strategic
direction would remain.

Using Contractual levers
The CCG will work with our federated localities to ensure that as
work transfers into primary care appropriate controls are put in place
to ensure that transfer of funding occurs alongside. Currently the
Alliance Contract provides one such mechanism, enabling the transfer
of resources for planned care activity into primary care from
secondary care as work is undertaken. Further innovative contractual
forms will need to be developed to support the scale of
transformation required.

S106 monies for premises improvement
There are currently 34 premises improvement schemes identified as
necessary or already in progress. A key mechanism for premises
improvement is S106 monies, where property developers agree to
contribute towards the cost of upgrading health premises in line with
the increased demand expected from their developments. These are
being brokered by the NHS England Local Area Team and the relevant
local authorities.
Monies so far secured, by district council area and relating to the
CCG’s practices, are:
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council
North West Leicestershire District Council
Charnwood Borough Council

£302,000
£752,000
£1,240,000

These monies are held by the relevant local authority, and drawn
down when expenditure against a project is due.
Changes to regulations mean that all requests for Planning
Obligations in future will be judged against the three tests set out in
the NPPF and the CIL regulations. The tests are as follows:
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

205
37 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Feedback from our practices that the current process of accessing
S106 monies is time consuming, bureaucratic and the release of any
funds is lengthy. The CCG is committed to working with our local
authority partners to ensure housing development plans are shared at
an early stage to enable federations and individual practices to
consider the impact on the services they provide and secure any S106
resource that becomes available.

Exploiting Technology
Continuity of care
As patients increasingly receive care from more than one provider
timely communication of relevant information between and within
care providers and with patients and carers is critical. Good
communication and co-ordination is needed, both within and
between professionals, teams, care systems and institutions. General
practice is leading the development of individualised care plans for
patients with multiple long term conditions and frailty. Whilst this is
positive from a patient and carer perspective, enabling them to
manage and understand their disease better, the information
contained within the care plan needs to be readily accessible to all
clinicians treating the patient outside the patient’s own practice.
Through Better Care Together our local health economy is working on
an IT solution that will better support the sharing of information
across health and social care providers within Leicestershire. The Key
benefits of this approach are outlined below:
•

Increased clinical data available within urgent care settings,
community care settings, acute and mental health services

•

Greater patient safety — key clinical data available to clinicians
treating the patient when they need it.

•

Patient Empowerment — patients have a greater say in who has
access to their information

•

Replacing paper-centric processes reliant on faxes, etc., for the
transfer of patient information on both internal and external
organisation bases

•

Reduction in the ad-hoc, unstructured communications and
administration overhead of requesting information between
primary and Secondary Care

•

Empowering Health and Social Care professionals to make the
right decisions for patient care by having rich data available for
that patient.

206
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 38

100
%

Figures: ONS

80

60

Telephone triage

40

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

65 +

Use the internet at least weekly, 2013,
by household.
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0

Skype virtual consultation

Online consultations and use of new technologies

20

0

Test results online

Growth of internet usage among 65+,
individuals

2011 Q1

2012 Q1

2013 Q1

2014 Q1

GP Practices are technologically equipped for a wide range of
potential services, and these have been trialled both locally and
nationally. However, uptake of internet usage is lowest among the
65+ age group, despite a 13% increase over the last four years. In
introducing new technology to patients, we are aware of the ‘early
adopter’ curve, which shows that key groups of people embrace
technology enthusiastically, while other groups are late adopters. For
this reason, we expect to see relatively rapid take-up of telephonebased interventions, such as telephone triage, a slower uptake of
online services, such as receiving test results online, and the slowest
uptake, both by patients and by practices, of virtual consultations
using Skype or other video-conferencing technology.
Uptake of video-conferencing is also subject to availability of superfast broadband. By 2016, it is expected that 96% our patients will be
in super-fast broadband areas. Leicestershire County Council is
currently working to secure further coverage.

Fast broadband
availability by
spring 2016

Listening to and increasing the
participation of patients
Local communities across the West Leicestershire Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) area need to understand the rationale
for change outlined in the Primary Medical Care Plan for West
Leicestershire; why practices working collaboratively and being
federated will help local communities improve their healthcare – and
how the community needs to change the way it engages with and
uses general practice to contribute to sustainability.
We have ensured during the production of the Primary Medical Care
Plan that we engaged with GPs, practice managers, administrative
staff, practice nurses, Patient Participation Group (PPG) members and
other local partners. We also engaged the community in a
conversation about primary care in March 2014, and more recently,
through the Experience Led Commissioning (ELC) approach, which
the CCG has adopted to co-design change in communities, in
developing a case for change in Hinckley. However, more work must
be done in understanding how to involve the wider community and
service users.
We need to build on existing community assets, agreeing a shared
purpose and common values so that we can co-producte improved
outcomes with people and families who use primary care.

207
39 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

By taking this approach from the start we will maximise our chances
of the community supporting change now and in the future, even
where decisions might be controversial.
For West Leicestershire, we already have an archive of insights into
what matters to people. By supporting a cohort of people to
understand how to apply these insights, member practices and the
CCG can ensure that the patient voice impacts on the development
and delivery of primary care services and that what we know matters
to people resonates through everything we do. This will also provide
the challenge needed before plans are implemented.
This group of community champions could also provide additional
capacity supporting practices to engage the community, also using an
Experienced Led Commissioning approach to gather further insights.

Benefits of this approach
•

Build a group of ‘community leaders with lived experiences’ to
work with those leading federations and other change developers
to ensure that federations in West Leicestershire have a relentless
focus on building person-centred primary care services that
respond to what people and families tell us matter

•

Act as champions for change and lead engagement and
communication with local people to explain the rationale for a
new way of delivering primary care

•

Act as group to test thinking and ideas for service development

•

Create community experts in community experience who can use
West Leicestershire’s insights and advocate change that aligns
with what matters to local people

•

Build capability and capacity so that community leaders can
contribute to delivery and facilitation of the co-design element of
future Experience Led Commissioning programmes, often
reaching out to hard to reach communities

•

Act as vehicle to transmit messages to friends, family, colleagues,
neighbours and their wider communities and raise awareness.

Improving Quality and Patient
Outcomes by Integrated Working
The CCG strongly believes that the formation of federations of
practices will make it easier to align the work of health and social care
teams to the needs of the population they serve. Ian Sturgess, in his
October 2014 review of the urgent care system across Leicestershire,
Leicester and Rutland stated that, ”The development of skill mix
within this much expanded team of GPs, practice nurses, specialist
nurses, planned and unplanned teams and social care teams has the

208
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 40

potential to extend the capacity of the local system to manage the
streams of patients presenting to primary care as well as the
opportunity for coordinated health promotion and prevention.”
General practice is well positioned to take a population health
approach because the registered GP list provides GPs with a stable
cohort of patients who live in a defined geographical area, both at
individual practice and locality level. Equally important, GPs and their
teams are an integral part of their local communities and use this
knowledge to access and develop local services that meet the needs
of their patents.
We will support our four federated localities to lead the integration of
teams at local level and the development of services that support the
avoidance of admissions to, and facilitate early discharge from,
secondary care.

Investing in integrated working
A key component of the CCG operational plan has been to secure
investment in local integrated services. To date we have developed
and commissioned community teams through our Proactive Care
approach that work alongside our practices at locality level. Through
the Better Care fund we want to transform and improve the
integration of local health and care services. The first draft submission
of the BCF plan was approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board in
February 2014. The four central themes of the BCF are as follows:
•

Unified Prevention Offer for Leicestershire’s Communities

•

Integrated, Proactive Care for those with Long Term Conditions

•

Integrated Urgent Response

•

Hospital Discharge and Reablement

The Better Care Fund mechanism manages monies from the baselines
of each CCG, and leverages a further £4 million direct financial
benefit to West Leicestershire as a result of integration. This funding is
directly supporting access to seven-day primary and community
services across our localities.
Elderly Care
The current situation
A 92 year old lady lives alone in her
terraced house in Loughborough. Her
children live away and she suffers from a
multitude of chronic conditions
including, anxiety and depression with
all over body pain, recurrent bouts of
undiagnosed (but fully investigated)
illness. Over the last year, despite having
hand held records which never seem to
be adequately updated, she has had
multiple admissions to UHL for various

pains and for which she calls 999 in the
early hours.
The New Way
The 92 year old lady is a lot less isolated
as she has regular visits from the local
befriending service. She has a regular
appointment with her Primary Care
Nurse who is able to advise and reassure
her on her long term conditions and is
also able to visit as necessary (District
and GP nurses have been amalgamated
into Primary care nurses and are based
in Practice where they are part of the

Primary Health Care Team which
includes a Federation employed social
worker).The patient has a care plan
detailing her treatment regime.
Technology improvements mean that
Emergency Care Practioners, Out of
hours Doctors and the ambulance
service can access her care plan, GP and
hospital notes immediately. They are also
able to contact geriatricians for Skype
advice, preventing recurrent admissions.

209
41 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

6. Plan
Code Name

1

Federations
making general
practice thrive

1.1

Governance

1.2

1.3

1.4

Resources

2

Better
collaboration
and reducing
bureacracy

2.1

Collaboration

2.2

Description

Measurable Result

Start

Finish

Oct14

Apr-15 Legal CCG
cost tbc

Dec14

Apr-15 n/a

CCG/
Federated
Localities

OctReview the current engagement More effective
14
processes with practices to reflect engagement with
localities and Federations
the role of federated localities

Apr-15 n/a

CCG/
Federated
Localities

CCG to identify resources to
support the development of
Federations.

Jan-15 see re- CCG
sources
chapter

CCG to review constitution with CCG Board Structures
particular reference to
revised in line with
governance and internal
development of
structures to reflect the impact of federations and co
federated localities and the
commissioning
accountability for the
commissioning of general
practice.
Develop a concordat between the Concordat agreed and
CCG and Federated localities to formally approved by the
outline respective roles,
CCG Board and Federated
accoutabilities and responsibilities Locality Boards

Agreed plan to support
development of
Federations

Federated localities to develop a Identified priorities with
strategic plan and supporting
reinvestment of resource
business case to identify actions in primary medical care
to share skills/expertise and back
office functions to improve
efficiency and effectiveness.

Oct14

Cost

Jun-15 Mar-15 tbc

Establish task group to review the Revised Q QIPP proposal DecQuality QIPP programme and
agreed by CCG Board and 14
develop commissioning intentions implemented from April
to allocate the spend to
2015
federated localities.

Who is
responsible

Federated
Localities

Mar-15 £1.7m CCG

210
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 42

Code Name

2.3

Co commissioning

3

Helping
practices to be
attractive places
to work

3.1

3.2

Description
Federated localities to develop
proposals and supporting
business case to access QIPP
investment.

Who is
responsible
Measurable Result
Start Finish Cost
Business cases produced Dec- Feb-15 as
Federated
and approved by the CCG 13
above Localities
Board

Streamline the reporting and
Agreed reporting and
audit requirements of local
audit requirements
schemes and payment processes. developed and
implemented

Jan-15 Jun-15 n/a

CCG/ NHS
England/Local
Authority

Explore oportunities offered by
co-commissioning to reduce
bureaucracy and improve
outcome through local QOF,
review of direct and community
based services.

Jan-15 Apr-16 tbc

CCG/ NHS
England/Local
Authority

Improved outcomes and
reduction in bureacracy

CCG and AT to agree scope, roles Agreed structure and
Dec-14Apr-15 tbc
and responsibilities for cogovernance for phased
commissioning of primary care
implementation of coand the transfer of AT resources commissioning of primary
to the CCG.
care

CCG / NHS
England

Workforce
development

To commission and complete a
workforce audit to identify
current and future workforce
requirements and inform the
development of CCG / federated
localities workforce plans.

Jan-14 Apr-15 tbc

Localities/
HEEM

Skill enhancement

To develop and implement local Co-ordinate support,
Jul-15 Mar-16 tbc
workforce plans targetting,
training and investment
locality medical student teaching across localities in WLCCG.
programmes, salaried GP, practice
manager nurse / HCA
development programmes.

CCG /
Localities,
HEEM

Local workforce gaps
identified and used to
inform training
programme

211
43 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Code Name
3.3

4

Investment in
practices

4.1

Premises Strategy

4.2

Premises investment

5

Exploiting
technology

Description
To develop skill mix and
multidisciplinary working within
practices and across the locality

Measurable Result
Start Finish Cost
Improved skill mix to
Sep-15 Mar-17 TBC
support development of
new services and existing
services delivered in a
different way

Commission a primary medical
Identified investment
care premises audit to inform the priorities
development of CCG and locality
based premises strategy.

Jan-15 Aug-15 25k

Alignment of all practices and
community services onto one IT
system

Improved integrated and Apr-16 Mar-19 500k
collaborative working at
both practice and locality
level and reduced
administration associated
with monitoring.

Work with Local Authority
partners to increase awareness of
and access to S106 monies to
support practice developments.

Process for accessing S106 Jun-15 Mar-16 n/a
funds improved and
increased funding secured
by practices.

Secure capital funding and
notional rent to implement
primary medical care premises
strategy

Investment plan agreed

Who is
responsible
CCG/Federat
ed localities

CCG

CCG

CCG/
Federated
localities/
Local
Authority
Apr-15 Mar-19 9.25 m CCG/ NHS
England

5.1

Nov-14Mar-16 60k per CCG /
Support the further development Improved adherence to
annum Federations
and implementation of PRISM in agreed pathways and
all practices
greater awareness of out
of hospital services
through directory of
services

5.2

Implement the agreed IT solution Initially care plans and
Dec-14Apr-16 BCT
CCG /
for sharing information
then wider patient
funded Federations/
particularly for care plans across information shared across
BCT
health and social care providers to organisations to ensure
improve the continuity of patient continuity and safety of
care
care.

212
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 44

Code Name
5.3

Description
Explore and agree plan to use
new technology to improve on
line and virtual consultations

Measurable Result
Start Finish Cost
Agreed plan in place to
Apr-15 Mar-17 150k
increase use of technology
to support care closer to
home.

6

Listening to
and increasing
participation of
patients

6.1

Jan-15 Nov-15 TBC
Co-designing Services To support each federated locality Community champions
identified and trained from
to broker a new conversation
between people who use services each locality.
and those who provide them, by Communication and
developing and implementing a Engagment strategy
communications and engagement developed, approved and
strategy that helps to recruit and implemented.
mobilise a representative army of
people who are ready and willing
to work with them to improve
services.

6.2

Develop a set of agreed
expectations between our
patients, carers, stakeholders and
our practices.

Apr-15 Sep-15

Who is
responsible
CCG, GEM,
Federations

CCG/
Federated
Localities/PPG

CCG/
Federated
Localities/PPG

7

Improving
quality and
patient
outcomes by
integrated
working

7.1

Care Closer to Home. Identify opportunities at locality Agreed locality approach Apr-15 annual see re- CCG, NHS
level to develop out of hospital
review sources England,
services exploiting locality
chapter Federations
premises and skills to support care
closer to home.

7.2

Through collaborative working
with community, social care and
voluntary sector colleagues
further develop the integrated
team approach to patient care
within each federated locality.

Agreed locality approach Apr-15 annual see re- CCG, NHS
with new community
review sources England,
based services in place
chapter Federations

213
45 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

7. Resources
At a time when the CCG and wider health economy is facing
enormous financial challenges our Primary Medical Care Plan
needs to be both realistic and clear about the level of resource
available and where funds may come from.
It is important to recognise that the level of system change required to
implement the plan will require funding, but that new resources in
order to do this will be substantially limited. Potentially greater
opportunities for resources to support the change required will come
from non-recurrent (one off) sources of funding and from redirecting
resources from other areas of spend rather than recurrent additional
investment. Equally important will be the ability to use existing
resources to work differently and more efficiently and to ensure that
any freed up resources are redirected/ reinvested into patient care.
Our Primary Medical Care Plan is an integral component of the Better
Care Together (BCT) 5 Year Strategy and sets out how the system
change required will be achieved. The partners engaged in BCT have
developed a Strategic Outline Case (SOC) to appraise whether the
BCT programme is the best way of addressing the local case for
change. In assessing the programme against a range of critical success
factors it finds that the path laid out in the five year strategy is the
only viable way of achieving clinical and financial sustainability in LLR.
The SOC makes the case for the external funding that will be
collectively required through the transition period from 2014/152018/19. The SOC includes non-recurrent capital and revenue
investment for primary medical care but as previously stated this
funding has not been confirmed and is subject to national decisions
regarding available funds.

Capital Support Assumptions
Investment is needed both in terms of bringing existing primary
medical facilities up to date, addressing the growth in the number of
new homes and associated population, and in ensuring there are
appropriate facilities to support the wider health economy
transformation. In order to make this a reality we will explore where
possible with our partners options for utilising existing facilities more
effectively. However there is still a clear need for capital investment in
primary medical estate to support our ambitions.
In West Leicestershire it is estimated that £9.25m is required to both
update and expand a number of high risk premises and to utilise
existing estate better. Funding requested reflects the findings of
previous primary care estates surveys together with more recent local
knowledge of the requirements in each locality.

214
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 46

Capital Investment Requested as part of Better Care Together
Strategic Outline Case
2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

£k

£k

£k

£k

249

749

749

749

203

610

610

610

North West
Leicestershire

222

666

666

666

Hinckley and
Bosworth

249

749

749

749

North
Charnwood
South
Charnwood

Non Recurrent Revenue Support Assumptions
Our CCG is aiming to increase recurrent spend in primary care services
over the next 4 years as part of the move to increase out of hospital
capacity and treat more people in their communities and homes.
During the initial period where capacity is increasing in primary care,
additional non-recurrent funding will be required as new services
develop and new staff are trained. This funding will cover the
following categories:
•

Education and training

•

IM&T improvements and alignment to support development of
hubs

•

Management costs, including legal

•

New equipment

•

Clinical care costs during a period of “double running” where
new services are set up before resources are withdrawn from
existing services.

Non Recurrent Investment Requested as part of Better Care
Together Strategic Outline Case
2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

£k

£k

£k

£k

200

200

-

-

Premises Audit £25
IM&T (GPSoC)

-

100

IM&T Virtual
Consultations

75

75

Managerial &
Clinical
Leadership

450

450

Primary Medical
Care Double
Running Costs

215
47 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

£k

£k

£k

£k

(including
education and
training)
450

700

400

400

Double Running
Costs Integrated
Community
Services

675

400

400

Better Care Together Primary Medical Care
Phasing of Transformation
An increase in recurrent expenditure is expected to take place during
2016/17 and 2017/18, with a period of double running in 2015/16
and 2016/17 to support expansion during the phase when new
services are being set up. The recurrent increases in funding will need
to be sourced through a reduction in activity and cost taking place in
other settings of care. The table below sets out the time lines that
support the areas where transitional (non-recurrent) funding is
required.

OMNQLNR=

OMNRLNS=

bëí~íÉ=~ìÇáí=

OMNSLNT=

OMNTLNU=

OMNULNV=

bëí~íÉë=L=fjCq=ÇÉîÉäçéãÉåí=ïçêâ=

j~å~ÖÉêá~ä=C=`äáåáÅ~ä=
iÉ~ÇÉêëÜáé=

mêáã~êó==jÉÇáÅ~ä=`~êÉ=açìÄäÉ=êìååáåÖ=éÉêáçÇ=

kÉï=Åçåíê~ÅíáåÖ=
ãçÇÉäë=

açìÄäÉ=êìååáåÖ=Åçëíë=áåíÉÖê~íÉÇ=
Åçããìåáíó=Ä~ëÉÇ=ëÉêîáÅÉë=

Continuation of CCG Investment
The CCG currently invests in primary medical care through a range of
initiatives including £5 per head of population £1.7m Quality QIPP,
Community Based Services £2.8m, seven day services £500k and
Acute Visiting Service £533k. We are committed to continuing to
invest in these areas and we will seek to utilise this funding to
continue the implementation of the primary medical plan.
As outlined previously, the CCG is seeking to take full delegated

216
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 48

responsibility for the co-commissioning of primary medical care from
April 2015. This will present further opportunities to use resources
differently to support the implementation of the primary medical care
plan and will require the development of a comprehensive financial
investment and savings plan. The absence of a clear long term
financial plan (for recurrent expenditure) at this point is a clear
omission which will need to be resolved as the co-commissioning
agenda progresses and the CCG is able to take ownership of Primary
Care budgets from the NHS England area team in their entirety.

Improving the efficiency of Primary Medical Care
Within our plan we have identified the need to use existing resources
to work differently and more efficiently and to ensure that any freed
up or new resources are redirected/ reinvested into patient care.
Although more work is required in this area we think that significant
clinical time could be saved through better organisation and a
redesign of the general practice model:
•

It may be possible to stop up to 10% of GP contacts by
organising better and improving access to other health
professionals, allowing GPs to focus their time on those patients
who need them the most.

•

A significantly greater number of patients could be empowered to
self-care by an increasing focus on well-being and prevention.

•

The model of funding and delivering primary care is complex with
Core, DES, Local investment and Community-Based services all
paying for elements of the service provided. Any changes will
enable simplification and scale, reducing duplication and nonclinical staffing requirements. This will create an opportunity for
re-investment into new or differently skilled clinical staff to
support the practices / federated localities.

•

The new model will require a broader range of clinical skills both
within general practice and in the ancillary services. Within
general practice there will need to be more highly trained nurses
and GPs with broader skills for both scheduled and unscheduled
care. This will potentially require new investment alongside the
reinvestment of any efficiencies.

•

Delivering the same GP system across all practices, community
services and urgent care centres across the CCG will enable clear
information sharing and ability to manage patients appropriately
first time without any delay.

217
49 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Criteria for Investment decisions
In further developing the financial elements of the primary care plan
the following criteria for investment will be used to ensure value for
money and improved patient outcomes.
1

Investments will be made to support Primary Care to realise
efficiencies for reinvestment.
E.g. investment to support the work required to move to sharing some
functions across practices, given that this will in turn release some
efficiency for reinvestment.

2

Investments will need to recognise efficiencies generated in primary
medical care.
This links into the point above – efficiencies generated should be shown
explicitly within any investment plans to ensure that the full scale of
investment can contribute towards improved patient care.

3

Investments will support more efficient models of care for patients
(and therefore the CCG)
It may be easier to find resources to support investments which contribute
to delivery of CCG QIPP savings targets.

4

Investments will be made into more effective clinical models of care.
This means that investments should not be made which do not have a clear
beneficial impact on patient care.

5

Investments made into community services/primary care should be
integrated to achieve maximum benefits
This means that it will be important to consider primary care and other
community investments collectively and ensure they are joined up and
considered as one.

6

Investments will include reinvestment of efficiency savings into
service provision
We will need to recognise the efficiency being generated by primary care
and how that is increasing value for money and service provision.

7

Investment decisions will be made with reference to alignment with
other parts of the system strategy and patient needs
E.g. JSNA, CCG Goals, Better Care Together Strategic Direction, etc.

8

Investments will need to demonstrate Value for Money
As all CCG investments.

9

Investments will be subject to overall CCG affordability
Emphasises the limitations of our ability to invest based solely on the above
criteria. The key to maximising investments within primary care (like any
other area) will be based on the CCG’s ability to deliver significant
efficiencies each year.

It will be important to ensure that these criteria are used;
(a) As a basis for making investments into Primary Care where
required, which can be evidenced when set against other
organisational priorities.
(b) For some protection for the CCG Board in making the decisions
from any (perceived or real) conflicts of interests.

218
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 50

219
51 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

8. Governance
West Leicestershire CCG
West Leicestershire CCG has robust systems of governance in
place, with three sub-groups and two formal committees
supporting the Board’s work, and regular development
sessions to ensure that the CCG continues to improve its
corporate life.
WLCCG Board

Finance
sub-group

Planning and
Delivery
sub-group

Board
Development
Sessions

Quality and
Performance
sub-group

Remuneration
committee

Primary Care
Contract
sub Group

Primary
Medical Care
Implementation
Group

The Board has in place robust decision making arrangements to
enable it to establish and implement joint strategies with the other
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs, via the Commissioning
Collaborative Board, and to manage any conflicts of interest which
may arise.
To support and drive the implementation of the plan the CCG will
establish a Primary Medical Care Plan (PMCP) Implementation Group.
The group will be a sub-group and report on progress directly to the
Planning and Delivery Board sub-committee.
Terms of reference have been agreed and members of the task group
that have supported the initial development of this plan will form its
core membership. This will enable each locality and federation to be
represented together with lay, LMC, public health and Area Team
involvement. The CCG will provide managerial support with the Chief
Operating Officer acting as the SRO supported by colleagues from
Operations and Delivery, Finance, Quality and Communications.
The PMCP Implementation Group will be responsible for:
•

Establishing a framework to provide direction, scope and
oversight of the programme

•

Ensuring expert clinical advice and stakeholder engagement

•

Providing challenge, and coordination of initiatives

•

Performance managing delivery through the project task groups.

Audit
committee

220
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 52

Monitoring, Evaluation, Improvements
The implementation programme will be underpinned by a robust
performance and governance process, through the established
Programme Management Office (PMO). Through the PMO the CCG
has well established processes including Business Case Development,
Project Initiation Documentation, performance management
dashboards and risk registers, all of which will support effective
programme delivery.
In order to ensure effective monitoring of the programme and any
individual task groups that are established a clear reporting
methodology will be instigated enabling a monthly progress report to
be provided to the Planning and Delivery Group for review. This report
will be an exception report, RAG rated and will detail missed
milestones or deliverables together with requests to review the scope
of the programme/task groups if required.
Elements of the plan will be implemented in a phased way, in order to
deliver quality benefits as soon as possible. The implementation is
planned in five phases:
•

Phase 1: July 2014 – October 2014. The initial phase has
supported the development of the draft plan informed by
members, partners and local stakeholders.

•

Phase 2: October 2014 – December 2014. The second phase
allows us to engage more widely with stakeholders and to further
develop the plan.

•

Phase 3: January 2015 – March 2015. This phase will enable the
implementation group to be formally established, supporting
programme management structures to be put in place. Markers of
success are to be agreed.

•

Phase 4: April 2015 – March 2017. This phase will commence
tangible change programmes laying the foundations for
realisation of the plan.

•

Phase 5: April 2015 – March 2019. This phase will consolidate
and embed change programmes into main stream activity.

Transformed primary medical care will demonstrate a number of
markers of success which will be quantifiable and perceptible to
patients — performance trajectories and projected improvements in
performance as a result of this transformational programme will be
agreed and established in phase one of the programme.

221
53 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

Federated Localities, Co-Commissioning, and Management of
Conflict of Interest
We recognise the importance in making decisions about the services
we commission in a way that does not call into question the motives
behind which the decisions have been made. Our Constitution sets
out how conflicts of interest are to be managed so that we
commission services in a manner that is open, transparent, nondiscriminatory and fair to all potential providers.
In recent governing body meetings it has become increasingly
apparent that our Board GPs, through their practices’ membership of
the four legally constituted locality federated localities, are likely at
times to be conflicted when conducting particular aspects of the
business of the CCG, particularly in respect of procurement and
award of contract decisions.
Furthermore co-commissioning, where the CCG will assume greater
responsibility and accountability for the commissioning of primary
medical care, reinforces the need to review our governance
arrangements to ensure they remain fit for purpose.

Urgent Care
Current Situation
An 87 year old lady with a history of
hypertension and mild depression suffers
from episodes of mild confusion but
manages to live alone with the help of
friendly neighbours. Following a viral
urinary tract infection she develops a
productive cough, becomes a little more
confused and trips and falls injuring her
right wrist.
The visiting GP finds some signs of chest
infection and in view of the wrist injury
sends the patient to A&E. At A&E the
wrist X-ray does not show a fracture,
although the patient is unable to use her

wrist fully. Chest X-ray shows a little
hazy shadowing and electrolytes a
degree of hyponatremia. In view of the
combination of problems, the patient is
admitted. Following admission the new
surroundings increase the degree of
confusion to the extent that the patient
is eventually discharged to temporary
nursing home placement. This change
again increases the degree of confusion
and she becomes permanently placed in
the home.
The New Way
The GP uses the local Urgent Care
Centre/X-ray pathway to send the
patient to X-ray with the X-rays
reviewed in the Urgent Care Centre. The

test show the hyponatremia. The Urgent
Care Centre immobilises the wrist, and
in view of the hyponatremia and
confusion seeks advice from the Frail
Older Persons Unit up the corridor. The
consultant there stops the citalopram
and bendroflumethiazide.
Arrangements are made to discharge
the patient with the overnight sitting
service and follow up with the intensive
nurse support. The patient responds to
antibiotics and changes in medication
while remaining in her own home.
Longer term management includes the
production of a care plan which includes
social support from voluntary services.

222
2.0 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 54

Risks
Currently identified risks to the plan are set out below. These risks are
being actively managed, and will be monitored through the
governance processes above.

5 Catastrophic

Failure to
sufficiently engage
patients with selfmanagement

4
Major

Lack of resources to
support out of
hospital care and
the implementation
of the plan
Lack of clarity with
regard to the cocommissioning
responsibilities and
accountabilities of
the CCG and AT
Lack of ownership
by practices of the
need to change
Lack of robust
processes to
manage conflicts of
interest – including
reviewing the
constitution of the
CCG

3
Moderate

Federations
developing at
different rates in
each locality with
varying degrees of
engagement from
their member
practices and
leadership

2
Minor
1
Negligible

Impact /
Likelihood

1
Rare

2
Unlikely

3
Possible

4
Likely

5
Almost Certain

223
55 | Primary Medical Care Plan West Leicestershire | 2.0

9. Conclusion
The Primary Medical Care Plan has two underlying tenets:
sustainability, and transformation.
In the ‘Case for Change’, we set out the issues facing the CCG: our
health economy is facing a deficit of 21% within 5 years, General
Practice is already working at capacity and cannot in its current form
accommodate a ‘left-shift’ from the acute sector to increase out-ofhospital care, population is rising, with over 65s a particularly fast
rising group, and, despite overall reductions in ill-health, demand for
services continues to grow.
It is always tempting to address the problem of the deficit head-on,
taking whatever action is necessary to manage it. However, this
merely throws the problem onwards by five years. We cannot
accurately predict the future, but we can be confident that the future
will see more disruptive change, new patterns of need and access, a
changing demographic and new pharmaceutical and technological
approaches to currently intractable conditions.
We have therefore pursued a ‘virtuous spiral’ approach. Resources
released by moving care from acute will be re-invested, expertise
developed in implementing the plan will be reapplied, the governance
structures we are creating will be agile to identify changing aspiration
and need at an early stage, and the organisational momentum will
make further change easier to instigate and manage.
This is the reason why we conducted an engagement process with
clinicians, stakeholders, patients and partners, and why its seven
outputs have played a key role in forming this plan. In setting out to
meet these aspirations, and in clearly setting our ambition for Primary
Medical Care in five years time, we have designed our system-change
around a ‘best health system’ approach, rather than ‘cover the deficit
at all costs’.
Our measurable results will be in terms of monies saved, clinical
standards met, quantity of care delivered and meeting the
requirements placed on us by other partners. However, the less
tangible rewards are likely to have far more impact. We expect
General Practice in West Leicestershire to become steadily more
attractive to medical students and to clinicians relocating from
elsewhere. Practices will become desirable places of work, known for
their community atmosphere, common goals and shared values.
Patients will feel substantially more confident of their ability to
manage their own conditions, more knowledgeable about how to
access care appropriately, and more certain that the care programme
they receive is designed around their lives, rather than vice versa.

224

This page is intentionally left blank

225

Agenda Item 11

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20 NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF THE PROGRAMME DIRECTOR FOR HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
UPDATE ON TRANSFORMATION CHALLENGE AWARD (TCA) FUNDING BIDS
Introduction
1. This report provides an update to the Health and Wellbeing Board on the progress
of two local Transformation Challenge Award (TCA) bids submitted for the 2015/16
tranche of funding. The bids are targeted to improving integration of health and
care and supporting the shift of activity into prevention in community settings.
2. Further information about the awards and application process/criteria can be found
at this weblink:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transformation-challenge-award-andcapital-receipt-flexibility-2014-to-2016-prospectus
Current Situation
3. Bids that were successful at expression of interest stage nationally were invited to
put forward their proposals by 1 October 2014 on the template provided. A cost
benefit analysis tool and access to analyst advice was also provided nationally.
•

The first submission is for the “Lightbulb Project” (integrated housing offer). The
bid is seeking £1m to create a new integrated offer across County and District
Councils targeted to health, wellbeing and independence.

•

The second submission is for the “Can Do Communities” project which is
seeking £766,000 for community capacity building to support children and
families, with early help targeted to health and wellbeing improvements and
reducing inequalities.

Project Governance and Progress to Date
Lightbulb Project
4. The Lightbulb Project Group is already established and has worked on the proposal
thus far. The project group reports via the Unified Prevention Board into the
Integration Executive.
5. In terms of progress to date, an early piece of customer insight work has been
completed, and a project manager is in the process of being recruited as per the
BCF funding allocation for the project for this financial year.
6. A multiagency workshop took place on 6 November 2014 to develop a detailed
implementation plan comprising a number of workstreams including, for example,
addressing the complex legal and governance matters spanning the eight local

226
authorities involved in this work and the approach to data, evaluation and
measuring social return on investment.
“Can Do Communities” Project
7. Reflecting the focus of the bid, community governance is an integral element of this
project. If successful, the well established parent forums that support the Children’s
Centre programme, will be adapted and developed to advise and support local
project delivery.
8. As with other early intervention projects, if successful the Can Do Communities
project could also report via the Unified Prevention Board into the Integration
Executive ensuring good links with other projectssuch as Lightbulb and Local Area
Coordination.
9. A project delivery plan will be developed following approval notification, closely
followed by the performance and evaluation framework and the communications
and marketing strategy.
10. Recruitment of project staff and the Community Connectors will take place during
March/April 2015, followed by the development and ongoing delivery of the training
and induction programme.
Next Steps and Timescales
11. The outcome of the funding award assessment is expected in late-November/early
December.
12. Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be advised on the outcome of
these bids.
13. If the bids are not successful, or receive less than the requested allocation, the
Integration Executive will consider alternative ways to support the delivery of these
projects.
Recommendations
14. That the submission of the two applications made for national transformation
funding in support of improving integration of health and care in Leicestershire be
noted.
Officers to contact:
Lightbulb:
Danny.myers@leics.gov.uk
Interim Team Leader, Policy & Partnerships
Strategy, Partnerships & Communities
Leicestershire County Council
Tel: 0116 3055501

Can Do Communities:
Moira.O’Hagan@leics.gov.uk
Head of Strategy, Targeted Early Help

227
Children & Family Services
Leicestershire County Council
Tel: 0116 3055233

228

This page is intentionally left blank

229

Agenda Item 12

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20 NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
2013/14 LEICESTERSHIRE CANCER AUDIT
Purpose of Report
1. The purpose of this report is to highlight the results and lessons from the 2013/14
Leicestershire GP cancer audit.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2. One of the key priorities in the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-16 is
to ‘reduce the number of people who die prematurely from cancer’
3.

The HWBS pledges that we will:
•
•

•

Monitor and influence cancer outcomes across the entire cancer pathway from
primary prevention to end of life care.
Ensure that resources are targeted proportionally (i) across the whole cancer
pathway and (ii) in areas of greatest need and particularly in our most vulnerable
populations.
Facilitate, promote and increase public awareness of cancer symptoms and ensure
timely onward referral for people identified as potentially having cancer.

Background
4. In 2013/14 local primary care trusts carried out a GP cancer audit across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland (appendix A). The audit’s remit was to identify causes of
avoidable delays in cancer diagnosis at a local level and to produce recommendations to
address such delays. The final report from this audit was published in March 2014 and is
the subject of this paper.
5. Cancer causes two fifths of all premature deaths (deaths under 75 years), making it the
most common cause of premature mortality in England.i Approximately one person in
three develops cancer at some point during their life and more than one in four people
dies from cancer.
6. Overall cancer services have improved for everyone in recent years. However the
progress made in achieving better cancer outcomes has been uneven. We know that
inequalities between different groups of people persist in relation to incidence, access to
services and treatment, patient experience and outcomesii.
7. Between 1993-95 and 2007-09, premature mortality rates from cancer in Leicestershire
County and Rutland fell from 132 per 100,000 population to 99 deaths per 100,000

230
population. However the rates of premature cancer deaths have not decreased to the
same extent as heart disease.iii
8. For many of the more common cancers, England has poorer survival rates than in
comparable developed countriesiv. A major cause of our lower survival rates is later
diagnosis i.e. due to people being diagnosed with cancer when their tumour is at a stage
when life-saving (e.g. surgical) treatment will not contain its impact and spread. This
delay in diagnosis can happen at a number of points and for a number of reasons
including significant variation in public awareness of cancer symptoms and inequalities in
referral rates for suspected cancer cases.
9. There is a need for greater focus on earlier diagnosis of cancer through:
• Raising awareness of several cancer warning signs and risk factors, especially in
more deprived and in certain ethnic groups in the UK, to facilitate improvements in
early presentation and cancer prevention behaviours
• Addressing barriers to seeking help, such as fear and lack of confidence to discuss
symptoms with GPs
• Ensuring that primary care is responsive when patients present with signs and
symptoms suggestive of possible cancer
• Increasing awareness of and uptake of National Cancer Screening Programmes
National initiatives to diagnose cancer earlier:
10. The National Awareness Early Diagnosis Initiative (NAEDI) was launched in 2008 to
better understand and address reasons for late diagnosis in England. Primary care has a
key role to play in the diagnosis of cancer as over 90% of all patient contacts with health
care in the UK occur in this setting. The NAEDI work programme produced a national
audit of cancer diagnosis in primary care in 2009/10 covering 18,879 cancer patients
registered with 1,170 practicesv. The audit helped develop criteria for best practice, in
order to improve future cancer outcomes, by generating insights into the diagnostic
pathway.
Local initiatives to diagnose cancer earlier:
11. In 2012/13 local primary care trusts agreed to fund a repeat of the NAEDI GP cancer
audit across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The final report from this repeat audit
was published in March 2014 and is the subject of this paper. This report details the
results for newly diagnosed cancer patients registered with GPs in the three
Leicestershire CCGs (Leicester City, West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and
Rutland).The findings have been shared with GP localities across the county.
12. This report focuses on aspects of the audit data at GP locality level to help CCGs and
partners identify any future actions that should be taken to improve the early diagnosis of
cancer at a more local level. The audit also helped to assess the extent to which there
had been improvements in the early diagnosis of cancer across key stages of the
diagnostic pathway.
Key Findings of the local GP cancer audit (2013/14):
13. Across Leicestershire, 36.1% of practices participated in the 2013/14 audit. In total 1,377
patients records were examined (compared to 1,702 in 2009/10).

231

14. The over 70s age group accounted for approximately 50% of all new cancer diagnoses.
The mean age at diagnosis for all Leicestershire cancer patients was 68 years old.
15. The four most common cancers across LLR were breast, colorectal, lung and prostate
cancers, with breast cancer being the common cancer for all CCGs accounting for
approximately 15% of all cancers. These findings are in line with national trends.
Cancer Stage at Diagnosis
16. Across Leicestershire, 44% of cancers identified by the audit were spread beyond the
primary organ.
Avoidable delays:
17. From the total number of 1,377 patients GPs identified that there was clear evidence of
‘avoidable’ delay in 211 cases. In a further 160 cases GPs indicated that they were
unsure as to whether there had been a delay which could have been avoided.
Therefore, GPs considered that 15.3% of all cancer patients included in the audit had
experienced some type of avoidable delay in their diagnosis.
18. Levels of delay varied depending on cancer type e.g. 33% in sarcoma cases, 30% of
colorectal cases, 100% of thyroid cases, and in 50% of cases of gallbladder and cancers
and cancers of unknown primary. Other cancers more likely to present late included
vulval, mesothelioma, ovarian and pancreatic cancers.
Causes of avoidable delays:
19. The results for the three Leicestershire CCGs included:
• Patient factors – e.g. delayed presentation, not attending for tests/appointments
• GP factors – e.g. delay in making referrals or following up urgent referrals
• Secondary Care factors – e.g. delay in finding an appointment slot, failing to follow
up patients previously seen etc
• No clear reason for delay
• Incidental finding.
Patient factors:
20. Common reasons related to patient delay in presentation to the GP and patients delaying
or failing to attend appointments. Other reasons involved the patient refusing referral or
further investigations.
GP factors:
21. Most of the reasons given for delay in this group suggested that the GP could have
made the referral sooner or could have made a 2-week wait referral. In a few cases it
was suggested that the GP could have ordered a test or performed a more detailed
examination. In a couple of cases a referral was made, but rejected by secondary care
because, for example, a letter had not been attached or an initial blood test had not been
performed.

232
Secondary care factors:
22. The most common reasons given for an avoidable delay in secondary care related to a
delay in performing a test or a delay in making a diagnosis. In a few cases, the delay
was caused by a delay in the patient receiving an appointment, the patient not been
seen within the 2-week timeframe or a delay in the reporting of test results
No clear reason:
23. Reasons given for delays generally related to complicated or vague symptoms. Other
reasons included unclear test results, or another potential cause for the symptoms being
investigated on initial presentation.
24. The audit also asked if rapid access to investigations would have altered their
management of a case. In 28 (6%) of 478 cases in e.g. East Leicestershire and Rutland
CCG the response was ‘yes’. The investigations which would have been useful were
reported as CT scan (8 cases), ultrasound (5 cases), endoscopy (5 cases), x-ray (2
cases) and MRI (3 cases). In five cases the additional investigations that may have been
useful were not specified.
25. Two groups which had particularly higher risk of delayed referral were housebound
patients and patients with communication difficulties.
Comparison with Results of 2009/10 GP Cancer Audit (Leicestershire)
26. The median (average) number of days between the patient first noticing symptoms and
presenting to primary/secondary care was the same in the two audits (7 days).
27. There was very little change in the median number of days between the patient
presenting with symptoms and being seen by a cancer specialist between the two audits
- 22 days in the 2009/10 audit and 23 days in 2013/14.
28. The percentage of cancer patients with disease spread beyond the organ at the time of
diagnosis was similar in the 2013/14 audit and the previous audit (44% vs 49%). This
difference was not statistically significant different i.e. may have resulted from
chance/random variation.
29. Across Leicestershire, there was very little change in the percentage of cases referred as
emergencies between the two audits. None of the increases or reductions in the
percentage of cancer patients referred as emergencies are statistically significant at the
95% confidence level i.e. differences may be due to chance/random variation.
Resource Implications
30. Public health approaches to raising awareness of cancer symptoms and screening are
not cost neutral but overall costs will be reduced by aligning to national campaigns.
31. A repeat of the GP cancer audit should be considered in the future. This would require
additional funding
Conclusions/Recommendations
32. Cancer is the now most common cause of premature mortality in Leicestershire.

233
33. England has poorer survival rates than in comparable developed countries. A major
cause of our lower survival rates is later diagnosis.
34. Local commissioners will want to work with patients, primary and secondary care
providers and other partners to improve early awareness and diagnosis of cancer.
35. A local GP cancer audit in 2013/14 concluded that patient delays in diagnosis were
significant across all cancer sites-15.3% of all cancer patients included in the audit. This
is lower than in the previous audit reported in 2009/10 (18%), although the difference is
not statistically significant i.e. it may be due to chance. For the four most common
tumour sites (breast, colorectal, lung and prostate), patient factors accounted for 16% of
delays, primary care factors for 20% and secondary care factors for 25%, with 7% of
cancers diagnosed as a result of incidental findings and 31% having no clear reason for
delay. The reasons for delay were often complex, nevertheless, common factors
amenable to a systematic, organizational approach did emerge. Administrative problems
concerning the tracking or management of referrals and/or test results were mentioned in
a number of cases indicating that there is scope for checking and reviewing ‘fail safe’
procedures in both primary and secondary care to ensure that referrals are not ‘lost’, or
that results are not interpreted or followed-up.
Recommendations
36. Reinforcement of ‘warning sign’ messages for the wider public, e.g. through national or
local campaigns, could impact upon patient delays in presentation. CCGs and other
partners e.g. local authority and the voluntary sector may wish to consider whether local
approaches are required to promote early diagnosis messages. This is especially
important to particular groups who may have cultural, language or other barriers to
accessing services (including cancer screening programs).
37. Additional interventions which GP practices and CCGs may wish to consider include:
•

•

•

•

•

Analysis of 2 week wait ‘urgent’ referrals to understand the 55% of cancer
diagnoses referred through this route. This may indicate possible approaches to
increasing the proportion of eventual cancer diagnoses referred under the 2 week
wait route as these are more likely to lead to earlier diagnosis.
Establishment of a tracking, review system for 2 week wait ‘urgent’ referrals to
ensure that patients have been seen, have a management plan in place and that it
is clear who (consultant or GP) is responsible for any further action.
Establishment of Significant Event Audit to identify and learn from any untoward
events on the cancer referral pathway and ensure referral systems and processes
are reviewed in light of the results.
Ensure management of possible cancer referrals is included in professional
development plans for all relevant staff groups. This could include updates on
existing and new NICE guidance, embedding of current NICE and local guidelines
in referral protocols/proformas and routine use of readily available educational
modules.
Use the results of the 2013/14 audit to refresh any ‘key priorities for action’ identified
from the 2009/10 audit. Consider using data items (and 2013/14 baseline values) to
generate key performance indicators for new ‘key priorities’.

234
Officer to Contact
Dr Mike McHugh
Telephone: 0116 305 4236
Email: Mike.McHugh@leics.gov.uk
Appendix
An Audit of New Cancer Diagnosis in Primary Care in East Leicestershire, Leicester City
and West Leicestershire CCGs.
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
38. The audit looked at referral patterns and delayed diagnosis in specific socially excluded
groups e.g. those who are housebound and those with communication difficulties.
Partnership Working and associated issues
39. Partnership working and effective collaboration across partners are key in terms of
diagnosing and treating cancer. The cancer pathway from recognition of symptoms
through to treatment creates important opportunities for different partners e.g. clinicians,
the local authority and voluntary sector to facilitate earlier diagnosis.
i

The NHS Information Centre. Compendium of Population Health Indicators,
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/
ii

http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/prod_consump/groups/cr_common/@nre/@pol/documents/generalcontent/
crukmig_1000ast-3344.pdf
iii

http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/2012-leicestershire-jsna-cancer.pdf

iv

http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanonc/article/PIIS1470-2045(13)70546-1/abstract

v

https://www.dur.ac.uk/resources/school.health/erdu/NationalAuditofCancerDiagnosisinPrimaryCare.pdf

235

An Audit of New Cancer Diagnoses
in Primary Care in East
Leicestershire, Leicester City and
West Leicestershire CCGs

Nain Hussain
Gail Pittam
Michael Griffin
Dr Monica Dent
March 2014

236

Acknowledgements
With acknowledgments to all those who publicised the 2013/14 GP Cancer Audit to GP practices,
presented at GP practice locality meetings, and who returned audit data.

About SPH
NHS Solutions for Public Health is a team of medical public health consultants, senior researchers,
analysts and pharmacists based in Oxford. We are NHS employees and work nationally with NHS and
Local Authority commissioners enabling them to deliver evidence-based commissioning backed up
by robust, defendable policies. Our services include:
·
·
·
·

High integrity independent service reviews, clinical pathway mapping and evidence reviews
to inform future commissioning policy
Preparation of service specifications to support procurement
Public Health input to IFR panels and appeals
Research and preparation of JSNAs and HNAs.

Whilst SPH is part of the NHS, hosted by GEM CSU, it is not centrally funded but is run as a business
unit competing in an increasingly competitive market. As an NHS organisation, SPH reinvests excess
surplus in developing future products and services for the benefit of its NHS and Local Authority
customers.

© Solutions for Public Health 2014
Subject any other agreement, Solutions for Public Health will own, on creation, the copyright and all other
intellectual property rights in all working papers produced and all deliverables under this agreement.
Any material produced, published or presented by Solutions for Public Health is subject to copyright
protection unless otherwise indicated. The copyright protected material may be reproduced free of charge in
any format or medium provided it is reproduced accurately and not used in a misleading context. If any of the
copyright items produced within the agreement are being copied to others, the source of the material must be
identified and the copyright status acknowledged.

237
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care

|3

Contents
1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 4
Background to the Audit .................................................................................................................... 4
Aims and Objectives........................................................................................................................... 4
2. Audit methodology ............................................................................................................................ 5
3. Findings .............................................................................................................................................. 6
Participation Summary ...................................................................................................................... 6
Patient Characteristics ....................................................................................................................... 8
Demographics ................................................................................................................................ 8
Types of Cancer ............................................................................................................................ 11
Intervals in Diagnostic Pathway ....................................................................................................... 13
Delays in Patient Pathway............................................................................................................ 14
Duration of Different Elements of the Patient Pathway .............................................................. 19
Diagnostic Pathway .......................................................................................................................... 27
Types of Referral .......................................................................................................................... 29
Cancer Stage at Diagnosis ................................................................................................................ 32
Comparison with Results of 2009/10 GP Cancer Audit ................................................................... 35
4. What should we focus on? ............................................................................................................... 39
5. Summary of Key Findings by Locality ............................................................................................... 47

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

238
4 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care

1. Introduction
Background to the Audit
The National Awareness Early Diagnosis Initiative (NAEDI) was launched in 2008 to better
understand and address reasons for late diagnosis in England. Primary care has a key role to play in
the diagnosis of cancer as over 90% of all patient contacts with health care in the UK occur in this
setting. One strand of the NAEDI work programme was a national audit of cancer diagnosis in
primary care. The aim of the audit was to define current practice in primary care cancer diagnosis
and to develop criteria for best practice, in order to improve future cancer outcomes. The objective
was to generate insights into the diagnostic pathway in general practice that could inform
professional and practice development, as well as the commissioning process for services that
support the cancer diagnosis pathway.
The national audit collected data, for the period 2009/10, on 18,879 cancer patients registered with
1,170 practices across 20 cancer networks, including all the practices within Leicester City PCT and
Leicestershire County, Rutland PCT and Northamptonshire PCT from the East Midlands Cancer
Network.
An audit template was developed and piloted by an expert group of academic and service GPs, using
experience gained from previous local audits of cancer diagnosis. Information was collected on
patient demographics and the nature of the assessment process in primary care, including the time
taken from first presentation to referral.
NHS Northamptonshire secured funding in 2012/13 for the audit to be repeated across
Leicestershire, Northamptonshire and Rutland (LNR) during 2013/14. Solutions for Public Health
(SPH) was commissioned by Nene CCG via the Public Health team at Northamptonshire County
Council to repeat the 2009/10 audit across the former PCTs in Leicestershire, Northamptonshire and
Rutland. SPH produced a report detailing the results of the audit, which was shared with CCGs
across LNR in October 2013.
This report details some additional analyses that SPH was subsequently commissioned to undertake,
focusing on aspects of the audit data at GP locality level to help CCGs identify any future actions that
should be taken to improve the early diagnosis of cancer at a more local level. This report details
the results for newly diagnosed cancer patients registered with GPs in the three Leicestershire CCGs
(Leicester City, West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and Rutland). A separate report is
available detailing the results for newly diagnosed cancer patients in Nene and Corby CCGs.

Aims and Objectives
The intention of repeating the GP Cancer Audit across LNR was to assess the extent to which there
had been improvements in the early diagnosis of cancer across key stages of the diagnostic
pathway, from symptoms to presentation, presentation to referral, and from referral to being seen
by a cancer specialist. The main audit report covering LNR compared the results from the five CCGs
and highlighted differences by type of cancer and certain patient characteristics such as age, gender,
whether the patient was housebound and/or whether the patient had communication difficulties.
The locality level analysis contained in this report presents the results for the eleven GP locality
groups that make up the three Leicestershire CCGs. The aim of this report is to provide additional
information to cancer leads in each CCG, which will help in the development of work to redesign
cancer diagnostic pathways in order to optimise outcomes for patients and minimise delays.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

239
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

5

The objectives of the locality level analysis are to:
·
·
·

highlight key differences in the audit data between GP localities within Leicestershire
explore possible reasons for any potentially avoidable delays in the diagnostic pathway
identify any particular issues applicable to specific GP localities within Leicestershire.

2. Audit methodology
The audit made use of the same GP Audit Tool used in the original 2009/10 NAEDI audit. SPH
updated the instructions for completion of the audit and developed/updated other accompanying
information including:
·
·
·
·

a sheet of FAQs
an invoice template
instructions for extracting records from EMIS and SystmOne GP information systems
a Locally Enhanced Service (LES) contract.

GP practices were paid £25 per qualifying patient record (inc VAT) for their time in extracting and
reviewing patients diagnosed with cancer between 1st April 2012 and 31st March 2013. All newly
diagnosed cancer cases were eligible for inclusion in the audit with the exception of:
·
·
·

basal and squamous cell carcinomas of the skin
screen-identified cancers
pre-cancer e.g. cervical dyskaryosis.

Unlike in Northamptonshire, where SPH distributed the audit tool and documentation directly to GP
practices, in Leicestershire the audit tool and accompanying documentation were distributed by GP
practice locality leads. Distribution happened at different times for different GP localities. The
dates on which the audit documentation was circulated in each CCG were as follows:
·
·
·

West Leicestershire CCG – 18th June 2013
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG – 21st June 2013
Leicester City CCG – 19th August 2013.

Due to the difference in the time periods at which the audit documentation was circulated to GP
practices, Leicestershire GP practices were given until 30th September to return their completed
audit results, compared to 31st August for the Northamptonshire practices.
Practices participating in the audit were asked to sign and return the LES contract to SPH, so that we
could monitor likely response rates and liaise with stakeholders in relation to any areas of poor
response.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

240
6 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care

3. Findings
Please note that the following analyses are of the data received from practices. Standardisation (e.g. based
on age) was beyond the scope of the audit. Some categories (e.g. tumour site, place of first presentation,
etc.) contain relatively small numbers. Where possible, we have provided confidence intervals to support
interpretation. However, this has not been possible for all analyses and, where no measure of statistical
significance is given, care should be taken in interpreting apparent differences between groups.

Participation Summary
Table 1 below shows the number of practices in Leicestershire that participated in the GP cancer
audit in 2013/14 compared to the previous GP cancer audit in 2009/10.
Table 1: Practices participating in the GP cancer audit by locality in 2013/14 compared to 2009/10

Localities

Blaby & Lutterworth
Melton, Rutland &
Harborough
Oadby & Wigston
Leicester City
Central
Leicester Primary
Care Group
Millennium
North East Leicester
Hinckley &
Bosworth
North Charnwood
North West
Leicestershire
South Charnwood
Leicestershire

Population

Number
of
Practices

92,382

10

Number
returning
audit data
2013/14
2

Percentage
returning
audit data
2013/14
20.0%

Number
Percentage
returning
returning
audit data audit data
in 2009/10 in 2009/10
2
20.0%

155,485

13

6

46.2%

8

61.5%

67,117

11

6

54.5%

5

45.5%

119,790

21

1

4.8%

12

57.1%

111,090

15

3

20.0%

8

53.3%

67,468
61,928

16
11

4
2

25.0%
18.2%

9
4

56.3%
36.4%

110,385

13

5

38.5%

6

46.2%

82,835

9

5

55.6%

6

66.7%

100,993

15

10

66.7%

9

60.0%

74,692
1,044,165

13
147

9
53

69.2%
36.1%

6
75

46.2%
51.0%

Table 1 shows that, across Leicestershire, 36.1% of practices participated in the 2013/14 audit, with
South Charnwood and North West Leicestershire achieving the highest participation rates. The
lowest participation rate was for Leicester City Central, where only one of the 21 practices
submitted audit data. Overall, this was a lower level of practice participation than in the 2009/10
audit, when 51.0% of practices participated. This may reflect the increased demands placed on
primary care staff during the early months of the transition to the new NHS structures that were
operational from 1st April 2014 and the fact that some localities had more time to respond than
others.
The proportions of practices participating in each of the GP localities in the three Leicestershire
CCGs are shown in Figure 1 below:

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

241
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

7

Figure 1: Percentage of practices participating in GP Cancer Audit in 2009/10 and 2013/14
100%

Percentage returning audit
data in 2009/10

90%
80%

Percentage returning audit
data 2013/14

70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester City Leicester
Millennium
Central
Primary Care
Group

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Leicestershire
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Figure 1 shows that compared to the previous audit, the only locality achieving a higher proportion
of participating practices in 2013/14 was Oadby and Wigston. The same number of practices in
Blaby and Lutterworth participated in both audits.
Table 2 shows the total number of cancer patients included by the GP practices participating in the
GP cancer audit in 2013/14 compared with 2009/10 and the percentage of cancer patients included
in the two cancer audits provided by each area.
Table 2: Number of cancer patients included in GP cancer audit 2009/10 compared with 2013/14 by locality

Localities

Blaby & Lutterworth
Melton, Rutland &
Harborough
Oadby & Wigston
Leicester City Central
Leicester Primary
Care Group
Millennium
North East Leicester
Hinckley & Bosworth
North Charnwood
North West
Leicestershire
South Charnwood
Leicestershire

Number of
Cancer Patients
in 2009/10
67

Percentage of
Cancer Patients
in 2009/10
4%

Number of
Cancer Patients
in 2013/14
88

Percentage of
Cancer Patients
in 2013/14
6%

378

22%

235

17%

124
108

7%
6%

155
6

11%
0%

114

7%

69

5%

113
108
223
122

7%
6%
13%
7%

61
35
180
147

4%
3%
13%
11%

265

16%

237

17%

80
1702

5%
100%

164
1377

12%
100%

Table 2 shows that a total of 1,377 Leicestershire cancer patients were included in the 2013/14
audit, a slight decrease on the 1,702 included in the 2009/10 audit. The GP localities with the
highest number of cancer patients in the 2009/10 and 2013/14 audits were Melton, Rutland and
Harborough and North West Leicestershire. Data were returned for only 6 cancer patients in
Leicester City CCG.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

242
8 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care

Patient Characteristics
This section summarises the key demographic and patient/practice characteristic information
relating to cancer patients included in the 2013/14 cancer audit.

Demographics
Table 3: Number and Percentage of cancer patients by gender and locality 2013/14 GP cancer audit

Localities

45

Number
Male
Not
Stated
43
0

108
66

127
89

<5

Female
Blaby & Lutterworth
Melton, Rutland &
Harborough
Oadby & Wigston
Leicester City
Central
Leicester Primary
Care Group
Millennium
North East Leicester
Hinckley &
Bosworth
North Charnwood
North West
Leicestershire
South Charnwood
Leicestershire

Total

Percentage
Female
Male

88

51%

49%

Not
Stated
0%

0
0

235
155

46%
43%

54%
57%

0%
0%

<5

0

6

33%

67%

0%

31
34
17

38
27
18

0
0
0

69
61
35

45%
56%
49%

55%
44%
51%

0%
0%
0%

76
77

104
70

0
0

180
147

42%
52%

58%
48%

0%
0%

103
86
645

133
77
730

<5
<5
<5

237
164
1377

43%
52%
47%

56%
47%
53%

0%
1%
0.1%

Table 3 shows that there were more male (730) than female (645) Leicestershire cancer patients
included in the audit data, although this was not true in all of the localities. The area with the
highest proportion of male cancer patients was Leicester City Central (67%) and the area with the
lowest proportion was Millennium (44%).
Figure 2 below shows the percentage of cancer patients by age band for the Leicestershire localities.
Figure 2: Percentage of cancer patients by age band and locality
100%
90%
80%

Not Stated

70%
70+
60%
50 - 69

50%
40%

30 - 49

30%
Under 30
20%
10%
0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Solutions for Public Health

Leicester City Leicester Millennium
Central Primary Care
Group

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
NW
South
Leicestershire
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

www.sph.nhs.uk

243
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

9

Figure 2 shows that across Leicestershire only 1.2% of cancers were diagnosed in patients aged
under 30 years. Blaby and Lutterworth, Leicester City Central and Millennium had no cancer
patients aged under 30 years old; Leicester Primary Care Group and North East Leicester had the
highest proportion of under 30 year old cancer patients (2.9%). The 70 plus age group accounted
for 49.8% of new cancer diagnoses in Leicestershire and over 50% of new cancer diagnoses in the
Melton, Rutland and Harborough, Hinckley and Bosworth and North Charnwood localities. National
cancer registration data for 2011, published by the Office for National Statistics, indicates that
across England 1.8% of new cancer registrations (excluding non-squamous cell carcinoma of the
skin) were for persons aged under 30 years old, 9.2% were for 30-49 year olds, 39.2% were for 50 –
69 year olds and 49.7% were for persons aged 70 and over1.
The mean age at diagnosis for all Leicestershire cancer patients was 68 years old. This varied
between the different geographical areas, ranging from 57 years in Leicester City Central to 69 years
in Hinckley and Bosworth and North Charnwood.
Figure 3 shows the proportion of cancer patients recorded as being born outside of the UK in the
Leicestershire localities. It should be noted that, in 35% of cases, this information was not available
within the data returned by practices.
Figure 3: Percentage of cancer patients by place of birth and locality
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester City Leicester
Millennium
Central Primary Care
Group

Born in UK

North East
Leicester

Born outside of UK

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Leicestershire
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Information not supplied

Figure 3 suggests that, with the exception of Leicester City Central (where all 6 cancer patients were
born outside of the UK), only a small minority of cancer patients registered at GP practices in
Leicestershire were born outside of the UK.
Figure 4 shows the proportion of cancer patients whose GP recorded them as being housebound or
having communication difficulties (such as dementia, language problems or were hard of hearing) in
the Leicestershire localities.

1

Office for National Statistics, Cancer Registration Statistics, England, 2011, June 2013

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

244
10 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 4: Percentage of cancer patients who were housebound and/or had difficulties communicating by
locality
35%

30%

Housebound
Communication Difficulties

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester City
Leicester
Central
Primary Care
Group

Millennium

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
Charnwood Leicestershire

South
Leicestershire
Charnwood

Figure 4 shows that across Leicestershire, 7% of cancer patients were recorded as being
housebound and 5% as having communication difficulties. Twenty two (1.6%) cancer patients were
recorded as being both housebound and having communication difficulties. The areas with the
highest proportion of housebound cancer patients were North East Leicestershire (20%) and
Millennium (13%). The localities with the highest proportion of cancer patients recorded as having
communication difficulties were Leicester City Central (33%) and Leicester Primary Care Group
(13%).
For the housebound patients; in East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG (n=31) 52% were female, 68%
were recorded as being of white British ethnicity, 6% were aged 70 to 80 years and 71% were aged
over 80 years. Of the 23 housebound patients in Leicester City CCG, 57% were female, 70% were
recorded as being of white British ethnicity, 13% were aged 70 to 80 years and 74% were aged over
80 years. Of the 47 housebound patients in West Leicestershire CCG, 51% were female, 81% were
recorded as being of white British ethnicity, 28% were aged 70 to 80 years and 51% were aged over
80 years.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

245
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

11

Types of Cancer
Figures 5 to 7 show the number of cancers detected by tumour site for the three Leicestershire CCGs.
Figure 5: Number of cancers detected by tumour site for East Leicestershire CCG
Small Intestine
Thyroid
Laryngeal
Gallbladder
Unknown Primary
Sarcoma
Not indicated
Vulval
Mesothelioma
Cervical
Oropharyngeal
Liver
Stomach
Testicular
Brain
Myeloma
Ovarian
Renal
Pancreatic
Endometrial
Leukaemia
Oesophageal
Melanoma
Bladder
Lymphoma
Other
Lung
Prostate
Colorectal
Breast

1

1
1
2

2
3
4

4
4
4

5
5
5

6
6
6

9
9
10

11
11
15

26
28
30

33
50
60

60
67
0

Solutions for Public Health

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

www.sph.nhs.uk

246
12 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 6: Number of cancers detected by tumour site for Leicester City CCG

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

247
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

13

Figure 7: Number of cancers detected by tumour site for West Leicestershire CCG

Figures 5 to 7 show that the four most common cancers in all three CCGs were breast, colorectal,
lung and prostate cancers, with breast cancer being the common cancer for all CCGs accounting for
approximately 15% of all cancers. The second most common cancer for Leicester City and West
Leicestershire was lung cancer (15% and 13%). For East Leicestershire and Rutland the joint second
most common cancers were colorectal and prostate cancers (each 13%). The four most common
cancers identified in the audit are in line with national cancer registrations. The ONS has reported
that the three most common cancers for men in 2011 remained prostate (25.6%), lung (13.8%) and
colorectal (13.6%) and that the three most common cancers for women in 2011 remained breast
(30.7%), lung (11.6%) and colorectal (11.2%)2.

Intervals in Diagnostic Pathway
GPs participating in the cancer audit were asked to record four key dates for each cancer patient;
the date the patient first notices signs or symptoms, the date the patient first reports these
symptoms, the date the patient was referred to a cancer specialist and the date the patient was
seen by a cancer specialist. This section analyses the median average duration for these different
components of the cancer diagnostic pathway in the different Leicestershire localities and for the
different types of cancer. It also analyses the extent of any delays that might have had an adverse
impact on these average pathway durations.

2

Office for National Statistics, Cancer Registration Statistics, England, 2011, June 2013

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

248
14 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care

Delays in Patient Pathway
GPs were asked if, in their opinion, there were any avoidable delays in the patient journey. In 211
cases in Leicestershire, the GP said ‘Yes’, and in a further 160 cases they indicated that they were
unsure as to whether there had been a delay which could have been avoided. Figure 8 below shows
the percentage of cases in which the GP answered ‘Yes’ for the Leicestershire localities.
Figure 8: Percentage of cases where there were avoidable delays to the patient's journey by locality
25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester City Leicester
Millennium
Central Primary Care
Group

% with avoidable delay

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Leicestershire

Figure 8 indicates that, overall, GPs considered that 15.3% of all cancer patients included in the audit
had experienced some type of avoidable delay in their diagnosis. This proportion was highest for
cancer patients from Hinckley and Bosworth (21.1%), North West Leicestershire (18.6%), Leicester
City Central (16.7%) and North Charnwood (16.3%) localities. The proportion was lowest for
Millennium locality (9.8%).
Figure 9 below shows the proportion of the 119 cancer patients from East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG who, according to the GPs completing the audit returns, may have experienced an
avoidable delay in their diagnosis by type of cancer. Around 33% of sarcoma cases and 30% of
colorectal cases were thought by a GP to have experienced an avoidable delay. In 100% of thyroid
cases and 50% of cases of gallbladder and vulval cancers and cancers of unknown primary, a GP
considered that there may have been an avoidable delay.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

249
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

15

Figure 9: Percentage of East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG cancer patients where there were, or may have
been, avoidable delays to the patient's journey by cancer site, according to the GPs completing the audit
returns
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%

Not Sure

30%

Yes

20%
10%
0%

Figure 10: Percentage of Leicester City CCG cancer patients where there were, or may have been, avoidable
delays to the patient's journey by cancer site, according to the GPs completing the audit returns
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%

Not Sure

Yes

20%
10%
0%

Figure 10 shows the 19 cancer patients from Leicester City CCG where the GP thought there was an
avoidable delay in the diagnosis of cancer and the 21 cases where the GP was unsure whether there
had been an avoidable delay by type of cancer. It suggests that the cancers with the greater
likelihood of delay were laryngeal and small intestine cancers.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

250
16 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 11: Percentage of West Leicestershire CCG cancer patients where there were, or may have been,
avoidable delays to the patient's journey by cancer site, according to the GPs completing the audit returns
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%

Not Sure

30%

Yes

20%
10%
0%

Figure 11 shows the 129 cancer patients from West Leicestershire CCG where the GP thought there
was an avoidable delay in the diagnosis of cancer and the 83 cases where the GP was unsure
whether there had been an avoidable delay by type of cancer. It suggests that the cancers with the
greater likelihood of delay were vulval, mesothelioma, ovarian and pancreatic cancers.
Figures 12 to 14 show a breakdown of the main factors (1 per patient) contributing to delay in cases
where the GP indicated that there was, or might have been, an avoidable delay and where the
diagnosis was one of the four most common cancers identified by the cancer audit. The results for
the three Leicestershire CCGs are presented separately and the reasons for delay are presented in
five categories:
·
·
·
·
·

Patient factors – e.g. delayed presentation, not attending for tests/appointments
GP factors – e.g. delay in making referrals or following up urgent referrals
Secondary Care factors – e.g. delay in finding an appointment slot, failing to follow up
patients previously seen etc
No clear reason for delay
Incidental finding.

Figure 12: Proportion of cancer patients with different causes of delay for the four most common tumours,
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

251
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

17

Figure 13: Proportion of cancer patients with different causes of delay for the four most common tumours,
Leicester City CCG

Figure 14: Proportion of cancer patients with different causes of delay for the four most common tumours,
West Leicestershire CCG
100%
90%

80%
70%

No Clear Reason

60%

Incidental Finding

50%

Secondary Care Delay

40%

GP Delay

30%

Patient Delay

20%
10%
0%
Breast

Colorectal

Lung

Prostate

A brief summary of the reasons for delay suggested for all cancers by the GPs who participated in
the audit in the three Leicestershire CCGs is given separately below.
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
Patient factors: The most common reasons given related to patients delaying their presentation to
the GP and patients delaying or failing to attend appointments. Other reasons involved the patient
refusing referral or further investigations.
GP factors: Most of the reasons given for delay in this group suggested that the GP could have made
the referral sooner or could have made a 2-week wait referral. In a few cases it was suggested that
the GP could have ordered a test or performed a more detailed examination. In a couple of cases a
referral was made, but rejected by secondary care because, for example, a letter had not been
attached or an initial blood test had not been performed.
Secondary care factors: The most common reasons given for an avoidable delay in secondary care
related to a delay in performing a test or a delay in making a diagnosis. In a few cases, the delay was
Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

252
18 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
caused by a delay in the patient receiving an appointment, the patient not been seen within the 2week timeframe or a delay in the reporting of test results.
No clear reason: Reasons given for delays generally related to complicated or vague symptoms.
Other reasons included unclear test results, or another potential cause for the symptoms being
investigated on initial presentation.
The audit also asked if rapid access to investigations would have altered their management of a
case. In 28 (6%) of 478 cases in East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG the response was ‘yes’. The
investigations which would have been useful were reported as CT scan (8 cases), ultrasound (5
cases), endoscopy (5 cases), x-ray (2 cases) and MRI (3 cases). In five cases the additional
investigations that may have been useful were not specified.
Leicester City CCG
Patient factors: The most common reason given related to the patient delaying or failing to attend
an appointment. In a few cases the delay was caused by the patient declining referral or language or
mental health difficulties affecting their engagement.
GP factors: The reasons given for delay in this group suggested either that the GP could have made
the referral sooner or could have made a 2-week wait referral.
Secondary care factors: The reasons for delay in secondary care related to a delay in receiving an
appointment, or a delay in performing a test or making a diagnosis.
No clear reason: Most of the reasons given for delays related to complicated or vague symptoms.
Other reasons included unclear test results, or another potential cause for the symptoms being
investigated on initial presentation.
The audit also asked if rapid access to investigations would have altered their management of a
case. In 15 (9%) of 171 cases the response was ‘yes’. The investigations which would have been
useful were reported as CT scan (8 cases), endoscopy (3 cases), MRI (2 cases), ultrasound (1 case)
and blood tests (1 case).
West Leicestershire CCG
Patient factors: The most common reasons given related to patients delaying their presentation to
the GP and patients delaying or failing to attend appointments. In a few cases the delay was caused
by the patient refusing referral or further investigations.
GP factors: The majority of reasons given for delay in this group suggested that the GP could have
made the referral sooner or could have made a 2-week wait referral. In some cases it was suggested
that the GP could have ordered a test earlier or performed a more detailed examination.
Secondary care factors: The reasons for delay were divided fairly equally between delays in the
patient receiving an appointment, delays in tests being performed or reported and delays in making
a diagnosis following initial investigations.
No clear reason: Reasons given for delays were divided fairly equally between complicated or vague
symptoms, unclear test results and another potential cause for the symptoms being investigated on
initial presentation.
The audit also asked if rapid access to investigations would have altered their management of a
case. In 51 (7%) of 728 cases the response was ‘yes’. The investigations which would have been
useful were reported as CT scan (16 cases), endoscopy (12 cases), MRI (8 cases), x-ray (4 cases),
Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

253
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

19

blood tests (4 cases) and ultrasound (3 cases). In four cases the additional investigations that may
have been useful were not specified.
At locality level, when commenting on reasons for avoidable delay, GPs in Blaby and Lutterworth
and Hinckley and Bosworth cited GP factors more frequently than patient or secondary care factors.
GPs in Oadby and Wigston, North Charnwood and South Charnwood cited GP and secondary care
factors more frequently than patient factors. In Melton, Rutland and Harborough GPs cited
secondary care and patient factors more frequently than GP factors and in North West
Leicestershire GPs cited secondary care factors more frequently than GP or patient factors. For the
other localities in Leicestershire, the reasons for delay were spread fairly evenly across the different
categories.

Duration of Different Elements of the Patient Pathway
Figure 15 shows, for the three Leicestershire CCGs, the median duration in days of the stages in the
cancer diagnostic pathway, as recorded for each patient by the GPs completing the audit. The three
stages of the diagnostic pathway are defined as:
the time between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to healthcare services –
‘Patient’.
the time between presenting with symptoms and being referred to a cancer specialist –
‘Practice’.
the time between being referred to a cancer specialist and being seen by a cancer specialist
– ‘Referral’.

·
·
·

Figure 15: Median duration (days) of different elements of the cancer diagnostic pathway by locality
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Patient - Median No. days from
first symptoms / signs to
presentation
Practice - Median No. of days
from first attendance to
referral
Referral - Median No. days
from referral to date first seen
by specialist

As shown in Figure 15, the median pathway durations differ between the geographical areas within
Leicestershire. Leicester City Central is not included on this graph as there were less than five cases
with dates recorded for two elements of the cancer diagnostic pathway. The median interval
between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to healthcare services is longer in Blaby and
Lutterworth, Hinckley and Bosworth and North Charnwood than in the other GP localities. The

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

254
20 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
median time interval between the GP making a referral and the patient being seen by a cancer
specialist is shorter in Hinckley and Bosworth than for the other GP localities. For the Leicester
Primary Care Group locality, the median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms
and presenting to healthcare services was zero days.
It should be noted that not all dates were available for all the cancer patients; for example, the date
on which patients first noticed signs or symptoms was completed for only 64% of Leicestershire
cancer patients included in the audit.
Figures 16 to 27 show the median number of days for each of the three elements of the diagnostic
pathway along with the inter-quartile range for the lowest (1st) quartile to the start of the highest
(4th) quartile for the three Leicestershire CCGs. In these graphs we have included only the cancers
for which there are at least five cases with valid date information for that particular point of the
diagnostic pathway.
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
Figure 16: Median days between patient noticing symptoms and presentation by tumour site, including 1st
and 4th quartile limits, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Figure 16 shows the median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting
to healthcare services by tumour site for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG. It indicates that
oesophageal cancer had the longest median time between symptom onset and presentation
followed by melanoma and colorectal cancer.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

255
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

21

Figure 17: Median days between patient presenting with symptoms and being referred to specialist by
tumour site, including 1st and 4th quartile limits, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Figure 17 shows the median number of days between the patient presenting to healthcare services
and being referred to a specialist by tumour site for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG. It
indicates that testicular cancer had the longest median time between presentation and referral
followed by ovarian cancer and myeloma.
Figure 18: Median days between being referred to being seen by a specialist by tumour site, including 1st
and 4th quartile limits, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Figure 18 shows the median number of days between the patient being referred to a cancer
specialist and being seen by tumour site for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG. It indicates that
leukaemia had the longest median time between referral and being seen by a specialist.
Figure 19 shows the median duration and inter-quartile range for the period between the patient
presenting with symptoms and being seen by a cancer specialist for East Leicestershire and Rutland
CCG. This excludes the time taken by the patient to present to healthcare services following onset
of their symptoms.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

256
22 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 19: Median days between patient presenting with symptoms and being seen by a specialist by
tumour site, including 1st and 4th quartile limits, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Figure 19 shows that testicular, prostate, myeloma and ovarian cancers were the tumour sites that
had the largest median number of days between patient presenting to healthcare services and being
seen by a cancer specialist.
Leicester City CCG
Figure 20: Median days between patient noticing symptoms and presentation by tumour site, including 1st
and 4th quartile limits, Leicester City CCG

Figure 20 shows the median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting
to healthcare services by tumour site for Leicester City CCG. It indicates that endometrial cancer
had the longest median time between symptom onset and presentation.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

257
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

23

Figure 21: Median days between patient presenting with symptoms and being referred to specialist by
tumour site, including 1st and 4th quartile limits, Leicester City CCG

Figure 21 shows the median number of days between the patient presenting to healthcare services
and being referred to a specialist by tumour site for Leicester City CCG. It indicates that prostate
cancer had the longest median time between presentation and referral followed by lung cancer.
Figure 22: Median days between being referred to being seen by a specialist by tumour site, including 1st
and 4th quartile limits, Leicester City CCG

Figure 22 shows the median number of days between the patient being referred to a cancer
specialist and being seen by tumour site for Leicester City CCG. It indicates that colorectal cancer
had the longest median time between referral and being seen by a specialist.
Figure 23 shows the median duration and inter-quartile range for the period between the patient
presenting with symptoms and being seen by a cancer specialist for Leicester City CCG. This
excludes the time taken by the patient to present to healthcare services following onset of their
symptoms.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

258
24 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 23: Median days between patient presenting with symptoms and being seen by a specialist by
tumour site, including 1st and 4th quartile limits, Leicester City CCG

Figure 23 shows that prostate cancer was the tumour site that had the largest median number of
days between the patient presenting to healthcare services and being seen by a cancer specialist.

West Leicestershire CCG
Figure 24: Median days between patient noticing symptoms and presentation by tumour site, including 1st
and 4th quartile limits, West Leicestershire CCG

Figure 24 shows the median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting
to healthcare services by tumour site for West Leicestershire CCG. It indicates that laryngeal cancer
had the longest median time between symptom onset and presentation followed by oesophageal
and prostate cancers.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

259
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

25

Figure 25: Median days between the patient presenting with symptoms and being referred to specialist by
tumour site, including 1st and 4th quartile limits, West Leicestershire CCG
90
80

70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Figure 25 shows the median number of days between the patient presenting to healthcare services
and being referred to a specialist by tumour site for West Leicestershire CCG. It indicates that
stomach cancer had the longest median time between presentation and referral.
Figure 26: Median days between being referred to being seen by a specialist by tumour site, including 1st
and 4th quartile limits, West Leicestershire CCG
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Figure 26 shows the median number of days between the patient being referred to a cancer
specialist and being seen by tumour site for West Leicestershire CCG. It indicates that endometrial
cancer had the longest median time between referral and being seen by a specialist.
Figure 27 shows the median duration and inter-quartile range for the period between the patient
presenting with symptoms and being seen by a cancer specialist for West Leicestershire CCG. This
excludes the time taken by the patient to present to healthcare services following onset of their
symptoms.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

260
26 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 27: Median days between patient presenting with symptoms and being seen by a specialist by
tumour site, including 1st and 4th quartile limits, West Leicestershire CCG
140
120
100
80

60
40
20
0

Figure 27 shows that stomach, sarcoma and oropharyngeal cancers were the tumour sites that had
the largest median number of days between patient presenting to healthcare services and being
seen by a cancer specialist.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

261
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

27

Diagnostic Pathway
The following graphs and tables examine key aspects of the cancer diagnosis including where the
patient first presented with the symptoms that resulted in them being diagnosed with cancer.
Figure 28: Place of first presentation with symptoms for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG cancer patients
by age group
100%
90%

80%
70%

Not stated/blank

60%

Other

50%

Walk-in Centre

40%

Out Patients

30%

A&E

20%

Practice

10%
0%
Under 30

30 - 49

50 - 69

70+

Figure 28 shows the proportion of cancer patients presenting in different settings with symptoms
that would later be diagnosed as cancer, by age group for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG. It
indicates that around 30% of cancer patients in the under 30 age group first presented at settings
other than the GP practice, with 14% of patients in this age group first presenting at A&E.
Presentations at A&E were less common in the over 30 year old age groups.
Figure 29: Place of first presentation with symptoms for Leicester City CCG cancer patients by age group
100%
90%

80%
70%

Walk-in Centre

60%

Other

50%

Not stated/blank

40%

Out Patients

30%

A&E

20%

Practice

10%
0%
Under 30

Solutions for Public Health

30 - 49

50 - 69

70+

www.sph.nhs.uk

262
28 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care

Figure 29 shows the place of first presentation for cancer patients included in the cancer audit from
Leicester City CCG by age group. All of the patients in the under 30 age group first presented at their
GP practice, however it should be noted that there were less than five patients in this age group. The
30-40 years age group had the greatest proportion of patients first presenting at A&E (11%).
Figure 30: Place of first presentation with symptoms for West Leicestershire CCG cancer patients by age
group
100%
90%

80%
70%

Walk-in Centre

60%

Other

50%

Not stated/blank

40%

Out Patients

30%

A&E

20%

Practice

10%
0%
Under 30

30 - 49

50 - 69

70+

Figure 30 shows the place of first presentation for cancer patients included in the cancer audit from
West Leicestershire CCG by age group. As with East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG, around 30% of
cancer patients in the under 30 age group first presented at settings other than the GP practice,
with 14% of patients in this age group first presenting at A&E. The 70+ age group had the second
highest proportion of patients first presenting at A&E (9%).
Tables 4 to 6 compare the place of first presentation for cancer patients who were recorded as
having communication difficulties, such as dementia, language problems or were hard of hearing
with cancer patients not recorded as having these difficulties from the three Leicestershire CCGs
respectively.
Table 4: Place of first presentation for those with communication difficulties compared to cancer patients
without communication difficulties for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
Practice Outpatient
A&E
Walk In
Other
Not
Total
Number
Centre
Known
None
81.1%
4.7%
2.1%
1.1%
7.6%
3.4%
100.0%
380
Communication
60.9%
8.7%
0.0%
4.3%
21.7%
4.3%
100.0%
Difficulty
23
Not known
16.0%
2.7%
0.0%
1.3%
60.0%
20.0%
100.0%
75
Total
69.9%
4.6%
1.7%
1.3%
16.5%
6.1%
100.0%
478
Table 5: Place of first presentation for those with communication difficulties compared to cancer patients
without communication difficulties for Leicester City CCG
Practice Outpatient
A&E
Walk In
Other
Not
Total
Number
Centre
Known
None
73.6%
1.8%
10.0%
0.9%
6.4%
7.3%
100.0%
110
Communication
68.4%
5.3%
5.3%
0.0%
15.8%
5.3%
100.0%
Difficulty
19
Not known
35.7%
7.1%
0.0%
0.0%
4.8%
52.4%
100.0%
42
Total
63.7%
3.5%
7.0%
0.6%
7.0%
18.1%
100.0%
171

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

263
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

29

Table 6: Place of first presentation for those with communication difficulties compared to cancer patients
without communication difficulties for West Leicestershire CCG
Practice Outpatient
A&E
Walk In
Other
Not
Total
Number
Centre
Known
None
84.7%
3.4%
5.6%
0.3%
3.3%
2.7%
100.0%
640
Communication
61.3%
0.0%
29.0%
0.0%
9.7%
0.0%
100.0%
Difficulty
31
Not known
70.2%
7.0%
3.5%
0.0%
5.3%
14.0%
100.0%
57
Total
82.6%
3.6%
6.5%
0.3%
3.7%
3.4%
100.0%
728

Cancer patients without communication difficulties in all three CCGs were more likely to first
present at the GP practice than patients with communication difficulties. West Leicestershire CCG
had the highest proportion of patients with communication difficulties first presenting at A&E (29%).
Tables 7 to 9 compare the place of first presentation for cancer patients who were recorded as
being housebound with cancer patients not recorded as being housebound from the three
Leicestershire CCGs respectively.
Table 7: Place of first presentation for those who were housebound compared to cancer patients who were
not housebound for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
Practice Outpatient
A&E
Walk In
Other
Not
Total
Number
Centre
Known
No
83.9%
4.7%
1.9%
1.1%
6.4%
1.9%
100.0%
361
Yes
54.8%
9.7%
3.2%
0.0%
25.8%
6.5%
100.0%
31
Not known
20.3%
2.9%
0.0%
2.9%
69.6%
4.3%
100.0%
69
Total
72.5%
4.8%
1.7%
1.3%
17.1%
2.6%
100.0%
461
Table 8: Place of first presentation for those who were housebound compared to cancer patients who were
not housebound for Leicester City CCG
Practice Outpatient
A&E
Walk In
Other
Not
Total
Number
Centre
Known
No
76.2%
2.9%
9.5%
1.0%
8.6%
1.9%
100.0%
105
Yes
61.9%
9.5%
9.5%
0.0%
9.5%
9.5%
100.0%
21
Not known
88.9%
5.6%
0.0%
0.0%
5.6%
0.0%
100.0%
18
Total
75.7%
4.2%
8.3%
0.7%
8.3%
2.8%
100.0%
144
Table 9: Place of first presentation for those who were housebound compared to cancer patients who were
not housebound for West Leicestershire CCG
Practice Outpatient
A&E
Walk In
Other
Not
Total
Number
Centre
Known
No
84.9%
3.7%
5.7%
0.3%
3.1%
2.3%
100.0%
648
Yes
66.0%
2.1%
19.1%
0.0%
10.6%
2.1%
100.0%
47
Not known
60.6%
3.0%
3.0%
0.0%
6.1%
27.3%
100.0%
33
Total
82.6%
3.6%
6.5%
0.3%
3.7%
3.4%
100.0%
728

For East Leicestershire and Rutland and West Leicestershire CCGs the proportion of patients first
presenting at A&E was higher for housebound patients than for non-housebound patients. Overall,
housebound patients were less likely to first present at the practice than non-housebound patients
for all three CCGs.

Types of Referral
GP practices were asked to classify referrals into routine, 2 week wait and emergency referrals and
to note any cases where the referral was not made by the practice. Figure 31 shows the proportion

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

264
30 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
of 2 week wait, emergency, routine and private referrals for cancer patients by locality for each of
the three Leicestershire CCGs
Figure 31: Percentage of cancer patients by type of referral and locality
100%
90%
80%
Blank/Not Known

70%
Private

60%
Not referred by
Practice

50%

Routine
40%

Emergency

30%

2 Week

20%
10%

0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester City Leicester
Central
Primary Care
Group

Millennium

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Two week wait referrals were the most common type of referral for all the GP localities and
accounted for more than 53% of cancer referrals for Leicestershire overall. Millennium locality had
the highest proportion of two week wait referrals (61%) and Leicester Primary Care Group (39%) the
lowest. Leicester Primary Care Group had the highest proportion of emergency referrals (22%) and
Millennium (5%) the lowest. Private referrals accounted for only 3% of all cancer referrals across
Leicestershire.
For East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG there were 66 emergency referrals. The cancers which
accounted for the largest proportion of emergency referrals were colorectal cancer (24%), lung
cancer (17%) and other cancers (9%). The other emergency referrals were for a range of cancer
sites, each with up to five cases.
For Leicester City CCG, there were 26 emergency referrals. The cancers which accounted for the
largest proportion of emergency referrals were colorectal cancer (35%) and lung cancer (15%). The
other emergency referrals were for a range of cancer sites, each with between one and three cases.
For West Leicestershire CCG, there were 106 emergency referrals. The cancers which accounted for
the largest proportion of emergency referrals were colorectal cancer (19%), lung cancer (19%),
leukaemia (11%) and brain cancer (9%). The other emergency referrals were for a range of cancer
sites, each with less than 10 cases.
Figure 32 shows the percentage of each type of referral for cancer patients from East Leicestershire
and Rutland CCG in each age band.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

265
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

31

Figure 32: Percentage of East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG cancer patients by age band and type of
referral
100%
90%
80%

70%

Blank/Not Known

60%

Private

50%

Not referred by Practice

40%

Routine

30%

Emergency

20%

2 Week

10%
0%
Under 30
(n=7)

30 - 49
(n=42)

50 - 69
(n=195)

70+
(n=234)

All Ages
(n=478)

Figure 32 shows that cancer patients aged under 30 had the lowest proportion of 2 week wait
referrals. The 30 – 49 age group had the highest proportion of emergency referrals.
Figure 33: Percentage of Leicester City CCG cancer patients by age band and type of referral
100%
90%
80%

70%

Blank/Not Known

60%

Private

50%

Not referred by Practice

40%

Routine

30%

Emergency

20%

2 Week

10%
0%
Under 30
(n<5)

30 - 49
(n=19)

50 - 69
(n=74)

70+
(n=75)

All Ages

Figure 33 shows that cancer patients aged under 30 from Leicester City CCG had the highest
proportion of two week wait referrals, but there were less than five cancer patients in this age
group. The 70+ year old age group had the highest proportion of emergency referrals (17%).
Figure 34 shows the percentage of each type of referral for cancer patients from West Leicestershire
CCG in each age band.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

266
32 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 34: Percentage of West Leicestershire CCG cancer patients by age band and type of referral
100%
90%
80%

70%

Blank/Not Known

60%

Private

50%

Not referred by Practice

40%

Routine

30%

Emergency

20%

2 Week

10%
0%
Under 30
(n=7)

30 - 49
(n=71)

50 - 69
(n=271)

70+
(n=377)

Figure 34 shows that cancer patients aged 30-49 years from had the highest proportion of two week
wait referrals. The under 30 age group had the highest proportion of emergency referrals (29%),
but there were only seven patients in this age group.
Figure 35 shows the proportion of two week wait, emergency, routine and private referrals for
cancer patients with communication difficulties or who were housebound compared to nonhousebound cancer patients and those without communication difficulties for Leicestershire.
Figure 35: Percentage type of referral for those that were housebound or had communication difficulties
60%

50%

40%
Communication Difficulties
30%

Housebound

20%

Non - Housebound and No
Communication Difficulties

10%

0%
2 Week

Emergency

Routine

Not referred
by Practice

Private

Blank/Not
Known

Figure 35 shows that a higher proportion of cancer patients with communication difficulties or who
were housebound had emergency referrals compared with cancer patients who were neither
housebound or had communication difficulties, and a lower proportion had two week wait referrals.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

267
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

33

Cancer Stage at Diagnosis
This section explores how advanced the cancer was at the time of diagnosis, an important factor in
determining treatment and in cancer survival. Figure 36 shows the proportion of cancer patients
with distant metastatic disease, localised spread, and disease confined to a single organ for the
three Leicestershire CCGs.
Figure 36: Percentage of cancer patients by stage at diagnosis by locality
100%
90%
80%

Not Known

70%

Organ

60%

Local Spread

50%

Distant
Metastases

40%

30%
20%
10%
0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester City Leicester
Millennium
Central
Primary Care
Group

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Figure 36 shows that across Leicestershire, 44% of cancers identified by the audit were spread
beyond the organ (either with distant metastases or local spread) at the time of diagnosis. This
proportion varied from 57% in Blaby and Lutterworth to 0% in Leicester City Central (although there
were only six cancer patients from this CCG).
Figures 37 to 39 show the proportion of cancer patients with cancer spread beyond the organ at the
time of diagnosis for the three Leicestershire CCGs by type of cancer.
Figure 37: Percentage of cancers spread beyond organ by cancer site for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
cancer patients
100% 100%100%100%100%
90%

82%

80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

67% 67% 67% 67%
60% 60% 60% 60%

56% 56%
45%
40%

37% 36%

33% 33% 32%
27% 25% 25%
15%
0% 0% 0% 0%

0%

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

268
34 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 38: Percentage of cancers spread beyond organ by cancer site for Leicester City CCG cancer patients
100%
90%

81% 80%

80%
70%

60%

60%

50% 50% 50%

50%

44% 44%

40% 40% 40% 40%

40%

32%

30%
20%

10%

10%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

Figure 39: Percentage of cancers spread beyond organ by cancer site for West Leicestershire CCG cancer
patients
100% 100%100%100%100%
90%

80%

80%
69% 69%

70%
60%
50%
40%
30%

67%
60%

56%
50% 50%
43%

40% 40% 40% 38%
33%

29% 28%

25% 25%
20% 20% 20%

20%
10%

7%

3%

0%

0%

0%

Across the three CCGs, the cancers where 100% of cases were spread beyond the organ at the time
of diagnosis were gallbladder, small intestine, stomach, laryngeal and cancers of an unknown
primary.
Tables 10 to 12 below show the proportion of cancers at each stage at the time of diagnosis
according to the setting at which the patient first presented for the three Leicestershire CCGs.
Table 10: Proportion of cancer patients with organ only, local spread or distant metastatic cancer by place
of first presentation for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
Practice
A&E
Out Patients
Walk-in
Other
Blank/Not
Centre
Known
Number
334
8
22
6
79
29
Distant
metastases
19%
0%
27%
0%
24%
21%
Local spread
21%
25%
14%
50%
44%
17%
Organ
47%
25%
45%
50%
23%
24%
Blank/Not
13%
50%
14%
0%
9%
38%
Known

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

269
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

35

Table 11: Proportion of cancer patients with organ only, local spread or distant metastatic cancer by place
of first presentation for Leicester City CCG
Practice
A&E
Out Patients
Walk-in
Other
Blank/Not
Centre
Known
Number
109
12
6
<5
12
31
Distant
metastases
23%
17%
17%
0%
8%
23%
Local spread
22%
33%
17%
0%
25%
3%
Organ
46%
33%
33%
100%
42%
13%
Blank/Not
Known
9%
17%
33%
0%
25%
61%
Table 12: Proportion of cancer patients with organ only, local spread or distant metastatic cancer by place
of first presentation for West Leicestershire CCG
Practice
A&E
Out Patients
Walk-in
Other
Blank/Not
Centre
Known
Number
601
47
26
<5
27
25
Distant
metastases
23%
28%
27%
100%
15%
16%
Local spread
22%
21%
31%
0%
19%
12%
Organ
40%
21%
12%
0%
44%
28%
Blank/Not
Known
15%
30%
31%
0%
22%
44%

Tables 10 to 12 show that a higher proportion of cancer patients who first at their GP practice had
disease that had not spread beyond the organ at the time of diagnosis.

Comparison with Results of 2009/10 GP Cancer Audit
This section compares the results of the 2013/14 cancer audit with those of the previous cancer
audit carried out in 2009/10. We have compared the results based on a small number of key
indicators from the total audit data that capture key aspects of the cancer diagnostic pathway
namely:
· median number of days from patient noticing symptoms to being seen in primary care
· median number of days from patient presenting with symptoms to being seen by a cancer
specialist
· percentage of cancers spread beyond the organ
· percentage of emergency referrals
· percentage of cancer patients who first present via A&E
· percentage of cancer patients whose GP considers that there were avoidable delays in their
route to diagnosis.
Localities where there were less than 5 cancer patients recorded for aspects of the diagnostic
pathway such as first presentation at A&E or emergency referral have been excluded from figures 40
to 44 below, as there would be limited value in making comparisons from such small numbers of
cases.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

270
36 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 40: Median number of days between patient noticing symptoms and being seen in primary care, by
locality
16

14
2009/10 audit

12

2013/14 audit
10

8

6

4

2

0
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester
Millennium
Primary Care
Group

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Leicestershire
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Figure 40 shows that, across Leicestershire as a whole, the median number of days between the
patient first noticing symptoms and presenting to primary/secondary care was the same in the two
audits (7 days). In several localities the median number of days was zero. Leicester City Central is not
included on this graph as there were less than five cases with valid date information for this element
of the cancer diagnostic pathway.
Figure 41: Median number of days between patient presenting with symptoms and being seen by specialist,
by locality
40
2009/10 audit

35

2013/14 audit
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester
Primary Care
Group

Millennium

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Leicestershire
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Figure 41 shows that, across Leicestershire, there was very little change in the median number of
days between the patient presenting with symptoms and being seen by a cancer specialist between
the two audits - 22 days in the 2009/10 audit and 23 days in 2013/14. Leicester City Central is not
included on this graph as there were less than five cases with valid date information for this element
of the cancer diagnostic pathway.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

271
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

37

Figure 42: Percentage of cancers spread beyond organ by locality with 95% confidence intervals
80%

70%

2009/10 audit
2013/14 audit

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester City Leicester
Millennium
Central
Primary Care
Group

North East
Leicester

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Leicestershire
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Figure 42 shows the percentage of cancer patients with disease spread beyond the organ at the time
of diagnosis. It shows that for Leicestershire this percentage was similar in the 2013/14 audit and
the previous audit (44% vs 49%). There were no statistically significant differences at the 95%
confidence level (as indicated by the vertical lines) between the two audits or between localities.
Figure 43: Percentage of cases referred as emergencies by locality with 95% confidence intervals
40%
35%

2009/10 audit
2013/14 audit

30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%
0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester
North East
Primary Care Leicester
Group

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
North West
South
Leicestershire
Charnwood Leicestershire Charnwood

Figure 41 shows the proportion of cancer patients referred as emergencies for the Leicestershire
localities in both cancer audits. It suggests that, across Leicestershire, there was very little change in
the percentage of cases referred as emergencies between the two audits. None of the increases or
reductions in the percentage of cancer patients referred as emergencies are statistically significant
at the 95% confidence level. The localities of Leicester City Central and Millennium have not been
shown on this graph because there were less than 5 patients referred as emergencies in the
2013/14 audit.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

272
38 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 44: Percentage of cases where patient first presented at A&E by locality with 95% confidence
intervals
25%

20%

15%
2009/10 audit
2013/14 audit
10%

5%

0%
Oadby & Wigston

Millennium

Hinckley & Bosworth

North Charnwood

North West
Leicestershire

South Charnwood

Leicestershire

Figure 44 shows the percentage of cancer patients who first presented with symptoms to A&E in
both audits for localities where there were at least five patients who presented at A&E. It shows
that across Leicestershire, the percentage of patients who first presented at A&E was similar in the
two audits. None of the increases or reductions in the percentage of cancer patients who first
presented at A&E are statistically significant at the 95% confidence level.
Figure 45: Percentage of cases where there was an avoidable delay in the patient journey by locality with
95% confidence intervals
45%
2009/10 audit
40%

2013/14 audit

35%
30%
25%
20%
15%

10%
5%
0%
Blaby &
Lutterworth

Melton,
Rutland &
Harborough

Oadby &
Wigston

Leicester
Primary Care
Group

Millennium

Hinckley &
Bosworth

North
Charnwood

North West
Leicestershire

South
Charnwood

Leicestershire

Figure 45 shows the percentage of cases where the GP considered that there was an avoidable delay
in the patient’s diagnosis. It shows that, across Leicestershire, this percentage was lower in the
2013/14 audit than in the previous audit, however this decrease was not statistically significant at
the 95% confidence level.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

273
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

39

4. What should we focus on?
In evaluating which cancer sites to focus resources on, the following variables were considered for
each site.
· percentage of cancers that were diagnosed at a stage beyond the organ
· the quartile of cases (i.e. the 4th quartile) with the longest total duration for that part of the
diagnostic pathway
· the number of cancers that were diagnosed.
In these graphs we have only included the cancers for which there are at least five cases for that
particular point of the diagnostic pathway.
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
The multi-variable plot for the full cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient noticing symptoms to
being seen by a specialist for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG is shown below in Figure 46.
Figure 46: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient noticing the symptoms to being
seen by a specialist, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Figure 46 suggests that the tumour sites with the largest percentage of cancers that had spread
beyond the organ at diagnosis were oesophageal, renal, lung and other cancers. In Figure 44,
prostate, oesophageal, other and colorectal cancers were identified as the cancers with longest
diagnostic pathways. Examination of Figures 47 and 48 suggests that, for prostate, other and
colorectal cancers, the greater part of the delay is due to the number of days between the patient
presenting to healthcare services and being seen by a specialist. For oesophageal cancer there were
a similar number of days in the two parts of the pathway.
The multi-variable plot for the cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient noticing symptoms to
presenting to healthcare services for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG is shown below in Figure
47. This reflects patient related factors in any delay to their diagnosis.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

274
40 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 47: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient noticing the symptoms to
presenting to healthcare services, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Figure 47 suggests that the tumour sites with the longest number of days between the patient noticing
symptoms and presenting to healthcare services were oesophageal, melanoma and prostate cancers.
The multi-variable plot for the cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient presenting to healthcare
services and being seen by a specialist for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG is shown below in Figure
48. This is more likely to reflect primary and secondary care related factors in any delay to the patient’s
diagnosis.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

275
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

41

Figure 48: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient presenting to healthcare
services and being seen by a specialist, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Figure 48 suggests that the tumour sites with the longest number of days between presenting to
healthcare services and being seen by a specialist were testicular, prostate and colorectal cancers.
Taken together, these multi-variable plots indicate that colorectal cancer is common, often presents
with metastases and has a longer diagnostic pathway. Oesophageal cancer is less common but
otherwise shares these characteristics. These tumours might be appropriate for targeted initiatives
to improve early diagnosis.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

276
42 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care

Leicester City CCG
The multi-variable plot for the full cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient noticing symptoms to
being seen by a specialist for Leicester City CCG is shown below in Figure 49.
Figure 49: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient noticing the symptoms to being
seen by a specialist, Leicester City CCG

Figure 49 suggests that the cancer with the largest proportion of cases that had spread beyond the
organ at diagnosis was lung cancer. In Figure 49, prostate and endometrial cancers have the longest
diagnostic pathways. Examination of Figures 50 and 51 suggests that, for both cancers, most of the
delay is due to the number of days between the patient presenting to healthcare services and being
seen by the specialist.
The multi-variable plot for the cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient noticing symptoms to
presenting to healthcare services for Leicester City CCG is shown below in Figure 50. This reflects
patient related factors in any delay to their diagnosis.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

277
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

43

Figure 50: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient noticing the symptoms to
presenting to healthcare services, Leicester City CCG

Figure 50 suggests that the tumour sites with the longest number of days between the patient
noticing symptoms and presenting to healthcare services were endometrial and colorectal cancers.
The multi-variable plot for the cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient presenting to healthcare
services and being seen by a specialist for Leicester City CCG is shown below in Figure 51. This is
more likely to reflect primary and secondary care related factors in any delay to the patient’s
diagnosis.
Figure 51: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient presenting to healthcare
services and being seen by a specilaist, Leicester City CCG

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

278
44 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 51 suggests that the tumour site with the longest number of days between presenting to
healthcare services and being seen by a specialist was prostate cancer.
Taken together, these multi-variable plots indicate that prostate and lung cancer are relatively
common, often present with metastases and have longer diagnostic pathways. These tumours might
be appropriate for targeted initiatives to improve early diagnosis.
West Leicestershire CCG
The multi-variable plot for the full cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient noticing symptoms to
being seen by a specialist for West Leicestershire CCG is shown below in Figure 52.
Figure 52: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient noticing the symptoms to being
seen by a specialist, West Leicestershire CCG

Figure 52 suggests that the tumour sites with the largest percentage of cancers that had spread
beyond the organ at diagnosis were stomach and pancreatic cancers and cancers with an unknown
primary site. In Figure 50, stomach, renal, prostate and colorectal cancers were identified as the
cancers with longest diagnostic pathways. Examination of Figures 53 and 54 suggests that, for
stomach cancer, most of the delay is due to the number of days between the patient noticing
symptoms and presenting to healthcare services. For renal and prostate cancers the greater number
of days is between the patient presenting to healthcare services and seeing a specialist. For
colorectal cancer there were a similar number of days in the two parts of the pathway.
The multi-variable plot for the cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient noticing symptoms to
presenting to healthcare services for West Leicestershire CCG is shown below in Figure 53. This
reflects patient related factors in any delay to their diagnosis.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

279
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

45

Figure 53: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient noticing the symptoms to
presenting to healthcare services, West Leicestershire CCG

Figure 53 suggests that the tumour sites with the longest number of days between the patient
noticing symptoms and presenting to healthcare services were stomach and laryngeal cancers.
The multi-variable plot for the cancer diagnostic pathway from the patient presenting to healthcare
services and being seen by a specialist for West Leicestershire CCG is shown below in Figure 54. This is
more likely to reflect primary and secondary care related factors in any delay to the patient’s diagnosis.
Figure 54 suggests that the tumour sites with the longest number of days between presenting to
healthcare services and being seen by a specialist were sarcoma, stomach and prostate cancers.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

280
46 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
Figure 54: Multi-variable plot showing the number of days from the patient presenting to healthcare
services and being seen by a specilaist, West Leicestershire CCG

Taken together, these multi-variable plots indicate that prostate, lung, oesophageal and colorectal
cancer are relatively common, often presents with metastases and have longer diagnostic pathways.
These tumours might be appropriate for targeted initiatives to improve early diagnosis.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

281
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

47

5. Summary of Key Findings by Locality
Blaby and Lutterworth
· 20% of Blaby and Lutterworth practices participated in the audit, and provided 88 (6%) of
the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· The proportion of housebound patients in Blaby and Lutterworth was similar to the average
for Leicestershire (7%); the proportion of patients with communication difficulties (2%) was
lower than the average for Leicestershire.
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 11.4% of
cases, which was lower than the Leicestershire average (15%) and the joint lowest of any GP
locality, apart from Millennium (9.8%).
· GP factors were more commonly cited by GPs as reasons for delay in diagnosis compared
with patient or secondary care factors.
· The median number of days from the patient noticing first symptoms to presenting to
healthcare services (14 days) was the joint largest for any of the Leicestershire localities.
· 48% of Blaby and Lutterworth cancer patients were referred as 2 week wait referrals, which
was a slightly lower proportion than the Leicestershire average (53%). The number of
cancer patients referred as emergencies was the same as the Leicestershire average (14%).
· 57% of Blaby and Lutterworth cancer patients had cancer that had spread beyond the organ
stage at the time of diagnosis. This was the highest proportion for any locality within
Leicestershire and higher than the Leicestershire average (44%).
· The median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to
healthcare services was the same for the 2009/10 and 2013/14 audits (14 days). The
number of days between the patient presenting with symptoms and being seen by a
specialist was higher in the 2013/14 audit than the 2009/10 audit. The proportion of cancer
patients whose cancer had spread beyond the organ was also higher in 2013/14.
Melton, Rutland and Harborough
· 46.2% of Melton, Rutland and Harborough practices participated in the audit, and provided
235 (17%) of the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· Melton, Rutland and Harborough had a lower proportion of patients identified as
housebound (4%) and/or with communication difficulties (4%) compared to the
Leicestershire average (7% and 5% respectively).
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 12.8% of
cases, which was lower than the Leicestershire average (15%).
· Secondary care and patient factors were more commonly cited by GPs as an issue with
delays to patient’s diagnosis than primary care factors.
· The median number of days for the different elements of the pathway were similar to the
averages for Leicestershire.
· 57% of Melton, Rutland and Harborough cancer patients were referred under the two week
wait. This was a higher proportion than the average for Leicestershire (53%) and the joint
second highest of any GP locality. Around 12% of cancer patients were referred as
emergencies; a lower proportion than the Leicestershire average (14%).

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

282
48 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
·

·

39% of cancer patients from Melton, Rutland and Harborough had disease spread beyond
the organ stage at the time of diagnosis. This was lower than the average for Leicestershire
(44%).
Compared to the previous audit in 2009/10, Melton, Rutland and Harborough had a small
reduction in the median time between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to
healthcare services and in the proportion of cancers that had spread beyond the organ stage
at diagnosis. The median time between presentation and being seen by a cancer specialist
was similar in the two audits.

Oadby and Wigston
· 54.5% of Oadby and Wigston practices participated in the audit, and provided 155 (11%) of
the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· Oadby and Wigston had a higher proportion of housebound patients (10%) and cancer
patients with communication difficulties (7%) compared to the Leicestershire average (7%
and 5% respectively).
· The proportion of GPs from Oadby and Wigston who considered that there had been an
avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis (14.8%) was similar to the Leicestershire average
(15%).
· Primary and secondary care factors were more commonly cited by GPs as an issue with
delays to patient’s diagnosis than patient factors.
· The median number of days from the patient noticing first symptoms to presenting to
healthcare services (5 days) was lower than the average for Leicestershire (7 days).
However, the median number of days from the patient presenting and being referred (8
days) was higher than for the average for Leicestershire (6 days).
· 55% of Oadby and Wigston cancer patients were referred under the two week wait. This
was a higher proportion than the average for Leicestershire (53%). However, the proportion
of emergency referrals (17%) was higher than the average for Leicestershire (14%).
· Oadby and Wigston had a higher proportion of cancer cases with disease spread beyond the
organ stage (46%) to the Leicestershire average (44%).
· Compared to the 209/10 audit, Oadby and Wigston experienced the biggest reduction in the
median time between the patients noticing symptoms and presenting to primary/secondary
care of all the Leicestershire localities, but a slight increase in the median time between the
patient presenting and being seen by a specialist. The percentage of cancers spread beyond
the organ at the time of diagnosis was lower in the 2013/14 audit.
Leicester City Central
· 4.8% of Leicester City Central practices participated in the audit, and provided 6 (0.004%) of
the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· Leicester City Central had a higher proportion of cancer patients with communication
difficulties compared to the Leicestershire average (33% vs 5%). Leicester City Central did
not have any housebound patients recorded in the audit.
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 16.7% of
cases, a slightly higher proportion to the Leicestershire average (15%).
· Reasons for delay cited by GPs were fairly evenly spread between secondary care factors,
patient factors and primary care factors.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

283
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

·

·
·

49

Leicester City Central had a lower proportion of two week wait referrals (50%) compared to
the average for Leicestershire (53%) and a higher proportion of emergency referrals (17%)
than the Leicestershire average (14%).
All of the Leicester City Central cancer patients had disease that was at the organ stage at
the time of diagnosis.
There was insufficient data to include a comparison of the median number of days in
different elements of the patient pathway for Leicester City Central between the two audits.

Leicester Primary Care Group
· 20.0% of Leicester Primary Care Group practices participated in the audit, and provided 69
(5%) of the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· Leicester Primary Care Group had a higher proportion of housebound patients (12%) and
cancer patients with communication difficulties (13%) compared to the Leicestershire
average (7% and 5% respectively).
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 11.6% of
cases, a lower proportion than the Leicestershire average (15%).
· Reasons for delay cited by GPs were fairly evenly spread between secondary care factors,
patient factors and primary care factors.
· Leicester Primary Care Group had the lowest median number of days between the patient
noticing symptoms and presenting to healthcare services of any of the GP localities.
· Leicester Primary Care Group had the lowest proportion of two week wait referrals (39%)
and the highest proportion of emergency referrals (22%) of any of the GP localities.
· 39% of cancer patients from the Leicester Primary Care Group had disease spread beyond
the organ stage at the time of diagnosis. This was lower than the average for Leicestershire
(44%).
· The median time between the patients noticing symptoms and presenting to
primary/secondary care, and the median time between the patient presenting and being
seen by a specialist was similar for the two audits. There was a decrease in the percentage
of cancers spread beyond the organ at the time of diagnosis in the 2013/14 audit.
Millennium
· 25.0% of Millennium practices participated in the audit, and provided 61 (4%) of the 1377
cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· Millennium had a higher proportion of housebound patients (13%) and cancer patients with
communication difficulties (11%) compared to the Leicestershire average (7% and 5%
respectively).
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 9.8% of
cases; the lowest proportion of any GP locality in Leicestershire.
· Reasons for delay cited by GPs were fairly evenly spread between secondary care factors,
patient factors and primary care factors.
· Millennium had the shortest median number of days between the patient presenting to
primary/secondary care and being referred to a cancer specialist, and the second shortest
median number of days between a patient noticing symptoms and presenting to healthcare
services.
· Millennium had the highest proportion of two week wait referrals (61%) and lowest
proportion of emergency referrals (5%) of any of the GP localities.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

284
50 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
·
·

49% of cancer patients from Millennium had disease spread beyond the organ stage at the
time of diagnosis. This was higher than the average for Leicestershire (44%).
The median time between the patients noticing symptoms and presenting to
primary/secondary care, and the median time between the patient presenting and being
seen by a specialist was similar for the two audits. The proportion of cancer patients with
disease spread beyond the organ stage at the time of diagnosis had decreased slightly in
2013/14.

North East Leicester
· 18.2% of North East Leicester practices participated in the audit, and provided 35 (3%) of
the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· North East Leicester had a higher proportion of patients who were housebound compared
to the average for Leicestershire (20% vs 7%). The proportion of patients with
communication difficulties was lower than the average for Leicestershire (3% vs 5%).
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 11.4% of
cases which was lower than the Leicestershire average (15%) and the joint lowest of any GP
locality, apart from Millennium (9.8%).
· Reasons for delay cited by GPs were fairly evenly spread between secondary care factors,
patient factors and primary care factors.
· The median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to
healthcare services (11.5 days) and the median number of days between referral and being
seen by a specialist (14 days) were higher than the averages for Leicestershire (7 and 13
days respectively).
· North East Leicester had a lower proportion of two week wait referrals (51%) compared to
the average for Leicestershire (53%) and a higher proportion of emergency referrals (20%)
than the Leicestershire average (14%).
· 34% of cancer patients from North East Leicester had disease spread beyond the organ
stage at the time of diagnosis. This was lower than the average for Leicestershire (44%) and
the second lowest proportion of any of the GP localities.
· Compared to the previous audit, North East Leicester had a reduction in the median number
of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to primary/secondary care
and between presenting to primary/secondary care and being seen by a cancer specialist.
The proportion of cancers spread beyond the organ stage had also decreased in 2013/14.
Hinckley and Bosworth
· 38.5% of Hinckley and Bosworth practices participated in the audit, and provided 180 (13%)
of the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· The proportion of housebound patients and patients with communication difficulties was
the same in Hinckley and Bosworth as the average for Leicestershire (7% and 5%
respectively).
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 21.1% of
cases, a higher proportion than the Leicestershire average (15%) and the highest of any
Leicestershire GP locality.
· GP factors were more commonly cited by GPs as reasons for delay in diagnosis compared
with patient or secondary care factors.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

285
An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care |

·
·

·
·

51

The median number of days from the patient noticing first symptoms to presenting to
healthcare services (14 days) was the joint largest for any of the Leicestershire localities.
Hinckley and Bosworth had a lower proportion of two week wait referrals (49%) compared
to the average for Leicestershire (53%) and a higher proportion of emergency referrals
(16%) than the Leicestershire average (14%).
Hinckley and Bosworth had the same proportion of cancer patients with disease spread
beyond the organ than the Leicestershire average (44%).
Compared to the previous audit, Hinckley and Bosworth experienced an increase in the
median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to
primary/secondary care and between the patient presenting and being seen by a specialist.
However, the proportion of cancers spread beyond the organ stage was lower in the
2013/14 audit than the previous audit.

North Charnwood
· 55.6% of North Charnwood practices participated in the audit, and provided 147 (11%) of
the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole, the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· North Charnwood had a higher proportion of housebound cancer patients (12% vs 7%) but
the same proportion of patients with communication difficulties (5%) compared to the
Leicestershire average (7% and 5% respectively).
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 16.3% of
cases, a higher proportion than the Leicestershire average (15%).
· Primary and secondary care factors were more commonly cited by GPs as an issue with
delays to patient’s diagnosis than patient factors.
· The median number of days from the patient noticing first symptoms to presenting to
healthcare services (14 days) was the joint largest for any of the Leicestershire localities. The
median number of days between presentation and referral (7.5 days) was also higher than
the average for Leicestershire (6 days).
· North Charnwood had a higher proportion of two week wait referrals (56%) compared to
the average for Leicestershire (53%) and the second lowest proportion of emergency
referrals (9%) of all the localities.
· North Charnwood had a higher proportion of cancer patients with disease spread beyond
the organ (48%) than the Leicestershire average (44%).
· Compared to the previous audit, North Charnwood experienced an increase in the median
number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to
primary/secondary care. The median number of days between the patient presenting and
being seen by a specialist was similar in the two audits. There was a slight increase in the
proportion of cases spread beyond the organ stage at the time of diagnosis in the 2013/14
audit.
North West Leicestershire
· 66.7% of North West Leicestershire practices participated in the audit, and provided 237
(17%) of the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· North West Leicestershire had a lower proportion of patients who were housebound (4%)
and cancer patients who had communication difficulties (4%) compared to the
Leicestershire average (7% and 5% respectively).

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

286
52 | An audit of new cancer diagnoses in primary care
·
·
·
·

·
·

GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 18.6% of
cases, a higher proportion than the Leicestershire average (15%).
Secondary care factors were more commonly cited by GPs as an issue with delays to
patient’s diagnosis than primary care or patient factors.
The median number of days for the different elements of the pathway were similar to the
averages for Leicestershire.
North West Leicestershire had a lower proportion of two week wait referrals (49%)
compared to the average for Leicestershire (53%) and a higher proportion of emergency
referrals (17%) than the Leicestershire average (14%).
North West Leicestershire had a higher proportion of cancer patients with disease spread
beyond the organ (46%) than the Leicestershire average (44%).
Compared to the previous audit, North West Leicestershire experienced a slight increase in
the median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to
primary/secondary care and between the patient presenting and being seen by a specialist.
However, the proportion of cancers spread beyond the organ stage was lower in the
2013/14 audit than the previous audit.

South Charnwood
· 69.2% of South Charnwood practices participated in the audit, and provided 164 (12%) of
the 1377 cancer patients included in the audit.
· Breast cancer was the most common type of cancer across each of the three Leicestershire
CCGs (197 cases). Across Leicestershire as a whole the next most common cancers were
lung cancer (170 cases), colorectal cancer (169 cases) and prostate cancer (167 cases).
· South Charnwood had a lower proportion of patients who were housebound (4%) and
cancer patients who had communication difficulties (2%) compared to the Leicestershire
average (7% and 5% respectively).
· GPs considered that there had been an avoidable delay in the patient’s diagnosis in 14% of
cases, a lower proportion than the Leicestershire average (15%).
· Primary and secondary care factors were more commonly cited by GPs as an issue with
delays to patient’s diagnosis than patient factors.
· The median number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to
healthcare services (3 days) and presenting and being referred (5 days) were shorter than
the averages for Leicestershire (7 and 6 days respectively).
· South Charnwood had a higher proportion of two week wait referrals (57%) than the
Leicestershire average (53%). This was the joint second highest proportion for any GP
locality. South Charnwood had a similar proportion of emergency referrals to the
Leicestershire average (15% vs 14%).
· South Charnwood had a similar proportion of cancer patients with disease spread beyond
the organ (45%) than the Leicestershire average (44%).
· Compared to the 2009/10 audit, South Charnwood experienced a reduction in the median
number of days between the patient noticing symptoms and presenting to
primary/secondary care and in the median number of days between the patient presenting
and being seen by a cancer specialist. However, there was an increase in the proportion of
cases spread beyond the organ stage at the time of diagnosis.

Solutions for Public Health

www.sph.nhs.uk

287

Agenda Item 13

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20 NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT FROM DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT
Purpose of Report
1. The purpose of this report is to:
a. update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the progress of the statutory 60
day consultation for the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA); and
b. update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the progress that has been
made with respect to their responses to the PNAs prepared for
neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Boards (where the Leicestershire
Board is a statutory consultee).
Background
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board approved the draft Leicestershire PNA for
consultation on the 16th September 2014.
3. The Leicestershire PNA consultation is being provided by Greater East Midlands
Commissioning Support Service (GEMCSU) and they have developed the
consultation documentation, the web based materials, a public meeting as well as
a programme of targeted events for hard to reach groups.
4. GEMCSU has distributed all of the consultation documentation to the key
statutory consultees as well as ensuring that materials are available to members
of the public through Leicestershire libraries, all pharmacies in Leicestershire and
all GP dispensing surgeries. Consultation responses are being collected both via
paper returns and online submissions. The list of statutory consultees is included
in the consultation section of this report.
5. Key professional groups have been approached with the offer of a dedicated
meeting to discuss the PNA. This has included the Leicester, Leicestershire and
Lincolnshire Local Professional Network (LPN) for pharmacies, the Local
Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC), the Local Medical Committee (LMC) and the
Leicestershire County Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
6. The Leicestershire PNA Consultation is live between 24th September 2014 and
the 28th November 2014.

288
7. Currently, the consultation has been running for just over 40 days. Key themes
from the feedback include:
a. the PNA is a fair reflection of the needs of the Leicestershire population;
b. there is a need to strengthen some elements of the PNA to ensure that it
will continue to be valid for 5 years;
c. there is a need to strengthen the PNA to ensure that essential small
pharmacies are considered in more detail; and
d. there is a a need to ensure that the specific needs of people with protected
characteristics and people from hard to reach groups are properly
considered.
8. To date, 45 responses have been received. GEM are undertaking targeted work
with the statutory consultees to ensure that there is a good coverage of responses
from these stakeholders.
9. In addition to consulting all of the neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Boards on
the PNA for Leicestershire, the Health and Wellbeing Board is part of the
consultation for the PNAs that have been prepared by our neighbours. The
neighbouring HWBs are illustrated in Figure 1, which indicates that Leicestershire
needs to consider the PNAs from:
a. Leicester;
b. Rutland;
c. Northamptonshire;
d. Lincolnshire;
e. Nottinghamshire;
f. Derbyshire;
g. Staffordshire; and
h. Warwickshire.
Figure 1: Neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Board Areas:

289

10. Appendix A – D list a summary of the key issues from the neighbouring PNAs and
the key issues that may have an impact on the population of Leicestershire. It is
important to note that different Health and Wellbeing Boards will be working to
different time frames and not all PNAs are available for consultation at this time.
At this time, the PNAs that have been included are Rutland, Leicester City,
Lincolnshire and Nottinghamshire. PNAs from the other neighbouring HWBs will
be responded to as they become available.
11. It is suggested that the HWB delegates to the Director of Public Health the
function of submitting a response to all neighbouring HWBs when the
consultations are available. The focus of the response will be issues that are likely
to impact on the population of Leicestershire and their current and future
pharmaceutical needs.
12. The final PNA developed for Leicestershire will include any boundary issues
identified in PNAs from neighbouring authorities.
Existing Framework / Previous Decisions
13. The Health and Wellbeing Board approved the draft PNA for consultation on the
16th September 2014.
14. The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment is a statutory duty of the Health and
Wellbeing Board and there is a duty for the Health and Wellbeing Board to publish
its PNA by the 31st March 2015.
Consultations
This report sets out the progress the HWB has made with respect to the 60 day
statutory consultation for the PNA. The list of statutory consultees is listed below:
a. the Local Pharmaceutical Committee;
b. the Local Medical Committee;
c. any persons on the pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing doctors list for
its area;
d. any LPS chemist in its area with whom the NHS England has made
arrangements for the provision of any local pharmaceutical services;
e. Healthwatch, and any other patient, consumer or community group in its
area which in the view of the Health and Wellbeing Board has an interest in
the provision of pharmaceutical services in its area;
f. any NHS trust or NHS foundation trust in its area;
g. the NHS England; and
h. any neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Board.
Resource Implications
15. The PNA will influence commissioning decisions by NHS England, CCGs and
Leicestershire County Council.

290
Equal Opportunities Implications
16. The final PNA for Leicestershire will be subject to an equalities impact
assessment.
Partnership Working Implications
17. The PNA identifies issues that will be addressed by NHS England, West
Leicestershire CCG, East Leicestershire CCG and Leicestershire County Council.
Conclusions / Recommendations
18. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:
a. notes the progress that has been made to date through the PNA
consultation;
b. authorises the Director of Public Health to respond formally to the PNA
consultations for neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Boards on behalf of
the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board.

Officer to Contact
Mike Sandys
Director of Public Health
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
Telephone: 0116 3057913

291
Appendix A: PNA for Rutland
The population of Rutland was 37,015 people in 2012. 7,115 people were aged 6584 years and 1,129 people were aged 85 years and over. Its population falls within
the least deprived 60% of areas in the country. In the next 25years, it is expected that
there will be a 49.3% increase in people aged 65-84 year olds (from 7,100 people to
10,600) and a 227.3% increase in the oldest population group of people aged 85
years and over (from 1,100 people to 3,600).
This means that services to support people with Long term conditions and other
diseases of old age must be made a priority for future health and social care service
planning.
Service provision in Rutland
Rutland has 6 community pharmacies, 1 internet pharmacy and 3 dispensing GP
practices. Across the whole of Rutland there is one 100 hour pharmacy which is
based in Oakham. Rutland has 2.7 dispensers per 10,000 population which is higher
than the national average of 2.02 per 10,000 population.
There is Sunday pharmacy coverage in Rutland with 1 pharmacy open on a Sunday.
Rural access is enhanced by the 3 dispensing GP’s. Most services in Rutland are
concentrated in Oakham and Uppingham.
People from Rutland living nearer the Leicestershire border may be accessing
services from across the border in Leicestershire as it is closer to get to. Current
provision within Rutland and Leicestershire is sufficient and can deal with this
potential cross border demand. However, with the predicted rise in the older
population for both Leicestershire and Rutland, and with the attendant health service
implications for an older population, Leicestershire needs to keep watch over the
trends in cross border pharmacy services to ensure that community pharmacy
provision over the next 25 years in Leicestershire remains adequate.
Essential services
All the pharmacies within Rutland provide essential services. The essential pharmacy
service provision in Rutland is higher than the national average as Rutland has 2.7
dispensers per head of population versus the national average of 2.02 dispensers
per head of population.
Advanced services
With regard to the advanced services, Rutland is performing higher than the national
average on all 4 advanced services - Medicines Use Reviews (MUR) – 100% of
pharmacies, New Medicines Service (NMS) – 83% of pharmacies, Stoma Appliance
Customisation (SAC) - 16.7% of pharmacies and Appliance Use Review (AUR) –
33.3% of pharmacies.
Community based services
There is average coverage of community based services such as chlamydia
screening, Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC), stop smoking services,

292
needle exchange, and supervised methadone consumption in Rutland with mostly 23 pharmacies signed up to 1 or more of these services. There is therefore room for
improvement to increase sign up to and uptake of these services.
Conclusion
Community pharmacy service provision across Rutland is meeting the current needs
of the population of Rutland in terms of essential and advanced services. There is still
room for improvement with regards to uptake of advanced and community based
services by the population as well as sign up to community based services by
community pharmacies.
There is currently no indication of an impact (positively or negatively) on pharmacy
service provision in Leicestershire resulting from Rutland’s pharmacy service
provision levels. However, with an ageing population and issues of quality and
uniformity of access in Rutland, it is important that Leicestershire continues to
monitor the situation particularly with regards to cross border access to ensure that
provision of community pharmacy services for the population of Leicestershire
remains adequate over the coming years.

293
Appendix B: PNA for Leicester City
The population of Leicester is 333,812. Leicester has a relatively young population
compared to the population of England. Leicester is the 25th most deprived local
authority region in England and 40% of the population lives in areas classified as the
fifth most deprived in the country. Death rates from heart disease and stroke and
from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) are statistically higher in
Leicester than in England. Teenage pregnancy rates are significantly higher than in
England and diabetes prevalence is higher than it is nationally.
There are 87 pharmacies in Leicester 5 of which are internet pharmacies, 1 of which
is an Essential Small Pharmacies Local Pharmaceutical Services and 1 of which is
an appliance contractor and doesn’t supply drugs.
Essential services
All the pharmacies in Leicester provide essential services. Most pharmacies in
Leicester are open at least 40 hours and 8 are open for 100 hours a week. Access to
pharmaceutical services within Leicester is good with most pharmacies within 5
minutes driving distance or 20minutes walking distance. In a few areas in Leicester
there is more than a 20minute walk to the nearest pharmacy.
Essential Pharmacy service provision in Leicester is sufficient to meet current needs
and there doesn’t appear to be any indication of a negative impact on provision within
Leicestershire. If anything it seems more likely that people within Leicestershire that
live close to the border with Leicester city particularly the Wigston and Oadby area
(where there isn’t a 100 hour pharmacy) may be more likely to use services in the
city.
Advanced services
Of the 87 pharmacies in Leicester city, 86% offer Medicines Use Reviews, 75% offer
New Medicines Services, 7 offer stoma customisation and 11 offer appliance reviews.
However the provision of these services in Leicester is varied with some areas such
as Freemen Ward not having any advanced services provision at all. The level of
provision in Leicester is below the national average for providing the stoma appliance
customisation service whilst the appliance review provision is similar to the national
average.
Due to the varied nature of the provision of advanced services within Leicester city
there is uncertainty as to the impact this could have on advanced services provision
within Leicestershire. The findings from the PNA don’t suggest any impact (negative
or positive) on Leicestershire’s services but in view of the projected rise in people
with long term conditions such as diabetes over the next 5 years in Leicester, there is
a need to regularly review the situation.
Community based services
There is average coverage of community based services such as chlamydia
screening, Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC), stop smoking services,
needle exchange, supervised methadone consumption, minor ailments services and
palliative care services in Leicester with over half of pharmacies providing this service

294
to varying degrees. Service provision is high in the east of the city and very low or
sometimes non-existent in certain parts of the West of the city.
The PNA for Leicester does not suggest that there are any issues with demand for
community based services from the population that are being met by Leicestershire
pharmacies, however, Leicester City needs to continue to monitor levels of service
provision to ensure that provision remains adequate and relevant to need.
Conclusion
The provision of community based pharmacy services in Leicester is adequate to
meet the current needs of the population. All community pharmacies in Leicester
provide essential services and some provide advanced and community based
services to varying degrees with the West of the city lacking more in some of these
services. There is a need to encourage sign up to these advanced and community
based services by pharmacies in the west of Leicester city and encourage improved
delivery across most pharmacies in the city.
There is currently no indication of an impact (positively or negatively) on pharmacy
service provision in Leicestershire resulting from Leicester city’s pharmacy service
provision levels. However, with the projected increase in people in Leicester with long
term illness as well as issues of quality and uniformity of access to advanced and
community based services, it is important that Leicestershire continues to monitor the
situation to ensure that provision of community pharmacy services remains adequate
over the coming years.

295
Appendix C: PNA for Lincolnshire
The 2012 of Lincolnshire County is 718,800. 22% of the population are aged 65
years and over and 12% of the population live in areas classified as deprived. Overall
the population of Lincolnshire is projected to grow around 0.7% annually over the
next three years. The population of people aged 65 and older is projected to increase
much faster, around 2.5% annually.
This means that services to support people with Long term conditions and other
diseases of old age must be made a priority for future health and social care service
planning.
Lincolnshire’s PNA has looked at pharmaceutical needs by locality – the area that
borders Leicestershire and is of greatest interest to the Leicestershire PNA is the
area covered by NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG.
Service provision in Lincolnshire
South West Lincolnshire CCG has 16 pharmacies and 3 dispensing GPs. 4 of the
pharmacies are 100 hour and 5 offer Sunday opening,
The Lincolnshire PNA does not consider pharmacy access per head of population or
issues such as travel times to pharmacy, it is therefore difficult to assess the impact
of pharmacy provision on the neighbouring areas of Leicestershire and this will inform
the Health and Wellbeing Boards response to the Lincolnshire PNA consultation.
Conclusion
The Lincolnshire PNA concludes that “the residents of Lincolnshire are adequately
served by providers of dispensing services both in urban and rural areas. In terms of
the provision of dispensing services, no case of pharmaceutical need was identified.”
However, it is very difficult from the level of analysis presented to assess the impact
of cross border flows between Leicestershire and Lincolnshire and this will be
addressed in the feedback to Lincolnshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board.

296
Appendix D: PNA for Nottinghamshire
In 2012, Nottinghamshire’s population was estimated to be 790,173. The county has
a smaller proportion of under 25 year olds and a greater proportion of over 65 year
olds when compared to England. The older population is growing and a greater
proportion of Nottinghamshire’s population will need access to pharmacies and their
services.
Rushcliffe is the locality in Nottinghamshire that shares a border with Leicestershire
and it is this area that is of greatest interest.
Service provision in Nottinghamshire
Nottinghamshire has 169 pharmacies, 15 dispensing GP surgeries and 8 Dispensing
Appliance Contractors, which mainly specialise in stoma appliances.
Essential services
The distribution of pharmacies across the Nottinghamshire districts is relatively
uniform, with Broxtowe having the most with 28 and Rushcliffe having the least with
20 pharmacies. All of the pharmacies provide essential services. 16 of the
pharmacies are open for at least 100 hours a week, with 3 pharmacies open until
midnight from Monday to Saturday. This is an invaluable service as patients have the
ability to access medications during out-of-hours periods.
Rushcliffe has 1.8 pharmacies per 10,000 population, which is the lowest in
Nottinghamshire, but the provision of essential services is enhanced with 4
dispensing GP practices. The majority (88%) of households are within 15 minutes of
a GP practice (as a proxy for pharmacy) by public transport or walking.
Rushcliffe has 2 pharmacies open for 100 hours or more. Five are open on Sundays.
Advanced services
Of the 169 pharmacies in Nottinghamshire, 152 offer medicines use reviews in
accordance of the requirements of the national community pharmacy contractual
framework.
17 pharmacies in Rushcliffe offer MURs and 15 offer the NMS.
Community based services
Nottinghamshire offer a range of community based services. Of particular interest are
the services provided in Rushcliffe. 2 pharmacies in this area provide palliative care,
14 provide the emergency supply service, 14 offer smoking cessation and 17 provide
NRT, 17 provide EHC, 4 provide the C Card, 11 provide sexual health and chlamydia
services, 10 provide substance misuse services and 4 provide needle exchange.
Conclusion
Rushcliffe is the closest of Nottinghamshire’s districts to Leicestershire. The density
of pharmacies and GP practices are sparser in southern Rushcliffe, particularly at the

297
Rushcliffe-Leicestershire border. This can be attributed to the less dense population
of south Rushcliffe when compared to the Nottingham city-Rushcliffe border.
Rushcliffe Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) has estimated
that approximately 516 houses will be built by 2019/2020, all being within reach of an
existing pharmacy. Although, more houses are set to be built in the near future, the
population of Rushcliffe is not expected to rise dramatically and the demand for
pharmaceutical services is not expected to see a big rise.
The Nottinghamshire PNA found: “that pharmaceutical need in Rushcliffe is
adequately met by the current pharmacy providers.”
There are potentially cross border flows between Leicestershire and Nottinghamshire
for both patients and pharmacies to the north of the county, but with the PNAs of both
Leicestershire and Nottinghamshire reporting that needs are adequately covered this
means that the current pharmacy services are adequate for the needs of the
population.

298

This page is intentionally left blank

299

Agenda Item 14

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 20 NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND GEM COMMISSIONING
SUPPORT PERFORMANCE SERVICE
PERFORMANCE UPDATE AT END OF QUARTER 2 2014/15
Purpose of Report
1.

To provide the Board with an update on performance against current
performance priorities set out in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and
Commissioner Performance Frameworks, based on data available at the end
of quarter 2 2014/15.

Background
2.

The Board currently receives a joint report on performance from the County
Council’s Chief Executive’s Department and the Greater East Midlands (GEM)
Commissioning Support Service. This report encompasses:
a. Performance against key metrics and priorities set out in the Better Care
Fund plan and with progressing health and social care integration.
b. An update on key provider performance issues and performance priorities
identified in Clinical Commissioning Group Plans.
c. An update on the delivery of priorities identified in the Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy and key areas of adult social care, public health and
children’s health services, using a variety of related performance
measures and targets.

Better Care Fund and Integration Projects - Integration Executive Dashboard –
Appendix A
3.

The dashboard attached as Appendix A summarises performance against the
current schemes within the Better Care Fund (BCF). As a number of the
schemes are still at an early stage of development or delivery the report
highlights Amber and Red issues on an exception basis.

4.

There is also a summary of the BCF Plan key metrics/targets and available
current data against them. Where data is not yet available for the metrics and
proposed targets the published baselines are shown. The plans were
submitted to NHS England on 19th September. Regional and national
assurance has now been completed and the Plan has been categorised as
“approved with support”, which is a positive outcome given current pressures

300

in the local health economy. This means progress on delivery can now be
accelerated without any conditions/restrictions.

5.

The Integration Executive dashboard has been revised to reflect the new BCF
plan which includes adjusting the finance section with the updated spending
plan, this has therefore adjusted the ratings for a number of schemes. KPIs
for the individual schemes are being developed. An implementation plan is
being drawn up for the process and will be overseen by the Operational
Group with the first stage to develop KPIs for the urgent response schemes,
which contribute towards the emergency admissions (pay by performance)
metric.

Performance Against Current BCF Metrics
6.

New data for metric 1 (admissions to care/nursing homes – aged 65 and over)
and metric 2 (older people at home 91 days after discharge to
reablement/rehabilitation) are now available and some commentary is set out
below. Metric 3 (Delayed transfers of care) is also covered below.

Admissions to Care/Nursing Homes
7.

Avoiding permanent placements in residential care homes is a good indication
of delaying dependency; research suggests where possible people prefer to
stay in their own home rather than move into residential care. During the sixmonth period April to September 2014 there were 27 permanent admissions
to either residential or nursing care of people aged 18-64. This is comparable
to 26 permanent admissions during the equivalent period last year. For
people aged 65 or over there were 414 permanent admissions to either
residential or nursing care during the same six-month period. With the aim to
reduce permanent admissions, this is a 5% reduction on the comparable
period last year (434 admissions). The equivalent BCF metric also currently
shows a positive forecast position.

8.

Services that promote independence are a key priority of adult social care and
at the forefront of this is the in-house Home Care Assessment and
Reablement Team (HART). Recent adjustment to the service to focus on
people with most need has resulted in a 2% increase in people discharged
from hospital starting with HART. However, overall numbers using the service
have fallen slightly, partly due to the team holding on to cases for longer as
they await transfer to the independent sector which is currently close to
capacity.

Older People At Home 91 Days After Discharge
9.

A key measure in the Better Care Fund (BCF) is the Adult Social Care
Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) metric that measures the proportion of
people discharged form hospital via reablement services and are still living at
home 91 days later. For those people discharged between April and June
2014, the proportion was 83%, better than the BCF target of 80%.

301

Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC)

Metric
Metric 3: No of
days of delayed
transfers of care
from hospital per
100,000 population
(average per
month)

Commentary
The BCF DTOC data shows slight deterioration in
performance when compared to the average monthly rate up
to July. This is a composite measure across settings of care
(e.g. acute, community and mental health).
University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) and partners through
the Urgent Care Working Group are focusing on the changes
needed to local discharge pathways, with a focus on tackling
length of stay. A trajectory for improving length of stay
performance will be agreed as part of the urgent care and frail
older people work streams of the 5 year plan. The discharge
pathways from the acute trust will be simplified to 5 clear
routes with system performance including delayed discharges
measured against these routes, by setting of care.

10.

UHL also report delays of the number of patients discharged as a percentage
of occupied bed days. As at August 2014, 4.54% of patients were delayed
against a national target of 3.5%. This position continues to remain static.
Actions in place include daily calls with all partners chaired by the CCGs. The
Discharge Steering Group is in place to oversee the redesign of the discharge
process, and a project plan is in place with partner engagement. Pilots for
changes to pathways are being implemented and a second will commence in
October 2014. There remain internal challenges within UHL linked to capacity
within the discharge team to support the current assessment process.

11.

In addition two key measures in the ASCOF also relate to delayed transfers of
care from hospital and are reported a month in arrears. These are calculated
by taking an average of the number of delays on the last Thursday of each
month and presenting the figure as a rate per 100,000 of the local population.
The first part of the measure relates to all delays, i.e. those attributable to both
the NHS and adult social care. These increased at the start of the year and
have remained high throughout the first five months of the year.

12.

The second part of monitoring delayed transfers of care relates to only those
delays which involve adult social care. As such numbers are a lot lower than
the first part of the measure. However, the general trend is similar with an
increase during the first five months of the year; to 3.4 per 100,000
population, higher than preferred. Over half the delays attributable to adult
social care are due to patients awaiting a package of care in their own home,
primarily due to capacity issues. The Adults and Communities Department is
working with the Urgent Care Board and UHL and Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) staff to put in place actions that accurately record delays and
will enable timely and speedy transfer of people from hospital. These include:
a. Adult Social Care team based at the Leicester Royal Infirmary;

302

b.
c.
d.
e.

Dedicated staff to Emergency Medical Unit assessment wards;
Daily case conference calls and a bed census;
Early review to free up capacity in independent sector;
An Accident and Emergency based social worker in order to prevent
admissions to acute care;
f. Direct access to reablement services over weekends and bank holidays;
g. Seven day working over winter;
h. Working with hospital based staff to ensure the right messages and
assessments at the right time;
i. Dedicated continuing health care social care posts;
j. An audit of those cases waiting in the system to identify blockages and
reduce waiting times.
Emergency Admissions and Injuries Due To Falls
13.

Work continues to obtain updates for BCF metrics 4 (non-elective admissions)
and metric 6 (injuries due to falls). In the meantime there are a number of
indicators in the NHS Outcomes Framework that relate to emergency
admissions. At August 2014, for both West Leicestershire CCG and East
Leicestershire and Rutland CCG emergency admissions for acute conditions
that should not usually require hospital admission is above the local baseline.
All other indicators related to emergency avoidable admissions are being
achieved and this is an improvement on the last position reported. Reduction
of emergency admissions is being picked up as part of the Quality
Improvement and Productivity Process with providers through contractual
arrangements. There is currently an Activity Query Notice in place with UHL
with regards to emergency admissions as the levels of activity are significantly
higher than expected, and an action plan is being developed. Local schemes
are in place within the CCGs.

Patient Experience
14.

The Integration Executive considered the proposed survey questions to be
used for the patient experience metric (metric 5) and agreed to use the results
of the national GP Patient survey with a focus on responses to the question
“In the last 6 months, have you had enough support from local services or
organisations to help manage long-term health condition(s)? Please think
about all organisations and services, not just health”. Results/progress will be
reported to future meetings.

Integration Project Delivery
15.

Within the current Better Care Fund scheme delivery progress updates, a
number of issues have been noted.

303

Scheme
Local Area
Coordination
(LAC)

Commentary
Action Plan
The process is going well but there is a slight delay with the
project, in particular to recruitment. It is predicted that the earliest
that the LAC manager will be in post is January 2015 but this may
be delayed depending on notice period. This is being monitored by
the LAC leadership group.

Integrated
Residential
Reablement

Action Plan
The County Council is currently in the process of reviewing the
practice guidance, eligibility and service users that have been
through the residential reablement scheme. There is some
concern that some of the outcomes may not be as good as they
could be. This scheme, which was introduced in January 2013, is
an interim measure and will continue whilst the intermediate bed
care solutions work is being developed. This is being led by the
Urgent Care Group.
Finance
Expenditure on the residential reablement service is likely to be
less than budgeted as activity has not reached expected levels.
Further work is being done to quantify the actual value of
underspend over the coming weeks.

Minimum
Safe Data
Set

Action Plan
There are ongoing delays affecting the decision on which tool
should be implemented for the minimum data set. An options
appraisal document has been produced and is being considered by
the Integration Executive.
Finance
The level of underspend will be determined by the outcomes from
the discussions. At this stage it is anticipated that any underspend
will roll into 2015/16.

Provider and CCG Dashboard - Appendix B
16.

Attached as Appendix B is a dashboard that summarises information on
provider and CCG performance updated to reflect changes through ‘Everyone
Counts’. The Everyone Counts Dashboard replaces the NHS Constitution,
and sets the rights and pledges that patients are entitled to through the NHS.
The indicators within the dashboard are reported at CCG level. Data reported
at provider level does differ, and delivery actions indicate where this is a risk.

304

18 Weeks Referral to Treatment (Data is at CCG level)
17.

The referral to treatment (RTT) operational standards are 90% of admitted (to
hospital) and 95% of non-admitted patients (out-patients) should start
consultant-led treatment within 18 weeks of referral. In order to sustain
delivery of these standards 92% of patients who have not yet started
treatment (incompletes) should have been waiting no longer than 18 weeks.

18.

At August 2014, the 18 week target for admitted patients was not achieved.
West Leicestershire CCG is reporting 85.1% and East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG is at 83.2% against a target of 90%. This is showing a small
improvement from the June 2014 position previously reported. The 18 week
standard for non-admitted patients and incompletes has been achieved.
Specialty level performance is being closely monitored for all services with a
focus on incompletes and clearance times to sustain performance.
Performance has deteriorated significantly in September as UHL focuses on
reducing the backlog. Increased referrals to direct access diagnostics,
particularly MRI are of concern as there is limited capacity which is causing
delays in the system. The admitted trajectory has now been set to achieve by
the end of November 2014 at bottom line.

Accident and Emergency (A&E) - 4 Hour Waiting Time
19.

As at 21/09/14, 89.29% of patients were seen within 4 hours in A&E against a
target of 95%. Year to date performance has improved slightly from the June
2014 position. Discussions with the provider on re-investing penalty monies
are likely to be based on the achievement of 3 or more key outcome
measures. Nationally there is focus on Accident and Emergency and RTT as
a system. A single resilience plan was submitted and has been assured with
support by the Trust Development Authority and Area Team for NHS England.
Key areas of work include; inflow, ambulatory pathways, discharge, UHL
internal actions, surge and capacity. Locally there will be a single set of
metrics to performance manage the system holding UHL to account.
Evaluation of the impact of winter monies could be problematic due to the new
way of working.

Cancer Waits – 2 Week Waits, 2 Week Waits for Breast Symptoms, 31 Day Wait and
31 Day Waits for Surgery
20.

At July 2014, there have been breaches of a number of cancer wait standards
for West Leicestershire CCG and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG.
Performance issues with cancer waits are due to the increase in referrals for 2
week waits and the knock on impact on 2 week wait - 31 day and 62 day
performance. An activity query notice has been raised by UHL and the CCGs
have responded. It has been agreed that the next steps regarding the
performance concerns is to form a Clinical Problem Solving Group which will
address both the Activity Query Notice lines of enquiry, as well as focusing on
tumour sites recovery. The group will be established in October 2014.

305

Cancelled Operations – Non Readmitted within 28 Days
21.

At July 2014, 96% of patients were seen against a target of 100%. This is an
improvement since reported last quarter. Various actions are in place to
improve the service as reported previously. Breaches of the standard are
being monitored on a monthly basis. Commissioners have discussed
reasonable notice and lessons learnt from the July position and a first
exception notice will be issued.

Mixed Sex Accommodation
22.

At August 2014, there were seven breaches at UHL. This equates to two
occasions during Q1.
These were subject to Root Cause Analysis
investigation and UHL have taken actions to educate staff.

Safety Thermometer
23.

The NHS Safety Thermometer is a local improvement tool for measuring,
monitoring and analysing patient harms and “harm free” care. At May 2014,
UHL is reporting 94.5% against a target of 95%, which remains in line with the
national position.

East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS)
Ambulance Response Times
24.

At August 2014, all ambulance response times have deteriorated from the
position reported in June 2014. Red 1 is at 73.2% and Red 2 is at 74%
against a standard of 75%. Category A (19 minutes) is at 94.6% against a
standard of 95%. Data at CCG level for August 2014 is reported as follows:
• Cat A (8 minutes)
• Cat A (8 minutes)
• Cat A (19 minutes)

Red 1 WL 63.8% and ELR 57.22% (Target 75%)
Red 2 WL 67%% and ELR 61.47% (Target 75%)
WL 93.1% and ELR 94.23%
(Target 95%)

Ambulance Handovers
25.

Ambulance handovers continue to be a major issue. At August 2014, 16% of
handovers between ambulance and A&E took place in over 30 minutes
against a zero tolerance. This position has improved slightly from 17.2%
reported in Quarter 1. However, UHL and EMAS are working together to
address issues that are having an impact. EMAS has also advised that there
has been a general increase across the system in relation to call volumes
reflected by their escalation status. Recruitment at EMAS to assist with
handover performance is underway. There is also a major recruitment
programme which will impact on ambulance response times in Quarter 3.
Contract levers are being applied as per contract provisions. Commissioners,
East Midlands Ambulance Service and UHL have focused on the

306

responsibilities of the providers through the “journey”, and assessing the
impact of actions agreed.
Outcomes Framework - Clinical Commissioning Group Performance
26.

The NHS Outcomes Framework covers 5 domains and a set of indicators
within each one on which CCGs are nationally accountable to NHS England
to ensure improvement. Data for a number of indicators have now been
published, and the following provides an overview by exception.

Dementia Diagnosis
27.

This indicator is to improve the number of people who have a clinical
diagnosis of dementia; it measures the number of people with a diagnosis of
dementia as a proportion of the number estimated to have the condition. At
August 2014, there were 51.1% of patients diagnosed with dementia for West
Leicestershire CCG and 45.5% diagnosed for East Leicestershire and Rutland
CCG against a national standard of 67%. A Direct Enhanced Service (DES)
is monitored contractually by the Area Team, and is a CCG priority within their
plans. The National Audit Office advocated the need for “investment in
improved and expanded dementia care management, incorporating earlier
diagnosis”. West Leicestershire CCG are in the process of recruiting a clinical
lead with responsibility for dementia. One of their key tasks will be working
with practices and providers to support the diagnosis of dementia. Practices
are being issued with regional best practice that will have a positive impact on
achieving the diagnosis rate.

Employment of people with Long Term Conditions (LTC) and Employment of people
with Mental Illness (MI).
28.

These indicators are to show the improvement in employment rates for people
with Long Term Conditions (LTC) and Mental Illness (MI). It measures the
percentage point difference between the proportion of people in the general
working population who are in employment and the proportion of people of
working age with a LTC or MI who are in employment. Reported data for
these indicators are showing deterioration from July 2013 – Sept 2013 to Jan
2014 – March 2014 for Leicestershire, as the percentage point difference has
increased.
•
•

29.

LTC – 10.1% percentage point difference has increased to 14.8%
MI – 29% percentage point difference has increased to 40.8%

Leicestershire and Leicester Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) is carrying out a
range of activities to increase employment and support job creation.
Nationally the EU Structural and Investment Fund Strategy will provide
monies towards a new employment and skills hub which aims to meet the
needs of those furthest from the labour market.

307

NHS Dental Services
30.

This indicator is to improve patient’s experience of NHS Dental Services. It
measures the weighted percentage of people who report their overall
experience of NHS dental services as “very good” or “fairly good”. Latest
reporting period for July 2013 – March 2014 shows West Leicestershire CCG
at 91.9% and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG at 86% of patients
reporting good experience of dental services which is deterioration on Jan –
Sept 2013 of 94% and 92% respectively. Commissioning of the service is
undertaken by the Area Team, and its clinically led Dental Local Network
(LPN) is focusing on patient pathways and quality of service provision. They
have engaged Healthwatch and the Patient Liaison Service (PALS) to advise
on patient and public engagement for commissioning of services. Actions to
improve service quality include assessment and addressing of patient
complaints, an oral needs assessment which will be completed in the Autumn
and a Dental Assurance Framework for providers.

Access to GP Services
31.

This indicator is to improve patient’s experience of access to GP Services. It
measures the weighted percentage of people who report their experience of
making a GP appointment as “very good” or “fairly good”. Latest reporting
period for July 2013 – March 2014 shows West Leicestershire CCG at 75.4%
and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG at 71.98% of patients reporting
good experience of access to GP Services, a deterioration on Jan – Sept
2013 of 77% for both West Leicestershire CCG and East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG. The analysis of data will form part of the annual quality and
performance visits taking place in Quarter 3/4.

MRSA
32.

At August 2014, there were no reported incidences of MRSA. Following
arbitration, cases were assigned to a third party

Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT)
33.

Performance issues against ‘Efficient Services’ indicators are detailed below.
Data and commentary are taken directly from the LPT Board Papers for
September 2014.

% Occupancy Rate Community

% Delayed Patients
(Community )
Average Length of Stay

Performance for the month of August stands at 88.9%
against the 93% or above target. Community wards with
lower bed occupancy than the whole during the month
were Fielding Palmer General Ward (89.1%), Hinckley
S'Side East Ward (83.6%), and Rutland Ward (81.8%).
Performance has improved compared to June and reads
as 2.08% for August 2014 against the target of 2.12%
for the month.
The average length of stay at August was 17.3, an

308

(Community hospital
rehab wards)
34.

improvement on the June figure of 19.

Performance issues against ‘Quality – Safe Care’ indicators are detailed
below. Data and commentary are taken directly from the LPT Board papers
for September 2014.

Never Events

Strategic Executive Information
System (STEIS) – Serious
Incident (SI) action plans
implemented within timescales
STEIS is the system used to
report serious untoward incidents

Infection control – C Diff (MH and
Community)

Compliance with hygiene code

The Never Event occurred at Hinckley Hospital
North Ward. It was a never event concerning
medication and a particular drug used in the
treatment of cancer that should only be
prescribed and administered once a week but
was administered on 2 consecutive days with a
near miss on the 3rd day. It is subject to a
Serious Incident (SI) investigation and is
notifiable to the National Patient Safety Agency
as a never event. The SI is being investigated
by a panel and the report is due at the end of
October.
Performance against this indicator for the
month of August is 84.2%, with FYPC
implementing 0 out of 3 action plans within
timescales. This indicator considers only those
SI action plans that should have been
completed by the latest month. SI
investigations must be closed within 60
working days. Only then are any action plans
implemented, each SI action plan will have its
own deadline.
Monitor target reflects the annual de minimus
limit set at 12 cases as set out in the Monitor
Risk Assurance Framework and is monitored
each quarter. The Commissioner threshold is
set provisionally at nine cases and is reported
monthly as per the Quality Schedule for
2014/15. There have been two cases of C Diff
for August which takes the year to date
position at four cases. Both cases were on St
Luke's Ward 3, but after review, the cases are
not linked in either time or place and are
treated as separate.
The current status of amber for the health code
is the continuing work around compliance with
the decontamination strategy for podiatry, the
works required for the Mental Health Services
for Older People wards have now been
completed. Health code assessment form
continues to be populated and is currently
under review to support assurance
requirements.

309

Health and Wellbeing Strategic Priorities Dashboard - Appendix C
35.

Appendix C to this report is a dashboard summarising the performance
against key strategic health and wellbeing priorities. The priorities include
Better Public Health, Better Physical Health, improving Children and Young
People’s Health and Better Mental Health.

36.

The indicators included in each section are listed in the additional information
box and any RED exceptions are highlighted with performance commentary
against them. A number of issues highlighted include take up of NHS health
checks. The Health Check Service is being re-procured along with efforts to
encourage pharmacies and GPs to improve Health Check take up. Smoking
cessation services, where reduced results are attributable to increased use of
e-cigarettes. The stop smoking service is also being re-procured. Child dental
health is set out in the paragraphs below as is mental health.

Child Oral Health
37.

A survey of the oral health of five year olds was conducted in 2012 and
published in autumn 2013. This identifies the prevalence and severity of
dental decay by measuring the number of decayed, missing and filled teeth.
Data from the survey shows that the prevalence and severity of tooth decay in
some districts of Leicestershire is higher than the England average. The data
is being used to develop an oral health promotion plan, including training
frontline staff to deliver basic oral health promotion advice and developing a
range of information materials to offer families for different stages in their
child’s oral development. In addition it will include training for staff in preschool settings to undertake supervised tooth brushing with children in their
care. A major factor in tooth decay is the frequent intake of refined sugar,
which also contributes to other health problems such as obesity. Work
underway to improve the diet of families with young children will therefore also
contribute to the improvement of oral health more widely.

Mental Health
38.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has identified mental health as an important
priority in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The County Council has also
updated its priorities and targets including reducing unhappiness and anxiety
scores, reducing excess under 75 mortality in adults with a mental illness,
reducing wait times for assessment/treatment and good emotional health of
children in care. Performance reporting on these areas is still being developed
and will be reported to future meetings.

39.

Performance in relation to access to psychological therapies (IAPT) is covered
in the provider dashboard. At August 2014, patients accessing IAPT for both
WL CCG and ELR CCG have not achieved the trajectory. West Leicestershire
CCG is at 13.2% and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG is at 13.5%
against a 16% target. Performance has improved for July and August and a
number of initiatives are in place.
DNA text reminders have been
implemented and two pilot self-referrals have started in Melton Mowbray.

310

Additional initiatives are to be brought forward to develop the service further
and to aid in the number of referrals being generated in order to achieve the
target. These include increased clinical time to absorb demand; a telephone
triage system to be in place by November 2014 and a self-referral service in
place for older people via Age Concern in quarter 3. Opportunities are also
being investigated with Community Leicester Arthritis Group (Clash),
Dementia Carers Group and “Breathe Easy”.
40.

The following mental health related performance indicators have been
updated from LPT Board reports.

Occupancy Rate – Mental
Health

% Delayed Patients (MH)

Total number of Home
Treatment episodes carried out
by Crisis Resolution team (year
to date)

Early intervention in Psychosis % newly diagnosed cases
against commissioner contract

Performance against this indicator has increased
with Mental Health Bed Occupancy for the month of
August at 88.3% against the trust target of 85% or
below. Performance for the divisions’ stand at Adult
Mental Health and Learning Disabilities (89.9%),
Community Health Services (86.7%), and Families,
Young People and Children (81.4%).
Performance against this indicator has improved for
the month of August to 3.7% from 4.6% reported at
June and stays within the Monitor 7.5% target.
The year to date performance as of August was 667
home treatment episodes carried out, this is 93.4%
against a pro-rata target of 725. This is expected to
be a seasonal blip and based on last year lower
performance is expected in Aug/Sep, performance
should be recovered in Oct/Nov.
The performance at August was 54.6% and is the
result of six newly diagnosed cases against a
provisional monthly commissioner target of 11,
however, the YTD position is at 121.8% and
therefore achieving the 95% target. Small numbers
involved in the denominator for calculation of this
indicator can equate to significant swings in
performance month on month.

Background papers
Leicestershire Partnership Trust Board Papers can be found at the following link:
http://www.leicspart.nhs.uk/_Aboutus-Trustboardmeetings2014September2014.aspx
University Hospitals Leicester Trust Board meetings can be found at the following
link:
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-ofdirectors/board-meeting-dates/

311

Recommendations
41.

The Board is asked to:
a) note the performance summary, issues identified this quarter and actions
planned in response to improve performance; and
b) comment on any recommendations or other issues with regard to the report.

List of Appendices
Appendix A - Better Care Fund - Integration Executive Summary Dashboard
Appendix B - Provider and CCG Performance Summary Dashboard
Appendix C - Health and Wellbeing Strategic Priorities Summary Dashboard

Officers to Contact
Kate Allardyce and Sarah Cooke - Performance Team (Leicester & Lincoln)
Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit
Tel: 0116 295 7272, Mobile: 07795126428
Email: Sarah.Cooke@gemcsu.nhs.uk
Andy Brown, Performance & Business Intelligence Team Leader, Leicestershire
County Council. Tel: 0116 3056096 Email: andy.brown@leics.gov.uk

312

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A - Better Care Fund - Integration Executive
Dashboard
313
Better Care Fund
RAG Status Guidelines
Dimension

RAG Status

Guidelines

Notes
Add any appropriate headline commentary - e.g. important
milestones met etc

GREEN

Savings on track or ahead of schedule

AMBER

Savings are off track by up to -10%

Exception commentary must be provided

RED

Savings are off track by more than -10%

Exception commentary must be provided

N/A

Savings have not yet been defined for this scheme

Exception commentary must be provided

This scheme has been identified as an enabler

Add any appropriate headline commentary - e.g. important
milestones met etc

GREEN

Action plan development and/or milestones are on target

Add any appropriate headline commentary - e.g. important
milestones met etc

AMBER

There are minor delays in the action plan milestones of up to
Exception commentary must be provided
30 days

RED

There are action plan milestones delayed more than 30 days
Exception commentary must be provided
/ BP delayed

N/A

Scheme not yet due to start

Please provide a start date

GREEN

Costs are on target

Add any appropriate headline commentary - e.g. important
milestones met etc

AMBER

There is likely to be an overspend / underspend of up to 10%
Exception commentary must be provided
of the agreed budget

Savings

E

Action plan milestones

Finance

RED

It is highly likely there will be an overspend / underspend
greater than 10% of the agreed budget

Exception commentary must be provided

N/A

Budget not set for current financial year

Add any appropriate headline commentary - e.g. important
milestones met etc

GREEN

Assessed impact on primary metric(s) is on track

Add any appropriate headline commentary - e.g. important
milestones met etc

AMBER

It is likely there will be a negative impact on the primary
metric(s) of up to 10%

Exception commentary must be provided

RED

It is highly likely there will be a negative impact on the
primary metric(s) greater than 10%

Exception commentary must be provided

N/A

Contribution to metrics not yet developed

Exception commentary must be provided

This scheme has been identified as an enabler

Add any appropriate headline commentary - e.g. important
milestones met etc

Impact on metrics

E
Better Care Fund
BCF Metrics
Metric

Target

Current
data

Trend

Data RAG

DOT

Commentary

ñ

Definitions for the measures in the Adult Social Care
Outcomes Framework (ASCOF)have been revised due to the
wholesale change to source data tables from 2014/15. These
changes require substantial work to reporting which will be
undertaken through the autumn/ winter. In the interim an
alternative measure of permanent admissions will be
developed and reported. Current data shows an estimate of
the final year figure for 2014/15 based on the position at the
end of Q2. This should be seen as a rough estimate due to
the comprehensive change to statutory reporting to the
Health and Social Care Information Centre . Target is for
March 2016.

ñ

This ASCOF measure relates to hospital discharges between
October and December 2014 followed by accommodation
location between January and March 2015. A rolling 6-month
performance will be reported here starting with the period AprSep 2014. Current data show the position at September
2014. Target is for March 2016

691
METRIC 1: Permanent admissions of older people (aged
65 and over) to residential and nursing care homes, per
100,000 population, per year

670.39

679.1

679.1

NA

METRIC 2: Proportion of older people (65 and over) who
were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital
into reablement / rehabilitation services

82.01%

83.0%

METRIC 3: Delayed transfers of care from hospital per
100,000 population (average per month)

350.48

377.59

METRIC 4: Total non-elective admissions into hospital
(general and acute), per 100,000 population, per month

644.57

672.31

NA

Current data shows agreed baseline. Target shown is pay for
performance target of 644.57 for December 2015. March
2016 target is 684.78

METRIC 5: Patient / service user experience. Patients
satisfied with support to manage long term health
conditions

66.8%

64.2%

NA

Current data shows agreed 2013/14 baseline. Target is for
March 2016.

METRIC 6: Injuries due to falls in people aged 65 and
over per 100,000 population, per month

140.47

151.42 10/11

NA

Current data shows agreed baseline. Target is for March
2016.

83%

77.9
%

G

377.59
R
361.79

168.2

Exception information

A Unified Prevention Offer for Communities
Schemes

JHWS Priority

151.42
13/14

ò

Current data shows the monthly average for the year to date
to September 2014. Target is for March 2016.

Schemes

Theme Lead

Exception commentary

Additional information

The integration of this scheme is yet to start and
has been delayed. Amber RAG status to reflect
this. This will be discussed at a Step Up/Step
Down Programme Board meeting.

Assistive technology
Anne Walsh
ACTION
PLAN

2

5
Improving Community
Based Prevention through
Local Area Coordination

Managing the
shift to early
intervention
and prevention

The process is going well but there is a slight
delay with the project, in particular to
recruitment. It is predicted that the earliest that
the LAC manager will be in post is January 2015
Nicole Rickard
but this may be delayed depending on notice
period. This is being monitored by the LAC
leadership group.

FINANCE

7

All projects are on track.

METRIC

7

All projects are on track.

SAVINGS

7

All projects are on track.

Carers Service: The outcome of the formal
public consultation was noted by Cabinet.
Permission for the procurement process for the
proposed carer support offer to commence as
soon as practicable with a view for all new
contracts being in place no later than 1 October
2015. The contract for the countywide extension
of the GP Health & Wellbeing Service is being
put out to tender on 13th October 2014. A
framework agreement for accessing carer
respite services for carers is currently being
developed and it is intended to have this in place
as soon as practicable. Once in place carers’
will access support and respite using their
carers’ personal budgets.
Assistive Technology: Charging was
introduced on 4th August. There has been some
disincentive from some service users to move
from a free service and this is being monitored.

APPENDIX A - Better Care Fund - Integration Executive Dashboard
314
Exception information

Integrated Urgent Response
Schemes

JHWS Priority

ACTION
PLAN

Schemes

Theme Lead

5

Exception commentary

All projects are on track.

5
All projects are on track.

FINANCE
HWBS 10:
Planning for an
ageing
population
5

All projects are on track.

METRIC

SAVINGS

All projects are on track.

5

Schemes

Schemes

Minimum Safe Data Set

ACTION
PLAN

1

1

Theme Lead

TBC

Jackie Wright

TBC
1

8

Integrated Residential
Reablement

12

All projects are on track.

SAVINGS

12

All projects are on track.

Exception information

Integrated, proactive care for those with long-term conditions
Schemes

1

Schemes

Theme Lead

Exception commentary

4

All projects are on track.

3

METRIC

7

All projects are on track.

SAVINGS

7

All projects are on track.

Schemes

FINANCE

Improving Quality in Care Homes:
QIT/Safeguarding. New safeguarding threshold
tool introduced across LLR. A slow reduction in
care home safeguarding investigations being
identified.

Exception information

JHWS Priority

ACTION
PLAN

Additional information

Continuing Healthcare

6

Further Integration schemes

KEY:

Jackie Wright

Single Point of Access: Increased capacity to
the SPA to support GP activity and also EMAS
Fall Pathway Admission Avoidance will go live
on 1 November.
LLR-wide workshop being planned to review
strategic SPA needs in December.

Expenditure on the residential reablement
service is likely to be less than budgeted as
activity has not reached expected levels.
Further work is being done to quantify the actual
value of underspend over the coming weeks.

METRIC

FINANCE

Additional information

Currently in the process of reviewing the practice
guidance, eligibility and service users that have
been through the scheme. There is concern that
many of the outcomes are poor and are not cost
effective.

2

FINANCE

HWBS 12.
Management
of long-term
conditions

Exception commentary

The level of underspend will be determined by
the delay to the project. At this stage it is
anticipated that any underspend will roll into
2015/16.

Minimum Safe Data Set

ACTION
PLAN

Rapid Response Falls Service: Phase 1
includes EMAS paramedics being trained in falls
risk assessment with the aim of significantly
increasing the number of non-conveyance of
patients that have fallen. The training starts on
16th October.

Delays in decision on which tool should be used.
Report being provided to October Integration
Executive. Clear project lead needs to be agreed
(LLR wide)

HWBS 11.
Maximising
independence

JHWS Priority

Rapid Assessment for Older Person's Unit:
The Older Person’s Unit opened on 1st October
at Loughborough Hospital. As at 16th October
four patients have used the service (with good
feedback). A campaign plan is being
implemented. A progress update is on the
Integration Executive agenda.

10
Integrated Residential
Reablement

1

Integrated Health & Care Crisis Response
Service (ICRS): The overnight nursing
assessment extension to the service launched
on 1st September. Up to the 13th October, the
night service has received 31 referrals of which
20 (65%) were cancer patients. This will be
monitored as the service continues and will form
part of the evaluation, e.g. is this identifying
gaps in service provision for EoL patients, did
the intervention prevent a hospital admission,
etc. The evaluation is expected around the end
of March 15.

Exception information

Improved Hospital Discharge and Reablement
JHWS Priority

Additional information

1

Schemes

2

3

1

5

Transitions

Theme Lead

Louisa Whait

Management of LD Pooled
Louisa Whait
Budget

Exception commentary

Additional information

Working with CYPS in relation to implementation
of Children and Families Act.
Winterbourne View Concordat:
Commissioners have adopted Driving Up Quality
Code
Risk of overspend to LD pooled budget. Early
forecasts estimate this to be c£1m, split 50:50
between the County Councils and CCGs. Further
detailed analysis to be undertaken.

METRIC

6

All projects are on track.

SAVINGS

6

All projects are on track.

Joint LD Self Assessment Framework:
Issues have been raised around collecting GP
data. Papers been submitted to LD Programme
Board.
Transitions: Issues identified around local offer
and joint commissioning arrangements. Being
taken forward by LD Programme Board.

315
APPENDIX B - Provider and CCG Performance Dashboard
Providers
Supporting Indicators

Exception Indicators

UHL

Indicator

Comment

Friends & Family Test Score - A&E

The UHL friends and family test score for A&E was 56 against a
target of 69.

Patient Experience

Referral to Treatment

1

3

1 1

At August 2014 the 18 week target for admitted patients was not
18 Week Referral to Treatment Admitted achieved although performance improved slightly from June
results. WLCCG is reporting 85.1% and EL&RCCG is at 83.2%
(All Providers) (ELRCCG)
against a target of 90%

5

Performance on track

2

Diagnostic Waiting Time

As at 21.09.14, 89.29% of patients were seen within 4 hours in
UHL Emergency Dept. Waiting Time < 4
A&E against a target of 95%. This is a slight improvement of the
Hours
July YTD position.
ED Waiting Times

Emergency Dept. Handovers between
UHL ED & Ambulance > 30 mins

1

3

Emergency Dept. Handovers between
UHL ED & Ambulance > 1 Hour

UHL Delayed Transfers of Care - no. of
patients as a % of occupied bed days

1

Delayed Transfer of Care

7

Cancer Waiting Times

Hospital Quality

2

1

1

At August 2014 2.7% of handovers between ambulance and A&E
took place in over 1 hour against a zero tolerance
As at August 2014 4.54% were delayed against a national target
of 3.5%. Pilots for changes to pathways are being implemented
and a second will commence in October 2014

Performance on track

Cancelled Operations - non re-admitted
in 28 days

3

At August 2014 16% of handovers between ambulance and A&E
took place in over 30 minutes against a zero tolerance

Mixed Sex Accommodation

At July 2014 96% of patients were treated within 28 days of their
cancelled operation against a target of 100%, this is an
improvement on the 92.9% reported at May 2014.
At August 2014 there were 7 breaches at UHL. This equates to 2
occasions during Q1. These were subject to Root Cause
Analysis investigation and UHL have taken actions to educate
staff.

EMAS
Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red
1 (8 minutes) conditions life threatening At August WLCCG is reporting 63.8% against a target of 75%
& most time critical (WLCCG)

Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red
1 (8 minutes) conditions life threatening At August ELRCCG is reporting 57.22% against a target of 75%
& most time critical (ELRCCG)
Ambulance Response Times

4

5

Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red
2 (8 minutes) conditions life threatening
& most time critical, less so than Red 1 At August WLCCG is reporting 67% against a target of 75%
(WLCCG)
Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red
2 (8 minutes) conditions life threatening
& most time critical, less so than Red 1 At August ELRCCG is reporting 61.47% against a target of 75%
(ELRCCG)

LPT

Mental Health

Community & Other

1

1

1

1

2

Early intervention in Psychosis - %
newly diagnosed cases against
commissioner contract

2

The year to date performance as of August was 667 home
Total number of Home Treatment
treatment episodes carried out, this is 93.4% against a pro-rata
episodes carried out by Crisis Resolution target of 725. This is expected to be a seasonal blip and based
team year to date
on last year lower performance is expected in Aug/Sep,
performance should be recovered in Oct/Nov

3

Never Events
Quality - Safe Care

3

1

1

STEIS - SI actions plans implemented
within timescales
Clostridium Difficile (C Diff) Cases

KEY:

Small numbers involved in the denominator for calculation of this
indicator can equate to significant swings in performance month
on month. 54.6% for the month of August is the result 6 newly
diagnosed cases, the YTD position is at 121.8%.

This was a never event concerning the administering of
medication. The SI is being investigated by a panel and the
report is due at the end of October
At August 2014, 84.2% of STEIS - SI action plans were
implemented within timescales against a target of 100%.
The Clostridium Difficile total number of cases for LPT for August
is 2 with the year to date at 4. Both cases were on the same
ward but after review, the cases are not linked in either time or
place and are treated as separate

316
APPENDIX B - Provider and CCG Performance Dashboard
CCG Indicators
Supporting Indicators

Exception Indicators

West Leicestershire CCG

Indicator

Domain 1 Preventing people from dying
prematurely

2

1

Performance on track

Estimated diagnosis rate of people with
dementia

Domain 2 Enhancing quality of life for
people with Long Term Conditions

3

4

1

Employment of people with long term
conditions (difference between England
population and people with LTC)
Employment of people with mental
illness (difference between England
population and people with LTC)

Domain 3 Helping people to recover
from episodes of ill health or following
injury

1

2

3

At August WLCCG is reporting 51.1% of patients diagnosed with
dementia against the national standard of 67%. Currently in the
process of recruiting a clinical lead to improve performance.
This indicator has deteriorated from July 2013 – Sept 2013 to Jan
2014 – March 2014 for Leicestershire, as the percentage point
difference has increased from 10.1% to 14.8%
This indicator has deteriorated from July 2013 – Sept 2013 to Jan
2014 – March 2014 for Leicestershire, as the percentage point
difference has increased from 29% to 40.8%

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not
Emergency Admissions for acute
usually require hospital admission is currently above the local
conditions that should not usually require
target for WLCCG. Reduction of emergency admissions is being
hospital admission (WLCCG)
addressed as part of the QIPP process.
The Burton friends and family test score for A&E was 62 against
a target of 70.
Friends & Family Test Burton Score A&E

Domain 4 Ensuring that people have a
positive experience of care

Comment

3

1

Overall experience of NHS Dental
Service
Access to GP Services

Patients rating their experience of dental services as "very good"
or "fairly good" has deteriorated from Jan 2013 – Sept 2013 to Jul
2014 – Mar 2014 for WLCCG from 94% to 91.9%, actions to
improve service quality are taking place.
Patients rating their experience of access to GP services as
"very good" or "fairly good" has deteriorated from Jan 2013 –
Sept 2013 to Jul 2014 – Mar 2014 for WLCCG from 77% to
75.4%.

Domain 5 Treating and caring for people
in a safe environment and protecting
them from avoidable harm

2

Performance on track

Dying at home

1

Performance on track

1

Psychological Therapies

Psychological Therapies - % of people
who enter the service

1

At August 2014 13.2% of WLCCG patients entered the service
against a target of 16%. Additional initiatives are to be brought
forward to develop the service further and to help meet the target

East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG
Domain 1 Preventing people from dying
prematurely

Domain 2 Enhancing quality of life for
people with Long Term Conditions

Domain 3 Helping people to recover
from episodes of ill health or following
injury

Domain 4 Ensuring that people have a
positive experience of care

2

1

3

4

1

1

Estimated diagnosis rate of people with
dementia

At August EL&RCCG is reporting 45.5% of patients diagnosed
with dementia against the national standard of 67%.

Employment of people with long term
conditions (difference between England
population and people with LTC)

This indicator has deteriorated from July 2013 – Sept 2013 to Jan
2014 – March 2014 for Leicestershire, as the percentage point
difference has increased from 10.1% to 14.8%

Employment of people with mental
illness (difference between England
population and people with LTC)

This indicator has deteriorated from July 2013 – Sept 2013 to Jan
2014 – March 2014 for Leicestershire, as the percentage point
difference has increased from 29% to 40.8%

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not
Emergency Admissions for acute
usually require hospital admission is currently above the local
conditions that should not usually require
target for EL&RCG. Reduction of emergency admissions is being
hospital admission (ELRCCG)
addressed as part of the QIPP process.

2

2

Performance on track

1

1

Overall experience of NHS Dental
Service
Access to GP Services

Patients rating their experience of access to GP services as
"very good" or "fairly good" has deteriorated from Jan 2013 –
Sept 2013 to Jul 2014 – Mar 2014 for EL&RCCG from 77% to
71.98%.

Domain 5 Treating and caring for people
in a safe environment and protecting
them from avoidable harm

2

Performance on track

Dying at home

1

Performance on track

Psychological Therapies

KEY:

Patients rating their experience of dental services as "very good"
or "fairly good" has deteriorated from Jan 2013 – Sept 2013 to Jul
2014 – Mar 2014 for EL&RCCG from 92% to 86%, actions to
improve service quality are taking place.

1

1

Psychological Therapies - % of people
who enter the service

At August 2014 13.5% of EL&RCCG patients entered the service
against a target of 16%. Additional initiatives are to be brought
forward to develop the service further and to help meet the target

APPENDIX C - Health and Wellbeing Strategic Priorities
Dashboard
317
Better Public Health
Priority

Exception commentary

Reduce Health Inequalities and Increase Life
Expectancy

2

Reduce Cancer Mortality

2

1

Various actions and plans in place to help address obesity.

22,000 Chlamydia tests undertaken, screening coverage higher
than average but increasing this further will be important.

2

1

This section includes the following indicators:
1. % of adults classified as overweight or obese (Leics)
(PHOF 2.12)

This section includes the following indicators:
1. % successful completion of drug treatment - opiate users
(PHOF 2.15i)
Changes to hospital admissions definition, new target and actions
2. % successful completion of drug treatment - non-opiate
aiming to take us to top quartile.
users (PHOF 2.15ii)
3. Admissions to hospital for alcohol related causes (rate per
100,000) (Leics) (PHOF 2.18)

3

1

This section includes the following indicators:
1. Under 75 mortality rate from all cardiovascular diseases
(Persons per 100,000) (Leics) (PHOF 4.04i)
2. Under 75 mortality rate from respiratory disease (Persons
per 100,000) (Leics) (PHOF 4.07i)

This section includes the following indicators:
1. Under 75 mortality rate from cancer (Persons per 100,000)
(Leics) (PHOF 4.05i)
Various actions to help people become more aware of cancer risk
2. % of eligible women screened - breast cancer (Leics)
factors and adopt healthier lifestyles.
(PHOF 2.20i)
3. % of eligible women screened - cervical cancer (Leics)
(PHOF 2.20ii)

1

Reduce the Harm of Substance Misuse - Drugs
and Alcohol

Tobacco Control and Smoking Cessation

Performance on track

2

Healthy Weight Adults

Improved Sexual Health

This section includes the following indicators:
1. Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth (Males)
(Leics) (PHOF 0.2iii)
2. Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth (Females)
Health Check services being re-procured along with efforts to
(Leics) (PHOF 0.2iii)
encourage pharmacies and GPs to improve Health Check take up.
3. Life expectancy at birth (Males) (Leics) (PHOF 0.1ii)
4. Life expectancy at birth(Females) (Leics) (PHOF 0.1ii)
5. Take up of the NHS Health Check Programme – by those
eligible (2.22IV)

3

Reduce Premature Mortality from Respiratory
and Cardiovascular Disease

Additional information

1

1

A remedial action plan has been agreed between public health
commissioners and the local service STOP, which has attributed
much of the decline to the increased use and popularity of
electronic cigarettes (e-cigs). Currently, the stop smoking service is
in its second stage of re-procurement, with six potential providers
invited to tender.

This section includes the following indicators:
1. Chlamydia diagnoses (rate per 100,000 15-24 year olds)
(Leics) (PHOF 3.02ii)
2. People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection - % of
presentations (Leics) (PHOF 3.04)
3. Under 18 conceptions (rate per 1,000) (Leics) (PHOF 2.04)

This section includes the following indicators:
1. Prevalence of smoking among persons aged 18 years and
over (Leics) (PHOF 2.14)
2. Number of self-reported 4 week smoking quitters (Leics)
3. % of women smoking at time of delivery (Leics) (PHOF
2.03)

Better Physical Health
Priority

Exception commentary

2

Active Young People

2

Active Adults

1

Additional information

Performance on track

This section includes the following indicators:
1. % of physically active children - participation in more than
3hrs a week of curriculum sport only
2. % of physically active children - participation in more than
3hrs a week of community sport only

Variety of actions underway to promote physical activity.

This section includes the following indicators:
1. % of physically inactive adults (Leics) (PHOF 2.13ii)
2. % of adults participating in one or more sports a week for
30 minutes or more (Leics)
3. % of physically active adults (PHOF 2.13i)

Improving Children and Young Peoples Health
Priority

Exception commentary

Additional information

Oral health promotion plan being developed including training for
front line staff, a range of information materials for families and
supervised tooth brushing.

Child Healthy Weight and Good Diet

1

2

1

Breastfeeding and Maternity Support

This section includes the following indicators:
1. % of children with excess weight - 4-5 year olds (Leics)
(PHOF 2.06i)
2. % of children with excess weight - 10-11 year olds (Leics)
Significant increase in funding and activity to tackle obesity related (PHOF 2.06ii)
issues.
3. % children aged 5 years with one or more decayed, missing
or filled teeth (PHOF 4.02)

1

Peer support schemes in targeted areas to increase rates.

This section includes the following indicators:
1. % of mothers initiating breastfeeding (PHOF 2.02i)
2. % of mothers breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks (PHOF 2.02ii)

Better Mental Health
Priority

Exception commentary

Earlier Mental Health Detection and Treatment

2

3

Earlier Detection/ Treatment of mental health
problems in children

Effective Support for People with poor mental
health

KEY:

2

1

1

2

Additional information

Focussing on positive mental health through joint mental health
strategy.

This section includes the following indicators:
1. % of people with a low satisfaction score - self-reported wellbeing (Leics) (PHOF 2.23i)
2. % of people with a low happiness score - self-reported wellbeing (Leics) (PHOF 2.23iii)
3. % of people with a high anxiety score - self-reported wellbeing (Leics) (PHOF 2.23iv)
4. Excess under 75 mortality rate in adults with serious mental
illness (Leics) (PHOF 4.09)
5. Suicide rate (Persons per 100,000) (Leics) (PHOF 4.10)

Focussing on positive mental health through joint mental health
strategy. Q1 CAMHS wait time for routine referrals slightly
improved.

This section includes the following indicators:
1. Emotional health of looked after children - mean SDQ
scores (phof 2.08)
2. Average waiting time for routine referrals to Child &
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) - weeks
This section includes the following indicators:
1. Average length of stay in acute hospitals
2. Number of bed days commissioned from out of county
hospitals
3. Delayed transfers of care (mental health service users)
4. % of adults in contact with secondary mental health
services living in settled accommodation (ASCOF 1H)

318

This page is intentionally left blank

319

Agenda Item 15

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20th NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES

INFORMATION PAPER - ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE CHILDREN’S
RIGHTS SERVICE 2013-14
Purpose of report
1.

To inform the Board of the 2013-14 annual reports of the Children’s Rights Service
and to seek the support of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s membership to
contribute, as relevant, to the successful delivery of the actions identified in the Work
Plans.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

This is the first time the Children’s Rights Service Annual Reports have been
submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board – it is proposed that this will now be the
approach taken on an annual basis. It is not a statutory requirement for the Local
Authority to produce a Children’s Rights Service Annual Report but it is considered
good practice in relation to ensuring children’s needs around their rights and
advocacy are met. All agencies working with children should pay due regard to their
rights.

Background
3.

The Children’s Rights Service in Leicestershire has been established since 1987.
The service is located in the Safeguarding and Improvement Unit in the Children and
Family Services department. Up until June 2013 it provided an advocacy service for
children in care and care leavers but has now been extended, to provide advocacy
on behalf of children subject to a child protection plan also.

4.

The service focuses on aiding children and young people’s voices to be clearly
heard, listened to and acted upon so that they are a central part of the planning for
their safety, care, health and wellbeing and they contribute to the development and
improvement of the services designed to meet their needs.

5.

The reports provide an analysis of the effectiveness of the Children’s Rights Service
in Leicestershire; identify good practice but also highlight issues for further
development and identify actions required to achieve this.

320
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
6.

Consultation with children in care, care leavers and children and young people
subject to child protection plans and child protection processes is a key feature of the
work of the Children’s Rights Service and is reflected in the annual reports.

Resource Implications
7.

None of note at this stage

Conclusions/Recommendations
8.

The Board is requested to note the content of the Annual Reports and the
improvements and developments planned for 2014-15 as set out in the Work Plans.
The main priorities considered relevant for the Board:
•

Ensuring up to date information about the Children’s Rights Service is widely
available, readily accessible for all children and young people and actively
promoted.

•

The need for the Children’s Rights Service to develop a robust evaluation
process in order to review the impact and effectiveness the service is having
for children and young people to determine how best it can support improved
outcomes.

•

Improve accessibility and availability of suitable accommodation for care
leavers; there is a recognised benefit to emotional wellbeing as a result of
security and stability. This is currently being addressed through the Children
and Family Services Transformation Programme as part of the remodelling of
Children’s Social Care, including the Placements Service.

•

Improved and timely work around preparation for independence and healthy
transitions into adulthood. This forms part of the work being developed as a
result of Leicestershire’s commitment to the Care Leavers Charter.

Officer to Contact
Judith Jones
Acting Service Manager
Safeguarding and Improvement Unit
Telephone: 0116 3057411
Email: judith.jones@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
Children’s Rights Service Annual Reports 2013-14
Relevant Impact Assessments

321
Equality and Human Rights Implications
9.

These are addressed throughout the reports as the aim is to improve standards and
outcomes for all children and young people in care and those with safeguarding
needs, including disabled children, young children and those from minority and
harder to reach groups.

Risk Assessment
10. There are some national and local political implications given the work of the
Children’s Rights Service is subject to the scrutiny of Ofsted inspections.

322

This page is intentionally left blank

323

APPENDIX 1

LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES
SAFEGUARDING AND IMPROVEMENT SERVICE

Children’s Rights Service: Annual Reports 2013-14

Executive Summary
(i)

These reports outline the provision of children’s rights support and advocacy
in Leicestershire for children in care, care leavers and children and young
people involved in the child protection conference process, between 1st April
2013 and 31st March 2014.

(ii)

They highlight the context, purpose and aims for the service and identify
strengths, challenges and areas for improvement including work plans for
2014-15.

(iii)

The service focuses on aiding children and young people’s voices to be
clearly heard, listened to and acted upon so that they are a central part of the
planning for their safety, care, health and wellbeing and they contribute to the
development and improvement of the services designed to meet their needs.

(iv)

Strengths

(v)

•

Children and young people in Leicestershire are being empowered to have
a voice in child protection conferences and there is now an increased level
of active participation – they are reporting they feel heard and involved.

•

There is evidence of continuous improvement to some aspects of social
work practice, as a direct result of feedback from children and young
people.

•

The service has developed positive working relationships with partner
agencies for the benefit of children and young people.

•

There is good oversight of and provision of support to young people in
care placed out of county.

•

There are strong links and collaborative working with the Independent
Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service that offers a strengthened challenge to
ensure best outcomes for children and young people.

Challenges
•

Increased attendance where appropriate of young people at their child
protection conference.

324

(vi)

•

How to achieve clear influence on child protection planning and therefore
outcomes from young people’s participation.

•

Capacity to respond effectively to continuing demand on the service as the
numbers of children in care and remit for care leavers has continued to
increase.

•

Developing effective ways of increasing availability of advocacy and take
up across younger age groups and those with additional needs.

•

Developing a more systematic approach to collating information so that the
messages from the work undertaken with children and young people can
influence more effectively and consistently the services to them.

Areas for Improvement
•

Better quality and timely handovers and transitions between teams and
workers for children subject to child protection processes.

•

Improved arrangements from child protection conferences for more timely
feedback to children and young people.

•

Increase the number of young people participating in their child protection
conference and those willing to have an initial contact through
collaborative working between social workers, partner agencies and CRO.

•

For social work teams to improve communication and aid better
understanding to children and families regarding the child protection
process and conferences.

•

The need for the Children’s Rights Service to develop a robust evaluation
process in order to review the impact and effectiveness the service is
having for children and young people to determine how best it can support
improved outcomes.

•

Ensuring up to date information about the Children's Rights Service (CRS)
is widely available, readily accessible for all children and young people
and actively promoted.

•

Improve accessibility and availability of suitable accommodation for care
leavers and location of such in relation to e.g. Unaccompanied Asylum
Seeking Children (UASC)

•

Improved and timely work around preparation for independence and
transitions into adulthood.

325

326

327

APPENDIX 2

LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES
SAFEGUARDING AND IMPROVEMENT UNIT

Children’s Rights Service: Child Protection Annual Report 2013-14

Contents

1.

Introduction

2.

Purpose of the Service and Legal Context

3.

Aims and Objectives

4.

Child Protection Advocacy Service

5.

Quantitative Information

6.

Qualitative Information

7.

The Effectiveness of the Service

8.

Training and Development

9.

Recommended areas for improvement by the Operational Service 2014-15

Appendix 1: Performance of Child Protection Advocacy Service against 2013-14
Annual Work Programme
Appendix 2: Annual Work Programme 2014-15
Appendix 3: Statistics

328

1.0

Introduction

1.1

This report outlines the role of the Children’s Rights Service (CRS) in
Leicestershire in enabling children and young people subject to the child
protection conference process, to access advocacy. It is the second such
report to be produced. In previous years, any work with children and young
people subject to a child protection plan was included in the then generic
Children’s Rights Service Annual Reports.

1.2

The Children’s Rights Officer (CRO) with a lead for child protection post was
created following a successful Growth bid in 2012-13. The development of the
post was seen as increasing advocacy capacity within the established CRS
and was driven by recommendations following an Ofsted inspection of
Leicestershire’s safeguarding and looked after children’s services in March
2012. The purpose of the post was to support an increased focus on ensuring
children and young people’s voices being heard within the child protection
process: to improve the influence and contribution of children and young
people to the planning for their safety and welfare; to ensure their active
participation is facilitated where appropriate; and enhance their contribution
toward the development of child protection services.

1.3

The CRS is located within the Safeguarding & Improvement Unit (SIU) within
Children and Family Services (CFS). There are 2 FTE CROs, one with a lead
for child protection and the other with a lead for children in care. They work
alongside Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) and ensure a continued
degree of independence from social workers and managers with responsibility
for service delivery – significant in terms of the advocacy role, challenging
plans and decision making for children and young people where appropriate.

1.4

The Children’s Rights Child Protection Advocacy Service was officially
launched on 2nd June 2013.

1.5

This report highlights the context, purpose and aims for this service, but will
focus on the work of the service between 2nd June 2013 and 31st March 2014.
It will also include a plan for 2014-15 which will build on what has been
learned during the first year of the service.

2.0

Purpose of the Service and Legal Context

2.1

The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (hereafter CRC), Article 12
states that “parties shall assure to the child who is capable of forming his or
her own views the right to express those views freely in all matters affecting
the child, the views of the child being given due weight in accordance with the
age and maturity of the child”1. Similarly, the Children Act 1989 states that
“before making any decision with respect to a child whom they are looking
after … a local authority shall, so far as is reasonably practicable, ascertain

1

Convention on the Rights of the Child (adopted 20 November 1989, entered into force 2 September 1990)
1577 U.N.T.S. 3 (CRC).

329

the wishes and feelings of [the child]”2. Article 19 of the CRC conditions that
the state must take all appropriate measures to protect children from all forms
of violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation, while in the care of parents or
anyone who has the care of the child3. Similarly the Children Act places a duty
on Local Authorities to intervene to protect children where they suspect the
child is suffering or is likely to suffer significant harm4. Children, therefore,
have both the rights: to be protected and to have their voices heard. It follows
that where the local authority is intervening to uphold a child’s right to be
protected from harm that the child’s right to be heard is similarly respected.
2.2

In May 2011 the Munro Review stated that “[t]he child protection system
should be child-centred, recognising children and young people as individuals
with rights, including their right to participate in major decisions about them in
line with their age and maturity.”5 This was in recognition of the fact that the
child protection system was systematically failing, across the country, in terms
of ensuring that the voices of children and young people were heard and that
their views were acted upon.

2.3

Locally the Ofsted inspection for safeguarding and looked after children
(SLAC) in March 2012 identified some areas for improvement which related
directly to enabling children and young people going through the child
protection process to have access to advocacy and assistance to attend
conferences:
29.
Ensure that the advocacy service effectively enables children and
young people to attend, or be represented at, their child protection conference
should they so wish, with regard to their age and understanding.
The report also highlighted the fact that within Leicestershire ascertaining the
views of children and young people was not a strong enough focus and that
subsequently acting on their wishes and feelings couldn’t be measured
accurately.
47.
The views of children and young people subject to child protection
procedures are not routinely sought or given weight in making plans for them.
Insufficient numbers are invited to attend or be supported to participate at
conferences and it is not always clear from the reports submitted to these
meetings what their views are, and if they have been sought, in relation to the
safeguarding concerns.

2.4

It is widely accepted that only a small minority of children and young people
nationally attend their child protection conferences and for many it is not a
positive experience and can be quite intimidating6. The Munro Review

2

Children Act 1989, s.22
CRC Article 19, Supra n.1
4
Children Act, Part V (s.43-47)
5
Munro E. (2011) The Munro Review of Child Protection: Final Report - A Child-Centred System. TSO, London
(CM. 8062).
3

6

Cossar, J., Brandon, M., & Jordan, P (2011), ‘Don’t make assumptions’, Children’s and young
people’s views of the

330

highlighted the fact that children and young people’s views, wishes and
feelings are not sought enough throughout the child protection process and
that the entire system needs refocusing on the needs and experiences of
children7.
The evidence suggests that the voice of the child is not routinely heard or
effectively represented in the child protection process8.
2.5

Research has demonstrated that children and young people who have
attended child protection conferences without advocacy support have found
the meetings difficult have not felt listened to and felt like they were asked
awkward questions which were difficult to answer in front of their parents9.
This key piece of research conducted as part of the Munro review contained
some excellent ideas from children and young people, one of which was
“More advocates – someone to speak with you and for you10”.

2.6

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013 (WT 2013) states that children
should understand the purpose of the conference as well as who will attend. It
also states that the child should be helped to prepare if he/she is attending the
conference or making representation to the conference.11 It emphasises the
importance of listening to the child, taking their views seriously and working
with the child/young person collaboratively when deciding how to support their
needs.

3.0

Aims and Objectives

3.1

The aim of the service is to empower children and young people and to
support them to ensure that their voices are heard in the child protection
conference process. It is also the role of the CRO to ensure that the plan is
child focused and centred and to chase professionals to ensure that
agreements are adhered to.

3.2

Children and young people are given additional support to attend their
conferences, including having the CRO to clearly explain the process to them
and to support them in the conference.

child protection system and messages for change’ Office of the Children’s Commissioner (Centre
for Research on the
Child and Family – UEA). Of the 10 children and young people who had attended their conference,
only 2 felt that they
were even partly listened to.
7
Munro Review (2011) s. 8.5. Supra n.5
8
Payne, L., Jelicic, H., La Valle, I., (2012) ‘The voice of the child in the child protection system’, NCB
Research
Summary: NCB Research Centre
9
Supra n.6
10
Supra n.6
11
Working Together to Safeguard Children, A guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and
promote the welfare of
children (March 2013), p.38 (DFE -00030-2013)

331

3.3

Children and young people who are unhappy with the service they have
received from CFS are assisted in making complaints via the County Council’s
complaint’s procedures.

3.4

Enabling children and young people to have a voice and participate in the
child protection process, may lead to them feeling empowered to speak out
against the harm they have experienced. This should potentially lead to better
decision making and more positive outcomes for children and young people. It
is hoped that it will also have the consequence of providing greater and more
targeted safety for young people, where the young people themselves are
inextricably involved in creating that safety.

4.0

Children’s Rights Child Protection Advocacy Service

4.1

Referral Process

4.1.1 Referrals can be received from a number of sources including (but not limited
to): Social Workers; Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs); parents; carers
and other agencies, as well as children and young people themselves.
However, there is also an automatic referral process whereby when an Initial
Child Protection Conference (ICPC) is booked, the CRO will be notified by the
SIU administrative team if there is an eligible young person (10+) within the
family. The CRO will then make contact with the Social Worker to ascertain if
the family are aware of the ICPC taking place and to make note of any
necessary information.
4.1.2 The CRO, for the most part, does not read the case notes, or ask the Social
Worker for in-depth information. The main reason for this is that it is important
for children and young people to feel that an advocate has not made any prejudgements about their situation or home life. In this way they can tell the
CRO their version of events which is important in providing advocacy as
impartially as possible.
4.1.3 The CRO attempts to make contact with whoever has Parental Responsibility
(PR) for the children and young people concerned as the CRS is not statutory
and therefore if the parents/carers do not agree to the CRO involvement then
case is closed. It should be noted that the CRO encourages those with PR to
see the benefit of advocacy for children and young people and the CRO works
hard to engage them in the process.
4.1.4 During 2013-14 46% of referrals were not progressed. The main reasons for a
case not being opened to the service were an inability to contact someone
with parental responsibility (PR), the parent/carer not agreeing to the service,
the young person not wanting the service, or lack of CRS capacity or Social
Worker concerns.
4.1.5 Legal advice has been sought in relation to provision of advocacy to children
and young people where those with PR are not giving permission. There is a
fine balance to be struck and issues of assessment of the capacity of children
and young people to make an informed decision need to be considered. There

332

is a risk of the CRO being seen to act unlawfully if parental permission is not
forthcoming and judgements have to be made on a case by case basis to
weigh up the benefits of progressing against the damage this could create
around working relationships with the family and their engagement in the
process - both of which are crucial factors in bringing successful change and
outcomes for children and young people.
4.1.6 It was noticed that the majority of unopened cases were due to an inability to
contact the PR holder prior to the ICPC. In March 2014, in response, the
following process was developed: The CRO now attempts to call a
parent/carer a minimum of 3 times. If the CRO is unable to make contact a
letter will be sent to the parent/carer explaining the role of the CRO and the
benefits of the service and encouraging them to make contact if advocacy
support is wanted.
4.1.7 If permission to see children and young people is granted, then the CRO will
usually arrange to meet with them and parents/carers at home. The service
will be clearly explained to them and a decision will then be made as to
whether they want the advocacy support offered. In 2013-14 100% of children
and young people who agreed to an initial conversation took up the offer of
advocacy support.
4.2 Pre-Conference Preparation
4.2.1 The CRO aims to meet a child or young person at least once prior to the
ICPC. During this initial meeting the CRO introduces the service and explains
how it works; this includes information on making a complaint. The CRO
explains the child protection conference process, including what the threshold
is for a child protection plan to be agreed on and the kind of objectives likely to
be in a plan. The CRO also makes clear the aim of the child protection plan.
Most children and young people have said that this information is new to them
and has not been made clear by their social worker. Some have suggested
that attempts have been made to explain the process, but they haven’t felt
able to ask questions. One of the advantages of the CRO having no decision
making powers, is that children and young people feel more comfortable to
ask their questions and voice their concerns. The most common concern that
children and young people have approaching the ICPC is that they will be
taken away from their parents/carers. Many have said that they have spent
days worrying about this, but felt too scared to ask anyone if it will happen.
4.2.2 The CRO asks children and young people if they wish to attend the ICPC. If
the parent/carer has refused permission for this then the CRO will not ask that
question. Statistics for children and young people’s attendance at conferences
are included in Appendix 3; the vast majority are asked this question.
4.2.3 If the child or young person is asked what they want to say/be said for them at
the child protection conference this is usually undertaken using Growing
Safety methodology and tools. The CRO will ask what is working well, what
they are worried about / or isn’t going so well and what they want to happen or
change. This usually involves speaking about school, health, home and family

333

as these are the main topics covered in the conference. Some children and
young people have chosen not to use this method, but prefer to talk about
what they would like to say, or be said on their behalf. Others have written
letters to be read by the CRO in the conference.
4.2.4 Children and young people are always asked if they have the contact details
for the CRO so that if they have any additional questions, or want to add or
take away anything from what they have said this can be sorted out for them.
4.2.5 In general, the information children and young people provide to the CRO is
information they want to be read out in open conference. In a small number of
situations they have requested that some information be confidential from
their parents/carers and this has been carefully managed after conversation
with the Independent Chairperson (IRO).
4.3 Representation at Conference
4.3.1 The vast majority of children and young people choose not to attend the
conference. The reasons vary, but the majority don’t want to miss school.
Some don’t want to attend a meeting with lots of people there discussing the
intimate details of their life, which is completely understandable. In this
situation, the CRO will present their views, wishes and feelings verbatim
(inasmuch as is possible). This often is very effective in bringing their voice to
the meeting, as it is their words.
“I just didn’t want to go, coz I didn’t want to go, I wanted to stay at home” K, 10
“I didn’t want to miss school” L, 12
4.3.2 Of those children and young people who have attended their conferences,
most wanted to hear what people were saying about them. Within the
conference they can opt either to speak for themselves, or to have the CRO
present their wishes and feelings for them. Most have reported that the
conference was ‘ok’, or wasn’t as bad as they thought it was going to be.
“It was alright, a bit scary, but alright” K, 15
“It was alright, it wasn’t how I was imagining it, coz some of the meetings I
heard about took really, really forever and were really boring, but the one I
went to wasn’t that boring” Y, 10
4.3.3 The CRO, as an advocate, does not participate in the decision making part of
the conference. However, the CRO will represent the child or young person’s
view about whether or not they think they require a child protection plan.
4.3.4 Following the conference the CRO will aim to see the child or young person to
feedback within 5 working days. This has sometimes proven quite challenging
as priority has to be given to preparing others for conferences. However,
accurate and timely feedback is important so they are not worrying
needlessly. The CRO will usually liaise with the social worker to ensure that

334

this is done as quickly as possible. Children and young people have said that
they like to receive an accurate report of what has been said and decided on
at the conference.
“My mum sometimes doesn't want to explain, in case she gets it wrong, so I
get to hear it from someone who knows what they’re talking about.” Y, 10
4.3.5 This process repeats for each subsequent review in terms of preparation and
representation. Children and young people can also request additional
support from the CRO where they have questions or want to make a
complaint. A limited number have required more intensive support for a time,
particularly when there is a transition between Social Work teams, it is a
benefit that the CRO remains the same through this transition. The CRO has
also accompanied children and young people who have requested support in
attending Core Groups and met with others to help them prepare complaints.
5.0

Quantitative Information: 2013-14

5.1

As at 31st March 2014 there were 96 children and young people aged
between 10 and 17 years subject to a CP plan out of a total of 446 across the
whole age range. Between 2nd June 2013 and 31st March 2014, 102 referrals
were received by the CRO. The vast majority of these, 87% were via the
automatic administrative procedure. The remaining 13% were referred by
Social Workers, IROs and 1 referral was received by a parent/carer.

5.2

53 children and young people (10+) were open cases to the CRO during this
period, representing 54% of all referrals received. In addition to these
numbers, 6 under 10’s were supported (all younger siblings of supported
young people). In terms of benchmarking this performance and demonstrating
improvement activity against that achieved previously in Leicestershire, given
that this is the first year the service has been operational, it is not possible to
compare within this period other than to say that it is a significant step
forward. Data and therefore performance comparisons will be possible in the
next and subsequent reporting periods. In comparison to other authorities, it is
difficult to be specific given that very few authorities have such a service and
for those that do, data available is not in a comparable format.

5.3

49 referrals were closed without any service being provided for children and
young people. These are the reasons (in decreasing order):
•
•
•
•
•

5.4

Inability to contact PR holder (33%)
Parent/carer not agreeing to the CRO providing a service (27%)
Children and young people not wanting the CRO to provide a service
(18%)
CRO not having capacity to open case (14%)
Social Worker concerns (usually re. number of professionals involved)
(8%)

15 of the 53 children and young people represented were closed to the
service within the year. 9 due to no Child Protection Plan being put in place at

335

the ICPC and 6 due to the plan being ended after the 1st or 2nd Review. All
were given the necessary contact details should they require advocacy
support in the future and encouraged to call or text if they had any queries or
questions. An additional 4 children and young people’s plans were ended, but
they requested CRO support during the first review of the Child in Need
process which was provided.
5.5

During 2013-14 there was no clear trend by quarter of take up of the CRS.
The CRO is engaging with parents/carers and children and young people,
therefore, it is entirely dependent on them as to whether they avail of the
service offered or not.

5.6

As stated above, the majority of children and young people chose not to
attend their conference. The most common reason for this is that they do not
want to miss school, but the second is that they don’t want to be in a meeting
full of professionals speaking about their family. Overall attendance at
conferences is 20% of children and young people who avail of the CRS. In
real numbers this is an increase from 2 in the first quarter to 7 in the fourth.
This is partially due to some being reluctant to attend their ICPC, but feeling
more confident to attend for the 1st review.

6.0

Qualitative Information: Children and Young People’s experience of the
Child Protection process
What follows demonstrates that many of the aims and objectives of
Leicestershire’s Growing Safety model, map neatly onto what children and
young people say they want from the child protection process.

6.1

Good Working Relationships

6.1.1 The primary factor that contributes to a child or young person having either a
positive or negative experience of the child protection process in
Leicestershire is the relationship between the child/family and the Social
Worker. Where this relationship is good it can make a positive impact in the
family and the life of the child. Most children and young people who have
worked with the CRO Child Protection have said that their relationship with
their social worker is either ok or good (more statistical evidence is planned to
be available next year). Some children and young people, however, have
been extremely positive about the work their Social Worker has done. One
young person wrote a letter, with the help of the CRO, to be read out at the
final conference. Children and young people state that a good Social Worker
is someone who is available (attending visits, replying to calls), listens to
them, demonstrates genuine care12 and follows through on what is said and
plans that are made.
6.1.2 It is equally important that the immediate and extended family also feel that
they have a good working relationship with the allocated worker. This is often
12

This desire to feel cared for by the lead professional is a common theme in research. For a
summary of research over
the past 15 years see Supra n.6, p. 21.

336

a necessary prerequisite for a worker having a positive relationship with the
child or young person. Taking the time to build relationships, explain things
clearly and listening makes a great deal of difference in how parents/carers
relate to workers.
6.1.3 Too many parents have required the CRO to explain how the conference will
run and how the child protection process works prior to the ICPC – a role that
is the primary responsibility of the Social Worker. The most common concern
that parents and children and young people alike have prior to the ICPC is
that their child or young person will be removed from the family. In many
cases parents/carers have stated that they have been too scared to ask
whether or not this is possible. This fear should be allayed as soon as the
family are informed about the ICPC taking place (while explaining the process
of CFS seeking legal advice, should that be deemed necessary).
6.1.4 Overall the CRS Child Protection has been greatly aided by the positive
response from other agencies. In terms of education - a minority of children
and young people prefer to meet the CRO in school and schools have been
consistently accommodating in this regard, facilitating meetings, often at the
last minute. Many children and young people have said that their school
provides them with a ‘safe haven’ or a place they can just forget about
problems at home. Most children and young people can identify someone who
they could speak to at school if they had a problem. It is extremely positive,
that when asked, the majority of children and young people have lots of
positive things to say about their education. In terms of health – the school
nursing service provides children and young people with health advice and
support, but school nurses also spend time gathering the child or young
person’s wishes and feelings. This really compliments the CRS; in a recent
conference a young person had expressed the same views to their mentor at
school, the school nurse and the CRO – this gave all the professionals at the
conference an extremely clear view of the young person’s wishes and
feelings.
6.2

Achievable goals/ Clear safety planning

6.2.1 A 16 year old young person was extremely fed up with having social work
involvement with her family for almost 2 years. There had been no recurrence
of the original domestic violence incident and the family just wanted to move
on. When the case came for review the Social Worker recommended an end
of plan, but some of the other professionals and chair disagreed. Although the
reasons were explained to her, she still felt that neither she nor her siblings
were at risk of significant harm and that the decision was unfair. In this
situation she had good reason for thinking this and her frustration at the lack
of progress was understandable. The family had done everything asked of
them and yet the plan did not come to an end. Growing Safety training is
currently being rolled out to the other agencies involved with children and
young people, this is needed as it will enable agencies to see the potential for
managing risk in more creative ways and to make more child and family
focussed safety plans in conferences.

337

6.2.2 It is imperative that goal posts are not moved. A child or young person should
be able to clearly see what needs to happen in order for them to be removed
from a child protection plan. Otherwise the process will lose the investment of
children and particularly older young people. Again, Growing Safety style
conferencing will greatly aid this.
6.2.3 Children and young people have repeatedly said that the child protection
process is not positive when they cannot see progress and they feel promises
have been broken. The ‘what needs to happen?’ needs to be as clear in the
minds of the child and family as it is among the professionals working with
them.
6.3

Stories and Experiences

6.3.1 Many children and young people do not want to have to repeat their stories or
experiences, particularly where these are negative and bring back difficult
memories. It is important that the their voice continues to be clearly recorded
and that new social workers have taken the time to read these recordings.
6.3.2 There has been a marked increase over the past 12 months of case notes
clearly recording the child or young person’s voice – this is extremely positive
particularly where young people are directly quoted. New workers ought to be
able to read and hear the child or young person's own voice without a
professional filter.
6.4

Smooth transitions

6.4.1 The handover between Social Work teams is extremely important for children
and young people. It is crucial that the ‘old’ Social Worker says goodbye to
the family and if possible introduce the new worker. This gives new workers
the best possible chance of establishing a good relationship with the family.
This has been raised at two team manager meetings to make sure that the
information is disseminated throughout the various teams as children and
young people have spoken about it being important to them that someone
who they have developed a relationship with at least comes to say goodbye
before they are expected to once again establish a new relationship of trust
with a social worker from a different team. Less children and young people
have raised this as an issue in the final quarter of 2013-14, which would
suggest that the handover is being more carefully planned and managed
between teams and highlights evidence of continuous improvement, based on
what children and young people have fed back regarding their experiences.
6.5

Confidentiality and Trust

6.5.1 Several children and young people have said that they have felt betrayed
where information they have shared with a Social Worker has been
subsequently shared with their parents and/or other professionals. This is
sometimes a misunderstanding, but workers need to be extremely clear about
what they intend to do with the shared information.

338

6.6

Taking the time to listen

6.6.1 Children and young people respond extremely well to people who take time to
get to know them. A few have said that they felt that workers were just asking
them lots of questions and they felt like they were trying to trip them up.
Whether this is the reality, or just because children and young people can
often feel extremely defensive when meeting a new worker for the first time is
unknown. Either way it’s important for workers to take time to get to know
them and to really listen to them.
6.6.2 Children and young people really appreciate that the CRO writes down their
actual words. They are invited to read what has been written and check that
they are happy with it. This works to engender trust and assures that their
views and opinions will be expressed in their own words, even if they cannot
attend their conference.
7.0

The Effectiveness of the Service: Impact and Outcomes

7.1

One of the main aims for 2014-15 is to develop a robust evaluation process
which will be used to ascertain in greater detail the impact the CRS is having
for children and young people and in what ways it is improving outcomes for
them.

7.2

Some children and young people have said that they appreciate having
accurate information about the child protection process, particularly the
conference. As mentioned above many have been under the impression that
they might be taken away from their parents/carers as a result of the
conference. The CRO has been able to both dispel myths and provide more
accurate information.
It made me feel better; I knew what everyone was going to be talking about
when they were in there. L, 12
It was really helpful, because I didn’t know much but then when [she] told me I
knew a lot.
K, 10

7.3

Other children and young people have not known that they can attend their
conference; some have even said that they have been told that they cannot
attend. Having advocacy support in conferences has enabled more children
and young people to attend their conferences. The preparation with the CRO
has enabled them to feel confident to either speak in the meeting, or have
their words spoken for them.
It’s helped me say what I want. Something good about the Children’s Rights
Service is how they support you. J, 14

7.4

Those who don’t want to attend their conference are now having their voices
heard in them anyway. Although some excellent wishes and feelings work is
being presented in conferences by Social Workers, having the CRS means

339

that the child/young person’s voice can be heard independently from the
decision makers.
It was good [to have an advocate] because I don’t really like talking to people,
it’s a bit scary;
I wanted [her] to do it. K, 10
It was good coz then if I didn’t want to say something [she] could say it for me.
K, 16
7.5

One of the most important impacts the child or young person's words have is
on the parents/carers. In situations where parents really love their children,
but are struggling to make good decisions or right choices regarding their best
interests, hearing what their child is worried or sad about can be extremely
powerful.

7.6

The next step is to work towards incorporating the children and young
people’s views and opinions into the Child Protection Plan, particularly where
a child or young person doesn’t believe they are at risk or need a plan. Most
children and young people the CRS has supported in 2013-14 do not believe
they are at risk of significant harm. Most can understand why other people are
worried, but it is still often a hard jump to expect them to accept they are at
risk when they don’t believe they are.

7.7

One of the aims of the CRS is to assist children and young people making
complaints; over the past year the CRS has supported 3 young people in
making a formal complaint and assisted others in resolving their issues more
informally. All have received responses that they have been happy with, which
is excellent.

7.8

Overall far more children and young people are being given the opportunity to
attend their conferences. Although only 14 children and young people (open
to the CRS) chose to attend during 2013-14, the remainder exercised their
rights in choosing not to in the knowledge that they would be represented by
the CRS. It is hoped that with changes being made to conferences this
number can and will increase.

7.9

The express aim of the CRS is to empower children and young people and to
ensure that they are heard. Over the past year 59 children and young people
have had the support to have their voices heard in the child protection
process. In most cases these children and young people report that they do
feel heard and involved in the process because of the CRS. L puts it
extremely eloquently:
It has been helpful because I’ve been heard haven’t I? Coz I wouldn’t have
been able to say what I wanted. People know what I think rather than trying to
guess what I think.
L, 11

340

8.0

Training and Development

8.1

The CRO Child Protection is a Practice Lead for Leicestershire’s
implementation of Growing Safety. During 2013-14 Solution Focussed
Practice and Signs of Safety Training has been attended, as well as several
Growing Safety Practice Lead meetings and conferences.

8.2

In September 2014 a prototype for Signs of Safety style child protection
conferences and the CRO Child Protection will have a key role in these
developments.

8.3

There are plans to visit another local authority running a similar service and 2
authorities have agreed to the CRO visiting to observe and learn from best
practice. One of these authorities has fully implemented Signs of Safety style
conferencing and so this will be extremely useful with the view to be involved
in Leicestershire’s development of the same.

8.4

There has been a regular forum for developments in the CRS to be shared
with managers at the QAIF (Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework)
Team Manager’s Meetings. This has been an effective way of disseminating
the main messages from children and young people to the locality social work
managers at all levels. These messages have included that young people
want to ensure that a handover visit takes place, when there is a transition
between teams and therefore workers. Young people have also asked that
things be clearly explained to them, so that they don’t feel that they are not
being told the truth. The QAIF meetings have also provided a forum where
managers can feedback as to their assessment of the service.

8.5

An updated leaflet explaining the child protection process is being developed
by a small focus group of children and young people, who are themselves
subject to Child Protection Plans. The LSCB is funding this work so that a
clear, concise and useful leaflet can be produced. The group has met together
twice and the young people have decided what should be in the leaflet, they
have also come up with some wording. A ‘Leaflet Day’ has been planned for
the summer holidays (2014) where they can do a fun activity and spend a few
hours working on this. Many of the children and young people who have
accessed the service do not have internet access at home and so a hardcopy
of this leaflet is necessary.

9.0

Recommended areas for improvement by the Operational Service 2014-15
Based on children and young people’s views these are the recommendations
by the CRS for 2014-15.

9.1

Good Working Relationships

9.1.1 It is imperative that Social Workers particularly continue to foster good
relationships with children and young people and their families. The Growing
Safety methodology is already assisting in this, as is increased reflective
practice and the use of Pod Meetings. Children and young people want

341

workers who care about them and this needs to continue as a priority for
Social Work teams. Best practice and expertise must continue to be shared.
9.1.2 The CRS needs to be publicised among our partner agencies, particularly
education, health and policing to aid continued good working relationships.
9.2

Achievable goals/ Clear safety planning

9.2.1 Growing Safety training to continue to be rolled out to partner agencies to aid
more creative risk management and better partnership between CFS and
other agencies.
9.2.2 Child Protection Plans to be extremely clear on ‘what needs to happen’ so
that there is no moving of goal posts and children, young people and their
families know what needs to be achieved in order for the plan to end.
9.2.3 Growing Safety style conferencing to be developed and implemented in
Leicestershire to aid with this.
9.3

Stories and Experiences

9.3.1 As part of the transition process new Social Work teams or Early Help teams
need to ensure that they have access to and have read case notes
documenting a child or young person’s story, are clear about their family
makeup and particularly focus on the case notes where the child’s voice is
recorded.
9.3.2 Although much progress has been made the child or young person’s own
words need to be utilised more in case recording, as opposed to the worker’s
interpretation of those words.
9.4

Smooth transitions

9.4.1 As stated above the ‘old’ worker must say goodbye to the child or young
person they have been working with. This needs to be monitored and ensured
by team managers.
9.5

Confidentiality and Trust

9.5.1 It is imperative that all professionals working with a child or young person are
crystal clear about the rules surrounding confidentiality. If a young person tells
a worker something that will need to be taken forward then the professional
should explain what needs to happen, what the likely outcomes will be (this
may mean a range of optional outcomes) and involve the child or young
person in having as much say as possible as to how that information will be
shared.
9.6

Taking the time to listen

342

9.6.1 Social Work Teams need to ensure that they accurately represent a child or
young person’s views – checking this with them is often helpful. Social
Workers need to be given the space and time to get to know children and
young people and really listen to them.

Catriona Candler
Children’s Rights Officer Child Protection
Safeguarding & Improvement Unit
July 2014

Appendix 1: Performance of Children’s Rights Service Child Protection against 2013-14 Annual Work Programme

ACTION
To offer advocacy to all children
and young people (10+)
approaching their ICPC.

WHO
CRO, Admin Team

WHEN
2014-15

RAG

COMMENTARY

A

•

Revised for
2014-15

74% of parents/children and young people were
offered advocacy during 2013-14.
• Target for 2014-15 = 100%, but different method
as described in 2014-15 action plan.

Measured by:
% of children and young people/
parents offered a service.

CRO, SIU Managers

January
2014

G

• Consideration has been given and there is not
sufficient capacity to offer this support unless a
specific request is received or a younger sibling
directly requests it.
• Management responsibility to discuss resources
and possibility of extending the service.
• CRO responsibility in this area is closed, but
cases may still be referred on an ad hoc basis.

As well as conference support,
children and young people will
receive support to: attend core
group meetings, attend court
dates (if applicable) and to make
complaints.

CRO

October
2013

G

•

Ongoing
•

•

Due to capacity the CRO cannot attend core
group meetings as a rule, unless a child or young
person is attending and/or specifically requests
this.
The CRO has attended court with a young person
as well as Pre-proceedings meetings. They have
also assisted several young people in making
complaints.
The CRO advises all children and young people
of their right to complain and will continue to do

343

Consideration will be given
to the provision and delivery of
advocacy support for younger
children (under 10’s) / how their
voices can be heard within the
child protection conference
process.

•

CRO with support
from Learning and
Development, LSCB
and Communications.

April 2014

By the end of March 2014 the
CRO aims to create small focus
groups of children and young
people who can aid the overall
development of Leicestershire’s
child protection service, subject to
capacity.

CRO with support
March 2014
from the Participation
Officer and wider CFS Revised
Spring 2015
staff.

A system for monitoring
achievement of the aims and
objectives will be developed.

CRO and SIU
Managers

A

Revised
Spring 2015

Revised
Autumn
2014

•

•

Ongoing. The group met in Oct and Nov 2013
and children and young people have also been
consulted in April 2014.
The group met again on 8th August 2014 –
funded by the LSCB - several young people took
part.

A

• This work will fully commence once the leaflet has
been completed.
• The children and young people who are involved
in the creation of the CP leaflet are getting to
know each other and learning to discuss things as
a group.
• They have done some work including creating a
short film, which has been shown to team
managers to clearly reflect the young person’s
experience of the conference.

A

• CRO has done some work on this, but changes
need to be made in line with wider service aims
and objectives. However, some anecdotal
evidence has been received.
• The system will be piloted with a number of
children and young people to gain their feedback

344

The CRO will involve children and
young people to create a leaflet
which clearly explains the child
protection process in a clear and
meaningful way. This would
include a small working group of
children and young people being
involved in the design and
wording of said leaflet

so.
The CRO will attend some Core Group meetings,
as capacity allows if a child or young person is
attending the meeting and requests support.

and suggestions before being formalised.

Evaluation of the service will take CRO and SIU
place periodically both via internal Managers
evaluation and children and
young people’s evaluation.

Revised
Autumn 2014

A

• This needs to be made more robust, but the
service has been regularly evaluated in line with
the QAIF, and in supervision. Work needs to be
done to request evaluation from staff.
• This objective will be split to fit into 2 objectives
for 2014-15 to include children/young people and
internal evaluation respectively.

The first review of the service is
scheduled for November 2013

November
2013

G

• Completed and presented to team managers as
well as follow up in March 2014.

A

•

CRO and SIU
Managers

Ongoing
reviews to
take place

345

Development visits will take place
to other Local Authorities who
have a child protection advocacy
service.

CRO and possibly
SIU Managers and
Growing Safety lead
IROs.

Revised
December
2014

•
All work undertaken by the CRO
will be carried out in line with the
Growing Safety methodology,
and the CRO will receive regular
Growing Safety training.

CRO and Learning
and Development.

G

Not completed yet. Aim to do this in conjunction
with those LAs using a Signs of Safety
methodology in conferencing so that more can be
learned by this exercise.
Contact has been made with relevant LAs.

• Practice lead, training ongoing, regularly learning
from good practice within and outside
Leicestershire County Council.
• The Growing Safety methodology is fully
incorporated into the CRS.
• The CRO has also completed some pieces of
work with Children in Care around safety
planning.

Appendix 2: Annual Work Programme 2014-15
ACTION

WHO

WHEN

In place:
June 2014

RAG

COMMENTARY

G

• 100% of parents should hear about the service,
but it may not be until after the ICPC.
• So far, there has been no additional take-up from
these letters.

CRO and Admin Team

On the advice of children and
young people consider
alternative methods of
recording their views. (audio,
digital recording etc.)

CRO

November
2014

A

• Some consideration has been given as to how this
would
work/what equipment is available.
• The CRS has access to video recording
equipment. Confidentiality and security will need
to be considered.

Children and young people
involved in creating Child
Protection Plans/ Safety plans.

CRO, SIU Managers,
IRO Service Team,
Learning and
Development (Growing
Safety Team)

Spring 2015
Dependent
on other
services.

A

• CRO has had some discussions with SIU
managers, the lead IRO for Growing Safety and
the Growing Safety Development Team (L&D)
• Children and young people should be involved in
this development.

Conferences to be more child
(and family) friendly.

CRO, SIU Managers,
IRO Service Team,
Learning and
Development (Growing
Safety Team)

Spring 2015
Dependent
on other
services.

A

• CRO has had ongoing discussions with
parents/carers and young people about their
experiences of conferences.
• Some discussion has taken place with SIU
managers, the lead IRO for Growing Safety and
the Growing Safety Development Team (L&D). A

Ongoing

346

Offer of advocacy via 100% of
parents/carers. Letters will be
sent when telephone contact
has not been possible.

joint meeting is planned.
• CRO is involved in Signs of Safety style child
protection conference prototype commenced
September 2014.
CRO, SIU Managers
and IRO Service Team

Autumn
2014

A

• Currently, this is done on a case, by case basis.
Discussion has taken place to adopt a consistent
approach.

Children and young people will
be involved to create a leaflet
which clearly explains the child
protection process in a clear
and meaningful way.

CRO with support from
Learning and
Development, LSCB
and Communications.

Spring 2015

A

• The group met on 8th August 2014. The LSCB
funded the day and several young people took
part.
• The group is in the process of meeting with the
design team and LSCB representatives to come
up with an agreed design for the leaflet.

Focus group(s) of children and
young people who can aid the
overall development of
Leicestershire’s child
protection service, subject to
capacity.

CRO with support from
the Participation Officer
and wider CFS staff.

Spring 2015

A

• This work will fully commence once the leaflet has
been completed.

A system for evaluating the
CRS and monitoring
achievement of the aims and
objectives will be developed.

CRO and SIU Managers November
2014

A

• CRO has done some work on this, but changes
need to be made in line with wider service aims
and objectives.
• The system will be piloted with a number of
children and young people to gain their feedback
and suggestions before being formalised.

Evaluation of the service will

CRO and SIU Managers December

A

• This practice has been commenced, but more

347

Clarity as to what part of the
conference a child may attend.

take place periodically via
QAIF meetings and possibly a
staff evaluation.

could be done in terms of evaluating the service
from the point of view of the IRO Service Team
and Social Workers.

2014

A
Development visits will take
place to other Local Authorities
who have a child protection
advocacy service.

CRO and possibly SIU
Managers and Growing
Safety lead IROs.

December
2014

•
•
•

Contact has been made with relevant LAs
operating Signs of Safety style conferencing.
Newcastle has been suggested by Viv Hogg as a
good authority to observe.
Suggestion has been made to find a statistical
neighbour using Signs of Safety for greater
comparison.

348

349
Appendix 3: Statistics
1.

Referrals

2013-14
Qtr
Referrals
1
10
2
26
3
36
4
29

Opened
6
12
18
16

2014-15
Qtr Referrals
1
28

Opened Unopened
17
11

Unopened
4
14
18
13

%
60%
46%
50%
55%

%
61

1.2 Referrals closed before any service was provided.
• Inability to contact PR holder (33%)
• Parent/carer not agreeing to the CRO providing a service (27%)
• Young person not wanting the CRO to provide a service (18%)
o This was most often relayed via the parent/carer/PR holder and
therefore it is not possible to ascertain with certainty whether this is a
young person’s choice.
• CRO having no capacity to open case/ human error (14%)
• Social Worker concerns (usually re. number of professionals involved) (8%)

350
2.0 Conference attendance

Q.1 April 2013 – June 2013
Category

Number

Number of Young People

3

Number of Conferences

3

CRO & YP Attendance

2

CRO Representation

1

Report Submitted
Younger Siblings
Young Parents
Core Group

2

Q.2 July 2013 – September 2013
Category

Number

Number of Young People

10

Number of Conferences

10

CRO & YP Attendance

1

CRO Representation

6

Report Submitted

3

Younger Siblings
Young Parents
Core Group

2

351

Q.3 October 2013 – December 2013
Category

Number

Number of Young People

32

Number of Conferences

19

CRO & YP Attendance

5

CRO Representation

25

Report Submitted

0

Younger Siblings
Young Parents

2

Core Group

0

Q.4 January 2014 – April 2014
Category

Number

Number of Young People

31

Number of Conferences

22

CRO & YP Attendance

7 (+1
att.)

CRO Representation (No. of
YPs)

18

Report Submitted

3

Younger Siblings

3

Young Parents

0

Core Group

0

352

This page is intentionally left blank

353

APPENDIX 3

LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES
SAFEGUARDING AND IMPROVEMENT UNIT
Children’s Rights Service: Children in Care Annual Report 2013-14
Contents
1. Introduction
2. Purpose of the service and legal context
3. Aims and Objectives
5. Children in Care & Care Leavers Advocacy Service
6. Quantitative Information
7. Qualitative Information
8. Developments over the past 12 months
9. Recommended areas for improvement
10. Actions for 2014-15

Appendix 1: Performance of Children in Care Advocacy Service against
2013-14 Annual Work Programme
Appendix 2: Annual Work Programme 2014-15
Appendix 3: Statistics

354

1.0

Introduction

1.1

The Leicestershire Children’s Rights Service (CRS) established in
1987 was the first in the country. The service ensures that all Children
in Care and Care Leavers have access to advocacy provided by
someone who is independent from social workers and care providers.

1.2

The CRS is located within the Safeguarding & Improvement Unit (SIU)
within Children and Family Services (CFS). There are 2 FTE Children’s
Rights Officers (CROs), one with a lead for children in care and the
other with a lead for child protection. They work alongside Independent
Reviewing Officers (IROs) and ensure a continued degree of
independence from social workers and managers with responsibility for
service delivery – significant in terms of the advocacy role, challenging
planning and decision making for children and young people where
appropriate.

1.3

This report highlights the context, purpose and aims for this service,
focussing on the work of the CRO for Children in Care and Care
Leavers between 1st April 2013 and 31st March 2014. It will also
include a plan for 2014-15

2.0

Purpose of the Service and Legal Context

2.1

The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (hereafter CRC), Article
12 states that “parties shall assure to the child who is capable of
forming his or her own views the right to express those views freely in
all matters affecting the child, the views of the child being given due
weight in accordance with the age and maturity of the child”.

2.2

The Children Act 1989 states that “before making any decision with
respect to a child whom they are looking after … a local authority shall,
so far as is reasonably practicable, ascertain the wishes and feelings of
[the child]”.

2.3

It is within the context of these two key pieces of legislation that the
Children’s Rights Officer for Children in Care and Care Leavers
operates

3.0

Aims and Objectives

3.1

The aim of the Children’s Rights Service for Children in Care is to
support Children in Care and Care Leavers and ensure that their voice
is heard throughout the care planning process. This can take a
number of different forms.

3.2

The CRO can support children and young people in meetings where
decisions are made about their care plan; attend strategy meetings
where concerns about their placement or carers are discussed; enable
them to make a complaint using the most effective means of seeking a

355

resolution; or help them seek independent legal advice where
appropriate.
3.3

It is important that the young people are aware that the CRO is
someone who (like Independent Reviewing Officers) is independent
from the social work teams and is there to support and represent their
views and wishes in their own words.

4.0

Children’s Rights Children in Care and Care Leavers Advocacy
Service

4.1

Supporting children and young people at their review meetings

4.1.1 The CRO will attend Looked After Children (LAC) Review of
Arrangements meetings, progress meetings and any other meetings
held when requested by children and young people. Wherever
possible the CRO will meet with them some time prior to the meeting in
order to discuss the things they would like to raise and explain the
process and purpose of the meeting if they are newly looked after.
4.1.2 Sometimes when a child or young person is placed out of County it is
more efficient use of time to visit the young person prior to their review
or progress meeting and discuss their views and wishes with the IRO
rather than returning again for a second time. By doing this it is
possible to see them alone and discuss any issues they might have
about the placement as well as their Care Plan or Pathway Plan.
4.1.3 It is the view of the CRO that over the past year there has been a
noticeable change in the style of LAC Review meetings with an
increased emphasis on the views of the child or young person. This
reflects the increasing emphasis upon the voice of the child being
represented and evidenced in all aspects of the care planning and
review process
4.1.4 Where a child or young person wishes to attend their meeting (and
many do), the meetings are increasingly held at a time and venue to
accommodate this. However, a small number of meetings take place in
school (time and a convenient venue) and will involve some children
and young people being removed from a lesson. Some children and
young people have indicated in the past, through meetings such as the
Children in Care Council or other participation days that they are
unhappy with this because it identifies them as being different from
their friends who are not “in care”. This is also the case for other
meetings such as meetings to discuss Personal Education Plans
(PEP).
4.2

Care Planning and placement issues

4.2.1 The main issues relating to placements and care planning fall into two
areas. Children and young people wanting to move from where they
are living and this not being possible or those possibly being moved
who wish to remain where they are.

356

4.2.2 The range of placement options available can vary according to many
factors and may be resource led or based more on specific needs of a
young person. Where a child or young person has more complex
needs, there is a greater requirement for a more specialised
placement. This could lead to a placement being identified which is
further away from Leicestershire. Even within the County, the
distances (both in terms of miles and time) between placement and a
young person’s family can seem vast.
4.2.3 Travelling time from placement to school or college, and how this is
achieved has been a concern raised with the CRO. Many young
people in care spend a considerable amount of time in taxis. Far more
than their friends who are not in care. In terms of preparation for
independence this needs to be considered and wherever possible, they
should be supported to use public transport, where available, once they
are of an age and ability, as this is the norm for their peers.
4.3

Helping young people obtain independent legal advice

4.3.1 The CRO has supported a number of children and young people at
meetings with solicitors and enabled them to seek independent legal
advice. In addition the CRO has supported Care Leavers who are
young parents whose children are themselves subjects of either Child
Protection Plans or Care Proceedings.
4.3.2 Where the child or young person is on a Full Care Order, the CRO will
usually attempt to consult with the solicitor who was involved in those
proceedings. This is because they are more likely to have a good
knowledge of their background and means that they won’t have to tell
their “story”, which can sometimes be distressing, all over again.
4.3.3 This year the CRO has supported a young person to obtain legal
advice about inheritance matters in relation to a deceased grandparent.
This has proven to be an extremely complex matter and has been
further complicated by the difficulty the care leaver has in managing
their own life on the most basic level.
4.3.4 Two young people have contacted the CRO requesting support in
obtaining legal advice when considering making a claim against the
Local Authority in relation to experiences whilst they were looked after.
Both of these young people are care leavers who had been subjects of
a Care Order. At present these cases are on-going through an access
to records request and are in the hands of solicitors. County Solicitors
are made aware of any such claims at the earliest opportunity.
4.4

Preparation for independence and planning for leaving care

4.4.1 It is apparent when speaking to care leavers that many leave care
feeling ill prepared and are struggling financially and emotionally. It is
a challenge for Social Workers and Carers to work with them and
provide them the skills early enough to ensure the impact of living on a
low income and managing their own home can be successfully
achieved.

357

4.4.2 The lack of support available to Care Leavers out of hours has been a
concern in the past, especially over a weekend or Bank Holiday period
when their support workers are not available. This was raised by
young people when they attended Corporate Parenting Board. The
comments about their experiences contributed to the redevelopment of
the Out of Hours Service with a view to providing a more appropriate
level of service to meet the need.
4.4.3 One of the difficulties highlighted by Care Leavers is the Benefits
system. There are strict rules and timescales they need to comply with
in order to be eligible to claim Job Seekers Allowance and other
benefits such as Housing Benefit. Failure to attend appointments or
provide the necessary documents can result in their payments being
stopped or sanctioned. This results in additional financial difficulties
and debts often being incurred, especially in relation to rent and utility
bills.
4.4.4 Planning for young people who have additional needs which will
require support from Transitions Team and Adult Services in the future
needs to be made well in advance in order that the correct support
package is in place. There have been some good examples of this in
2013-14; however it has frequently been almost the young person’s
18th birthday before an appropriate resource is identified.
4.4.5 There continues to be concerns raised by young people who are
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) about their
accommodation post 16. Frequently they will have been placed with
IFA carers in City and they are being moved once they reach 16 or
leave school.
4.4.6 The reason given by Social Work Team Managers and Social Workers
is that when they reach 18 they are ineligible for social housing in the
City and therefore need to establish links with locations within the
County. The difficulty with this is that their only connection with the
County is that this is the Local Authority where they initially presented.
Careful consideration should be given to the use of placements within
the City in order that this doesn’t continue to happen.
4.4.7 These young people will establish links in Leicester including
education, mosque and friendship groups but when they become 16
years of age there are attempts to move them to another placement
within the County. It is unclear whether this is resource/financially led
and the housing argument is secondary. There doesn’t seem to be
evidence of such moves being planned for non UASC.
4.5

Complaints

4.5.1 There were a number of referrals which resulted in the CRO supporting
the child or young person who wanted to make a complaint. For many
the complaints procedure is a complex and lengthy process which may
not always result in the desired outcome for the young person who
feels aggrieved.
4.5.2 The CRO, Corporate Parenting Team Manager and Customer Services
Manager responsible for Corporate Complaints hold meetings on a

358

quarterly basis in order to look at the complaints received and issues
raised by children and young people. They try to identify whether there
are any key themes which require addressing. The Corporate
Parenting Team Manager is also able to feed in issues identified by
IROs from the LAC Review process.
4.5.3 One of the main areas of concern relates to the support (or rather the
perceived lack of support) provided to Care Leavers. A number of
Care Leavers contacted the CRO with complaints that they felt they
were not being supported by their allocated worker.
4.5.4 Despite attempts to try to introduce improved ways of supporting young
people as they move on to living in their own tenancies or supported
housing, many continue to be ill prepared, struggle to budget and
manage the responsibilities of running their own home.
4.6

Secure Accommodation

4.6.1 During the year covered by this report there have been two children
and young people placed in Secure Accommodation. As part of the
procedures relating to this the CRO maintains regular contact with the
young person and attends the Secure Accommodation Review Panel
(SARP).
4.6.2 A significant change was established following the request of one
young person who wanted to attend their SARP meeting. Traditionally
in Leicestershire the SARP has been held at County Hall and the
views, wishes and feelings have been represented at the panel by the
CRO. This practice has now changed and the young person attended
the panel at the Secure Unit.
4.6.3 The experience for the two young people has been varied. They are
very different and for one (who instigated the changes) it was an
empowering experience and they were able to participate fully in their
SARP. For the other, who was young and a far more traumatised
young person, it was very stressful and they were unable to cope with
the formality of such a large meeting attended by a large number of
people who were unknown to them.
4.6.4 The CRO is involved in setting up training for Secure Accommodation
Panel members and work to increase the involvement of more
independent members.
5.0

Quantitative Information: 2013-14

5.1

The number of referrals made to the Children’s Rights Service Children
in Care and Care Leavers has increased significantly over the past few
years, from 171 in 2010-11 to 229 in the period covered by this report
(April 2013 to March 2014). This reflects the growth of the care
population over a similar period. Full referral data is contained in
Appendix 3.

359

Looked After population in Leicestershire on 31 March
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

330

353

373

435

458

Annual change

+7.0%

+5.7%

+16.6%

+5.3%

(Source: SSDA 903 Return)

5.2

The 229 referrals in 2013-14 involved 137 young people, the majority
of whom were aged 11 and over. Most referrals came from Social
Workers or Carers who made the initial contact with the CRO on behalf
of the young people. The majority of children and young people who
contact the CRO directly were already known to the service.

5.3

The requests for advocacy for younger children continue to be low. A
large number of the younger children are the subjects of a Care Order
with a plan for adoption. They are usually too young to express a view
about this, are represented by a solicitor and Guardian and their plan is
reviewed by an IRO. Therefore the role of an independent advocate is
greatly reduced.

5.4

There is roughly an even split in the placement type of young people
referred to the CRO with around a third each living in family
placements (foster care, with connected persons or placed with
parents), residential homes or schools and supported housing or their
own tenancies. This is an increase in the referrals from care leavers
compared to last year and possibly reflects the connections the CRO
has maintained with young people through involvement with
participation events.

5.5

The number of young people contacting the CRO whose ethnicity is not
White/British is 21.9%. Of these many were mixed/dual heritage.
Wherever possible, if a young person is referred whose first language
is not English an interpreter is arranged.

6.0

Qualitative Information: Children in Care and Care Leavers
experience in Leicestershire and Nationally

6.1

One of the actions for the Children’s Rights Service for 2011-12 was to
monitor the compliance with the promises made to young people in
“The Pledge”. The Pledge was initially launched in July 2010 and was
a list of promises based on consultation with Children in Care and Care
Leavers who attended a series of participation events.

6.2

The key themes in the Pledge were broken down into the five main
headings from “Every Child Matters”. These were listening to you,
coming into care and having a good experience of being in care,
keeping you healthy, supporting your education and personal
development and preparing you for leaving care, independence &
adulthood.

360

6.3

It was felt in 2012-13 that Leicestershire Children in Care and Care
Leavers had taken an active role in monitoring the progress with the
Pledge and had been able to represent their views at the Corporate
Parenting Board. This has continued during 2013-14, although a
review and update of the Pledge and Promise is required and is part of
the 2014-2015 Corporate Parenting and Participation work plans.

6.4

Children and young people have continued to be involved in all
significant committee meetings and have also represented
Leicestershire on a national level by attending All Party Parliamentary
Group (APPG) meetings at Westminster and Taking it to the next level
(NCB Corporate Parenting & Children in Care Council event) which
they attended with the Director & Lead Member for Children’s Services.

6.5

The issues raised by children and young people in Leicestershire
continue to mirror those raised by other children in care from across
the UK. This has been evidenced by a report produced by Coram
which listed the top 15 issues for children and young people who
phoned the Voice Helpline. These were:
1. "I want to move" or "I don't want to move"
2. "I want to continue my education, training or employment"
3. "I need more money or support with my finances, benefits or debt"
4. "I would like some support at my meeting"
5. "I need somewhere to live"
6. "I want more (or less) contact with family"
7. "I want to complain"
8. "I have a problem with my Social Worker or Personal Advisor"
9. "I would like support through the Child Protection process"
10. "There are problems with my Pathway Planning"
11. "I want more (or less) contact with my Social Worker or Personal
Advisor"
12. "I am homeless and Social Services won't accommodate me"
13. "I don't feel safe" (e.g. gangs, safeguarding issues, bullying,
trafficking & sexual exploitation)
14. "I have got problems with my Immigration status"
15. "I would like some legal advice"
(Source: http://www.coramvoice.org.uk/young-peoples-zone/top-15issues-children-care)

6.6

Overall, it is the view of the CRO that the children and young people in
Leicestershire are happy, living in placements where they feel they are
safe and supported. They take an active part in decision making about
their care plan and have an opportunity to have their voice heard in
relevant meetings. This is based upon contact with children and young
people accessing the CRS as well as comments made by children and
young people who have attended Children in Care Council meetings;
feedback and evaluation from events such as the launch of the Beacon
Website and the Celebration of Achievement Awards.

361

6.7

There are however, areas where there is need for improvement.
Access to housing post 18 is not ideal. As a result of the Staying Put
Policy, an increasing number of young people are able to remain with
their carers post 18. However, this is often not the case for those who
are considered to be amongst the most vulnerable of the Looked After
population such as those who have been in custody and placed in
hostel accommodation on their release.

6.8

It is frequently the case that young people who are not in education,
employment or training (NEET) are also the ones on the lowest income
(basic state benefits), least equipped in terms of educational
qualifications, budgeting and organisational skills and are far more
likely to fail when living in their own tenancy.

6.9

This group are also the ones who are least likely to have a voice. Their
lives can be chaotic, they are unable to attend participation meetings.
They have “Pay as you go” phones, frequently change their numbers
and without any credit on their phones they are unable to maintain
contact with any support worker trying to help them.

6.10

The CRO is a strong advocate for young people in relation to issues
around education, employment and training and securing opportunities
to aid and support their transition into independence and adulthood.
Alongside this the CRO recognises the importance of promoting their
sense of self worth and self belief and works collaboratively with other
stake holders in this respect to ensure young people are supported to
be involved in a variety of events where promoting self esteem is a key
focus. e.g. Celebration of Achievement Events, Beacon Football Team
and other participation and consultation activities.

7.0

Developments during the last twelve months:
See Appendix 1 - Performance of Children in Care Advocacy Service
against 2013-14 Annual Work Programme.

8.0

Recommended areas for improvement in 2014-15

8.1

The CRO will ensure that information about the CRS is widely available
for all children and young people, Social Workers and Carers in a
format that is easily accessible and simple to understand. This
includes working with the IRO Service on “Coming Into Care” packs
and best use of the Beacon Website as another medium to support
this.

8.2

CRO for children in care and care leavers will undergo training in Signs
of Safety methodology. This approach has been well developed within
the Child Protection Advocacy Service, as progress has been made
across the child protection conference service - the same is planned
over 2014-15 in relation to Looked After Reviews which is relevant for

362

the CRO for children in care and care leavers to be skilled up in this
area of work also.
8.3

Further work around preparation for independence should be
undertaken, listening to the voice of care leavers through SYPAC (Care
Leavers focus group) and older members of the Children in Care
Council

8.4

Discussions should be undertaken with the District Councils around
access to suitable accommodation for care leavers. The availability
and suitability of social housing appears to be varied across the
County. Unlike London Boroughs or Unitary Authorities, Leicestershire
does not have direct responsibility for housing.

8.5

Young people who have additional needs which may require support
from Transitions Team and Adult Services need to be identified as
early as possible as their needs may require more specialist planning

8.6

The location of placements used for UASC need to wherever possibly
be located within the County, rather than the City in order to avoid the
need to move them as they prepare for independence

9.0

Actions for 2014-15
See Action Plan: Appendix 2

Elaine Constable
Children’s Rights Officer Children in Care
Safeguarding & Improvement Unit
July 2014

Appendix 1: Performance of Children in Care Advocacy Service against 2013-14 Annual Work Programme
ACTION
Promote Children’s Rights
Service to include :

WHO
CRO

WHEN
May 2013

RAG
G

Information about CRS to be
included on the Beacon website
and regularly reviewed

CRO with
Corporate
Parenting
Team
Manager

A

Rolling programme of visits to all Children in
Care Teams to promote role of CRO

By March 2014 A

Work in progress - carried forward to 201415

April 2013

Notification and regular update process is
now in place and work has commenced to
ensure that CRO is in contact with and has
oversight of all children and young people
placed out of county.

G

363

Over 2013-14

Update and Re-launch Corporate
Parenting Team Leaflet

Monthly updates through Joint
Solutions Forum.

Information about CRS is on the Beacon
website but needs updating on the LCC
website
IRO’s check at reviews that children and
young people are aware of the CRO & how to
make contact; Coming into Care Pack is
being developed within IRO Service

Visits to all relevant locality social
work teams to promote the
service.

Notification of all Out of County
Placements

COMMENTARY

Identify advocates with specialist
communication skills

CRO with
Corporate
Parenting
Team
Manager

April 2013

A

Linked in with work being undertaken on
consultation - carried forward to 2014-15.
Needs to look in particular at how best to
provide for disabled children and young
people especially those with additional
communication needs.

System of notification to CRO of
strategy meetings for young
people in care / on the edge of
care about whom there are CSE
concerns.

CRO with
SIU Admin

To be in place
by end of Dec
2013

G

In place

364

Appendix 2: Annual Work Programme 2014-15
ACTION

WHO

WHEN

RAG

COMMENTARY

Corporate
Parenting
Team

September
2014

A

Draft completed as part of IRO Service care
planning developments and work is underway
with Comms to finalise. Leaflet is contained in
new Coming into Care pack so all children
and young people will have direct information
regarding the services of the Children’s
Rights, Participation and Corporate Parenting
Teams.

Identify ways of offering
advocacy for children and young
people with additional needs
particularly communication needs
and disabled children.

CRO with
Corporate
Parenting
Team
Manager.

Dec 2014

A

As part of initial phase of developments in
IRO Service to review and update
consultation options and processes.

Ensure all teams are aware of
the role of the CRO by setting up
visits to all team meetings

CRO

Sept 2014

G

Rolling programme in place.

Set up regular visit to young
people’s meetings at LCC and

365

Review and update Corporate
Parenting Team Leaflet to
include information about both
CROs, Participation and
entitlements from Corporate
Parenting Team Schemes

other contracted homes to
ensure the VOICE of the young
people is heard

CRO

Sept 14

G

In place

Review of the impact and
effectiveness of the CRS for
children in care and care leavers

CRO with
Corporate
Parenting
Team
Manager.

March 2015

A

Within current work plan for CRS

Signs of Safety training

CRO

Next available
course

G

Dates booked and CRO is involved in other
learning and development opportunities e.g
Signs of Safety Conference 21st November
2014.

366

367

368

Appendix 3: Statistics
Referrals received between 01-Apr and 31-Mar
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Tot.

13-14

35

16

24

22

23

10

12

23

9

21

18

16

229

12-13

22

22

19

16

18

18

25

22

10

15

17

8

212

11-12

18

10

23

15

14

19

6

21

13

14

14

11

178

10-11

23

13

19

9

21

11

7

8

18

14

14

14

171

09-10

16

25

21

10

14

12

32

33

21

30

26

20

260

08-09

13

10

18

3

11

2

5

11

14

6

16

11

120

07-08

14

12

4

12

10

8

7

15

5

6

8

4

105

06-07

27

19

8

6

18

19

11

14

8

7

5

6

148

05-06

9

10

13

8

5

21

15

8

7

8

7

10

121

04-05

14

8

3

5

7

11

12

6

7

14

4

4

95

03-04

4

7

11

8

11

11

15

4

7

6

6

15

105

02-03

7

9

12

5

4

5

5

9

6

20

7

8

97

01-02

0

5

0

1

5

10

8

3

11

18

10

8

79

00-01

3

2

7

7

4

4

3

6

6

3

3

4

52

Age group at time of referral
%

M

F

Under 6

0

2

6 to 10

8

11 to 15
16 & over
TOTAL

13/14

12/13

11/12

2

0.9

1.4

0.6

5

13

5.7

1.4

5.6

47

30

77

33.6

38.7

33.7

61

76

137

59.8

58.5

57.3

116

113

229

369

Gender of the 137 young people referred:
Male

77

Female

60

Ethnicity of the 137 young people referred:
No.

%

%*

% **

Asian

3

2.2

2.9

5.1

* Children in care

Mixed

18

13.1

7.5

2.0

** Leics population

Other

8

5.8

5.4

0.7

White

107

78.1

84.2 92.0 All these figures should

Black

1

0.7

0.0

0.2

137

100

100

100

TOTAL

be treated with
caution due to
the very small
numbers
involved.

Placement at time of referral:
Family Placements
LCC foster placement

41

Connected person

2

Pre-adoption placement

2

Agency foster placement

27

Residential Home
LCC Community Home

21

Educare

14

Keys

2

Agency placement

25

Custody/Secure Accom

13

Independent living/

69

Supported Lodgings
Placed with parents

5

Not looked after/Child in Need *

8

TOTAL

229

370

Legal Status at time of referral:
S20 accommodated

71

Interim Care Order

2

Full Care Order

77

Care Leaver (s24)

59

S25 Secure Order

7

Not L/A: Child in Need/ Res Order.

7

Other

6

TOTAL

229

Source of referral:
Young person

35

Social Worker/Support Worker/Manager

115

Residential Worker

8

Foster Carer/Connected Person

11

Parent/Relative

5

IRO

22

Ed CIC/Youth Service

7

Family Placement Team/Placements

9

Solicitor

4

Probation

3

Other

10

TOTAL

229

371

Issues raised by young people contacting the Children’s Rights Officer:

Not Looked After/C in N

YOI / Prison

Residential home or school

Placed with Parents

Supported Lodgings/

Ind. Living

Family Placement (inc relatives)

Issue raised

Accommodation / Housing

1

9

1

1

12

Allegation / Concerns re carer

2

1

1

3

7

Care Plan / Placement move

10

2

Complaint

3

7

Contact with sibs/family members

8

Child Sexual Exploitation

6
1

2

1

1

1

1

13
1

2

Education

3

1

Financial support / Allowances

2

7

Lack of support

2

6

2

3

2

Leaving Care Grant
Legal advice/Support at solicitors
or in court

6

12

Legal Planning Meeting

2

1

Placement

13

2

Planning / Strategy Meeting

6

Review/Admission or Progress Mtg

9

11

1
1

19

6

2

13
9

2

12
5
20

2

3
1

8

24

2

11

19

3

15

27

5

5

Secure Accommodation / SARP
Support @ CP Conference or Core
Group re own child

2

1

Transport

4

3

Other

2

3

TOTAL

75

64

5

2
1

11

3
4

7

70

3
5

8

12

372

This page is intentionally left blank

373

Agenda Item 16

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 20th NOVEMBER 2014
REPORT OF LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
CARE ACT 2014 IMPLEMENTATION
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an
update on the progress made thus far with the implementation of the Care Act 2014
in Leicestershire.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

On 17th July 2014 a report was presented to Health and Wellbeing Board, informing
the Board about the Department of Health’s (DH) release of the draft guidelines for
the Care Act. The report outlined the regional events taking place and the Board’s
responsibility to engage on the issues. Health and Wellbeing Board members were
urged to refer to the Director of Adults and Communities for information about the Act
and how to engage with the consultation. The report contained links to the guidance
on the DH website and some useful DH produced fact sheets which underpin the
pertinent elements of the Act.

Background
3.

Since the last report work has taken place to establish a Programme to deliver the
requirements of the Care Act. A Head of Service (Care Act) has been recruited to coordinate the Programme and a Board has been established, chaired by the Director
of Adults and Communities, to govern the work. Implementation of the Care Act is in
two stages – April 2015 and April 2016. The work streams have been aligned to
deliver to these timescales. Work streams are in place to deliver all the changes that
the Care Act will bring to the business of Adult Social Care. They range from areas
that require very little change such as the provision of advocacy services to areas
that are completely new to the Council such as the provision of social care within
prisons. The Council is required to assure itself that its services are compliant with
the Act.

4.

A key service legislated within the Care Act is safeguarding adults. The Act requires
Councils to make enquiries or to require others to make enquiries wherever abuse or
neglect of an adult is suspected. The guidance provides a roadmap for undertaking
investigations and the Act places additional responsibilities for Councils to establish
statutory Safeguarding Adults Boards and to conduct safeguarding adults reviews.
Much of this requirement is already met across Leicestershire and Rutland through
the existing Safeguarding Adults Board and work is underway in the safeguarding
adults work stream to address any further developments needed to ensure
compliance.

374
5.

Broadly the Act can be described as having 3 main impacts. It:
•
•
•

consolidates some existing legislation and repeals some other legislation
enshrines existing good practice in law
introduces some new responsibilities for local authorities

6. Leicestershire County Council has been well represented at all the various regional
network meetings and events. Groups have been established around the Care Act on a
regional basis to discuss work force development, informatics, finance and carers issues.
7. In line with all other authorities the Council completed a stocktake of Care Act readiness
in May and again in September. There was 100% engagement from local authorities in
the East Midlands with this exercise. Although there were no major concerns about the
progress that East Midlands Councils are making, there were issues raised both
nationally and regionally around the uncertainties in calculating the demand and
numbers using the models provided and consequently the sufficiency of the funding
allocations. The DH has not identified any East Midlands Authorities as requiring
additional support with implementation at this stage. A third stocktake is due in the New
Year.
8. Work has been taking place consistently to understand the impact of the Care Act on the
business of adult social care in Leicestershire. The draft regulations and guidance, for
the Act were analysed, and an impact assessment was undertaken. This informed the
structure of the plan devised to deliver the Care Act requirements. With the release by
the DH of the final guidance and regulations in October, work is now underway to repeat
the impact assessment in the light of changes to the guidance. The outcomes of the
assessment will be woven into an update of the Programme delivery plan.
9. Key to understanding the impact of the Act has been the need to model the numbers of
assessments that the Council will need to undertake in the future. This is anticipated to
increase from April 2015 as carers’ rights to assessment, support planning and the
provision of a personal budget become law. For 2015/16 it is currently projected that an
additional 2,758 carers will come forward for an assessment, bringing the total number of
supported by the authority to 5,554 carers. The number of people making contact for
information and advice only remains unidentified. These projections are increased at a
stepped rate in later years with a total of 8,388 carers presenting in 2017/18, which
plateaux to 9,883 carers presenting from 2018/19 onwards. This more than trebles the
number of carers currently presenting for assessment.
10. A further increase in activity is expected from November 2015 onwards as self-funders
present to the Council for a needs assessment to underpin their right to a Care Account
(Phase 2 of the Care Act – Dilnot finding reforms). It is currently projected that an
additional 1,858 self-funders will come forward for an assessment increasing the total
number of assessments to 14,247 from 2016/17 onwards. This represents an increase of
15%. Various models for calculating the costs have been released both through the
Region and nationally. These models have been applied to the local population figures to
assist in the modelling of the resources required to support the Care Act delivery in
Leicestershire.

375
Priorities
11. Work is taking place to understand the priorities for delivery by 1st April 2015 and to
align resources accordingly. Additionally recent information has highlighted that the DH
is likely to launch a publicity campaign nationally about the Care Act in the early New
Year. This is likely to concentrate on three key elements:
•
•
•

Universal Deferred Payments Scheme
Carers Services
Eligibility

12. This provides a focus for the Council in terms of the allocation of resources and effort.
Work is underway to ensure that the new assessment processes and tools are in place
in good time so that the Council is able to consistently and fairly assess eligibility of both
service users and carers against the new national eligibility framework. Work streams are
currently addressing issues around the changes required to the financial assessment
process in order to accommodate the new requirements within Community Care
Finance.
13. New areas of responsibility for the Council also have a focus especially social care
delivery in prisons. Work has taken place to co-ordinate a response across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland. Proposals have been drawn up and agreed at a strategic
level across the partners from health, the prison service and local authorities.
14. Key to the success of this will be the training and support that the Council is able to offer
the staff team. A plan is being developed to deliver this based on the learning and
development requirements identified in each of the individual work streams for staff from
a variety of disciplines including social care and finance. DH has commissioned Skills for
Care to provide some learning and development tools for Councils to use in the
implementation of the Act. These are being used as the basis for the delivery of training
for the staff
Communications / Consultation
15. Cross cutting work streams have been established to address the communications and
consultation requirements across the Programme as a whole. A draft communications
plan is in place and briefings have taken place with staff across Adult Social Care and
through the Council’s Transformation Programme.
16. A newsletter has been developed for County Council staff to communicate key issues
about the integration of health and social care and the Care Act. A Care Act email
address has been established to co-ordinate questions and answers from staff. There
are plans to extend this to the wider community. Some of the Skills for Care materials
released through the national programme are being used to communicate key messages
as appropriate.
17. Groups of carers and service users are being engaged to assist with the production of
new assessment tools and guidance for staff. A Provider Summit is scheduled for 2nd
December. The agenda is shaped around the Care Act and will provide a good
opportunity for meaningful engagement with the care provider market.

376
Resource Implications
18. The DH has made a commitment to fund the additional costs to Local Authorities for the
implementation of the Care Act.
19. For 2015/16 the provisional allocations to cover the additional costs arising from the
Care Act amount to £5.78m for Leicestershire. This is to be made up of £1.38m Better
Care Fund (BCF) revenue; £0.15m DH grant; £3.74m formula funding grant and £0.5m
BCF capital grant. A consultation on the funding allocations took place in September the
result of which is yet to be released at a local level. It is anticipated that the overall
amount of funding will remain the same.
20. Based on current projections it is expected that any additional cost of implementation in
2015/16 can be absorbed within the overall funding allocation.
Risks
21. A risk register has been established for the Programme. Key risks have been identified
and mitigating actions aligned to them. The main risks identified are:
•

The actual cost of social care funding reform is greater than anticipated.
Using the tools released through DH, returns have been submitted as part of
the social care impact assessment 2015/16. Work continues to source missing
data and existing assumptions continue to be refined as information becomes
available. Sensitivity analysis is currently being undertaken to assess the
financial implications arising from a change in the uptake assumptions.

•

The number of self-funders coming forward to register for a care account
is higher than anticipated. A survey was undertaken amongst Providers in
order to determine the number of potential self-funders and sensitivity analysis
is currently being undertaken to assess the financial implications arising from a
change in the uptake assumptions.

•

The number of carers coming forward for an assessment is higher than
anticipated. The financial modelling has been based on an average of three
separate methodologies as advised by the impact assessment (national
census data approach, impact assessment data approach and carers
allowance data approach). Sensitivity analysis is currently being undertaken to
assess the financial implications arising from a change in the uptake
assumptions.
Changes in the final guidance may require further work not currently
scoped and potentially delay implementation. Work is taking place to
identify any changes to the guidance and to assess their impact on the
Programme. Work will be re-prioritised where necessary across the
programme to ensure compliance with the legislation. Any requirements for
additional resources to ensure compliance are being escalated through the
Programme Board.

•

•

Transition to the new legal framework. Additional work may be required in
order to ensure that there is a smooth transition for current service users from
one legal framework to another. This work is currently being scoped and plans
put into place to address this from within the programme. Any requirements for

377
additional resources to ensure compliance are being escalated through the
Programme Board
Conclusions
22. It is recommended that the Board note the content of this report.
Background papers
The DH issued guidance for local authorities and the associated regulations. These can be
found at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-2014-statutory-guidance-forimplementation
To assist with implementation and understanding the DH has updated the factsheets
originally issued at the beginning of the year which can be located as follows:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-2014-part-1-factsheets
Officer to Contact
Name: Mandy Stott – Head of Service (Care Act)
Telephone: 0116 305 6644
Email: Amanda.stott@leics.gov.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
23. One of the underpinning principles of the Care Act is to ensure that the provision of
care and support is clearer and fairer for all users. Additionally the Act requires
Councils to ensure that they have universal services in place such as advice and
information which are available and accessible to the whole community.
Work is underway with the Council’s Strategic Lead - Equalities to undertake an
equalities screening exercise to inform what further work needs to take place across
the Programme to ensure that these issues are addressed in all of the work streams.

Partnership Working and associated issues
24. The Care Act makes it clear that Councils are required to co-operate with other
organisations such as Health, housing and employment services to ensure a holistic
approach to identifying and meeting needs.
Key work streams have representation from other organisations such as Health
within them to ensure that this takes place. The work of the Care Act programme is
aligned to other key pieces of work for the Adults and Communities Department such
as the development of integrated locality teams, improvements to discharges from
hospital and Help to live at Home.

378
Key communications from the Programme are being targeted at partners such as
care providers, NHS organisations and District Councils as appropriate.

379

Agenda Item 17

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: NOVEMBER 20, 2014
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS AND WORKING ARRANGEMENTS
OF THE INTEGRATION EXECUTIVE

Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to consider the effectiveness and working
arrangements of the Integration Executive after six months of operation, in
line with the Integration Executive’s terms of reference.
Policy framework and previous decisions
2. In February 2014, the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the
establishment of the Integration Executive to oversee the day to day delivery
of the integration programme, with quarterly reporting into the Health and
Wellbeing Board.
3. The Integration Executive has been meeting since from March 2014 on a
monthly basis and has led the work to develop and deliver the Better Care
Fund Plan and pooled budget.
Background
4. The Integration Programme incorporates the Better Care Fund plan/priorities
and a number of other integration priorities across the partnership, building on
good foundations of joint working established over a number of years between
the council and NHS partners. This has included existing pooled budgets in
areas such as learning disability services.
5. It is timely to review the effectiveness of the Integration Executive in delivering
its role and functions at this stage, especially as we are now moving from
integration planning into delivery.
6. The Integration Executive is supported by an operational group comprised of
representatives from across the partner agencies which has focused on
digesting policy, BCF planning, submission and assurance, integration
programme performance reporting, metrics and KPIs, the development of the
section 75 agreement, integration programme risk management and
programme management.

380

7. The operational group has also developed the infrastructure and governance
for individual projects feeding into the integration programme, managed
programme level resources and ensured close working with other programme
management teams within the health and care economy such as the Better
Care Together Programme Office and those within clinical commissioning
groups.
8. See the two diagrams below which show the governance arrangements for
the integration programme and how the work connects into the wider LLR
wide work.

381

Proposals
9. In order to evaluate the operational effectiveness of the Integration Executive,
members of the Integration Executive, members of the Health and Wellbeing
Board, and members of the Integration Operational Group will be asked to
complete a brief electronic survey which will cover the following questions:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

How effective has the group been generally in terms of delivering against
the terms of reference as set out in March (a copy of the terms of
reference will be provided for reference).
What has worked well from your point of view?
What has not worked well from your point of view?
What do you consider to be the main achievement(s) in our progress to
date?
What has disappointed you in the group’s progress to date?
Do you have any specific recommendations in terms the
role/duties/membership of the Integration Executive at this stage?
What would most help the group develop further and perform more
effectively over the next 6-12 months?

Next Steps and Timescales
10. The survey will be issued and analysed during December with the outputs
reported to the Integration Executive and Health and Wellbeing Board
meetings in January 2015.
Recommendations
11. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
• Approve the approach to gathering feedback on the effectiveness of
the Integration Executive
• Provide any feedback on the proposed questions for the survey
• Receive the findings and proposed recommendations arising from this
feedback at the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board
(January 22, 2015)
Officer to contact:
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
Cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
0116 305 4212

382

This page is intentionally left blank

